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BE | T REMEMBERED t hat on Wdnesday,
Cctober 8, 2025, at 621 Wodl and Square Loop
Sout heast, Lacey, Washington, at 9:00 a.m, the

foll ow ng proceedi ngs were continued, to wt:

LKL L L >>>>>>

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Good norning. It

is Cctober 8th. Wdnesday, Cctober 8th. The tine is
currently 9 aam W are here today for our second
day of hearing in Docket UE-250224.

W will begin this norning first by -- let's
revisit exhibits.

Did AVWEC have a chance to confer with the conpany
on the potential objections to exhibits?

MR, PEPPLE: Yes, Your Honor. So
we have wor ked out an agreenent with the conpany that
we woul d stipulate to the adm ssion of those
exhi bits.

And PacifiCorp can confirm M understanding is
that PacifiCorp is wlling to stipulate also to the
adm ssion of sone additional exhibits that are two
wor k papers fromM. Mtchell and sone attachnents to
Paci fi Corp's response to AWEC Dat a Request 50.

| woul d propose that maybe we can file a notion
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to admt those after the hearing.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. That will
work. And will those be filed by the conpany, or...?
MR. PEPPLE: | think we can file
t hem
JUDGE THOWSON: Ckay. Okay. Let's
go ahead and admt under the stipulation between AVWEC
and PacifiCorp BGM-- and just to confirm it's 12 --
12X through 21X; is that correct?
MR. PEPPLE: Yeah. That's correct.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. So we wi ||
at this tine admt the prefiled Cross Exhibits BGw 12XC
t hr ough BGW 21XC.
(AVEEC Cr oss-exam nati on
Exhi bit Nos. BGW 12XC,
BGWVI 13XC, BGW 14XC,
BAGW 15XC, BGW 16XC,
BGW 17XC, BGW 18XC,
BGWI 19XC, BGwW 20XC, and
BAGW 21XC adm tted.)

JUDGE THOWSON: And AVEC wi ll file
wth the Conm ssion an additional three exhibits after
t he concl usi on of the heari ng.

MR. PEPPLE: Did you want nme to just
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read those exhibits into the record for clarity, or...?

JUDGE THOWPSON: That woul d be
hel pful . Thank you.

MR. PEPPLE: Ckay. So the -- the
two work papers are NEW PAC-RIM TCDi rect 4-1-2025.
That's a confidential work paper. And NEW PAC- RIM WA
Direct 4-1-2025, also confidential. And then the
attachnents to Pacifi Corp's response to AVWEC Dat a
Request 50 are a series of NPC reports that we wl|
file.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Thank you very
much. And we wll get to the other four exhibits
during the cross-exam nation of Ms. Hawkins-Jones, |
bel i eve.

Ckay. Wth that, we can go ahead and proceed wth
our next w tness.

M. Zakai, is TEP's witness available? |'mjust
| ooking at --

MR. ZAKAIl: Yes.

JUDGE THOWSON: -- the
participant --

MR, ZAKAI: | believe wtness Stokes
Is on the line, and | should be able to introduce her
shortly.

So good nor ni ng.
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(Wtness appearing renotely.)
JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good nor ni ng.
Good norning. |If you could please raise your

right hand and cone off "mute," and I wll swear you

I n.

THE W TNESS:. Good nor ni ng.

JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good norning. Do
you swear or affirmthat the testinony you will give
today will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth?

THE WTNESS: | do.

SHAYLEE STCKES, appearing renotely and
havi ng been first duly sworn
by Adm nistrative Law Judge
Thonpson, was exam ned and
testified as foll ows:

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Thank you.

M. Zakai, you can proceed.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR ZAKAI :
Q Good norning, wtness Stokes.
253.627.6401 B:AL.T.GAT.ON S schedule@balitigation.com
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Coul d you pl ease state and spell your nane for the

record.
My nane is Shayl ee Stokes. First nane S-h-a-y-I|-e-e.
Last nanme S-t-o0-k-e-s.
And did you prefile witten testinony in this case?
Yes, | did.
And do you have any changes or revisions to your
testinony today?
No, | do not.

MR. ZAKAI: Thank you.
Your Honor, the witness is available for
guesti ons.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Thank you very
much.
And | believe we just have one question for you,
so thank you for joining us this norning.
CHAIR RYBARIK: | think I've cone up
Wi th a second question, so | think we have two
guestions for you, but thank you for being here.
Were you able to listen to the hearing yesterday;
nore specifically, to the testinony of M. Mtchell for

t he conpany?

THE W TNESS: | was not.
CHAI R RYBARI K:  Ckay.
THE W TNESS: | have been
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tripl e-booked yesterday and today, unfortunately. |
apol ogi ze. Thank you so nuch for slating nme in,
Comm ssioners and Chair, at the beginning of the day
her e.

CHAIR RYBARI K:  No worries.

So I'll sort of probably give a little bit of
i nformati on around the questions. But specifically,
the first one is about wind curtail nents.

And in your cross-answering testinony, you
effectively agree wwth the AWEC wi tness and AVEC s
argunents that Pacifi Corp's nodeling inplenments w nd
curtailments while allowi ng dispatch fromcoal plants
and their proposed nodel -- well, AWEC s proposed nodel
woul d avoid those wind curtail nents.

Am | characterizing that fairly?

THE WTNESS: That's correct. W
support AWEC s recommendati on.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Since that
recomendati on, PacifiCorp witness Mtchell -- in
rebuttal testinony, then also during the hearing
yesterday -- explained that these wind curtailnents are
a manage of neasuring congestion on the -- on the
system and i ndeed identified that PacifiCorp's
strategies to curtail gas generation first, coal

generation second, and wi nd generation third.
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Does any of that testinony change your view or
change your testinony in this case?

THE WTNESS: At first thought, ny
understanding of CETA is that no anpbunt of coal in any
way is allowed to be in custoner rates, and w nd
curtailment with that purpose violates that -- that
| egal interpretation of CETA. So that's ny initial
t hought. However, |1'd be happy to think about it a
little bit and respond in witing at a future date
if -- if you'd like to issue a bench request on that
and we can anal yze it deeper.

CHAIR RYBARI K: Ckay. | appreciate
t hat .

And | will say that then | think the second piece
of that fromyour testinony is the rate inpact that
that has, right? That if indeed wind curtail nments are
greater, costs are higher, and production tax credits
are | ess.

| had a conversation wth witness Mtchell
yesterday during the hearing which | think ended up in
the conclusion that, if they're nodeling curtail nents
too high, then the costs in rates now woul d be too
high, but if indeed in operations wi nd was hi gher --
i.e., curtailed less -- then that would be made up for

in the PCAMwith effectively |lower rates and nore PTCs
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flow ng to custoners.

Any reaction to that or any reason to di sagree
wi th that conclusion or any thoughts from The Energy
Proj ect on whether or not that outcone is just and
reasonabl e?

THE WTNESS: | think that is in the
weeds to a degree that |I'mnot a hundred percent
feeling |ike an expert on the topic. So | would --
respectfully, | really appreciate the question, but --
| nmean, there's sharing bands and dead bands that are
supposed to kind of help us guide through this process.
And | -- I'mlooking at sort of the big picture and the
curmul ati ve i npact on rates.

And The Energy Project is willing to support
t roubl eshooting and problemsolving that ultimtely
reduces rates and does not increase the burden on

cust omer s. Bur den on custoners is too much at this

poi nt .

So in ternms of individual nethods, | |eave that to
our expert wi tnesses. And, again, |'mhappy to kind of
expound on this subject nore in witing if -- if
necessary.

| apologize if | didn't answer your question a
hundred percent, Chair Rybarik.
CHAIR RYBARI K: | understand --
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appreciate the -- the thoughts there and the reaction.
It sounds like we can also ask -- | nean, in |large
part, you're identifying that you're adopting and
agreeing wth M. Millins, so we will ask M. Millins

t hese sane questions, and then we'll take it under
advi senent of whether we need to issue a bench request.
But appreciate your availability and thoughts on these
I ssues.
THE W TNESS: Thank you very nuch.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. | believe
t hat concl udes our questions for you, M. Stokes. You
may be excused at this point in tinme. Thank you for
bei ng avail abl e this norning.
THE WTNESS: Thank you, Chair and
Comm ssi oner s.

(Wtness excused.)

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. That will
bring us to our next witness, who wll be John D.
Wl son for staff.

(Wtness appearing renotely.)

JUDGE THOWPSON: Good norning. |If
you could --

THE W TNESS: Good nor ni ng.
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JUDGE THOMPSON: -- please raise
your right hand, and I'll swear you in.

Do you swear or affirmthat the testinony you wll
give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and
not hi ng but the truth?

THE WTNESS:. | do.
JOHN D. W LSOQON, appearing renotely and
havi ng been first duly sworn

by Adm nistrative Law Judge
Thonpson, was exam ned and

testified as foll ows:

JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very
much.

Counsel for staff, you may proceed.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. STRAUSS:
Q Good norning, M. WIson.
Coul d you pl ease state your nane and spell it for
t he record.
A |I'mJohn D. Wlson. J-o-h-n D. Wi-Il-s-0-n.
Q And, M. WIlson, did you sponsor testinony in this

matt er ?
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A Yes.
Q And do you have any changes, anendnents, or corrections
to that testinony at this tinme?
No.
M5. STRAUSS: | tender the w tness
for questions.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Thank you very
much.

And | believe we just have questions fromthe
bench this norning, so | will |et the conmm ssioners
proceed.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Good nor ni ng,
M. WIlson. |'mpresumng you just heard ny questions

to Ms. Stokes for The Energy Project.

THE WTNESS: | did.

CHAIR RYBARIK: So we'll start
wth -- | effectively have the sane questions for you
as wel | .

Respective of AVWEC s responsive testinony, wtness
Mul I'i ns argues that Pacifi Corp's nodeling inplenents
wind curtailnments while allow ng coal to dispatch, and
AVWEC woul d i ke to avoid those w nd curtail nents.

G ven witness Mtchell's response to that and the
strategies that Pacifi Corp applies, does staff have any

opi ni on regarding AWEC s proposal to mnimze w nd
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curtailments in the nodeling?

THE WTNESS: | have reviewed the
rebuttal testinony fromw tness Mtchell on that point.
"' mnot an expert in nodeling in Aurora. And | think
that this question really goes to the heart of nodel
settings and that review. | think -- | think |I would
gi ve you sort of a "both and" type answer as opposed to
a, you know, | favor one position or the other.

So I'lIl start with witness Mullins. So I --
generally in review ng nodeling practices across the
country, | and other colleagues of Gid Strategies have
found that there tends to be -- both in regulatory
filings and even in nodeling that's done to support
operations, there tends to be a bias towards running
coal and natural gas units to the point where they're
not cost-effective in the market regions that they
oper at e.

That is a pretty broad finding. It is not in
every utility. So, you know, you can't sort of take
that and say, well, it nust absolutely be happening in
Paci fi Cor p.

But | think that the industry, through
| ong-standi ng practices and sort of enbedded operating
t echni ques, has tended to favor running those units

when they're not necessarily econom cal and has not
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adapted their technologies as much to -- to mnim ze
things like wind curtail nments and so forth.

On the other hand, | think | generally agree with
witness Mtchell's description of the proper |ogic that
shoul d be applied. So | didn't hear anything from him
yesterday in the portion that | heard. | mssed a
little bit of that testinony.

But also in what | read in his witten testinony,
M. Mtchell, | think, described correctly the factors
that one would want to see nodel ed and considered in
setting up the proper price baseline for, you know,
future power costs.

| think, you know, | do have broader concerns
about, you know, the dispatch or the -- the cost
allocation related to the dispatch of Rolling Hlls
Wnd. But setting that -- that accounting issue aside,
you know, | think | sort of see both sides, because |
know that witness Miullins did do a | ot of |ooking at
the Aurora nodel in a very limted anount of tine and
did seemto identify sone very specific concerns that
he had. But | just don't -- it was not wthin the
scope of the contract fromthe staff to engage soneone
to partner with me on doing that detail ed nodeling
di ve.

CHAIR RYBARIK: Got it. Appreciate
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t hat .

And then followup to that is: If indeed
curtailnments are set too high, is it your viewthat
then the power costs are potentially higher than they
woul d otherwi se be if curtail nents were | ower and w nd
was bl ow ng nore and PTCs flow ng to custoners?

THE WTNESS: Yes, absolutely.
nmean, | think that's -- that's a hundred percent
certain, that if the curtailnents in the nodeling are
excessive, then that would | ead to higher costs for
custoners. | don't think there's -- | would be
surprised if there's any dispute on that point. It's
just that, you know, you've got to know whether that is
t he case.

O course, there is a difference between the, you
know, Aurora nodeling that's done for this and what the
conpany uses to help set up, you know, the decisions to
run or not run coal and gas plants. And then of course
there's the dispatch decisions nmade through the EIM
mechani sm you know, in terns of real-tine dispatch and
curtail ment.

And, you know, you would want to | ook at those.
The conpany is responsible for the inputs to the EIM
so it is not, in ny opinion, a valid sort of not our

problemif the wind plants are not curtailed properly.
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| f they've given incorrect input information to the
CAI SO for running the EIM then you' re going to get

I ncorrect dispatch decisions out of it. So there is a
revi ew process that should happen during the PCAM
proceeding to nmake sure that -- that the conpany's

I nputs were correct and resulted in the right dispatch
deci si ons.

CHAIR RYBARIK: So it'd be a review,
in your mnd, of the real-tine actual operations
deci sions sent to CAI SO for the EI M?

THE WTNESS: Yeah, | think that
should -- that's the kind of thing that, you know, one
woul d want to | ook at in the PCAM proceedi ng, yes.

CHAI R RYBARI K: Ckay. And then
relative to PCAM if indeed operations are that wnd is
curtailed | ess than what the nodeling shows, is it your
view that the benefits of that should flow to
custoners?

THE WTNESS: Well, yeah, of course
the PCAM has the -- the nechanism for determ ning how
t hose benefits and costs flow to custoners and the
conpany. (Qoviously the Comm ssion could nake a
decision that if, you know, there was sonething
I nprudent about the way that the whol e process worked

and it wanted to make a special determ nation on a
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specific cost effect, | suppose it mght be within the
Comm ssion's prerogative to do so, but normally that

woul d just be handl ed as part of the overall cost

recovery.
CHAI R RYBARI K: Very good. That's
all 1 have. Thank you, sir.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Good nor ni ng,
M. Mtchell. How are you? | nean, M. -- sorry --
M. Wlson. |It's been a few days.
THE WTNESS: Thank you,
Comm ssioner Rendahl. N ce to talk to you again.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Yes. If |
can get ny canera to work here.

But at any rate, | have a few questions for you:
One about the hedge book, and one about -- and anot her
one about future hedgi ng costs.

So on rebuttal, PacifiCorp's witness Mtchell
explains that they filed docunentation and work papers
that reflect how Pacifi Corp cal cul ates the costs and
energy vol unes associated with the non-Wshi ngt on-
specific book separately fromthe Washi ngton net power
cost forecasts. And |I'm happy to give you the
reference that |I'mtalking about in his testinony if

you' d |ike.
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THE WTNESS: That woul d be very
hel pful. Thank you.

COMM SSI ONER RENDAHL: Okay. That's
at RIM 13CT, at Page 31, Lines 1 through 17.

THE WTNESS: Ckay. Cetting there.

Ckay. Yes. (o ahead, please. Thank you.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. So
considering this information -- and |I'm sure you've
read his rebuttal -- Mtchell's rebuttal testinony.

Considering this informati on provided by the
conpany, does staff maintain its position on the
Washi ngt on- speci fi ¢ hedge book?

THE WTNESS: Yes, so first 1'd like
to comment that a lot of this critique fromwtness
Mtchell is kind of msdirected. It suggests that |
failed to reviewtheir filing. |In fact, ny concern
about the Washi ngton book was raised by PacifiCorp's
response to a discovery request, and that's quoted in
ny testinony.

And it just wasn't clear to ne that the term
“prehedgi ng transacti ons Washi ngton" was neant to refer
to the Washi ngton book and not sinply to the Washi ngton
al l ocated portion of the prehedging transactions. So
there's just sone | anguage issues in witness Mtchell's

testinmony and the discovery responses that created
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probably sonme | evel of unnecessary confusion.

Anot her exanple of that is witness Mtchell
yesterday tal ked a | ot about spot market pricing, which
to ne, | would understand that in nost contexts to
refer to either actual or forecast spot nmarket prices.

And what he said is he was referring to the fact that

it's hourly pricing, which, you know, | would just
sinply call it hourly pricing rather than spot narket
pri cing.

So there's sone -- sone challenges in sort of

under st andi ng exactly what's going on. And we did file
as much di scovery as we could to get clarification on
that, but that was difficult to sort of resol ve.

So | think the -- the bottomline here is, after
review ng the rebuttal testinony, ideally | would have
re-reviewed all the material that he referred to to
verify his claimthat the nodeling process did indeed
create two separate sets of hedging transactions, one
for Washi ngton and one for the rest of the system

| have not had tinme to do so due to other
responsibilities. And that would be a pretty
ti me-consum ng investigation, you know, with the
test- -- the rebuttal testinony being filed so
recently.

Assumi ng for the -- you know, and the Comm ssion
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shoul d judge the evidence as it has before it. |If the
Commi ssion was to determne that there were two
separate sets of hedging transactions created by

Pacifi Corp, then | think I would have -- that woul d
resol ve ny concern here about the -- the WAshi ngton
book. So that's a pretty |Iong answer to your question,
but | wanted to kind of provide that context as to why
there's a dispute here and what kind of work it would
take to resolve it and why | wasn't able to do that
before this hearing.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Al'l right.
And in that vein, does -- do you have suppl enent al
I nformati on requests pending wth the conpany on this
that were not -- did not cone back before the hearing?
Were you trying to get nore information? | realize
this was on a pretty fast tinme frane.

THE WTNESS: On this specific
topic -- 1'd have to go back and | ook through the
requests. | think it's just nore a nmatter of we filed
initial requests, we filed foll owup requests, and even
those foll owup requests in sone cases were just not
very specific in their responses.

You know, | had a -- | was -- for exanple, | was
pretty sure | knew which nodel file reflected the

conpany's actual proposal case, and we had to ask two
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different data requests to get that absolutely verified
for certain. And just kind of, like, seens |ike a
pretty basic question to ne. Like, what's your case
here? What's your work paper for your case? And
I nstead, we got these kind of [ong, convoluted answers.

And, you know, so that's ny recollection of it,
you know, just sitting here. But | don't think we have
any specific pending requests out right now | think
it's nore a matter of, after asking a couple of tines,
| was in sone cases |eft either uncertain, or in the
case of this | anguage issue that was di scussed
yest erday about what he neant by "spot market," you
know, wasn't until there was solid cross-exam nation
that | understood what he was actually -- what he
actually neant by those words.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Al right.

And considering that, did it help, you know, help your

t houghts on this as to whether -- you said --

THE W TNESS: Yeah

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: -- we
should -- we should determ ne whether there are two

sets of hedging transactions, but did it help you in
your anal ysis of whether you think there are two
separate sets here or not?

THE WTNESS: | think | can go to
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t he broader question, which is whether this -- this
hedgi ng cost for these 25-nmegawatt bl ocks shoul d be
included in rates. That's kind of where you're going.
Have | got that right, Conm ssioner Rendahl ?
COW SSI ONER RENDAHL:  Yes.

So do you still maintain your position here?
THE WTNESS: | think | amnostly
convinced -- but not entirely, for a couple of reasons
that I'll identify -- that the conpany's proposal is

r easonabl e.

And the two things that | think are still really
outstanding is, one, wiwth a change like this -- this is
a new nethod -- | would expect to see the conpany

provi de sone sort of verification analysis that is
specific to the -- the hedging process that they've
done. And instead they pointed to witness Mtchell's
Exhi bit 5, which was discussed, | think, in the
confidential session yesterday.

And wi thout getting in any details of that, |
think it was established that there was not a
specific -- you know, even though they pointed to that
as verification of this hedging. There wasn't a
specific analysis of the hedging practices in -- you
know, supported by that exhibit.

And | think that's a concern | have. | think 1t's

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES



© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 371

a best practice that when you introduce a new nethod,
It should provide sone sort of analytic test to show
that, you know, all of your assunptions -- and w tness
Mtchell sort of outlined a chain of assunptions, each
of which on its own sounded reasonable. But in
nodel i ng exercises, there's sonetines interactions

bet ween these assunptions that are unantici pated, and
the best way to check that and nmake sure that there's
not a mstake there that is a fundanental problem for
custoners is to do sone sort of, you know, test

anal ysis and provide that in support.

So that's ny main remai ning concern. | think ny
second one is the one that we just went over, which is
whet her in fact the WAashi ngton and system hedges are
actually mai ntai ned as separate transactions in the
analysis or whether it's a allocation of system hedges
into the Washi ngton book that is -- that is occurring.
And that was not a hundred percent clear to ne fromhis
testinony, either prefiled or on the stand.

So those are ny two points. But | do think he
wal ked through the I ogic and explained his terns a | ot
better, and that addressed a |ot of the concerns that |
raised in ny testinony. Certainly narrowed them down
to just sone quantitative work.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Okay. And
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t hank you for that clarification.

On the --
THE W TNESS: Yeah, absolutely.
COMM SSI ONER RENDAHL: On the future
hedgi ng costs, again in rebuttal -- and this is wtness

Mtchell's rebuttal testinony, at Page 20, starting at
Line 8 and then going to Page 36, Line 10. So there's
a significant anount there.

THE W TNESS: Yeah

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: He argues
that forward market transaction costs and vol unes are
known and reasonable. And considering the infornmation
that the conpany provided or that wtness Mtchell
provi ded, does staff still maintain its position on the
future hedging costs, or is this simlar to your answer
you just gave?

THE WTNESS: It's simlar to the
answer that | just gave. | think I can give you a
little bit of quick color on that.

So on the known piece, I'mnot sure if wtness
Mtchell acknow edged it, but | pretty nmuch anti ci pated
his answer, which was that the need to executions --
excuse nme -- the need to execute transactions is what
makes this known. And so | agree with that. So |

think -- | think they have established the known
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portion of the test.

The neasurabl e portion of the test is -- is the
nore conplicated one. And, you know, | sort of | ook at
it as a two-part test: Are the hedging transactions
cal cul ated froma nodel based on a Washi ngton-specific
basi s as opposed to a system basis? And that was the
poi nt we just discussed, is that | haven't been able to
fully verify that it's Washi ngton-specific.

And, secondly, the issue was kind of how the
dollars flew, you know, kind of where the price signals
were generated. And there, | think | got nore
clarification fromhis testinony yesterday that
resol ved sone of those concerns.

So the issue that we had there was that we had the
OFPC prices, which -- | nean, one thing that's
i nportant, | guess, to say for this issue is that
there's no perfect way for the conpany to nodel this.
And so | think that would be hel pful for the conpany to
al so acknowl edge in its testinony, is that, you know,
there's not a -- there's not an ideal way to get at
this issue.

| acknow edged in ny testinony, ny -- ny direct
testinony, that this was a legiti mte issue that
they've identified, and | agree that there needs to be

a solution. And | bring that attitude still very nuch
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forecasting a transaction that's going to happen sone
months in the future and then a second transacti on
that's going to happen at or near the power delivery
date. And witness Mtchell described it as generally
happeni ng within 72 hours of the power delivery date.
| had seen other utilities that will unwi nd portion of
their bl ock hedges further in advance of that, using
ot her kinds of transactions, other kinds of bilateral
contracts.

So, you know, that's certainly a question for ne
as to the conpany's power managenent practices. But,
you know, that may be sonet hing he was just sort of
sinplifying and tried to keep it kind of sinple for
pur poses of explaining the issue.

So -- and the way that this -- the fact that you
can't sort of actually predict those two price
transactions kind of separately and they're both
relying on the -- the OFPC costs, or prices. Excuse

ne.

So you' ve got these OFPC prices that are the input

to the first transaction and the input to the second
transaction when they're occurring in different market

and in different tine scales. And that creates a

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 374
to this conversation we're having right now
So the -- the problemis that you're tal king about

S
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little bit of a chall enge.

And, you know, exactly how to resolve this, you
know, | don't have a better approach to propose and
acknow edge that in the testinony. | think it was
really just a matter of, if you test it and you see
that it's working, then, yeah, this is a great
i nprovenent. If you test it and it's not working, then
you need to figure out why it's not working and go back
and conme up with a different approach.

Just to kind of conclude this, the concern, |
think, arises because you end up with a very | arge cost
added to the -- to the net power costs. This is a --
and witness Mtchell explained the reason for this,
which is that the price to buy the power is the OFPC,
and the price to then sell the power is the OFPC m nus
t he transaction cost.

And so you end up with a -- no matter how
brilliant a hedging is, in the nodeling, the actual
cost effect is always going to be a negative cost to
consuners. In reality, the cost wll sonetines be a
negative cost to consuners. And sonetines the conpany,
because it's got -- | presune and have no reason to
di sbelieve -- pretty smart people running these
prograns, will be naking smart noves on these hedges

and will do better than average.
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And, you know, you don't know whether that w |
happen. You can't -- you can't guarantee that outcone.

But there's no aspect of this nodeling that reflects

historical tendency there. And I'Il give you an
exanpl e.

The nodeling, as | understand it -- and this was a
reassurance to ne -- is that they're taking the bare

m ni rum hedges that are required by their risk
managenent policy -- so they've got, you know, 75
percent or whatever the requirenent is at a particular
time, and they're putting in hedges right up to 75
percent, but that's a m ni num

And | think if the conpany sees that prices are
|l ow right now, they're not going to do 75 percent.
They m ght hedge 90 percent or 95 percent. They m ght
do a nmuch | arger hedge, because they know that they're
very unlikely to take a substantial loss if they
over hedge and they have protected custoners on the
upsi de fromany kind of unexpected price spikes.

So good hedgi ng woul d i nvolve a degree of judgnent
that isn't reflected in this nodel, and therefore you
could end up with, you know, costs that are not
reflective of the nodeling. So that's kind of where
this concern cones from The scale of this cost is

pretty large conpared to what good hedgi ng practice
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m ght actually result in.

COWMM SSI ONER RENDAHL: Okay. But
your primary concern -- just one nonent.

Your primary concern, though, was about
measurability, the known --

THE W TNESS: Yeah

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: - -
neasurable. So that's where you still have the
guestion. And | know you went on and tal ked about the
concern about the scale. But just -- that's the
primary concern there.

THE WTNESS: Right. And it relates
to kind of the broader point |I just made, which is the
reason that you want it to be neasurable is that you
want it torelate to sonmething that's really going to
happen in the future.

COMM SSI ONER RENDAHL: Got it.

Ckay.

THE WTNESS: And so if you -- if
what you're neasuring is just part of the effect, which
Is the case here, it's hopefully a big part of it, and,
you know, we can't expect you to be perfect. But the
question is if they mssed a big part. And that woul d
be the proactive benefit of the hedging policy, which

is the reason that the Comm ssion and sone ot her

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES




© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 378

regul ators across North Anerica encourage hedgi ng.
They encourage it because they want it to have
benefits. It looks like, in this nodeling, all it has
IS costs.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Thank
you.

THE WTNESS: And that's -- that's
ki nd of a chall enge.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Thank
you. Sorry. M. Lowney.

MR. LOMNEY: Apologies. | was --
was concerned that we were potentially divulging a
confidential figure related to the risk nmanagenent
policy.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ah. D d we
do that?

MR. LOMNEY: But it is not --

THE WTNESS: |'m | ooking at --

MR. LOMNEY: It's not identified as
confidential in the conpany's rebuttal testinony, so |
think we're okay. But | guess | would just say, to the
extent there's nore questions, maybe we coul d use --
not divul ge specific figures, just so we're not on the
edge of that confidentiality related to the risk

managenent policy specifically.
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COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: | appreciate
t hat gui dance. Thank you. And | don't have any
further questions for this wtness.

So --

THE WTNESS: |'ll just --

Comm ssioner, if | can just provide the citation for
that. That figure was from Page 20 of w tness
Mtchell's rebuttal testinony, at Line 3.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: And it was
not confidential ?

THE WTNESS: That's correct.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. For
the record.

MR. LOMNEY: And that's what we were
| ooking at as well to confirmthat it was -- that
particul ar nunber was not confidential.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Well,
t hank you for nmaking sure that we keep the record
cl ean.

And | have no further questions for the w tness.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Thank you.

Comm ssioner Doumt? All right.
| believe that concludes all of the conm ssioner
questions for you, M. WIson. Thank you for being

avail able this norning. You may be excused at this

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES




© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp
Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 380

time.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

(Wtness excused.)

JUDGE THOWPSON: And that brings us

to Jacque Hawki ns-Jones.

Good norning. Are you ready?
THE W TNESS: Good nor ni ng.
JUDGE THOMPSON: Ckay. |If you could

pl ease raise your right hand.

Do you swear or affirmthat the testinony you wll

give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and
not hing but the truth?
THE W TNESS: Yes.
JACQUE HAVKI NS- JONES, havi ng been first duly sworn
by Adm ni strative Law Judge
Thonpson, was exam ned and
testified as foll ows:
JUDGE THOWPSON: All right. Thank
you. You may be seat ed.
And, Counsel, you may proceed.
1111
1111
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DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MB. STRAUSS:
Good norning, M. Hawki ns-Jones.
Coul d you pl ease state your nane and spell it for
t he record.
Good norni ng.
My nane i s Jacque Hawki ns Jones. J-a-c-(Q-u-e.
Last nane is Ha-wk-i-n-s, hyphen, J-o0-n-e-s.
Thank you.

And did you sponsor testinony in this matter?
Yes, | did.
And do you have any corrections, anendnents, or changes
you would like to nake to that testinony at this tine?
No, | do not.
M5. STRAUSS: Thank you.
| tender the question for cross -- or the wtness
for cross. Apol ogies.
JUDGE THOWPSON: That is okay.
Thank you.
| believe the conpany has indicated cross for this
W tness. You may proceed when you're ready.
And just a rem nder to counsel. Wen you're
talking, if you could turn on your canmeras. | think
you've got it, but | did get a nessage earlier. So

t hank you.
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A

MR. McVEE: Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR MVEE:
Good nor ni ng.
Good norni ng.
So | just have a few questions this norning.

So your cross-answering testinony, Exhibit JHI-1T,
Is the first testinony you submtted in this
proceedi ng, correct?
Correct.
And you concur with PacifiCorp's findings that the
Washi ngt on 2026 protocol is better aligned wth
Washi ngton's benefits, Washi ngton benefits, than the
WJAM correct?
Can you point nme to where | say that?
Yes.

If you could refer to Exhibit JHI-5X. On Page 11
of 13, it's staff response to DR 23.
Gve nme just one mnute to get there.

You said that was Response -- what again? [|'m
sorry?
It's Page 11 of 13 of Exhibit JHI-5X. And it's staff
response to DR 23.
Ckay. |'mthere.
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Q And on the very last line, you say, In general, |
concur PacifiCorp's findings are better aligned wth
Washi ngt on benefits.
Do you still agree with that statenent?
Let me read the whole thing inits entirety.
Yes. And | believe that's -- also correlates with
staff Wlson's testinony.
Great. Thank you.
Did you review the 2020 protocol and the WJAM in

t he devel opnent of your testinony of this case?

M5. STRAUSS: |'m going to object on
this line of questioning. This is outside the scope of
her testinony that was offered in this matter. She
only spoke to the 2026 protocol and its effects going
downstream not | ooking back at any prior nethodol ogy
that was offered in a previous proceedi ng.

MR. McVEE: Your Honor, her
testinony refers to over-collection of costs, which
kind of necessarily relates to the rates that were set
in the past. Plus this is a foundational issue for
allocations in the discussion that we're having today
about the WAshi ngton 2026 protocol.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Any further
response?

M5. STRAUSS: Yes. Her testinony
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A

about over-collection relates to a forward-| ooking
anal ysis of how the 2026 protocol is going to be

I npl emented and if those concerns that have been
brought up by other parties are founded and need to be
| nvesti gat ed nore.

It's staff's position that the evidence in the
record is unclear how the collection's going to happen
interns of if there are going to be over-collection
| ssues with the 2026 protocol, and there's just not
enough evidence in the record that has di ssuaded staff
that there won't be.

JUDGE THOWSON: Ckay. I'mgoing to
overrule the objection at this tine.

The statenent in Data Request No. 23 does
inplicate the WJAM And | do agree that the question
Is getting at foundational know edge of conparing the
2026 protocol and the WJAM But should the
guestioning exceed the witness's ability to answer her
know edge, feel free to object again.

(By M. MVee) Wuld you like nme to repeat the
question?

You'll need to repeat, yes.

Did you review the 2020 protocol and WJAMin the
devel opnent of your testinony in this case?

| did not.
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Q You did not. Al right. Thank you.
Did you review any of the past decisions on

Paci fi Corp's allocations? 2005, 2013, any of those

past deci sions?

| did not.

Can you turn to Cross Exhibit JHIJ-4X. That is the

joint testinony in support of the stipulation in

Docket UE-191024.

"' mthere.

M5. STRAUSS: Your Honor, staff
again objected to this exhibit. This is prefiled
testinony that has to do with an agreenent staff
reached in the settlenent in a prior docket. Again,
out side the scope of her testinony. Not relevant to

the 2026 protocol and staff's opinion on the 2026

pr ot ocol .
MR. MVEE: Your Honor -- sorry.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Go ahead. Proceed.
MR. McVEE: Your Honor, this is the
testinony -- joint testinony supporting the stipulation
adopting -- or it's recommendi ng the adoption of the

2020 protocol and the WJAM to which staff was a
partici pant.
M5. STRAUSS:. Your Honor, if I -- if

| may respond.
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JUDGE THOMPSON: Pl ease do.

M5. STRAUSS. Again, that was
testinony offered in a settlenment approving that
protocol. Staff's not |looking to relitigate those
I ssues or question the approval of that protocol.

Staff is looking at the 2026 protocol. The 2020
prot ocol and why staff accepted it or agreed to it at
that tinme is not the question of this proceeding.

JUDGE THOWPSON: What is the
conpany's intention for use of this exhibit?

MR. McVEE: | just have one question
about this exhibit. It's just to set the stage
regardi ng how the 2026 protocol is -- or the Wshi ngton
2026 protocol follows on the attenpt that was
articulated by the parties to that stipulation, which
then result -- or -- and that reflected the 2020
prot ocol and the WJAM

JUDGE THOWPSON: Okay. This exhibit
is aprior filing wwth the Comm ssion. | don't see any
reason to exclude the exhibit, itself. However, | note
t hat w tness Hawki ns-Jones is not one of the
I ndi vidual s providing testinony in this filing, and so
the witness's knowl edge of the testinony or the
contents therein may be Iimted.

So I'l'l overrule the objection to the exhibit,
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itself, on the basis that this is a docunent filed with
t he Comm ssion in another docket. But | do note for
counsel that Ms. Hawkins-Jones was not a w tness or
sonebody providing testinony in this filing, and so the
W tness's knowl edge may be |imted.

MR. McVEE: Thank you, Your Honor.
(By M. MVee) So could you turn to page -- to
Exhi bit JHJ-4X, Page 17 of 55. That will be Page 15 of
the testinony.

Al right. | think I'mthere.

The first line of there -- that page is "prudent
by the Conm ssion"?
It should -- the first line of the page should be WJAM
MOU 2020 protocol.

So the exhibit, it should be Page --
Got it. I1'mthere.
Thank you.

So in that second question, "Please describe the
2020 protocol,"” Lines -- the response in Lines 8
through 13, it describes the 2020 protocol represents a
fundanmental shift in how the conpany proposes to
address allocations, with the ultimte goal of noving
away fromdynam c allocations and a commobn generation
resource portfolio to a fixed allocation factors for

generation resources.
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Do you agree that that transition to fixed factors
and a state-specific resource portfolio is appropriate?
| don't have kno- -- that's not sonething that's -- |
woul d have knowl edge about. | would defer to our
expert wtness WIlson on those questions.
Al right. Thank you.
So turning to your testinony, |1'd like to ask a
f ew questi ons about sonme of the recomrendati ons that
you make.

Recommendation 3, if you turn to Page 6 of your
testi nony.

One second while | go back there.

Sorry. |'ve lost ny --
JUDGE THOWSON: Did you say Page 67
MR MVEE: Oh. I'msorry. Page 7

of your testinony.

JUDGE THOWSON: 7. Thank you.

MR. McVEE: Lines 4 through 8.

THE WTNESS: 4 through 8. Okay.
"' mthere.
(By M. MVee) Al right. In that recomendation, you
recommend that Pacifi Corp include workbooks and ot her
information -- simlar to that indicated in testinony
of witnesses Earle, Mullins, and Wlson -- to be

significant value in interpreting the protocol,
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> O

correct?

And we're tal king about the Phase 2 filing.
Yes, | agree with those expert w tnesses.
Ckay. And what specific workbooks and ot her
I nformation are you referring to?
| believe those are further detailed down in testinony.
In your testinony?
| believe the information that we're seeking is
outlined in the last question as well as whatever
expert witness testinony they -- they've described in
their testinony as needing additional information to
revi ew.
So when you say your testinony, do you nean staff
W tness Wlson's testinony or later in your testinony?
| guess, can you rephrase your question so that way |
understand it conpletely?
So in the -- in your Recommendation 3, you state that
I n the conpany's Phase 2 filing, it should include
wor kbooks and other information simlar to that
i ndicated in the testinony of witnesses Earle, Millins,
and Wlson to be of significant value in interpreting
t he protocol.

Are you asking for all information that was
addressed by those witnesses to be included in the

Phase 2 filing?
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A

| think, for a conplete analysis, what |'mreconmendi ng
I's for workbooks and other information that are -- that
were simlarly requested and for discovery in this case
be included in that filing, yes. And that's to create
a conmplete file for our staff and other parties to
review and not have to do additional discovery to
review that information.
Thank you.

Wul d that include issues that nmay be rejected by
the Comm ssion in its order?
Can you clarify what you nean by that?
So if certain issues raised by the parties are rejected
by the Conm ssion in its order or maybe there's changed
ci rcunst ances, would that recommendation hold, that we
woul d still -- the conpany should still be required to
provide information articulated by parties in this
case?
| think that the conpany should file, you know, what
t he Comm ssion orders and naybe have the Conmm ssion
clarify what would be best to file in their next case.
So | leave that up to the Conm ssion to decide and for
the conpany to then respond appropriately to that
deci si on.
Moving to your Recommendation 6, this is at Page 8,

Lines 1 through 5.
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' mthere.
And it actually starts on Page 7 -- I'msorry --

Q

A

Lines 22 to 23. But the recommendation is for, if

di scussions across nmultiple jurisdictions, which
relates to your first recommendation, do not result in
a consensus, then it calls for specific discussions.

So your recommendation is for PacifiCorp to be
directed to consult with AWEC staff and public counsel
at a mnimumto obtain consensus alternative and
i nclude a full analysis in a Phase 2 filing, correct?
That's what ny testinony says.

Do you agree that PacifiCorp, as a utility, has the
ultimate responsibility to maintain safe, reliable, and
af fordabl e el ectric service in conpliance with al

| egal requirenents?

Yes.

Did staff or any other parties analyze reliability of
the system or resource adequacy in their testinony in
this proceedi ng?

That does not relate to ny testinony. | wouldn't know.
| wouldn't be able to speak to that. You'd have to ask
t hem

Do you know, did you review any of the testinony of the
other parties in this proceedi ng?

| remenber reviewng them but | don't nenorize them
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Q

> O

>

Do you know if -- did you or do you know of any ot her
party that anal yzed conpliance with the NERC -- that's
the North Electric Reliabil- -- Anmerican Electric
Reliability Council's reliability standards in their
testi nony?
| woul d defer you to our expert witness WIlson on that.
Did you anal yze any conpliance with the NERC st andards
or the Federal Energy Regul atory Comm ssion
requi rements --
No.
-- I n your testinony?
We consulted with an expert w tness who we sought
consultation with in this case, so | would defer you to
hi m on those.
And that -- you're referring to staff wtness WI son?
Correct.
kay. And so staff witness Wlson, in their testinony,
did not address the Federal Energy Regul atory
Commi ssion requirenents or North Anerican Electric
Reliability Council requirenents, and that was not an
| ssue for staff?
You woul d have to ask himon that.
Thank you.

Turning to your Recommendation 4, which is on

Page 7, Lines 1 through 13 -- I'msorry -- 9 through
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13.

A Ckay.

Q I'msorry. Let ne correct that. 9 through 12.

A Yes.

Q You raise an issue of over-collection of costs by

Paci fi Corp across the jurisdictions, correct?

A | believe this is tal king about denonstrating how t he
NPCs and non-NPCs are recovered across each
jurisdiction.

Q And if that recovery across all jurisdictions varies

significantly froma hundred percent, you reconmend
that Pacifi Corp be directed to include an expl anati on
as to why it's reasonable, correct?

A That's what ny testinony says.

Q Wuld you agree that allocations are an input in each
rate filing before each state comm ssion and used to
determ ne the cost of service to custoners in each
st ate?

A | would agree with that statenent.

Q Al right. And rates approved by each jurisdiction
determned to be -- determined to be fair, just,
reasonabl e, and sufficient, or the applicable standard
for each state, would be the rates set for that
jurisdiction?

A Yes. \Watever the Conm ssion orders, yes.
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Q

So -- and your Recommendation 4 would require
denonstration in Phase 2 filing of total recovery of
the conpany's costs across all jurisdictions and an
explanation as to why any cost varies froma hundred
percent, correct?

That's what ny testinony says.

Al right. How does staff propose to use that

i nformation in that Phase 2 filing?

| don't knowif | would be able to speak to that. W
woul d probably consult with our expert w tness for
that. Additionally, just having the information in
file for staff to do a conplete analysis is hel pful for
us to cone to a full determ nation, a recomrendati on
for the Comm ssion.

But that information would relate to collection during
a -- sorry. Let ne rephrase that.

Is that information intended to be forward-I| ooking
for the Phase 2 filing or backward-| ooking for the,
what woul d be the current allocation nethodol ogy?

So | think when we're tal ki ng about backward-| ooki ng
for staff, it is to learn, not necessarily punish or
re-evaluate. It is so that way staff can make good
recommendations for the Conm ssion's consideration in
Its cases goi ng forward.

So |l don't think that -- | do think that al
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information is valuable in these types of filings for
us to nake a good recomrendation for the Comm ssion to
consi der.

So woul d you agree that that could not be used for any
of the identification of any potential refunds to
custoners?

| nmean, | don't know if | could speak to that now,
‘cause | do think that there are sone avenues avail abl e
that the Conm ssion has -- | believe it's an RCW - -

I nvestigative rules. |If there is a conplaint filed,

t he Comm ssion can nake a determ nation on if they
would like to. That's not sonething that staff is

| ooki ng for right now.

We are looking to learn so that way we can nake
better reasonabl e decisions going forward so that way
custoner inpact is not -- custoners are not i npacted,
you know, negatively.

So are you saying that the Comm ssion could issue
refunds based on rates that were approved as fair,
just, reasonable, and sufficient in Washi ngton because
of rates that were recovered in other states that were
al so determned to be fair, just, reasonable, and
sufficient?

No, | don't think I'd say that.

Could you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-5X, Page 12 of 13.
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M5. STRAUSS: Your Honor, staff also
objected to this DR as outside the scope of
Ms. Hawki ns-Jones' testinony and not relevant to this
matter.

JUDGE THOWSON: Any response?

MR MVEE: Yes. This is actually
just in line with the sane questions |'ve been having.
It was just a data request response that -- where staff
makes a simlar statenent to what the w tness just
made.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Pl ease give ne just
one nonment to review the exhibit.

And, Ms. Strauss, your argunent is that this is
not relevant to Ms. Hawki ns-Jones' testinony?

M5. STRAUSS: | woul d argue that
Ms. Hawki ns-Jones is testifying about the 2026
protocol. This |line of questioning about past
al l ocati on net hodol ogi es and how they were applied is
not relevant to staff's position on the 2026 protocol.

Arguably, this Iine of questioning about potential
overpaynent in the staff, which staff is interested
about froma | earning perspective, is not on point with
the i ssue before the Conmm ssion of whether the 2026
prot ocol shoul d be approved in this proceeding.

JUDGE THOMPSON: Ckay. In review ng
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>

the contents of the data request, it seens to go
directly to what is contained in wtness Hawki ns-Jones'
testi nony and Recommrendation 4, | believe on Page 7.

And so for that reason, | do believe it's within
the scope on a narrow basis as to how t hat
recommendati on may apply to the 2026 protocol. | wll
overrule the objection at this point in tine.

And, Counsel, you may proceed.

MR. McVEE: Thank you, Your Honor.

(By M. MVee) So are you on that page?
I am
kay. And this is staff's request to Pacifi Corp Data
Request No. 27, correct?
Yes, it is.
And you were the wtness that responded to this?
You're the witness and responder?
Yes, that's what it says.
Coul d you read the | ast sentence of your response,
pl ease.
"Staff's recommendation is to develop information and
Is not related to any process for recovery of
hi storical under- or over-recovery."
So this is really meant -- your recommendation is --
woul d you agree that your recommendation is neant to

provide information | ooking backwards fromrather than
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anal yzing a Phase 2 inplenentation, Phase 2 all ocation

| npl enent ati on?
A Can you restate it?

Q So in your Request that -- in your Request -- or

Recommendati on 4, you recommend that the total recovery

of any cost varies froma hundred percent.
That's | ooki ng backwards, correct?

A Correct. A denonstration of how.

O

And that would be for several years, correct?

>

the conpany wants to interpret this recomendati on or
I f the Conm ssion wants to provide clarification in
their determnation. | have no preference on years.
think what staff is |ooking for is historical
I nformation so that way we can learn and apply it
f or war d- | ooki ng.

Q Okay. Could you turn to Page 9 of 13 of that sane
exhibit. That's JHJ-5X

A Data Request No. 207?

Q That's correct.

And on the last -- on the first page of that

response -- sorry. It is a one-page response.

The very | ast paragraph, you clarify that, for the

Phase 2 analysis, that that test- -- that analysis

should be limted to test-year cost data, correct?

|"msure in consultation with other parties or however
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A That's what it says.
Q So the analysis of any potential over-collection is for
I nformati onal purposes only?
A Yes.
Q So it would not assist in the analysis of any Phase 2
allocation filing.
That woul d be based on test-year data, correct?
A Yes, for this regarding Phase 2, we -- | state that it
should be limted to the test-year cost data.
MR. McVEE: Al right. Thank you.
No further questions, Your Honor.
JUDGE THOWSON: Any redirect from
staff?
M5. STRAUSS: Just briefly, Your
Honor .
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MB. STRAUSS:
Q M. Hawkins-Jones, you were asked a few questions about
the various information staff has suggested the
Commi ssion order the -- order PacifiCorp to provide in
a Phase 2 filing.
Wiy does staff want this additional information?
A | think that way it creates a conplete initial filing

so that way staff has a full case in their first
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review. | think the burden is on the conpany to nmake
that initial filing conplete and accurate, and a case
shoul d not be nmade through discovery.

And, Ms. Hawki ns-Jones, Pacifi Corp has asked quite a
f ew questi ons about over-collection information, and
your testinony tal ks about various variances froma
hundred percent of collection.

Is staff concerned about the 2026 protocol and the
| ssue of variances froma hundred percent coll ection?
Yes, | don't think that there's enough information in
the file for us to nmake a determnation at this point,
and we seemto have nore questions than answers at this
poi nt .

And so during a Phase 2 assessnent, you'll be hoping to
| ook at whether the 2026 protocol, whether actual
collection is deviating froma hundred percent?
Correct.
kay. And the Comm ssion does not practice retroactive
rat emaki ng, correct?
Correct.

M5. STRAUSS: kay. No further
questions, Your Honor.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Thank you.

Any questions fromthe bench?

Ckay. Thank you. | believe that concludes the
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gquestions for you. You may be excused at this tine.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.

(Wtness excused.)

JUDGE THOWPSON:  And | believe that
brings us to witness Earle.

(Wtness appearing renotely.)

THE WTNESS: |'mhere. |'m having
alittle bit of a problemw th Zoom
JUDGE THOWPSON: That is okay. W
can hear you.
THE WTNESS: Ckay. G eat.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Wonderful .
Thank you very nuch.
| f you could please raise your right hand, and
"1l swear you in.
Do you swear or affirmthat the testinony you wll
give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and
not hing but the truth?
THE WTNESS: | do.
1111
1111
11171
1111
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1 ROBERT L. EARLE, appearing renotely and

2 havi ng been first duly sworn
3 by Adm nistrative Law Judge
4 Thonpson, was exam ned and
5 testified as foll ows:

6

7 JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

8 Counsel for public counsel, you may proceed.

9
10 DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
11 BY MR SYKES:
12 | Q Good norning, Dr. Earle.
13 | A Good norning.
14 | Q Could you please state and spell your nane for the
15 record.
16 | A My nane is Robert Earle. R-o0-b-e-r-t E-a-r-I-e.
17 | Q And did you prefile a witten direct and cross-
18 answering testinony?
19 | A Yes, | did.
20 | Q Did you sponsor any exhibits?
21 | A | did.
22 | Q Ckay. D d you hear any of the testinony yesterday?
23 | A | did.
24 | Q |If | asked you the sane questions in your testinony
25 t oday, would any of your answers change?
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A

> O

So based on what | knew at the tine | wote the
testinony, the answer is the answers woul d not change.

However, | did hear testinony yesterday that woul d
make ne have changes to ny filed testinony.
Ckay. So | guess the answer is, if you were asked the
sane questions today, the answers woul d change?
Correct.
kay. What answers woul d change?
So specifically ny recommendati on concerni ng public
counsel's alternative proposal would change. And let's
see. Sorry. | wote that down, the section.

It's principally in the response testinony,
Page 14, beginning Line 15 through Page 15, 12.

Wul d you like ne to go through what the changes
woul d be?
Yes, pl ease.
So what | | earned yesterday was that PacifiCorp's
intention in its proposed allocation, one of them or |
shoul d say two of them was that each jurisdiction pay
its -- |'m paraphrasing now -- fair share of resource
adequacy costs and ancillary services costs. That was
not apparent to ne before based on -- based on their
filing.

And it seens that Pacifi Corp's approach is to say,

okay, well, let's do an allocation so that | would say
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roughly each jurisdiction is responsible for a
proportionate share of resource adequacy costs and al so
responsible for a proportionate share of ancillary
service costs. And | wll disagree that Washi ngton as
a jurisdiction should not be responsible for its
proportionate share.

And witness WIding nakes a fair point by |ooking
at ny proposed allocation in showng in terns of the
resour ce adequacy that the resource adequacy from ny
proposal falls under the -- the PRMby up to | think it
is 300 negawatts, roughly, for sone nonths. So that
shortfall, it's fair to say, it should be addressed.

In terns of ancillary services, there --

Paci fi Corp says, well, renoving Chehalis and Jim
Bri dger woul d make -- nake Washi ngton jurisdiction
short on its paying for ancillary services, and -- but

they don't provide any cal culation. And so given that
Washi ngton woul d still, under the alternative
al l ocation, have hydropower, it isn't clear whether
it's -- whether Washi ngton woul d be supplying too nuch,
just right, or not enough ancillary services.

So PacifiCorp's approach is to say, well, let's
make sure the allocations cover this. And that's one
way to do it, and | could have changed ny

recommendation to -- to accommodat e t hat. But | think
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there's a better way. And the reason why | think there
Is a better way is, as PacifiCorp |likes to say, they
have a big system a diverse system They take
advantage of the diversity of the system

So by -- by locking in each jurisdiction to
allocation that may or may not fit its needs, it's a
suboptimal allocation, | think particularly for
Washington. | haven't reviewed the other allocations.
Don't have an opinion on them But at least in terns
of Washi ngton, Chehalis is not a good fit. And -- and
| discussed the reasons for that in ny -- in ny
t esti nony.

So a different approach in terns of resource
adequacy would be to say, okay, well, here are the
all ocations for each jurisdiction. Those that are
short in ternms of their support by the resources they
subscribe to will have to nake a paynent to nake that
up. And those that are contributing nore by virtue of
their subscription to resources will collect paynents.
This way, the allocations in terns of the
jurisdictions' needs don't have to match.

And simlarly with ancillary services. W can
determ ne what jurisdictions are providing in terns of
ancillary services fromtheir resources, what they're

consum ng. And ancillary services are a little bit
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easi er, because we don't -- we don't have to create a
calculation in ternms of cost. That already exists or
at |l east the basis for it exists in the -- in
Paci fi Corp's open access transm ssion tariff.

So, again, we could use those to say, okay, well,
gee, if you want this particular allocation, okay, but
you're going to have to make up the shortfall in
ancillary services you're providing, nake up the
shortfall in terns of resource adequacy you're
providing. So I think this is very doable. And what
it does is allows sone flexibility in the allocation
that allows for the diversity across jurisdictions to
take good effect, whereas Pacifi Corp's approach limts
what you can do, and | think in the case of
Paci fi Corp's proposal, it's -- it's not a good fit.

And it's certainly not a -- it's certainly not a good
fit over the long run with CETA really taking effect in
2030.

So | guess ny recommendati on would be it would be
preferable to have a pricing systemfor resource
adequacy ancillary services that could make up for
shortfall or pay those jurisdictions that are providing
nore, and that if it's not done now, that it be
i npl enrented for revisions that happen in -- in Phase 2.

And | think it particularly fits well with the

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES




© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 407

nove to nodal pricing whereby resources and | oad get
priced at their -- at their nodal price as determ ned
by the EDAM and this would simlarly price ancillary
servi ces and resource adequacy.

MR. SYKES: Now, Your Honor, at your
di scretion, since this is a substantive change, |I'd be
willing to stipulate to cross on this issue. But |
| eave that to your discretion, Your Honor.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Thank you.

MR, LOMNEY: Your Honor.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Yes.

MR LOMEY: |If | may, given that
It's a substantive change, | think the nost effective
way to address it would be with the opportunity to
present a testinonial wtness to respond to the new
recommendation fromDr. Earle. And that woul d be our
pref erence as opposed to cross-exam nati on, because
there's substantive matters that need to be resol ved.

MR, SYKES: | would so stipulate.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. And which
W t ness woul d you propose?

MR, LOMEY: | would need to confer
with ny client on two things: Wich witness, and al so
| need to understand how we woul d respond just to

understand the -- the scope and | ength of that
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response.
So if we want to take a nonent now, we can -- we
can confer and -- or we could wait till the end of
Dr. Earle's presentation. \Watever your preference is.

JUDGE THOWSON: Let's --

MR. PEPPLE: Your Honor.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Yes.

MR. PEPPLE: Sorry. | guess | did
have a couple of questions for Dr. Earle about his
proposal that | think are nostly clarifying questions,
and that mght help PacifiCorp's wtness respond as
well. So maybe while they're conferring, | could ask
t hose, or...

JUDGE THOWSON: G ve ne one nonent.

Ckay. We will go ahead and allow M. Pepple to
proceed with sone questions. | think at that point in

time, before we get to bench questions or another

W tness from Pacifi Corp, perhaps we'll take a

ten-m nute norning break and then resune after that.
So you may proceed.

MR. PEPPLE: Thank you, Your Hono

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR PEPPLE:
Q Good norning, Dr. Earle.

r.
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A
Q

Good nor ni ng.
Sorry. Let nme turn ny canera on.

So | just want to nake sure that | was cl ear about
your reconmendati on.

So your proposal is that at, if a state is short
on resource adequacy, they would nake a paynent to
other states in order to supply what is required.

| s that your proposal?

Correct.

And woul d that paynent be a purchase of resource
adequacy fromspecific resources, or would it just be
sort of a generic paynent?

So that's -- that's an interesting question. The way |
was thinking of it was a generic paynent. But -- but

t he paynent woul d be based on the resource subscription
and the anount of resource adequacy that resource
provided. So if a resource provided a hundred
negawatts of resource adequacy and an entity is

subscri bed say 8 percent of that, then that would be 8
megawatts of resource adequacy that entity was
provi di ng through that resource. And you'd add up
across the resources, is the way -- it's the way |I'm
concei ving that right now.

Ckay. So, | nean, do you agree that Pacifi Corp's coal

resources provide resource adequacy?

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES



© 00 N o o b~ W N P

N DN D D MDD P P P PP,
aa A~ W N b O © 00 N O O A W N B O

In the matter of PacifiCorp

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 410
A | -- 1 think they do, and that would be -- that would
certainly be a winkle to be worked out. | don't know
what the CETA inplications are for this, because we
al so have the difficulty that Pacifi Corp's coal
resources, at |least according to PacifiCorp -- and it
seens reasonable to ne -- provide ancillary services
t hat support wind in the west.
But | think -- | think that that's -- that's --
that's a winkle that, one, you' d have to think about,

wel |, does the paynent or resource adequacy viol ate
CETA -- and that | don't know -- and, two, if it does,
to build a workaround to address that.

MR. PEPPLE: Gkay. Thank you.
Those are all ny questions.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Thank you.

At this point intinme, | think perhaps it's a good

time for us to take a 10- or 15-minute break just to
al l ow everyone to stretch their | egs before we concl ude
t hrough the -- the last couple of wtnesses this
nor ni ng.

Let's go ahead and -- okay. Let's go ahead and do
a 10 -mnute break. We wll be off the record, and
we'll return at 10: 35.

(Pause in proceedings from

10:23 a.m to 10:36 a.m)
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JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. It is now

10:36 a.m let's be back on the record.

Thank you.

And wtness Earle is still sworn in.

"Il just turn to the conpany really quick. Have
you deci ded on a best course of action?

MR. LOMNEY: Yes, Your Honor. The
conpany would recall Mke Wlding to the stand to
provide what | think will be relatively brief response
t esti nony.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Ckay.

MR. LOMNEY: And then we will be
avai |l abl e to comm ssioner questions to the extent there
are any.

JUDGE THOMPSON: Ckay. And so forgo
cross-exam nation of wtness Earle.

MR. LOMNEY: That's correct.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. GCkay. Thank
you.

At this point in tinme, we can proceed. |'Il just
turn to staff and give you an opportunity.
Did you have any cross questions for wtness
Earl e?
M5. STRAUSS: W don't have any

Cross questions at this tinme, but we nay address any
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I ssues on brief.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Thank you
very nuch.

Then we will turn to questions fromthe bench.

CHAIR RYBARIK: M. Earle, | think
you' ve sort of answered this question, but you've
probably heard sone of the questions on w nd
curtail nents, and you have a agreenent effectively with
AVEC s proposal in this case on wind curtail nents.

G ven that you did not change any of your
testinmony on this issue, | assune you stand by your
effective adoption of the AWEC position in this case on
wi nd curtail nents, how they're nodel ed?

THE WTNESS: | think that AWEC
basically has it right in this. Yesterday's --
yesterday's testinony was -- by M. Mtchell was
interesting. The two things that are mssing for ne
from-- fromwhat he said is there still seens to be a
di sconnect between the historical and what the nodel
out cones are.

And the second -- the second thing is, while he
did go through this thing of, well, the curtail nment
order is gas, coal, wind, ny question about coal, which
| don't believe he really answered, has to do with

m ni numtake contracts and if the m ni mumtake
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contracts are driving part of the reasons why coal is
maybe not curtailed as nuch as it could have been and
what the -- what the relative cost of those coal
contracts are versus the cost for the wind curtail nent.
And then there's -- there's -- there's the
sticky -- the sticky issue of, well, not curtailing the
coal benefits sone jurisdictions, whereas curtailing
the wind hurts other jurisdictions, and whet her
there -- there are issues there.
So | didn't -- | didn't find Mtchell's
expl anation conpelling so that | would think, OCh, wait
a mnute. He's really explained the problem

CHAIR RYBARIK: Wth respect to the
coal contracts that you just referenced, did you hear
M. WIlson's testinony earlier today?

THE WTNESS: | did.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  What | heard there
was that effectively you' d want -- the Conm ssion
should review the EIMdata and what | would think of as
the set points for the m nimumruns of those plants
woul d be one way of addressing to ensure that they are
I ndeed curtailed to the | owest |evel.

| s that your understandi ng of what that testinony
was ?

THE W TNESS: That sounds right.
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And | think that would be a good thing to do certainly.
CHAI R RYBARI K:  And then just one
| ast set of questions on the curtail nents.

M. Mtchell, we had an exchange yesterday about
what the inpacts of setting curtailnments too high in
the nodel to set the cost relative to the PCAM i npacts
of that potentially in the future if indeed wind is
curtailed | ess.

Any response to that from public counsel on what
t hose i npacts woul d be?

THE W TNESS: Sur e.

Soif -- if the PCAM process were a conplete
pass-through dollar for dollar, I would not -- you
know, | would -- | -- assum ng that, you know, the --
t he amounts weren't large -- they seemto be large --

but if the anbunts weren't |arge, you' d think, well,
okay, we're off -- we're off by 1 percent of -- of MPC
Rat epayers will get it back later.

The issue -- the issue is, is -- is because of the

dead band and the sharing bands and the PCAM if you're

off -- assum ng everything else is spot-on, if you're
off 1 percent, well, that 1 percent accrues to the
conpany's benefit. |If you're off by other anounts,

then the anmobunt that accrues to the conpany's benefit

Is | ess, depending on which sharing band you're in.

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES




© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 415

But | don't -- | guess | would -- | would prefer
to see a nore accurate forecast for all things rather
than -- rather than have it, you know, say, okay, the
PCAMw || take care of it. Because the PCAM doesn't
quite take care of it. You know, the PCAMis there to
i ncentivize the conpany to do the best it can inits --
in its operations.

And so -- so, | guess, in ny opinion, just relying
on the PCAMisn't -- isn't a good sol ution.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Very good. Thank
you. | have no further questions.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL:  Good nor ni ng,
M. Earle.

THE W TNESS: Good nor ni ng.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Good nor ni ng.

So I'massum ng you heard the questions | asked to
W t ness WI son?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. So one
of those questions is simlar, on the future hedgi ng
costs. And ny question referred to witness Mtchell's
rebuttal testinony, 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8, through
Page 36, Line 10.

He argues that the forward market transaction
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costs and vol une are known and reasonabl e, and
considering the information that the conpany provi ded
and the testinony yesterday, does that change your
testinony in this docket on this issue?

THE WTNESS: No. And while
appreciate his testinony yesterday, | amstill
concerned about the fact that we don't have any
docunentation in terns of how they're going to hedge
for Washington. And, in fact, what they have said
IS -- they said this in the -- in the data request
response. They said, Well, you know, we're not going
to do any hedgi ng for Washi ngton specifically until
2026. Until that cal endar year, not for that cal endar
year.

And so saying that, Well, we're going to do these
hedges for Washi ngton based on a policy that doesn't
exist, I find -- | find concerning. And when asked
again in a data request, Are you going to allocate --

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Before you
go -- before you go farther, so this is the second data
request you've nentioned. | just want to nmake sure
these are in the record.

So the first data request you nentioned, if you
can give the cite to it, and then for the second one,

t hat woul d be hel pful too.

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES




© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp
Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025

THE WTNESS: | don't have it in ny
head right now, but | can certainly respond to a bench
request or whatever nethod is appropriate.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Yeah, we can
send a bench request. | just want to nake sure that
what you're citing to in your testinony here is
actually in the record and not sonething that we don't
have access to. That's ny concern.

THE W TNESS: Absol utely.

Absol utel y.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL:  Ckay.

THE WTNESS: And | -- and |
don't -- thank you. | don't renenber at this tine
whether | cited themin ny test- -- testinony or not.
But so |'mconcerned that -- that these are
transacti ons which don't have any -- don't have any
basis in their policy, and then when -- when they --
when they were asked, Well, did you -- are you going to
al l ocate sone of the hedges to -- that you're going to
make in 2025 to Washi ngton? the answer was very
nonspecific. You know, it was, |ike, How are you going
to do this? It was very non- -- nonspecific.

So they haven't actually nade these. As
M. Mtchell nade clear yesterday, it isn't clear when

they are going to make these. And | think that the
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final thing that he said -- not that -- you know, he
said finally, but -- but he said that, Well, there wll

be hedges included in our conpliance filing. And, you
know, those will be the -- as | understood him-- those
will be the hedges we'd actually nmade.

And that's entirely appropriate, you know.

Whet her they're prudent or not and all of that is -- is
anot her issue that gets addressed likely in a PCAM but
it's entirely appropriate that if, leading up to the
conpliance filing, whenever that is -- let's say it's
in Decenber -- if in Novenber they put on -- they
actually go out and put on actual hedges by a power for
delivery in 2026, absolutely that should go in. But
those are different. Those are -- those are hedges
that they've actually put on.

So | still think that because these are hedges
that -- that appear in the -- in the nodel, that
they're not -- they're not according to any policy.
They're not really real. | don't think they should be
muddl ed, because by including them what they do is
t hey increase the NPC

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Thank
you.

And | had a question about over-collections, but I

t hi nk you may have addressed that in your response to
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your counsel's question about any corrections, and |
think that all had to do with over-collection, so |I'm
going to stop here.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Any further
guestions?

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. | have just
a couple of clarifying questions for you, M. Earle,
just to clear up the update to your recommendati on.
And as | understand it, it would be an update, but |
want to ensure that |'ve got clarity on that issue.

And so would the allocation of resources to
Washi ngton remain the sane as in your original
recomendati on for public counsel's alternative,
renovi ng --

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. And is your
proposal that the resource adequacy and ancillary
services costs would be recovered through a charge that
woul d be, for lack of a better term baked into the
power costs, or would it be trued up via the PCAM
t hrough a conpliance filing?

THE WTNESS: That's a -- that's an
interesting question that, in terns of where you --

where you collect it, that | did not -- | had not
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t hought through. | think either -- either is -- it
seens to ne to be -- to be a possibility. | -- since

resource adequacy is a prospective issue, you could
collect -- largely you could collect that ahead of
time. Ancillary services may be a little -- alittle
trickier thinking about, well, what if there's a
massi ve plant -- plant outage? Does that change the --
the calculation? And, again, on that |I'mnot sure.

So | guess there may be a need for sone true-up.
| don't necessarily recomend that it be run through
t he PCAM nechani sm though it could happen in the PCAM
pr oceedi ng.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Okay. And | think
just one final question.

Wuld the result of this -- it's different from
the WJAM but would the result potentially be simlar
to the WJAM where, because of resource adequacy
concerns, Washington would be in a prevailing short
position, as it's been called in previous filings, and
we woul d then expect PCAMfilings to be continuing to
be -- to be large to true up for the shortfall?

THE W TNESS: Not necessarily. And
the reason is, is there is a difference between
Washi ngt on having a market shortfall -- that is the

resource -- the resources that it subscribed to
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generate fewer nmegawatt-hours than Washi ngton's | oad.

In that case, there's a market shortfall. There's a

shortfall with respect to the market. And Washi ngton,
according to WJAM gets charged the market price for
that shortfall.

Wth resource adequacy, you m ght have resources
that -- as in the case of ny recomendati on, resources
provi de sufficient energy, but when they're counted as
resour ce adequacy resources, because they're variable,
how nmuch they get counted in terns of providing
resour ce adequacy i s nmuch | ess.

So -- so Washington m ght have a surplus of energy
and be long with respect to the market. However, its
resource adequacy position could be -- could be short,
and so it would have to nake a paynent for the other
resources to the other jurisdictions that have an
excess of resource adequacy to nake up their shortfall.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Thank you
for those clarifications.

Any further questions?

Okay. | believe that concludes our questions for
you. You may be excused. Thank you for being
avai | abl e thi s norning.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

(Wtness excused.)
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JUDGE THOWPSON: Okay. At this
point intime, we will recall witness Wlding to the
st and.

MR, LOMNEY: Your Honor, it just
struck me that we were using a | aptop yesterday so that
the wtness could appear on Zoom W can set that up
again. It will just obviously take a few nonents to do
that. O if we prefer to just proceed wthout the
canera, we could certainly do that.

JUDGE THOWSON: Ckay. Let's go
ahead and take a mnute to set up the laptop, if that's
okay.

MR. LOMEY: Ckay. The conputer is
in soneone's trunk, so it wll actually take a little
| onger than | had anti ci pat ed.

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Ckay.

MR. LOMNEY: Apologies. | just
realized that was an issue.

JUDGE THOWPSON: That's okay. W
can go ahead and be off the record for a nonent while
we get that set up.

(Pause in proceedings from

10:55 a.m to 11:00 a.m)

JUDGE THOWPSON:. Ckay. Let's please
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be back on the record.

kay. M. WIlding, if you could please raise your
right hand, and I'lIl re-swear you in.

Do you swear or affirmthat the testinony you wll
give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and
not hi ng but the truth?

THE W TNESS. Yes.

M CHAEL G W LDI NG havi ng been first duly sworn
by Adm ni strative Law Judge
Thonpson, was exam ned and

testified as foll ows:

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Thank you.

And at this point intinme, | will go ahead and
turn -- well, I'll turn to the parties and ask if you
have any additional questions for M. WIding given the
change in M. Earle's recomendation, but | presune the
guestions mght be -- do you want to start with
addi tional direct?

MR LOMEY: | think, fromny
perspective, that nakes the nbst sense.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Al right.

Let's go ahead and start with additional questions from
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t he conpany.
MR. LOMNEY: Thank you, Your Honor.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR LOMEY:
Wtness WIding, were you in the rooma few m nutes ago
when Dr. Earle nmade a new recomrendation related to
resour ce adequacy and ancillary services?
Yes, | was.
And based on your understanding of Dr. Earle's
recommendati on, do you have any response to that
proposal ?
Yes, | do. So, first, my understanding is that their
al l ocation of the increased percentage of w nd
al l ocated to Washington, the no natural gas and no
coal, no thermal resources, that -- that underlying
part of the proposal doesn't change, so our, you know,
main critique of their proposal al so does not change.

It results in Washington | eaning on the rest of
Pacifi Corp's system And it also neans that the other
states that are currently participating in those wnd
resources would have to give up a piece of that w nd
resource that's allocated to them al ready, or we woul d
have a situation where those wind plants were all ocated

at a percentage greater than a hundred percent. So
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that -- that piece just doesn't change.

My under standing of what new is nowis a paynent
for that |eaning from Wshi ngton to the other states.
And, you know, |'ve been around the conpany for, you
know, 12 years now or so and been through a | ot of
these filings, a |lot of MSP discussions with
st akehol ders and with the states, and so the first part
of that is getting the states to agree adds significant
conplexity to the allocations at that point.

And | really doubt that we would be able to cone
to an agreenent between all six states on what this
resource adequacy paynent would | ook |ike. And that
al so, you know, assunes that that wll be avail abl e,
that as the other -- you know, as we all ocate resources
away from Washi ngton, put themin that resource
adequacy deficit, you know, reallocate those resources
to the other states, that, you know, given the |oad
growh in other parts of our system that they wll
have I ength to be able to give to Washington at a
price.

And then what that price wll be, also | have
significant doubts and concerns that we woul d even be
able to agree to what that price is with the other
states. And then add in the further conplication of

just the | ogistics of how we would do that. | think we
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hit on that a little bit. You know, does it happen in
net power cost? Is it a true-up every year? Timng of
rate cases. Timng of power cost cases. It just --
very conplex, if you could even get to an agreenent,
whi ch, again, | have significant concerns and doubts
that we would be able to do that.

And then when we add in the coal in -- on our
system and the CETA conpliance, | think that is a
significant piece of that. M. Earle said he didn't
know how that would work. Well, the definition of coal
in CETA is anything unspecified wth a duration of
| onger than three nonths, or if it's for a resource
adequacy contract, duration of |onger than six nonths.
So you add that exception for six nonths or |less for

resour ce adequacy contract. Again, just adding

conplexity to this. W still have coal in our system
How do you -- how do you do this?

| -- you know, in short, | don't think this is
wor kabl e.

MR, LOMNEY: Thank you, w tness
W | di ng.
Conpany has no further questions.
JUDGE THOWSON: Ckay. Thank you.
At this point intime, | wll turn to the parties

to ask if they have additional questions of wtness
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W | di ng.
Staff, do you have any additional questions?
M5. STRAUSS: Staff does not have
any additional questions at this tine.
JUDGE THOWPSON:  Thank you.
Publ i ¢ counsel ?
MR. SYKES: No additional questions.
JUDGE THOWPSON:  AWEC?
MR. PEPPLE: | do have one questi on,

Your Honor.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR PEPPLE:

Q M. WIlding, if somehow we were able to figure out this
proposal and how it would work and there was a resource
adequacy paynent made from WAshi ngton to ot her states
i n whatever formit would happen to be, would that
result in em ssions being assigned to Washington as a
consequence of that paynent?

A Yes. Most likely the resource adequacy would be a -- a
capacity paynent, right? But the reason why you need
capacity is to deliver energy during those tines of
capacity need, so there would be al so energy that would
need to fl ow to Washi ngton that would be an unspecified

purchase that | believe would include em ssions. |

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES



In the matter of PacifiCorp

© 00 N o o b~ W N P

N DN D D MDD P P P PP,
aa A~ W N b O © 00 N O O A W N B O

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 428
nmean, | would maybe need to think about that a little
bit nore, but that's ny initial thought on this
proposal in this hypothetical where we could figure
sonet hi ng out.

MR. PEPPLE: Ckay. Thank you.

JUDGE THOWSON: Any questions from
The Energy Project?

MR. ZAKAI: Good norning, Your
Honor. Good norning, wtness WIlding. Yes, just one
or two.

JUDGE THOWSON: Ckay. Go ahead and
pr oceed.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR ZAKAI :

Q M. WIding, is it common for entities to purchase

capacity from one another for the purposes of resource

adequacy?

A In the Wstern United States, there's a capacity nmarket

in the California SO There is not a |iquid capacity

mar ket outside of the California ISO In what WRAP
contenpl ates having sone ability to transfer resource
adequacy obligation at a price, there is no market

nonitor for that. And so | would say right now, no.

Not -- not in aliquid market in bilateral nmarket that
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we have today.

As in there is no -- has Pacifi Corp made any
transactions for capacity in the past year from another
entity?

W -- ny only hesitation here is trying to not provide
confidential information.

Respectfully, I'mnot asking for confidenti al
information. |'masking if there was one transaction

I n the past year or not.

Il wll say this. Wat is available on the nmarket has a
capacity conponent. (Cbviously, as energy is provided,
fixed-price energy, there's a capacity conponent of
that. As we acquire -- we've acquired batteries that
are capacity. Have we acquired capacity from anot her
entity to transfer that resource adequacy obligation?
No.

kay. And your FERC tariff provides a price for
ancillary services, should another entity need to

pur chase that from Pacifi Corp?

Anot her entity, again, is -- is loose. That is not a
product that any -- just anyone can buy. For

transm ssion custoners, that takes service under our
transm ssion service provider. In our BA, that product
Is available. And it is a cost-based product set by
FERC.
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Again, that is not a -- an assunption that shoul d
be nade that the states would agree to that, because
there is an opportunity cost with that as well, that --
you know, and | foresee that if we tried to go down
this road, that there would be many conversati ons and
many fol ks that woul d naybe want to pursue that
opportunity cost of holding reserves as opposed to a
FERC- appr oved cost-based right. Again, which is naking
It conplicated and nessy.

Thank you. 1'd ask one |ast question.

Do you agree that Washi ngton has had an all ocati on
nmet hodol ogy over the past several years which other
states have not agreed to?

Yes. Absolutely. One of the fundanental principles of
the allocation nethodology that we're putting in front
of the Comm ssion nowis -- is essentially fixing that,
getting everything to sumto one, or a hundred percent
as we've test- -- nmultiple wtnesses have testified in
this hearing al ready.

MR. ZAKAI: Thank you. No further
questi ons.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Thank you.

Any redirect fromthe conpany?
MR. LOWNEY: No, Your Honor.
JUDGE THOWPSON:  Thank you.
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Any questions fromthe bench?
Ckay. | believe that concludes our questions for
you, M. WIlding. Thank you. You nmay be excused.

(Wtness excused.)

JUDGE THOWSON: Ckay. At this
point intime, if -- | think, PacifiCorp, if sonebody
would i ke to cone up and reclaimyour laptop. | don't
know i f we have any further use for it. O hopefully
not .

Ckay. And we can nove to witness Millins.

(Wtness appearing renotely.)

JUDGE THOWSON: Hello. Wen you
are ready, please raise your right hand, and | wll
swear you in.

Do you swear or affirmthat the testinony you wll
give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and
not hing but the truth?

THE WTNESS: | do.

1111
1111
1111
1111
1111
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BRADLEY G MJLLI NS, appearing renotely and
havi ng been first duly sworn
by Adm nistrative Law Judge
Thonpson, was exam ned and
testified as foll ows:
JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.
Counsel, you can proceed wth introducing the
W t ness.
MR. PEPPLE: Thank you, Your Honor.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR PEPPLE:

Q | guess, good evening for you, M. Millins.

A Hello.

Q Could you please state and spell your full nane.

A M nane is Bradley Mullins. Spelled B-r-a-d-I-e-vy,
| ast name Mu-I-I-i-n-s.

Q And did you file testinony and exhi bits marked BGwW 1CT
t hrough BGW 8T on behalf of the Alliance of Wstern
Energy Consuners in this docket?

A | did.

Q Do you have any changes to your testinony or exhibits
t oday?

A | have no changes.
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MR PEPPLE: The witness is
avai | abl e for cross-exam nati on.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Thank you very
much.

Paci fi Corp, you can go ahead and proceed with
Cross.

MR. LOANEY: Thank you.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR- LOMEY:

Q Good norning, M. Millins.

A Good norni ng.

Q Let's begin with your response testinony in this
docket .

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Do you m nd
bringing your mke a little closer. | think it m ght
help the witnesses as well as anybody el se online.
Thanks.

Q (By M. Lowney) And that's BGW 1CT.

Do you have that?

A | do.

Q Ckay. If we could turnto Page 3. And I'd like to
direct your attention to Table 1 at the top of that
page.

A Ckay.
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Q And just for context, this table is entitled "Sunmary
of Recommendations,” and it |ists each of the speci
recomendati ons that you've made in this case, corr

A Correct.

Q And down on Line 6 is an adjustnent referred to as
nodal pricing nodel.

Do you see that?

A | do.

Q And I'magoing to ask you sone questions about that.
And so before we get started, | just want to make s
we're using the sane nonencl at ure.

Wul d you agree that sonetines the nodal prici

nodel i s abbreviated "NPM ?
A | woul d.
Q kay. And so if | refer to the NPM you and | wll
agree that that's the nodal pricing nodel, right?
A As used in this context. Correct.
Q ay. Thank you.
kay. Wth that in mnd, could you pl ease tur
Page 46 of the testinony.
And beginning on Line 9 is the testinony where
you' re addressing the nodal pricing nodel.
Do you see that?
A ay.
Q And I'd like you to keep that testinony in front of

fic

ect?

t he

ure

ng

nto
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1 you, and I'mgoing to refer you to a cross exhibit, and
2 I'"d like to conpare the two. So if you could just have
3 t hem bot h ready.
4 That cross exhi bit has been | abel ed BGW 10X. |f
5 you could pull that up. And just for context, that's
6 testinony that you filed in Docket UE-450.
7| A Sotoclarify, is that the opening testinony or
8 Cross-answering testinony?
9 | Q The opening testinony.
10 | A Ckay.
11 | Q Al right. And just to provide sone broader context,
12 this testinony is referred to as your opening testinony
13 filed on behalf of the Alliance of Wstern Energy
14 Consuners in a case before the public utility
15 conm ssion of Oregon that is called Docket UE-450,
16 correct?
17 | A Correct.
18 | Q And that docket is the PacifiCorp's 2026 transition
19 adj ust nrent nechani sm case, correct?
20 | A Correct.
21 | Q Al right. And just to add another acronym would you
22 agree that we sonetines refer to the transition
23 adj ust nrent nechani sm as the TAW?
24 | A W alnost always refer to it as the TAM Yes. That's
25 right.
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Q Okay. And then just for additional context, at the

bottom of Page 1, this testinony was filed on June 17th
of 2025, correct?

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: M. Lowney --

THE WTNESS: Correct.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: -- | think we
may have a m x-up here.

So the link in the exhibit list is to --

CHAIR RYBARIK: It's 9X on our
exhibit |ist.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Rebuttal and
cross-answering testinony is 10X. Mybe the link is
I ncorrect.

MR. LOMNEY: Ckay. | -- let ne see.

CHAIR RYBARIK:  9X is the link.

MR. LOANEY: On the exhibit list |
have, 9X was testinony filed in a Washi ngton case.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Yeah, it's the link
s --

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Qur
links are wong, but I found it, so all right.

MR. LOMNEY: Ckay.

CHAI R RYBARI K: Can you -- can you
rem nd us what page you' re on?

MR. LOANEY: Yes. | haven't
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1 actually noved to a page yet.
2 CHAI R RYBARI K: (Ckay. G eat.
3 MR. LOMNEY: So we'll get there.
4 COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Perfect.
5 Thank you.
6 MR. LOMNEY: And I'Il try to use
7 names as well just to make sure we're all on the sane
8 page.
9| Q (By M. Lowney) ay. | think ny |ast question -- and
10 |"mnot sure if you answered it or not -- was: Just
11 for context, this testinony was filed on June 17th of
12 2025, correct?
13| A Correct.
14 | Q Ckay. And one purpose of the TAMis to forecast net
15 power costs for 2026, correct?
16 | A Correct.
17 | Q Ckay. And if you could turn to Page 5 of the exhibit,
18 whi ch woul d be Page 3 of the original testinony.
19 And if you're there, I'd like to direct your
20 attention to Line 5 where you descri be a recommendati on
21 related to the nodal pricing nodel.
22 Do you see that?
23 | A | have the nonconfidential version, but | agree that
24 it's in that table.
25 | Q Actually, I think the table you're referring to is on
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Page 4 of the exhibit, 2 of the original.
But | think we all agree you propose an adj ust nent

to the nodal pricing nodel in the TAM correct?

CHAIR RYBARI K: Just let's nmake sure
we're all on the literal sane page here.

In the upper right-hand corner, | see it says

Page 5 of 70 for the exhibit, correct?

MR. LOMNEY: That's correct.

CHAIR RYBARIK: M. Millins, are you
t here?

THE WTNESS: |'mthere. | am
there. Correct. And --

CHAIR RYBARIK: It's a bullet point
that we're referring to, correct?

MR. LOWNEY: Correct.

THE W TNESS:  Yes.

MR. LOANEY: And apol ogi es. Now
that we're all on the sane page, |'mgoing to direct us
t o anot her page.

Q (By M. Lowney) So understanding you nade a
recomendation related to the nodal pricing nodel, if
we could turn to Page 20 of 70. And let ne know when
you' re there.

A ay.

Q Just for context, at the very top of that page is a
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headi ng that says "Nodal Pricing Mdel Fee," just so
we're all on the sane pl ace.

And, again, kind of referring to that exhibit from
the TAM and your testinony in this page, we can wal k
t hrough each of the questions and answers, but if
you're wlling to agree that this testinony is largely
| dentical, we can forego that exercise.
And is -- | would agree it's substantially the sane
I nformati on.

kay. Thank you.

And if | could now direct your attention to a
cross-exam nation exhibit, BGW11X. And this was
rebuttal and cross-answering testinony fromthe TAM
Ckay.

And for context, this was filed on August 14th of 2025.

Do you see that on the bottom of Page 17
| do.

And so just for context, this was filed six days before
you filed testinony in this case, correct?

Correct.

Al right. And nowif | could direct your attention to
Page 3 of 31, which is the exhibit nunber. Exhibit
nunberi ng. Excuse ne. And at the top of that page, it
says "lIntroduction and Sunmary."

And if | could direct your attention to Line --
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Line 14. You testified that, PacifiCorp also partially
accepted ny reconmendation regardi ng the nodal pricing
nodel, and AWEC is generally confortable wth
Paci fi Corp's approach on that issue.

Do you see that?
| do.

And with that line of testinony, that's the sumtotal

of your discussion of the nodal pricing nodel in your
TAM testinony, correct? You dropped your adjustnent in
t he TAW?

Well, for purposes and the circunstances of this case,
you know, at the tine this was filed, we were -- we
were confortable, you know, accepting PacifiCorp's
recomendation. | still continue to maintain concerns
that a great deal of nobney was spent on the nodal
pricing nodel and that it has not been used to devel op
a new allocation framework, and it was not used to
create operational efficiencies and, you know, to do
day- ahead setup and things |like that as was represented
i n the 2020 protocol.

So given the circunstances of where this -- where
this case was, and at the tinme, we were -- we were
confortabl e accepting Pacifi Corp's approach, but |
still maintain concerns about -- about the nodal

pricing nodel.
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Q And just to be clear, when you say "at the tine," that

was six days before you filed testinony in this case,
you dropped your adjustnent that you are now proposing
in this case, correct?

So the -- given the -- given the -- the circunstances
of this case, we were confortable with it. And this
case ultimately resulted in a settlenent, you know,

di scussions that were kind of ongoing during this whole
time frane, and which ended up having, you know, a

$10 million reduction to NPC. So, you know, for

pur poses of -- of narrowing the issues, we thought it
was a reasonabl e approach.

And al so these TAM cases are, you know,
accel erated cases, so, you know, we thought -- we
t hought it nade sense to kind of narrow -- narrow the
I ssues in that case. But that being said, you know, |
still maintain concerns about the nodal pricing nodel
and -- yeabh.

MR. LOMNEY: Ckay. Thank you,
M. Millins.

I"d i ke to nove on, and | indicated we woul d have
sone confidential cross-exam nation. And we've reached
that point where | believe the remai nder of ny
questions will be -- will require us to be referring to

and | ooking at confidential material, so | believe
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we'll need to enter a closed session.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. At this
point intinme, let's establish a confidential breakout
roomon the Zoom And |I'd ask the parties to | ook
around the roomjust to ensure that nobody is in the
room whi ch cannot participate in that confidenti al
sessi on.

W will take a brief recess and be off the record
whil e we establish that Zoomroom Thank you.
(Pause in proceedings from
11:25 a.m to 11:26 a.m)
(Confidential session
begi ns.)
(Confidential portion

redact ed.)
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(Confidential session
concl uded.)
JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. W are back
on the record in the public Zoomroom W'Il|l give a
m nute for Chair Rybarik to join.
253.627.6401 B:ALmeAnon  VICES schedule @balitigation.com
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CHAIR RYBARIK: Al right. | should
be there.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Okay. And we will
continue with questions here in just a nonent. But,

Comm ssi oner Rendahl, do you want to take...?

COMM SSI ONER RENDAHL: | just want
to say | apol ogize, everyone. | have to | eave at 1.
Sol won't -- if | mss anything, I'll read the

transcript for the last few pages.
CHAI R RYBARI K:  Why don't we do your
guestions first.
COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. But |
still -- if -- if we're still going.
So thank you, M. Miullins. [I'msorry it's getting
pretty late for you. So ny apol ogi es.
So were you listening to the questions | asked
ot her wi tnesses before you?
THE W TNESS: Yes.
COMM SSI ONER RENDAHL:  Ckay.
THE W TNESS:  Yes.
COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: So first
guestion is about the future hedgi ng costs.
And in M. Mtchell's rebuttal -- and the
reference to his testinony is 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8,

t hrough Page 36, Line 10 -- he argues that forward

253.627.6401 BA schedule @balitigation.com
O LITIGATION SERVICES




© 00 N o o B~ W N P

N D N D DNMNMNDN P P PP PR R R R
o A W N P O © 00 N O O b W N B+, O

In the matter of PacifiCorp

Evidentiary Hearing, VOL Il - October 08, 2025 Page 494

mar ket transaction costs and the volune are known and
r easonabl e.

So considering the additional information he
provided in his rebuttal and during the testinony
yest erday, does that change your testinony on this
I ssue in this docket?

THE WTNESS: It does not. So
think the -- | guess there's a couple things that we
have concerns w th.

So, first of all, by nodeling future hedges,
you' re not nodeling really any hedging costs at all.
Because the prices that we assune in the forecast
period are the nonthly forward -- official forward
price curve prices. And those are based on, you know,
br oker quotes, and those are the prices that Pacifi Corp
could go out today and execute a hedge at.

And so these -- these -- these future hedges, they
are priced at that sanme forward price curve. So in
ternms of hedging value, there's no additional costs or
benefit relative to the prices that we're assumng. So
it's -- it's really not -- nothing to do with price
hedgi ng, but by adding those into the nodel.

But what it does do when you add those bl ocks into
the nodel, it forces the nodel, requires the nodel to

make additional sal es and additional purchases on an
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hourly basis to bal ance out that -- that flat bl ock.
And so the -- the cost that's being added into the
nodel is really not a hedging cost at all. It's really

a bal anci ng cost by nodeling, you know, nore sales and
purchases around those -- those products.

And, you know, ny principal concern with that is
that we're already doing that within the context of the
DART adjustnent. In the DART adjustnent, Pacifi Corp
adds into the nodel nonthly 25-negawatt bl ocks to
develop its sales and its purchases, and then it nodels
t he cost of bal ancing around those costs of those
bl ocks. And, granted, that it is a block in day-ahead
and real -time markets where that cost occurs, but
that's really the sane cost that's being added to the

mar ket through this -- this hedgi ng approach.

And, you know, conceptually -- if we didn't have
these two different nethods, | would actually think
that the -- you know, actually nodeling specific hedges

rat her than the DART adjustnent, you know, to bal ance
around those, would be okay. But the fact that we have
both of those I think is problenmatic, because it's
really, you know, doubling up on those -- those
bal anci ng costs.

And then, you know, apart fromthat, you know, by

the tinme the conpliance filing in this case is
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submtted, we'll already have, you know, close to 70
percent of the hedges for the -- for the test period

anyway. So, you know, not only does it sort of double
up on the bal ancing costs, it's -- it's, you know, for
the nost part unnecessary.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Thank
you. That's actually a very hel pful explanation of
where you st and.

And | think you al so addressed ny next question,
which is about the rel ationship between the DART
adj ustnrent and t he hedgi ng costs.

So the | ast question | have for you has to do with
the industrial curtailnment contracts.

The conpany clainms on rebuttal -- this is through
M. WIlding's testinony and M. Mtchell's testinony,
and | can give you those cites if you want. The
conpany clainms on rebuttal that these contracts that
AVEC contests provide benefits to WAshi ngt on
rat epayers.

Again, does that -- does the testinony in rebuttal
fromthe conpany change AWEC s position, or does AWEC
continue to maintain that the industrial curtail nent
contracts do not provide benefits to Washi ngton? And
if you still maintain that position, why? Wy is that

s0?
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THE W TNESS: Yeah, so we conti nue
to think that those should not be allocated to
Washington. In terns of, you know, net power costs
that are allocated to Washington, it certainly
doesn't -- they certainly don't provide a benefit that
way. So they -- they increase Washi ngton net power
costs and don't provide a net power cost benefit, you
know, at |east in the nodel.

On a systembasis, the -- the analysis is probably
a lot nore conplicated. So there seens to be this, you
know, contention | think that, you know, Washi ngton,
you know, with Chehalis, would be -- would still be
| eaning on the other side of the systemfor ancillary
services and capacity and things, things |ike that.
But that really hasn't been established. So Chehalis
will cover pretty major part of Washington's |oad, and
it's also, you know, one of the nost flexible resources
on Pacifi Corp's system

So in ternms of, you know, the reliability
benefits, the capacity benefits, as well as the
ancillary service benefits, you know, we really can't
say that, you know, Washi ngton needs these other
curtail ment contracts to -- to avoid | eaning on the
rest of the system

And | actually suspect it m ght be the opposite,
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that, you know, the benefits of Chehalis are nore than
what Washi ngton needs, but | think that deserves a
bi gger anal ysi s.

And then getting to the contracts, thenselves, you
know, Washi ngton doesn't, you know, explicitly -- you
know, other than through ratemaking, they don't approve
the -- those contracts. Those are -- those are -- and
the prices in those contracts. So those are set in
| daho and Ut ah. And the nethods that are used to set
those certainly haven't been, you know, fully vetted by
t he Comm ssi on.

And so | think that if, you know, a nethod is
bei ng provided to, you know, a custoner -- you know, a
| arge industrial custoner in another state, that that
should stay within the state. But also the -- the --
the benefits of that contract should stay within that
state as well. But, you know, for purposes of
Washi ngton, those -- those custoners aren't in
Washington's jurisdiction, so | continue to think it's
nore appropriate for those to be dealt with at the
states that approve them

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: And so |
assune that, given that you participate in matters in
ot her states, that when the '26 protocol for each of

those states is addressed in the states, that is
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sonet hing you will be addressing?
THE WTNESS: |'mnot sure. So |'m
not entirely sure the extent that I'll get involved in

those other states, particularly in |daho. But
certainly I think it's sonething that -- that folks in
other states will -- will get.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Maybe |
shoul d rephrase that. Not necessarily you, but AWEC,
inits cases, | assunme would be addressing this in
ot her st ates.

THE W TNESS: Yeah, and, you know, |
can't speak to what AWEC s going to reconmmend in
Oregon, but it would be certainly sonething that woul d
be | ooked at there. And, of course, AWEC doesn't
participate in Idaho, Utah, Wom ng, or California.

COW SSI ONER RENDAHL: Ckay. Thank
you. That's all | have.

CHAI R RYBARI K: Just a few nore
questions, and we'll see if we can't beat -- well,
we' re probably not going to beat Conm ssioner Rendahl's
1:00 tinme franme here.

But we had a discussion about wind curtailnents in
cl osed session. W wll not rehash that discussion,
but I did want to just follow up with what woul d be

sone public questions, M. Millins.
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Wth respect to wnd curtailnents, nothing in the
rebuttal testinmony fromM. Mtchell -- or ny
understanding is you were follow ng the testinony
yesterday live here in the hearing room Nothing in
t hat changed your position, your testinony on w nd
curtailments in this case; is that correct?

THE WTNESS: That's correct.
wi Il point out that one of the things that they
mentioned in their testinony had to do with regul ation
reserves and the fact that the nodel was -- was
rel axi ng those reserves, so | just want to be clear
that ny nodel i ng approach uses the sane regul ation
reserve requirenents as Pacifi Corp does. However,
within the nodel, itself, sone of those did get
relaxed. And | think it was maybe post -- | think it
was about 10 percent reduction in the reserves that the
nodel actually -- that it sinulated.

And the -- and the -- and |I thought it was a good
thing for themto point out. However, | think that
IS -- IS appropriate, because regul ation reserves are
nmeant to cover uncertainty over the course of an hour
to where if, you know, wi nd picks up or drops down
qui ckly, they need to have resources online to be able
to respond to those.

And so the -- those are not held static over the
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hour. They actually wll use those reserves over the
hour. And so in terns of that issue regarding

regul ation reserves, ny nodel just allowed the --

al | owed sone of those reserves to be used in order to
respond to, you know, circunstances in the nodel.

So | think that would be just the one thing that |
t hi nk they pointed out that was a good thing to point
out. But |I think that the way that nmy nodeling has
done it is appropriate because it allows those reserves
to actually be used in -- when the nodel has -- in the
ci rcunst ances when they woul d need to be used.

CHAIR RYBARI K: So just one | ast set
of questions, and it's really just two.

Modeling and real life are two different things,
right? You're trying to mmc as best you can in the
nodel i ng what you think is really going to happen, but
that isn't really what happens; is that right?

THE WTNESS: That is -- yep, that
Is absolutely right, so -- and it -- it cuts -- it cuts

both ways. So in, you know, actual operations, there

are -- you know, a conpany m ght have a |ot nore
flexibility in how they respond to -- to certain
events. But at the sane tinme, the nodel is -- is

static, and it may not be able to predict the scale and

scope of events that cone along. And the |ogic,
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itself, is -- you know, it can never perfectly mmc
the way that the systemis -- is going to operate.
So -- so, you know, at the end of the day, it's

really, you know, com ng up with, you know, val ues that
you think are reasonable, but, of course, justified on,
you know, econom ¢ principles and, you know, the
reasonabl e assunpti ons.

CHAIR RYBARIK: And so in this case,
Wi th respect to wnd curtailnents, if PacifiCorp has
nodel ed this incorrectly and curtail nments are actually
| ess, what is the inpact on custoners?

THE WTNESS: |If curtailnents are
| ess, PacifiCorp will have -- and they nodel nore
curtailnments -- power costs will be -- base power costs
will be higher. And so the -- the rate increase or
potentially reduction -- rates wll be set higher than
they otherw se would be. And those rates will go into
effect January 1.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  And over tinme --

THE WTNESS: Yeah, if -- sorry?

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Over tine, then,
what happens -- |' m suggesting --

THE WTNESS: Right.

CHAI R RYBARI K. -- |ike, what
happens at the PCAM adjustnent in the future?
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THE WTNESS: Right. So those
hi gher rates go in January 1. But then if there are
| ower curtailnents in actual operations, then
Paci fi Corp's power costs would be -- would be | ower,
and so then there would be a -- potentially in -- |
guess now we'd be dealing with in 2027, there would be
a PCAMfiling where potentially there would be a
refund, or -- and so in the context of that, that PCAM
filing, if there is a refund, that anmpbunt is subject to
t he dead bands and earnings tests, and there's al so an
anortization trigger built in, to where if the variance
Is small enough, it just carries forward into a
future -- future period.

So the anmpbunt of benefit that conmes back to
custoners is -- not only is it going to be smaller than
the base rate that shoul d have been passed through, but
it's not going to conme back, you know, potentially
until 2027 or maybe even nmany years into the future.

And so, you know, in terns of the timng, getting the

base correct is -- is inportant -- it's inportant
not -- both in terns of timng and because there are
t hese nechanisnms within the PCAMthat would -- would

otherw se dilute that benefit for custoners.
CHAIR RYBARI K: Very good. That's

all 1 have. Thank you.
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JUDGE THOVPSON:  Any additional
guestions?
Okay. | believe that concludes the questioning
for you, M. Millins. You may be excused. And thank
you for being avail abl e.

(Wtness excused.)

JUDGE THOWPSON:. Ckay. | believe
that brings us to the end of cross-exam nation. | have
a few ot her housekeeping itens before we adjourn.

M. Sykes, do you have an anticipated date for a
public comment matrix in this docket?

MR. SYKES: | do not, as there is no
schedul ed public comment hearing on this matter.

JUDGE THOWPSON: That's correct.
Ckay.

(Comm ssi oner Rendahl exits.)

JUDGE THOMPSON:  And for briefing,
we currently have two rounds of post-hearing briefs:
The first due Cctober 29th and the second due Novenber
12t h.

First question there is: Do the parties
anticipate still needing two rounds of briefing? And |

can start with the conpany.
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VR. LOMNEY: Yes -- excuse ne. Yes,

t he conpany does antici pate needi ng two rounds of
briefing.

JUDGE THOWPSON: COkay. And staff

M5. STRAUSS: Staff wll reply to
briefing if the reply brief is available, but --

JUDGE THOWPSON:  Ckay.

M5. STRAUSS. ~-- if the parties
don't need a reply brief, then staff doesn't need to
push for one either.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. Public

counsel ?

?

MR. SYKES: Publ i c counsel doesn't

think a reply brief is necessary. However, if one i
ordered, we wi |l obviously reply.

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. And for
AVEC?

MR, PEPPLE: AWEC woul d appr eci at
reply brief. Yeah.

S

e a

JUDGE THOWPSON: Ckay. And for The

Energy Project?

MR, ZAKAI: Good afternoon. No
pr ef er ence.

CHAI R RYBARI K:  Ckay. And for br

| engths, do the parties anticipate needing the full

i ef
60
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pages for initial briefs?
MR. LOANEY: | woul d expect, given
the scope of issues here, that we'll need the full 60

pages, yes.
JUDGE THOWPSON: Okay. We will go
ahead and stick with 60, which is the limt under rule.
And how about for reply briefs? Does anybody have
a recommendation as to a page limt on reply briefs?
MR LOMEY: | will say, given ny
experience where the conpany is replying to every party
as opposed to nost other parties replying to only the
conpany, we need the full -- full length allotted. So
60 pages woul d be appropriate from our perspective just
gi ven, again, the scope of issues we're going to be
responding to, both in terns of the nunber of issues as
wel | as the nunber of parties.
JUDGE THOWPSON: | don't know if we
can do 60 on a reply. I'"mjust thinking about tim ng
i n Novenber 12th getting those reply briefs, review ng
those, and then getting an order out.
Way don't we go with -- | had 20 witten down. W
can go with 30 or 35, if that..
MR. LOMNEY: Understand your
concern. Yeah, 30 would be great if that works,

under st andi ng your workl oad and --
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JUDGE THOWPSON:  Ckay.
MR. LOMNEY: -- the tinme required.
JUDCGE THOWPSON: Let's keep reply
briefs to 30 pages. And | think that the conm ssioners
wi || appreciate that as wel|.
Are there any final questions fromthe parties?
MR. LOMNEY: | don't believe we have
any additional questions. Thank you.
JUDGE THOMPSON:  Anyt hing from
staff?
M5. STRAUSS: No additi onal
guestions, Your Honor.
JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.
Anyt hing from public counsel ?
MR. SYKES: Nothing from public
counsel .
JUDGE THOWPSON:  Anything fromthe
Al l i ance of Western Energy Consuners?
MR. PEPPLE: No. Thank you, Your
Honor .
JUDGE THOWPSON:  Thank you.
And anything from The Energy Project?
MR, ZAKAI: No. Just thank you for
your attention to detail.
JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very
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much.

Ckay. Well, thank you, everybody, for your
participation. W are adjourned. And we are off the
record. Thank you.

(Proceedi ngs adj our ned at
1:10 p.m)

(Conpany Cross-exani nation
Exhi bit Nos. RIM 30X,

RIM 31X, and RIM 32X mar ked
and admtted.)
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STATE OF WASHI NGTON ) I, John M S. Botel ho, CCR, RPR
) ss a certified court reporter
County of Pierce ) in the State of Washi ngton, do

hereby certify:

That the foregoing proceedi ngs were conducted in ny
presence and adj ourned on Cctober 8, 2025, and thereafter
were transcri bed under ny direction; that the transcript is
a full, true and conplete transcript of the said proceedi ngs
and was transcribed to the best of ny ability;

That | amnot a relative, enployee, attorney or counsel
of any party to this action or relative or enployee of any
such attorney or counsel and that | amnot financially

interested in the said action or the outcone thereof;
I N WTNESS WHERECF, | have hereunto set ny hand
this 17th day of QOctober, 2025.

/s/John M S. Botel ho, CCR, RPR
Certified Court Reporter No. 2976
(Certification expires 5/26/2026.)
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 1                     BE IT REMEMBERED that on Wednesday,

 2   October 8, 2025, at 621 Woodland Square Loop

 3   Southeast, Lacey, Washington, at 9:00 a.m., the

 4   following proceedings were continued, to wit:

 5

 6                       <<<<<< >>>>>>

 7

 8                     JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  It

 9   is October 8th.  Wednesday, October 8th.  The time is

10   currently 9 a.m.  We are here today for our second

11   day of hearing in Docket UE-250224.

12       We will begin this morning first by -- let's

13   revisit exhibits.

14       Did AWEC have a chance to confer with the company

15   on the potential objections to exhibits?

16                     MR. PEPPLE:  Yes, Your Honor.  So

17   we have worked out an agreement with the company that

18   we would stipulate to the admission of those

19   exhibits.

20       And PacifiCorp can confirm.  My understanding is

21   that PacifiCorp is willing to stipulate also to the

22   admission of some additional exhibits that are two

23   work papers from Mr. Mitchell and some attachments to

24   PacifiCorp's response to AWEC Data Request 50.

25       I would propose that maybe we can file a motion
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 1   to admit those after the hearing.

 2                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  That will

 3   work.  And will those be filed by the company, or...?

 4                      MR. PEPPLE:  I think we can file

 5   them.

 6                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Let's

 7   go ahead and admit under the stipulation between AWEC

 8   and PacifiCorp BGM -- and just to confirm, it's 12 --

 9   12X through 21X; is that correct?

10                      MR. PEPPLE:  Yeah.  That's correct.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we will

12   at this time admit the prefiled Cross Exhibits BGM-12XC

13   through BGM-21XC.

14                             (AWEC Cross-examination

15                              Exhibit Nos. BGM-12XC,

16                              BGM-13XC, BGM-14XC,

17                              BGM-15XC, BGM-16XC,

18                              BGM-17XC, BGM-18XC,

19                              BGM-19XC, BGM-20XC, and

20                              BGM-21XC admitted.)

21

22                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  And AWEC will file

23   with the Commission an additional three exhibits after

24   the conclusion of the hearing.

25                      MR. PEPPLE:  Did you want me to just
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 1   read those exhibits into the record for clarity, or...?

 2                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  That would be

 3   helpful.  Thank you.

 4                      MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  So the -- the

 5   two work papers are NEW-PAC-RJM-TCDirect 4-1-2025.

 6   That's a confidential work paper.  And NEW-PAC-RJM-WA

 7   Direct 4-1-2025, also confidential.  And then the

 8   attachments to PacifiCorp's response to AWEC Data

 9   Request 50 are a series of NPC reports that we will

10   file.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very

12   much.  And we will get to the other four exhibits

13   during the cross-examination of Ms. Hawkins-Jones, I

14   believe.

15        Okay.  With that, we can go ahead and proceed with

16   our next witness.

17        Mr. Zakai, is TEP's witness available?  I'm just

18   looking at --

19                      MR. ZAKAI:  Yes.

20                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  -- the

21   participant --

22                      MR. ZAKAI:  I believe witness Stokes

23   is on the line, and I should be able to introduce her

24   shortly.

25        So good morning.
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 1                               (Witness appearing remotely.)

 2

 3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.

 4          Good morning.  If you could please raise your

 5     right hand and come off "mute," and I will swear you

 6     in.

 7                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.

 8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  Do

 9     you swear or affirm that the testimony you will give

10     today will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing

11     but the truth?

12                        THE WITNESS:  I do.

13

14     SHAYLEE STOKES,             appearing remotely and

15                                 having been first duly sworn

16                                 by Administrative Law Judge

17                                 Thompson, was examined and

18                                 testified as follows:

19

20                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Thank you.

21          Mr. Zakai, you can proceed.

22

23                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

24     BY MR. ZAKAI:

25  Q  Good morning, witness Stokes.
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 1          Could you please state and spell your name for the

 2     record.

 3  A  My name is Shaylee Stokes.  First name S-h-a-y-l-e-e.

 4     Last name S-t-o-k-e-s.

 5  Q  And did you prefile written testimony in this case?

 6  A  Yes, I did.

 7  Q  And do you have any changes or revisions to your

 8     testimony today?

 9  A  No, I do not.

10                        MR. ZAKAI:  Thank you.

11          Your Honor, the witness is available for

12     questions.

13                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very

14     much.

15          And I believe we just have one question for you,

16     so thank you for joining us this morning.

17                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  I think I've come up

18     with a second question, so I think we have two

19     questions for you, but thank you for being here.

20          Were you able to listen to the hearing yesterday;

21     more specifically, to the testimony of Mr. Mitchell for

22     the company?

23                        THE WITNESS:  I was not.

24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.

25                        THE WITNESS:  I have been
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 1   triple-booked yesterday and today, unfortunately.  I

 2   apologize.  Thank you so much for slating me in,

 3   Commissioners and Chair, at the beginning of the day

 4   here.

 5                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  No worries.

 6        So I'll sort of probably give a little bit of

 7   information around the questions.  But specifically,

 8   the first one is about wind curtailments.

 9        And in your cross-answering testimony, you

10   effectively agree with the AWEC witness and AWEC's

11   arguments that PacifiCorp's modeling implements wind

12   curtailments while allowing dispatch from coal plants

13   and their proposed model -- well, AWEC's proposed model

14   would avoid those wind curtailments.

15        Am I characterizing that fairly?

16                      THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  We

17   support AWEC's recommendation.

18                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Since that

19   recommendation, PacifiCorp witness Mitchell -- in

20   rebuttal testimony, then also during the hearing

21   yesterday -- explained that these wind curtailments are

22   a manage of measuring congestion on the -- on the

23   system and indeed identified that PacifiCorp's

24   strategies to curtail gas generation first, coal

25   generation second, and wind generation third.
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 1        Does any of that testimony change your view or

 2   change your testimony in this case?

 3                      THE WITNESS:  At first thought, my

 4   understanding of CETA is that no amount of coal in any

 5   way is allowed to be in customer rates, and wind

 6   curtailment with that purpose violates that -- that

 7   legal interpretation of CETA.  So that's my initial

 8   thought.  However, I'd be happy to think about it a

 9   little bit and respond in writing at a future date

10   if -- if you'd like to issue a bench request on that

11   and we can analyze it deeper.

12                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  I appreciate

13   that.

14        And I will say that then I think the second piece

15   of that from your testimony is the rate impact that

16   that has, right?  That if indeed wind curtailments are

17   greater, costs are higher, and production tax credits

18   are less.

19        I had a conversation with witness Mitchell

20   yesterday during the hearing which I think ended up in

21   the conclusion that, if they're modeling curtailments

22   too high, then the costs in rates now would be too

23   high, but if indeed in operations wind was higher --

24   i.e., curtailed less -- then that would be made up for

25   in the PCAM with effectively lower rates and more PTCs
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 1   flowing to customers.

 2        Any reaction to that or any reason to disagree

 3   with that conclusion or any thoughts from The Energy

 4   Project on whether or not that outcome is just and

 5   reasonable?

 6                      THE WITNESS:  I think that is in the

 7   weeds to a degree that I'm not a hundred percent

 8   feeling like an expert on the topic.  So I would --

 9   respectfully, I really appreciate the question, but --

10   I mean, there's sharing bands and dead bands that are

11   supposed to kind of help us guide through this process.

12   And I -- I'm looking at sort of the big picture and the

13   cumulative impact on rates.

14        And The Energy Project is willing to support

15   troubleshooting and problem-solving that ultimately

16   reduces rates and does not increase the burden on

17   customers.  Burden on customers is too much at this

18   point.

19        So in terms of individual methods, I leave that to

20   our expert witnesses.  And, again, I'm happy to kind of

21   expound on this subject more in writing if -- if

22   necessary.

23        I apologize if I didn't answer your question a

24   hundred percent, Chair Rybarik.

25                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  I understand -- I
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 1   appreciate the -- the thoughts there and the reaction.

 2   It sounds like we can also ask -- I mean, in large

 3   part, you're identifying that you're adopting and

 4   agreeing with Mr. Mullins, so we will ask Mr. Mullins

 5   these same questions, and then we'll take it under

 6   advisement of whether we need to issue a bench request.

 7   But appreciate your availability and thoughts on these

 8   issues.

 9                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you very much.

10                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I believe

11   that concludes our questions for you, Ms. Stokes.  You

12   may be excused at this point in time.  Thank you for

13   being available this morning.

14                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Chair and

15   Commissioners.

16                             (Witness excused.)

17

18                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  That will

19   bring us to our next witness, who will be John D.

20   Wilson for staff.

21                             (Witness appearing remotely.)

22

23                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  If

24   you could --

25                      THE WITNESS:  Good morning.
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 1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  -- please raise

 2     your right hand, and I'll swear you in.

 3          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will

 4     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and

 5     nothing but the truth?

 6                        THE WITNESS:  I do.

 7

 8     JOHN D. WILSON,             appearing remotely and

 9                                 having been first duly sworn

10                                 by Administrative Law Judge

11                                 Thompson, was examined and

12                                 testified as follows:

13

14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very

15     much.

16          Counsel for staff, you may proceed.

17

18                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

19     BY MS. STRAUSS:

20  Q  Good morning, Mr. Wilson.

21          Could you please state your name and spell it for

22     the record.

23  A  I'm John D. Wilson.  J-o-h-n D. W-i-l-s-o-n.

24  Q  And, Mr. Wilson, did you sponsor testimony in this

25     matter?
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 1  A  Yes.

 2  Q  And do you have any changes, amendments, or corrections

 3     to that testimony at this time?

 4  A  No.

 5                        MS. STRAUSS:  I tender the witness

 6     for questions.

 7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very

 8     much.

 9          And I believe we just have questions from the

10     bench this morning, so I will let the commissioners

11     proceed.

12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Good morning,

13     Mr. Wilson.  I'm presuming you just heard my questions

14     to Ms. Stokes for The Energy Project.

15                        THE WITNESS:  I did.

16                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So we'll start

17     with -- I effectively have the same questions for you

18     as well.

19          Respective of AWEC's responsive testimony, witness

20     Mullins argues that PacifiCorp's modeling implements

21     wind curtailments while allowing coal to dispatch, and

22     AWEC would like to avoid those wind curtailments.

23          Given witness Mitchell's response to that and the

24     strategies that PacifiCorp applies, does staff have any

25     opinion regarding AWEC's proposal to minimize wind
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 1   curtailments in the modeling?

 2                      THE WITNESS:  I have reviewed the

 3   rebuttal testimony from witness Mitchell on that point.

 4   I'm not an expert in modeling in Aurora.  And I think

 5   that this question really goes to the heart of model

 6   settings and that review.  I think -- I think I would

 7   give you sort of a "both and" type answer as opposed to

 8   a, you know, I favor one position or the other.

 9        So I'll start with witness Mullins.  So I --

10   generally in reviewing modeling practices across the

11   country, I and other colleagues of Grid Strategies have

12   found that there tends to be -- both in regulatory

13   filings and even in modeling that's done to support

14   operations, there tends to be a bias towards running

15   coal and natural gas units to the point where they're

16   not cost-effective in the market regions that they

17   operate.

18        That is a pretty broad finding.  It is not in

19   every utility.  So, you know, you can't sort of take

20   that and say, well, it must absolutely be happening in

21   PacifiCorp.

22        But I think that the industry, through

23   long-standing practices and sort of embedded operating

24   techniques, has tended to favor running those units

25   when they're not necessarily economical and has not
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 1   adapted their technologies as much to -- to minimize

 2   things like wind curtailments and so forth.

 3        On the other hand, I think I generally agree with

 4   witness Mitchell's description of the proper logic that

 5   should be applied.  So I didn't hear anything from him

 6   yesterday in the portion that I heard.  I missed a

 7   little bit of that testimony.

 8        But also in what I read in his written testimony,

 9   Mr. Mitchell, I think, described correctly the factors

10   that one would want to see modeled and considered in

11   setting up the proper price baseline for, you know,

12   future power costs.

13        I think, you know, I do have broader concerns

14   about, you know, the dispatch or the -- the cost

15   allocation related to the dispatch of Rolling Hills

16   Wind.  But setting that -- that accounting issue aside,

17   you know, I think I sort of see both sides, because I

18   know that witness Mullins did do a lot of looking at

19   the Aurora model in a very limited amount of time and

20   did seem to identify some very specific concerns that

21   he had.  But I just don't -- it was not within the

22   scope of the contract from the staff to engage someone

23   to partner with me on doing that detailed modeling

24   dive.

25                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Got it.  Appreciate
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 1   that.

 2        And then follow-up to that is:  If indeed

 3   curtailments are set too high, is it your view that

 4   then the power costs are potentially higher than they

 5   would otherwise be if curtailments were lower and wind

 6   was blowing more and PTCs flowing to customers?

 7                      THE WITNESS:  Yes, absolutely.  I

 8   mean, I think that's -- that's a hundred percent

 9   certain, that if the curtailments in the modeling are

10   excessive, then that would lead to higher costs for

11   customers.  I don't think there's -- I would be

12   surprised if there's any dispute on that point.  It's

13   just that, you know, you've got to know whether that is

14   the case.

15        Of course, there is a difference between the, you

16   know, Aurora modeling that's done for this and what the

17   company uses to help set up, you know, the decisions to

18   run or not run coal and gas plants.  And then of course

19   there's the dispatch decisions made through the EIM

20   mechanism, you know, in terms of real-time dispatch and

21   curtailment.

22        And, you know, you would want to look at those.

23   The company is responsible for the inputs to the EIM,

24   so it is not, in my opinion, a valid sort of not our

25   problem if the wind plants are not curtailed properly.
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 1   If they've given incorrect input information to the

 2   CAISO for running the EIM, then you're going to get

 3   incorrect dispatch decisions out of it.  So there is a

 4   review process that should happen during the PCAM

 5   proceeding to make sure that -- that the company's

 6   inputs were correct and resulted in the right dispatch

 7   decisions.

 8                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  So it'd be a review,

 9   in your mind, of the real-time actual operations

10   decisions sent to CAISO for the EIM?

11                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I think that

12   should -- that's the kind of thing that, you know, one

13   would want to look at in the PCAM proceeding, yes.

14                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  And then

15   relative to PCAM, if indeed operations are that wind is

16   curtailed less than what the modeling shows, is it your

17   view that the benefits of that should flow to

18   customers?

19                      THE WITNESS:  Well, yeah, of course

20   the PCAM has the -- the mechanism for determining how

21   those benefits and costs flow to customers and the

22   company.  Obviously the Commission could make a

23   decision that if, you know, there was something

24   imprudent about the way that the whole process worked

25   and it wanted to make a special determination on a
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 1   specific cost effect, I suppose it might be within the

 2   Commission's prerogative to do so, but normally that

 3   would just be handled as part of the overall cost

 4   recovery.

 5                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  That's

 6   all I have.  Thank you, sir.

 7                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 8                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning,

 9   Mr. Mitchell.  How are you?  I mean, Mr. -- sorry --

10   Mr. Wilson.  It's been a few days.

11                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you,

12   Commissioner Rendahl.  Nice to talk to you again.

13                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yes.  If I

14   can get my camera to work here.

15        But at any rate, I have a few questions for you:

16   One about the hedge book, and one about -- and another

17   one about future hedging costs.

18        So on rebuttal, PacifiCorp's witness Mitchell

19   explains that they filed documentation and work papers

20   that reflect how PacifiCorp calculates the costs and

21   energy volumes associated with the non-Washington-

22   specific book separately from the Washington net power

23   cost forecasts.  And I'm happy to give you the

24   reference that I'm talking about in his testimony if

25   you'd like.
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 1                      THE WITNESS:  That would be very

 2   helpful.  Thank you.

 3                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  That's

 4   at RJM-13CT, at Page 31, Lines 1 through 17.

 5                      THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Getting there.

 6        Okay.  Yes.  Go ahead, please.  Thank you.

 7                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  So

 8   considering this information -- and I'm sure you've

 9   read his rebuttal -- Mitchell's rebuttal testimony.

10        Considering this information provided by the

11   company, does staff maintain its position on the

12   Washington-specific hedge book?

13                      THE WITNESS:  Yes, so first I'd like

14   to comment that a lot of this critique from witness

15   Mitchell is kind of misdirected.  It suggests that I

16   failed to review their filing.  In fact, my concern

17   about the Washington book was raised by PacifiCorp's

18   response to a discovery request, and that's quoted in

19   my testimony.

20        And it just wasn't clear to me that the term

21   "prehedging transactions Washington" was meant to refer

22   to the Washington book and not simply to the Washington

23   allocated portion of the prehedging transactions.  So

24   there's just some language issues in witness Mitchell's

25   testimony and the discovery responses that created
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 1   probably some level of unnecessary confusion.

 2        Another example of that is witness Mitchell

 3   yesterday talked a lot about spot market pricing, which

 4   to me, I would understand that in most contexts to

 5   refer to either actual or forecast spot market prices.

 6   And what he said is he was referring to the fact that

 7   it's hourly pricing, which, you know, I would just

 8   simply call it hourly pricing rather than spot market

 9   pricing.

10        So there's some -- some challenges in sort of

11   understanding exactly what's going on.  And we did file

12   as much discovery as we could to get clarification on

13   that, but that was difficult to sort of resolve.

14        So I think the -- the bottom line here is, after

15   reviewing the rebuttal testimony, ideally I would have

16   re-reviewed all the material that he referred to to

17   verify his claim that the modeling process did indeed

18   create two separate sets of hedging transactions, one

19   for Washington and one for the rest of the system.

20        I have not had time to do so due to other

21   responsibilities.  And that would be a pretty

22   time-consuming investigation, you know, with the

23   test- -- the rebuttal testimony being filed so

24   recently.

25        Assuming for the -- you know, and the Commission
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 1   should judge the evidence as it has before it.  If the

 2   Commission was to determine that there were two

 3   separate sets of hedging transactions created by

 4   PacifiCorp, then I think I would have -- that would

 5   resolve my concern here about the -- the Washington

 6   book.  So that's a pretty long answer to your question,

 7   but I wanted to kind of provide that context as to why

 8   there's a dispute here and what kind of work it would

 9   take to resolve it and why I wasn't able to do that

10   before this hearing.

11                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  All right.

12   And in that vein, does -- do you have supplemental

13   information requests pending with the company on this

14   that were not -- did not come back before the hearing?

15   Were you trying to get more information?  I realize

16   this was on a pretty fast time frame.

17                      THE WITNESS:  On this specific

18   topic -- I'd have to go back and look through the

19   requests.  I think it's just more a matter of we filed

20   initial requests, we filed follow-up requests, and even

21   those follow-up requests in some cases were just not

22   very specific in their responses.

23        You know, I had a -- I was -- for example, I was

24   pretty sure I knew which model file reflected the

25   company's actual proposal case, and we had to ask two
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 1   different data requests to get that absolutely verified

 2   for certain.  And just kind of, like, seems like a

 3   pretty basic question to me.  Like, what's your case

 4   here?  What's your work paper for your case?  And

 5   instead, we got these kind of long, convoluted answers.

 6        And, you know, so that's my recollection of it,

 7   you know, just sitting here.  But I don't think we have

 8   any specific pending requests out right now.  I think

 9   it's more a matter of, after asking a couple of times,

10   I was in some cases left either uncertain, or in the

11   case of this language issue that was discussed

12   yesterday about what he meant by "spot market," you

13   know, wasn't until there was solid cross-examination

14   that I understood what he was actually -- what he

15   actually meant by those words.

16                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  All right.

17   And considering that, did it help, you know, help your

18   thoughts on this as to whether -- you said --

19                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

20                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  -- we

21   should -- we should determine whether there are two

22   sets of hedging transactions, but did it help you in

23   your analysis of whether you think there are two

24   separate sets here or not?

25                      THE WITNESS:  I think I can go to

0370

 1   the broader question, which is whether this -- this

 2   hedging cost for these 25-megawatt blocks should be

 3   included in rates.  That's kind of where you're going.

 4   Have I got that right, Commissioner Rendahl?

 5                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yes.

 6        So do you still maintain your position here?

 7                      THE WITNESS:  I think I am mostly

 8   convinced -- but not entirely, for a couple of reasons

 9   that I'll identify -- that the company's proposal is

10   reasonable.

11        And the two things that I think are still really

12   outstanding is, one, with a change like this -- this is

13   a new method -- I would expect to see the company

14   provide some sort of verification analysis that is

15   specific to the -- the hedging process that they've

16   done.  And instead they pointed to witness Mitchell's

17   Exhibit 5, which was discussed, I think, in the

18   confidential session yesterday.

19        And without getting in any details of that, I

20   think it was established that there was not a

21   specific -- you know, even though they pointed to that

22   as verification of this hedging.  There wasn't a

23   specific analysis of the hedging practices in -- you

24   know, supported by that exhibit.

25        And I think that's a concern I have.  I think it's
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 1   a best practice that when you introduce a new method,

 2   it should provide some sort of analytic test to show

 3   that, you know, all of your assumptions -- and witness

 4   Mitchell sort of outlined a chain of assumptions, each

 5   of which on its own sounded reasonable.  But in

 6   modeling exercises, there's sometimes interactions

 7   between these assumptions that are unanticipated, and

 8   the best way to check that and make sure that there's

 9   not a mistake there that is a fundamental problem for

10   customers is to do some sort of, you know, test

11   analysis and provide that in support.

12        So that's my main remaining concern.  I think my

13   second one is the one that we just went over, which is

14   whether in fact the Washington and system hedges are

15   actually maintained as separate transactions in the

16   analysis or whether it's a allocation of system hedges

17   into the Washington book that is -- that is occurring.

18   And that was not a hundred percent clear to me from his

19   testimony, either prefiled or on the stand.

20        So those are my two points.  But I do think he

21   walked through the logic and explained his terms a lot

22   better, and that addressed a lot of the concerns that I

23   raised in my testimony.  Certainly narrowed them down

24   to just some quantitative work.

25                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  And
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 1   thank you for that clarification.

 2        On the --

 3                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah, absolutely.

 4                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  On the future

 5   hedging costs, again in rebuttal -- and this is witness

 6   Mitchell's rebuttal testimony, at Page 20, starting at

 7   Line 8 and then going to Page 36, Line 10.  So there's

 8   a significant amount there.

 9                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

10                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  He argues

11   that forward market transaction costs and volumes are

12   known and reasonable.  And considering the information

13   that the company provided or that witness Mitchell

14   provided, does staff still maintain its position on the

15   future hedging costs, or is this similar to your answer

16   you just gave?

17                      THE WITNESS:  It's similar to the

18   answer that I just gave.  I think I can give you a

19   little bit of quick color on that.

20        So on the known piece, I'm not sure if witness

21   Mitchell acknowledged it, but I pretty much anticipated

22   his answer, which was that the need to executions --

23   excuse me -- the need to execute transactions is what

24   makes this known.  And so I agree with that.  So I

25   think -- I think they have established the known
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 1   portion of the test.

 2        The measurable portion of the test is -- is the

 3   more complicated one.  And, you know, I sort of look at

 4   it as a two-part test:  Are the hedging transactions

 5   calculated from a model based on a Washington-specific

 6   basis as opposed to a system basis?  And that was the

 7   point we just discussed, is that I haven't been able to

 8   fully verify that it's Washington-specific.

 9        And, secondly, the issue was kind of how the

10   dollars flew, you know, kind of where the price signals

11   were generated.  And there, I think I got more

12   clarification from his testimony yesterday that

13   resolved some of those concerns.

14        So the issue that we had there was that we had the

15   OFPC prices, which -- I mean, one thing that's

16   important, I guess, to say for this issue is that

17   there's no perfect way for the company to model this.

18   And so I think that would be helpful for the company to

19   also acknowledge in its testimony, is that, you know,

20   there's not a -- there's not an ideal way to get at

21   this issue.

22        I acknowledged in my testimony, my -- my direct

23   testimony, that this was a legitimate issue that

24   they've identified, and I agree that there needs to be

25   a solution.  And I bring that attitude still very much
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 1   to this conversation we're having right now.

 2        So the -- the problem is that you're talking about

 3   forecasting a transaction that's going to happen some

 4   months in the future and then a second transaction

 5   that's going to happen at or near the power delivery

 6   date.  And witness Mitchell described it as generally

 7   happening within 72 hours of the power delivery date.

 8   I had seen other utilities that will unwind portion of

 9   their block hedges further in advance of that, using

10   other kinds of transactions, other kinds of bilateral

11   contracts.

12        So, you know, that's certainly a question for me

13   as to the company's power management practices.  But,

14   you know, that may be something he was just sort of

15   simplifying and tried to keep it kind of simple for

16   purposes of explaining the issue.

17        So -- and the way that this -- the fact that you

18   can't sort of actually predict those two price

19   transactions kind of separately and they're both

20   relying on the -- the OFPC costs, or prices.  Excuse

21   me.

22        So you've got these OFPC prices that are the input

23   to the first transaction and the input to the second

24   transaction when they're occurring in different markets

25   and in different time scales.  And that creates a
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 1   little bit of a challenge.

 2        And, you know, exactly how to resolve this, you

 3   know, I don't have a better approach to propose and

 4   acknowledge that in the testimony.  I think it was

 5   really just a matter of, if you test it and you see

 6   that it's working, then, yeah, this is a great

 7   improvement.  If you test it and it's not working, then

 8   you need to figure out why it's not working and go back

 9   and come up with a different approach.

10        Just to kind of conclude this, the concern, I

11   think, arises because you end up with a very large cost

12   added to the -- to the net power costs.  This is a --

13   and witness Mitchell explained the reason for this,

14   which is that the price to buy the power is the OFPC,

15   and the price to then sell the power is the OFPC minus

16   the transaction cost.

17        And so you end up with a -- no matter how

18   brilliant a hedging is, in the modeling, the actual

19   cost effect is always going to be a negative cost to

20   consumers.  In reality, the cost will sometimes be a

21   negative cost to consumers.  And sometimes the company,

22   because it's got -- I presume and have no reason to

23   disbelieve -- pretty smart people running these

24   programs, will be making smart moves on these hedges

25   and will do better than average.
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 1        And, you know, you don't know whether that will

 2   happen.  You can't -- you can't guarantee that outcome.

 3   But there's no aspect of this modeling that reflects

 4   historical tendency there.  And I'll give you an

 5   example.

 6        The modeling, as I understand it -- and this was a

 7   reassurance to me -- is that they're taking the bare

 8   minimum hedges that are required by their risk

 9   management policy -- so they've got, you know, 75

10   percent or whatever the requirement is at a particular

11   time, and they're putting in hedges right up to 75

12   percent, but that's a minimum.

13        And I think if the company sees that prices are

14   low right now, they're not going to do 75 percent.

15   They might hedge 90 percent or 95 percent.  They might

16   do a much larger hedge, because they know that they're

17   very unlikely to take a substantial loss if they

18   overhedge and they have protected customers on the

19   upside from any kind of unexpected price spikes.

20        So good hedging would involve a degree of judgment

21   that isn't reflected in this model, and therefore you

22   could end up with, you know, costs that are not

23   reflective of the modeling.  So that's kind of where

24   this concern comes from.  The scale of this cost is

25   pretty large compared to what good hedging practice
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 1   might actually result in.

 2                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  But

 3   your primary concern -- just one moment.

 4        Your primary concern, though, was about

 5   measurability, the known --

 6                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

 7                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  --

 8   measurable.  So that's where you still have the

 9   question.  And I know you went on and talked about the

10   concern about the scale.  But just -- that's the

11   primary concern there.

12                      THE WITNESS:  Right.  And it relates

13   to kind of the broader point I just made, which is the

14   reason that you want it to be measurable is that you

15   want it to relate to something that's really going to

16   happen in the future.

17                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Got it.

18   Okay.

19                      THE WITNESS:  And so if you -- if

20   what you're measuring is just part of the effect, which

21   is the case here, it's hopefully a big part of it, and,

22   you know, we can't expect you to be perfect.  But the

23   question is if they missed a big part.  And that would

24   be the proactive benefit of the hedging policy, which

25   is the reason that the Commission and some other
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 1   regulators across North America encourage hedging.

 2   They encourage it because they want it to have

 3   benefits.  It looks like, in this modeling, all it has

 4   is costs.

 5                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank

 6   you.

 7                      THE WITNESS:  And that's -- that's

 8   kind of a challenge.

 9                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank

10   you.  Sorry.  Mr. Lowney.

11                      MR. LOWNEY:  Apologies.  I was -- I

12   was concerned that we were potentially divulging a

13   confidential figure related to the risk management

14   policy.

15                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Ah.  Did we

16   do that?

17                      MR. LOWNEY:  But it is not --

18                      THE WITNESS:  I'm looking at --

19                      MR. LOWNEY:  It's not identified as

20   confidential in the company's rebuttal testimony, so I

21   think we're okay.  But I guess I would just say, to the

22   extent there's more questions, maybe we could use --

23   not divulge specific figures, just so we're not on the

24   edge of that confidentiality related to the risk

25   management policy specifically.
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 1                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  I appreciate

 2   that guidance.  Thank you.  And I don't have any

 3   further questions for this witness.

 4        So --

 5                      THE WITNESS:  I'll just --

 6   Commissioner, if I can just provide the citation for

 7   that.  That figure was from Page 20 of witness

 8   Mitchell's rebuttal testimony, at Line 3.

 9                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  And it was

10   not confidential?

11                      THE WITNESS:  That's correct.

12                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  For

13   the record.

14                      MR. LOWNEY:  And that's what we were

15   looking at as well to confirm that it was -- that

16   particular number was not confidential.

17                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Well,

18   thank you for making sure that we keep the record

19   clean.

20        And I have no further questions for the witness.

21                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

22        Commissioner Doumit?  All right.

23        I believe that concludes all of the commissioner

24   questions for you, Mr. Wilson.  Thank you for being

25   available this morning.  You may be excused at this
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 1   time.

 2                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 3                             (Witness excused.)

 4

 5                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  And that brings us

 6   to Jacque Hawkins-Jones.

 7        Good morning.  Are you ready?

 8                      THE WITNESS:  Good morning.

 9                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you could

10   please raise your right hand.

11        Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will

12   give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and

13   nothing but the truth?

14                      THE WITNESS:  Yes.

15

16   JACQUE HAWKINS-JONES,       having been first duly sworn

17                               by Administrative Law Judge

18                               Thompson, was examined and

19                               testified as follows:

20

21                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank

22   you.  You may be seated.

23        And, Counsel, you may proceed.

24   ////

25   ////
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 1                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

 2     BY MS. STRAUSS:

 3  Q  Good morning, Ms. Hawkins-Jones.

 4          Could you please state your name and spell it for

 5     the record.

 6  A  Good morning.

 7          My name is Jacque Hawkins Jones.  J-a-c-q-u-e.

 8     Last name is H-a-w-k-i-n-s, hyphen, J-o-n-e-s.

 9  Q  Thank you.

10          And did you sponsor testimony in this matter?

11  A  Yes, I did.

12  Q  And do you have any corrections, amendments, or changes

13     you would like to make to that testimony at this time?

14  A  No, I do not.

15                        MS. STRAUSS:  Thank you.

16          I tender the question for cross -- or the witness

17     for cross.  Apologies.

18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That is okay.

19     Thank you.

20          I believe the company has indicated cross for this

21     witness.  You may proceed when you're ready.

22          And just a reminder to counsel.  When you're

23     talking, if you could turn on your cameras.  I think

24     you've got it, but I did get a message earlier.  So

25     thank you.
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 1                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 2

 3                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

 4     BY MR. McVEE:

 5  Q  Good morning.

 6  A  Good morning.

 7  Q  So I just have a few questions this morning.

 8          So your cross-answering testimony, Exhibit JHJ-1T,

 9     is the first testimony you submitted in this

10     proceeding, correct?

11  A  Correct.

12  Q  And you concur with PacifiCorp's findings that the

13     Washington 2026 protocol is better aligned with

14     Washington's benefits, Washington benefits, than the

15     WIJAM, correct?

16  A  Can you point me to where I say that?

17  Q  Yes.

18          If you could refer to Exhibit JHJ-5X.  On Page 11

19     of 13, it's staff response to DR 23.

20  A  Give me just one minute to get there.

21          You said that was Response -- what again?  I'm

22     sorry?

23  Q  It's Page 11 of 13 of Exhibit JHJ-5X.  And it's staff

24     response to DR 23.

25  A  Okay.  I'm there.
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 1  Q  And on the very last line, you say, In general, I

 2     concur PacifiCorp's findings are better aligned with

 3     Washington benefits.

 4          Do you still agree with that statement?

 5  A  Let me read the whole thing in its entirety.

 6          Yes.  And I believe that's -- also correlates with

 7     staff Wilson's testimony.

 8  Q  Great.  Thank you.

 9          Did you review the 2020 protocol and the WIJAM in

10     the development of your testimony of this case?

11                        MS. STRAUSS:  I'm going to object on

12     this line of questioning.  This is outside the scope of

13     her testimony that was offered in this matter.  She

14     only spoke to the 2026 protocol and its effects going

15     downstream, not looking back at any prior methodology

16     that was offered in a previous proceeding.

17                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor, her

18     testimony refers to over-collection of costs, which

19     kind of necessarily relates to the rates that were set

20     in the past.  Plus this is a foundational issue for

21     allocations in the discussion that we're having today

22     about the Washington 2026 protocol.

23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any further

24     response?

25                        MS. STRAUSS:  Yes.  Her testimony
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 1     about over-collection relates to a forward-looking

 2     analysis of how the 2026 protocol is going to be

 3     implemented and if those concerns that have been

 4     brought up by other parties are founded and need to be

 5     investigated more.

 6          It's staff's position that the evidence in the

 7     record is unclear how the collection's going to happen

 8     in terms of if there are going to be over-collection

 9     issues with the 2026 protocol, and there's just not

10     enough evidence in the record that has dissuaded staff

11     that there won't be.

12                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm going to

13     overrule the objection at this time.

14          The statement in Data Request No. 23 does

15     implicate the WIJAM.  And I do agree that the question

16     is getting at foundational knowledge of comparing the

17     2026 protocol and the WIJAM.  But should the

18     questioning exceed the witness's ability to answer her

19     knowledge, feel free to object again.

20  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  Would you like me to repeat the

21     question?

22  A  You'll need to repeat, yes.

23  Q  Did you review the 2020 protocol and WIJAM in the

24     development of your testimony in this case?

25  A  I did not.
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 1  Q  You did not.  All right.  Thank you.

 2          Did you review any of the past decisions on

 3     PacifiCorp's allocations?  2005, 2013, any of those

 4     past decisions?

 5  A  I did not.

 6  Q  Can you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-4X.  That is the

 7     joint testimony in support of the stipulation in

 8     Docket UE-191024.

 9  A  I'm there.

10                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, staff

11     again objected to this exhibit.  This is prefiled

12     testimony that has to do with an agreement staff

13     reached in the settlement in a prior docket.  Again,

14     outside the scope of her testimony.  Not relevant to

15     the 2026 protocol and staff's opinion on the 2026

16     protocol.

17                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor -- sorry.

18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Go ahead.  Proceed.

19                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor, this is the

20     testimony -- joint testimony supporting the stipulation

21     adopting -- or it's recommending the adoption of the

22     2020 protocol and the WIJAM, to which staff was a

23     participant.

24                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, if I -- if

25     I may respond.
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 1                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Please do.

 2                      MS. STRAUSS:  Again, that was

 3   testimony offered in a settlement approving that

 4   protocol.  Staff's not looking to relitigate those

 5   issues or question the approval of that protocol.

 6   Staff is looking at the 2026 protocol.  The 2020

 7   protocol and why staff accepted it or agreed to it at

 8   that time is not the question of this proceeding.

 9                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  What is the

10   company's intention for use of this exhibit?

11                      MR. McVEE:  I just have one question

12   about this exhibit.  It's just to set the stage

13   regarding how the 2026 protocol is -- or the Washington

14   2026 protocol follows on the attempt that was

15   articulated by the parties to that stipulation, which

16   then result -- or -- and that reflected the 2020

17   protocol and the WIJAM.

18                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  This exhibit

19   is a prior filing with the Commission.  I don't see any

20   reason to exclude the exhibit, itself.  However, I note

21   that witness Hawkins-Jones is not one of the

22   individuals providing testimony in this filing, and so

23   the witness's knowledge of the testimony or the

24   contents therein may be limited.

25        So I'll overrule the objection to the exhibit,
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 1     itself, on the basis that this is a document filed with

 2     the Commission in another docket.  But I do note for

 3     counsel that Ms. Hawkins-Jones was not a witness or

 4     somebody providing testimony in this filing, and so the

 5     witness's knowledge may be limited.

 6                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 7  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  So could you turn to page -- to

 8     Exhibit JHJ-4X, Page 17 of 55.  That will be Page 15 of

 9     the testimony.

10  A  All right.  I think I'm there.

11          The first line of there -- that page is "prudent

12     by the Commission"?

13  Q  It should -- the first line of the page should be WIJAM

14     MOU 2020 protocol.

15          So the exhibit, it should be Page --

16  A  Got it.  I'm there.

17  Q  Thank you.

18          So in that second question, "Please describe the

19     2020 protocol," Lines -- the response in Lines 8

20     through 13, it describes the 2020 protocol represents a

21     fundamental shift in how the company proposes to

22     address allocations, with the ultimate goal of moving

23     away from dynamic allocations and a common generation

24     resource portfolio to a fixed allocation factors for

25     generation resources.

0388

 1          Do you agree that that transition to fixed factors

 2     and a state-specific resource portfolio is appropriate?

 3  A  I don't have kno- -- that's not something that's -- I

 4     would have knowledge about.  I would defer to our

 5     expert witness Wilson on those questions.

 6  Q  All right.  Thank you.

 7          So turning to your testimony, I'd like to ask a

 8     few questions about some of the recommendations that

 9     you make.

10          Recommendation 3, if you turn to Page 6 of your

11     testimony.

12  A  One second while I go back there.

13          Sorry.  I've lost my --

14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Did you say Page 6?

15                        MR. McVEE:  Oh.  I'm sorry.  Page 7

16     of your testimony.

17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  7.  Thank you.

18                        MR. McVEE:  Lines 4 through 8.

19                        THE WITNESS:  4 through 8.  Okay.

20     I'm there.

21  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  All right.  In that recommendation, you

22     recommend that PacifiCorp include workbooks and other

23     information -- similar to that indicated in testimony

24     of witnesses Earle, Mullins, and Wilson -- to be

25     significant value in interpreting the protocol,
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 1     correct?

 2          And we're talking about the Phase 2 filing.

 3  A  Yes, I agree with those expert witnesses.

 4  Q  Okay.  And what specific workbooks and other

 5     information are you referring to?

 6  A  I believe those are further detailed down in testimony.

 7  Q  In your testimony?

 8  A  I believe the information that we're seeking is

 9     outlined in the last question as well as whatever

10     expert witness testimony they -- they've described in

11     their testimony as needing additional information to

12     review.

13  Q  So when you say your testimony, do you mean staff

14     witness Wilson's testimony or later in your testimony?

15  A  I guess, can you rephrase your question so that way I

16     understand it completely?

17  Q  So in the -- in your Recommendation 3, you state that

18     in the company's Phase 2 filing, it should include

19     workbooks and other information similar to that

20     indicated in the testimony of witnesses Earle, Mullins,

21     and Wilson to be of significant value in interpreting

22     the protocol.

23          Are you asking for all information that was

24     addressed by those witnesses to be included in the

25     Phase 2 filing?
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 1  A  I think, for a complete analysis, what I'm recommending

 2     is for workbooks and other information that are -- that

 3     were similarly requested and for discovery in this case

 4     be included in that filing, yes.  And that's to create

 5     a complete file for our staff and other parties to

 6     review and not have to do additional discovery to

 7     review that information.

 8  Q  Thank you.

 9          Would that include issues that may be rejected by

10     the Commission in its order?

11  A  Can you clarify what you mean by that?

12  Q  So if certain issues raised by the parties are rejected

13     by the Commission in its order or maybe there's changed

14     circumstances, would that recommendation hold, that we

15     would still -- the company should still be required to

16     provide information articulated by parties in this

17     case?

18  A  I think that the company should file, you know, what

19     the Commission orders and maybe have the Commission

20     clarify what would be best to file in their next case.

21     So I leave that up to the Commission to decide and for

22     the company to then respond appropriately to that

23     decision.

24  Q  Moving to your Recommendation 6, this is at Page 8,

25     Lines 1 through 5.
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 1  A  I'm there.

 2  Q  And it actually starts on Page 7 -- I'm sorry --

 3     Lines 22 to 23.  But the recommendation is for, if

 4     discussions across multiple jurisdictions, which

 5     relates to your first recommendation, do not result in

 6     a consensus, then it calls for specific discussions.

 7          So your recommendation is for PacifiCorp to be

 8     directed to consult with AWEC staff and public counsel

 9     at a minimum to obtain consensus alternative and

10     include a full analysis in a Phase 2 filing, correct?

11  A  That's what my testimony says.

12  Q  Do you agree that PacifiCorp, as a utility, has the

13     ultimate responsibility to maintain safe, reliable, and

14     affordable electric service in compliance with all

15     legal requirements?

16  A  Yes.

17  Q  Did staff or any other parties analyze reliability of

18     the system or resource adequacy in their testimony in

19     this proceeding?

20  A  That does not relate to my testimony.  I wouldn't know.

21     I wouldn't be able to speak to that.  You'd have to ask

22     them.

23  Q  Do you know, did you review any of the testimony of the

24     other parties in this proceeding?

25  A  I remember reviewing them, but I don't memorize them.
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 1  Q  Do you know if -- did you or do you know of any other

 2     party that analyzed compliance with the NERC -- that's

 3     the North Electric Reliabil- -- American Electric

 4     Reliability Council's reliability standards in their

 5     testimony?

 6  A  I would defer you to our expert witness Wilson on that.

 7  Q  Did you analyze any compliance with the NERC standards

 8     or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

 9     requirements --

10  A  No.

11  Q  -- in your testimony?

12  A  We consulted with an expert witness who we sought

13     consultation with in this case, so I would defer you to

14     him on those.

15  Q  And that -- you're referring to staff witness Wilson?

16  A  Correct.

17  Q  Okay.  And so staff witness Wilson, in their testimony,

18     did not address the Federal Energy Regulatory

19     Commission requirements or North American Electric

20     Reliability Council requirements, and that was not an

21     issue for staff?

22  A  You would have to ask him on that.

23  Q  Thank you.

24          Turning to your Recommendation 4, which is on

25     Page 7, Lines 1 through 13 -- I'm sorry -- 9 through
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 1     13.

 2  A  Okay.

 3  Q  I'm sorry.  Let me correct that.  9 through 12.

 4  A  Yes.

 5  Q  You raise an issue of over-collection of costs by

 6     PacifiCorp across the jurisdictions, correct?

 7  A  I believe this is talking about demonstrating how the

 8     NPCs and non-NPCs are recovered across each

 9     jurisdiction.

10  Q  And if that recovery across all jurisdictions varies

11     significantly from a hundred percent, you recommend

12     that PacifiCorp be directed to include an explanation

13     as to why it's reasonable, correct?

14  A  That's what my testimony says.

15  Q  Would you agree that allocations are an input in each

16     rate filing before each state commission and used to

17     determine the cost of service to customers in each

18     state?

19  A  I would agree with that statement.

20  Q  All right.  And rates approved by each jurisdiction

21     determined to be -- determined to be fair, just,

22     reasonable, and sufficient, or the applicable standard

23     for each state, would be the rates set for that

24     jurisdiction?

25  A  Yes.  Whatever the Commission orders, yes.
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 1  Q  So -- and your Recommendation 4 would require

 2     demonstration in Phase 2 filing of total recovery of

 3     the company's costs across all jurisdictions and an

 4     explanation as to why any cost varies from a hundred

 5     percent, correct?

 6  A  That's what my testimony says.

 7  Q  All right.  How does staff propose to use that

 8     information in that Phase 2 filing?

 9  A  I don't know if I would be able to speak to that.  We

10     would probably consult with our expert witness for

11     that.  Additionally, just having the information in

12     file for staff to do a complete analysis is helpful for

13     us to come to a full determination, a recommendation

14     for the Commission.

15  Q  But that information would relate to collection during

16     a -- sorry.  Let me rephrase that.

17          Is that information intended to be forward-looking

18     for the Phase 2 filing or backward-looking for the,

19     what would be the current allocation methodology?

20  A  So I think when we're talking about backward-looking

21     for staff, it is to learn, not necessarily punish or

22     re-evaluate.  It is so that way staff can make good

23     recommendations for the Commission's consideration in

24     its cases going forward.

25          So I don't think that -- I do think that all
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 1     information is valuable in these types of filings for

 2     us to make a good recommendation for the Commission to

 3     consider.

 4  Q  So would you agree that that could not be used for any

 5     of the identification of any potential refunds to

 6     customers?

 7  A  I mean, I don't know if I could speak to that now,

 8     'cause I do think that there are some avenues available

 9     that the Commission has -- I believe it's an RCW --

10     investigative rules.  If there is a complaint filed,

11     the Commission can make a determination on if they

12     would like to.  That's not something that staff is

13     looking for right now.

14          We are looking to learn so that way we can make

15     better reasonable decisions going forward so that way

16     customer impact is not -- customers are not impacted,

17     you know, negatively.

18  Q  So are you saying that the Commission could issue

19     refunds based on rates that were approved as fair,

20     just, reasonable, and sufficient in Washington because

21     of rates that were recovered in other states that were

22     also determined to be fair, just, reasonable, and

23     sufficient?

24  A  No, I don't think I'd say that.

25  Q  Could you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-5X, Page 12 of 13.

0396

 1                      MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, staff also

 2   objected to this DR as outside the scope of

 3   Ms. Hawkins-Jones' testimony and not relevant to this

 4   matter.

 5                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any response?

 6                      MR. McVEE:  Yes.  This is actually

 7   just in line with the same questions I've been having.

 8   It was just a data request response that -- where staff

 9   makes a similar statement to what the witness just

10   made.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Please give me just

12   one moment to review the exhibit.

13        And, Ms. Strauss, your argument is that this is

14   not relevant to Ms. Hawkins-Jones' testimony?

15                      MS. STRAUSS:  I would argue that

16   Ms. Hawkins-Jones is testifying about the 2026

17   protocol.  This line of questioning about past

18   allocation methodologies and how they were applied is

19   not relevant to staff's position on the 2026 protocol.

20        Arguably, this line of questioning about potential

21   overpayment in the staff, which staff is interested

22   about from a learning perspective, is not on point with

23   the issue before the Commission of whether the 2026

24   protocol should be approved in this proceeding.

25                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  In reviewing
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 1     the contents of the data request, it seems to go

 2     directly to what is contained in witness Hawkins-Jones'

 3     testimony and Recommendation 4, I believe on Page 7.

 4          And so for that reason, I do believe it's within

 5     the scope on a narrow basis as to how that

 6     recommendation may apply to the 2026 protocol.  I will

 7     overrule the objection at this point in time.

 8          And, Counsel, you may proceed.

 9                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

10  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  So are you on that page?

11  A  I am.

12  Q  Okay.  And this is staff's request to PacifiCorp Data

13     Request No. 27, correct?

14  A  Yes, it is.

15  Q  And you were the witness that responded to this?

16     You're the witness and responder?

17  A  Yes, that's what it says.

18  Q  Could you read the last sentence of your response,

19     please.

20  A  "Staff's recommendation is to develop information and

21     is not related to any process for recovery of

22     historical under- or over-recovery."

23  Q  So this is really meant -- your recommendation is --

24     would you agree that your recommendation is meant to

25     provide information looking backwards from rather than
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 1     analyzing a Phase 2 implementation, Phase 2 allocation

 2     implementation?

 3  A  Can you restate it?

 4  Q  So in your Request that -- in your Request -- or

 5     Recommendation 4, you recommend that the total recovery

 6     of any cost varies from a hundred percent.

 7          That's looking backwards, correct?

 8  A  Correct.  A demonstration of how.

 9  Q  And that would be for several years, correct?

10  A  I'm sure in consultation with other parties or however

11     the company wants to interpret this recommendation or

12     if the Commission wants to provide clarification in

13     their determination.  I have no preference on years.  I

14     think what staff is looking for is historical

15     information so that way we can learn and apply it

16     forward-looking.

17  Q  Okay.  Could you turn to Page 9 of 13 of that same

18     exhibit.  That's JHJ-5X.

19  A  Data Request No. 20?

20  Q  That's correct.

21          And on the last -- on the first page of that

22     response -- sorry.  It is a one-page response.

23          The very last paragraph, you clarify that, for the

24     Phase 2 analysis, that that test- -- that analysis

25     should be limited to test-year cost data, correct?
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 1  A  That's what it says.

 2  Q  So the analysis of any potential over-collection is for

 3     informational purposes only?

 4  A  Yes.

 5  Q  So it would not assist in the analysis of any Phase 2

 6     allocation filing.

 7          That would be based on test-year data, correct?

 8  A  Yes, for this regarding Phase 2, we -- I state that it

 9     should be limited to the test-year cost data.

10                        MR. McVEE:  All right.  Thank you.

11          No further questions, Your Honor.

12                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any redirect from

13     staff?

14                        MS. STRAUSS:  Just briefly, Your

15     Honor.

16

17                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION

18     BY MS. STRAUSS:

19  Q  Ms. Hawkins-Jones, you were asked a few questions about

20     the various information staff has suggested the

21     Commission order the -- order PacifiCorp to provide in

22     a Phase 2 filing.

23          Why does staff want this additional information?

24  A  I think that way it creates a complete initial filing

25     so that way staff has a full case in their first
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 1     review.  I think the burden is on the company to make

 2     that initial filing complete and accurate, and a case

 3     should not be made through discovery.

 4  Q  And, Ms. Hawkins-Jones, PacifiCorp has asked quite a

 5     few questions about over-collection information, and

 6     your testimony talks about various variances from a

 7     hundred percent of collection.

 8          Is staff concerned about the 2026 protocol and the

 9     issue of variances from a hundred percent collection?

10  A  Yes, I don't think that there's enough information in

11     the file for us to make a determination at this point,

12     and we seem to have more questions than answers at this

13     point.

14  Q  And so during a Phase 2 assessment, you'll be hoping to

15     look at whether the 2026 protocol, whether actual

16     collection is deviating from a hundred percent?

17  A  Correct.

18  Q  Okay.  And the Commission does not practice retroactive

19     ratemaking, correct?

20  A  Correct.

21                        MS. STRAUSS:  Okay.  No further

22     questions, Your Honor.

23                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Thank you.

24          Any questions from the bench?

25          Okay.  Thank you.  I believe that concludes the
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 1   questions for you.  You may be excused at this time.

 2                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 3                             (Witness excused.)

 4

 5                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  And I believe that

 6   brings us to witness Earle.

 7                             (Witness appearing remotely.)

 8

 9                      THE WITNESS:  I'm here.  I'm having

10   a little bit of a problem with Zoom.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  That is okay.  We

12   can hear you.

13                      THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Great.

14                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Wonderful.

15   Thank you very much.

16        If you could please raise your right hand, and

17   I'll swear you in.

18        Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will

19   give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and

20   nothing but the truth?

21                      THE WITNESS:  I do.

22   ////

23   ////

24   ////

25   ////

0402

 1     ROBERT L. EARLE,            appearing remotely and

 2                                 having been first duly sworn

 3                                 by Administrative Law Judge

 4                                 Thompson, was examined and

 5                                 testified as follows:

 6

 7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

 8          Counsel for public counsel, you may proceed.

 9

10                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

11     BY MR. SYKES:

12  Q  Good morning, Dr. Earle.

13  A  Good morning.

14  Q  Could you please state and spell your name for the

15     record.

16  A  My name is Robert Earle.  R-o-b-e-r-t E-a-r-l-e.

17  Q  And did you prefile a written direct and cross-

18     answering testimony?

19  A  Yes, I did.

20  Q  Did you sponsor any exhibits?

21  A  I did.

22  Q  Okay.  Did you hear any of the testimony yesterday?

23  A  I did.

24  Q  If I asked you the same questions in your testimony

25     today, would any of your answers change?
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 1  A  So based on what I knew at the time I wrote the

 2     testimony, the answer is the answers would not change.

 3          However, I did hear testimony yesterday that would

 4     make me have changes to my filed testimony.

 5  Q  Okay.  So I guess the answer is, if you were asked the

 6     same questions today, the answers would change?

 7  A  Correct.

 8  Q  Okay.  What answers would change?

 9  A  So specifically my recommendation concerning public

10     counsel's alternative proposal would change.  And let's

11     see.  Sorry.  I wrote that down, the section.

12          It's principally in the response testimony,

13     Page 14, beginning Line 15 through Page 15, 12.

14          Would you like me to go through what the changes

15     would be?

16  Q  Yes, please.

17  A  So what I learned yesterday was that PacifiCorp's

18     intention in its proposed allocation, one of them, or I

19     should say two of them, was that each jurisdiction pay

20     its -- I'm paraphrasing now -- fair share of resource

21     adequacy costs and ancillary services costs.  That was

22     not apparent to me before based on -- based on their

23     filing.

24          And it seems that PacifiCorp's approach is to say,

25     okay, well, let's do an allocation so that I would say
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 1   roughly each jurisdiction is responsible for a

 2   proportionate share of resource adequacy costs and also

 3   responsible for a proportionate share of ancillary

 4   service costs.  And I will disagree that Washington as

 5   a jurisdiction should not be responsible for its

 6   proportionate share.

 7        And witness Wilding makes a fair point by looking

 8   at my proposed allocation in showing in terms of the

 9   resource adequacy that the resource adequacy from my

10   proposal falls under the -- the PRM by up to I think it

11   is 300 megawatts, roughly, for some months.  So that

12   shortfall, it's fair to say, it should be addressed.

13        In terms of ancillary services, there --

14   PacifiCorp says, well, removing Chehalis and Jim

15   Bridger would make -- make Washington jurisdiction

16   short on its paying for ancillary services, and -- but

17   they don't provide any calculation.  And so given that

18   Washington would still, under the alternative

19   allocation, have hydropower, it isn't clear whether

20   it's -- whether Washington would be supplying too much,

21   just right, or not enough ancillary services.

22        So PacifiCorp's approach is to say, well, let's

23   make sure the allocations cover this.  And that's one

24   way to do it, and I could have changed my

25   recommendation to -- to accommodate that.  But I think
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 1   there's a better way.  And the reason why I think there

 2   is a better way is, as PacifiCorp likes to say, they

 3   have a big system, a diverse system.  They take

 4   advantage of the diversity of the system.

 5        So by -- by locking in each jurisdiction to

 6   allocation that may or may not fit its needs, it's a

 7   suboptimal allocation, I think particularly for

 8   Washington.  I haven't reviewed the other allocations.

 9   Don't have an opinion on them.  But at least in terms

10   of Washington, Chehalis is not a good fit.  And -- and

11   I discussed the reasons for that in my -- in my

12   testimony.

13        So a different approach in terms of resource

14   adequacy would be to say, okay, well, here are the

15   allocations for each jurisdiction.  Those that are

16   short in terms of their support by the resources they

17   subscribe to will have to make a payment to make that

18   up.  And those that are contributing more by virtue of

19   their subscription to resources will collect payments.

20   This way, the allocations in terms of the

21   jurisdictions' needs don't have to match.

22        And similarly with ancillary services.  We can

23   determine what jurisdictions are providing in terms of

24   ancillary services from their resources, what they're

25   consuming.  And ancillary services are a little bit
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 1   easier, because we don't -- we don't have to create a

 2   calculation in terms of cost.  That already exists or

 3   at least the basis for it exists in the -- in

 4   PacifiCorp's open access transmission tariff.

 5        So, again, we could use those to say, okay, well,

 6   gee, if you want this particular allocation, okay, but

 7   you're going to have to make up the shortfall in

 8   ancillary services you're providing, make up the

 9   shortfall in terms of resource adequacy you're

10   providing.  So I think this is very doable.  And what

11   it does is allows some flexibility in the allocation

12   that allows for the diversity across jurisdictions to

13   take good effect, whereas PacifiCorp's approach limits

14   what you can do, and I think in the case of

15   PacifiCorp's proposal, it's -- it's not a good fit.

16   And it's certainly not a -- it's certainly not a good

17   fit over the long run with CETA really taking effect in

18   2030.

19        So I guess my recommendation would be it would be

20   preferable to have a pricing system for resource

21   adequacy ancillary services that could make up for

22   shortfall or pay those jurisdictions that are providing

23   more, and that if it's not done now, that it be

24   implemented for revisions that happen in -- in Phase 2.

25        And I think it particularly fits well with the
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 1   move to nodal pricing whereby resources and load get

 2   priced at their -- at their nodal price as determined

 3   by the EDAM, and this would similarly price ancillary

 4   services and resource adequacy.

 5                      MR. SYKES:  Now, Your Honor, at your

 6   discretion, since this is a substantive change, I'd be

 7   willing to stipulate to cross on this issue.  But I

 8   leave that to your discretion, Your Honor.

 9                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

10                      MR. LOWNEY:  Your Honor.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Yes.

12                      MR. LOWNEY:  If I may, given that

13   it's a substantive change, I think the most effective

14   way to address it would be with the opportunity to

15   present a testimonial witness to respond to the new

16   recommendation from Dr. Earle.  And that would be our

17   preference as opposed to cross-examination, because

18   there's substantive matters that need to be resolved.

19                      MR. SYKES:  I would so stipulate.

20                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And which

21   witness would you propose?

22                      MR. LOWNEY:  I would need to confer

23   with my client on two things:  Which witness, and also

24   I need to understand how we would respond just to

25   understand the -- the scope and length of that
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 1     response.

 2          So if we want to take a moment now, we can -- we

 3     can confer and -- or we could wait till the end of

 4     Dr. Earle's presentation.  Whatever your preference is.

 5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Let's --

 6                        MR. PEPPLE:  Your Honor.

 7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Yes.

 8                        MR. PEPPLE:  Sorry.  I guess I did

 9     have a couple of questions for Dr. Earle about his

10     proposal that I think are mostly clarifying questions,

11     and that might help PacifiCorp's witness respond as

12     well.  So maybe while they're conferring, I could ask

13     those, or...

14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Give me one moment.

15          Okay.  We will go ahead and allow Mr. Pepple to

16     proceed with some questions.  I think at that point in

17     time, before we get to bench questions or another

18     witness from PacifiCorp, perhaps we'll take a

19     ten-minute morning break and then resume after that.

20          So you may proceed.

21                        MR. PEPPLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

22

23                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

24     BY MR. PEPPLE:

25  Q  Good morning, Dr. Earle.
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 1  A  Good morning.

 2  Q  Sorry.  Let me turn my camera on.

 3          So I just want to make sure that I was clear about

 4     your recommendation.

 5          So your proposal is that at, if a state is short

 6     on resource adequacy, they would make a payment to

 7     other states in order to supply what is required.

 8          Is that your proposal?

 9  A  Correct.

10  Q  And would that payment be a purchase of resource

11     adequacy from specific resources, or would it just be

12     sort of a generic payment?

13  A  So that's -- that's an interesting question.  The way I

14     was thinking of it was a generic payment.  But -- but

15     the payment would be based on the resource subscription

16     and the amount of resource adequacy that resource

17     provided.  So if a resource provided a hundred

18     megawatts of resource adequacy and an entity is

19     subscribed say 8 percent of that, then that would be 8

20     megawatts of resource adequacy that entity was

21     providing through that resource.  And you'd add up

22     across the resources, is the way -- it's the way I'm

23     conceiving that right now.

24  Q  Okay.  So, I mean, do you agree that PacifiCorp's coal

25     resources provide resource adequacy?
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 1  A  I -- I think they do, and that would be -- that would

 2     certainly be a wrinkle to be worked out.  I don't know

 3     what the CETA implications are for this, because we

 4     also have the difficulty that PacifiCorp's coal

 5     resources, at least according to PacifiCorp -- and it

 6     seems reasonable to me -- provide ancillary services

 7     that support wind in the west.

 8          But I think -- I think that that's -- that's --

 9     that's a wrinkle that, one, you'd have to think about,

10     well, does the payment or resource adequacy violate

11     CETA -- and that I don't know -- and, two, if it does,

12     to build a workaround to address that.

13                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

14     Those are all my questions.

15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

16          At this point in time, I think perhaps it's a good

17     time for us to take a 10- or 15-minute break just to

18     allow everyone to stretch their legs before we conclude

19     through the -- the last couple of witnesses this

20     morning.

21          Let's go ahead and -- okay.  Let's go ahead and do

22     a 10 -minute break.  We will be off the record, and

23     we'll return at 10:35.

24                               (Pause in proceedings from

25                                10:23 a.m. to 10:36 a.m.)
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 1                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  It is now

 2   10:36 a.m.  let's be back on the record.

 3        Thank you.

 4        And witness Earle is still sworn in.

 5        I'll just turn to the company really quick.  Have

 6   you decided on a best course of action?

 7                      MR. LOWNEY:  Yes, Your Honor.  The

 8   company would recall Mike Wilding to the stand to

 9   provide what I think will be relatively brief response

10   testimony.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.

12                      MR. LOWNEY:  And then we will be

13   available to commissioner questions to the extent there

14   are any.

15                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so forgo

16   cross-examination of witness Earle.

17                      MR. LOWNEY:  That's correct.

18                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank

19   you.

20        At this point in time, we can proceed.  I'll just

21   turn to staff and give you an opportunity.

22        Did you have any cross questions for witness

23   Earle?

24                      MS. STRAUSS:  We don't have any

25   cross questions at this time, but we may address any
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 1   issues on brief.

 2                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you

 3   very much.

 4        Then we will turn to questions from the bench.

 5                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Mr. Earle, I think

 6   you've sort of answered this question, but you've

 7   probably heard some of the questions on wind

 8   curtailments, and you have a agreement effectively with

 9   AWEC's proposal in this case on wind curtailments.

10        Given that you did not change any of your

11   testimony on this issue, I assume you stand by your

12   effective adoption of the AWEC position in this case on

13   wind curtailments, how they're modeled?

14                      THE WITNESS:  I think that AWEC

15   basically has it right in this.  Yesterday's --

16   yesterday's testimony was -- by Mr. Mitchell was

17   interesting.  The two things that are missing for me

18   from -- from what he said is there still seems to be a

19   disconnect between the historical and what the model

20   outcomes are.

21        And the second -- the second thing is, while he

22   did go through this thing of, well, the curtailment

23   order is gas, coal, wind, my question about coal, which

24   I don't believe he really answered, has to do with

25   minimum-take contracts and if the minimum-take
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 1   contracts are driving part of the reasons why coal is

 2   maybe not curtailed as much as it could have been and

 3   what the -- what the relative cost of those coal

 4   contracts are versus the cost for the wind curtailment.

 5        And then there's -- there's -- there's the

 6   sticky -- the sticky issue of, well, not curtailing the

 7   coal benefits some jurisdictions, whereas curtailing

 8   the wind hurts other jurisdictions, and whether

 9   there -- there are issues there.

10        So I didn't -- I didn't find Mitchell's

11   explanation compelling so that I would think, Oh, wait

12   a minute.  He's really explained the problem.

13                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  With respect to the

14   coal contracts that you just referenced, did you hear

15   Mr. Wilson's testimony earlier today?

16                      THE WITNESS:  I did.

17                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  What I heard there

18   was that effectively you'd want -- the Commission

19   should review the EIM data and what I would think of as

20   the set points for the minimum runs of those plants

21   would be one way of addressing to ensure that they are

22   indeed curtailed to the lowest level.

23        Is that your understanding of what that testimony

24   was?

25                      THE WITNESS:  That sounds right.
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 1   And I think that would be a good thing to do certainly.

 2                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  And then just one

 3   last set of questions on the curtailments.

 4        Mr. Mitchell, we had an exchange yesterday about

 5   what the impacts of setting curtailments too high in

 6   the model to set the cost relative to the PCAM impacts

 7   of that potentially in the future if indeed wind is

 8   curtailed less.

 9        Any response to that from public counsel on what

10   those impacts would be?

11                      THE WITNESS:  Sure.

12        So if -- if the PCAM process were a complete

13   pass-through dollar for dollar, I would not -- you

14   know, I would -- I -- assuming that, you know, the --

15   the amounts weren't large -- they seem to be large --

16   but if the amounts weren't large, you'd think, well,

17   okay, we're off -- we're off by 1 percent of -- of MPC.

18   Ratepayers will get it back later.

19        The issue -- the issue is, is -- is because of the

20   dead band and the sharing bands and the PCAM, if you're

21   off -- assuming everything else is spot-on, if you're

22   off 1 percent, well, that 1 percent accrues to the

23   company's benefit.  If you're off by other amounts,

24   then the amount that accrues to the company's benefit

25   is less, depending on which sharing band you're in.
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 1        But I don't -- I guess I would -- I would prefer

 2   to see a more accurate forecast for all things rather

 3   than -- rather than have it, you know, say, okay, the

 4   PCAM will take care of it.  Because the PCAM doesn't

 5   quite take care of it.  You know, the PCAM is there to

 6   incentivize the company to do the best it can in its --

 7   in its operations.

 8        And so -- so, I guess, in my opinion, just relying

 9   on the PCAM isn't -- isn't a good solution.

10                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  Thank

11   you.  I have no further questions.

12                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

13                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning,

14   Mr. Earle.

15                      THE WITNESS:  Good morning.

16                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning.

17        So I'm assuming you heard the questions I asked to

18   witness Wilson?

19                      THE WITNESS:  Yes.

20                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  So one

21   of those questions is similar, on the future hedging

22   costs.  And my question referred to witness Mitchell's

23   rebuttal testimony, 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8, through

24   Page 36, Line 10.

25        He argues that the forward market transaction
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 1   costs and volume are known and reasonable, and

 2   considering the information that the company provided

 3   and the testimony yesterday, does that change your

 4   testimony in this docket on this issue?

 5                      THE WITNESS:  No.  And while I

 6   appreciate his testimony yesterday, I am still

 7   concerned about the fact that we don't have any

 8   documentation in terms of how they're going to hedge

 9   for Washington.  And, in fact, what they have said

10   is -- they said this in the -- in the data request

11   response.  They said, Well, you know, we're not going

12   to do any hedging for Washington specifically until

13   2026.  Until that calendar year, not for that calendar

14   year.

15        And so saying that, Well, we're going to do these

16   hedges for Washington based on a policy that doesn't

17   exist, I find -- I find concerning.  And when asked

18   again in a data request, Are you going to allocate --

19                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Before you

20   go -- before you go farther, so this is the second data

21   request you've mentioned.  I just want to make sure

22   these are in the record.

23        So the first data request you mentioned, if you

24   can give the cite to it, and then for the second one,

25   that would be helpful too.
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 1                      THE WITNESS:  I don't have it in my

 2   head right now, but I can certainly respond to a bench

 3   request or whatever method is appropriate.

 4                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yeah, we can

 5   send a bench request.  I just want to make sure that

 6   what you're citing to in your testimony here is

 7   actually in the record and not something that we don't

 8   have access to.  That's my concern.

 9                      THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.

10   Absolutely.

11                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.

12                      THE WITNESS:  And I -- and I

13   don't -- thank you.  I don't remember at this time

14   whether I cited them in my test- -- testimony or not.

15   But so I'm concerned that -- that these are

16   transactions which don't have any -- don't have any

17   basis in their policy, and then when -- when they --

18   when they were asked, Well, did you -- are you going to

19   allocate some of the hedges to -- that you're going to

20   make in 2025 to Washington? the answer was very

21   nonspecific.  You know, it was, like, How are you going

22   to do this?  It was very non- -- nonspecific.

23        So they haven't actually made these.  As

24   Mr. Mitchell made clear yesterday, it isn't clear when

25   they are going to make these.  And I think that the

0418

 1   final thing that he said -- not that -- you know, he

 2   said finally, but -- but he said that, Well, there will

 3   be hedges included in our compliance filing.  And, you

 4   know, those will be the -- as I understood him -- those

 5   will be the hedges we'd actually made.

 6        And that's entirely appropriate, you know.

 7   Whether they're prudent or not and all of that is -- is

 8   another issue that gets addressed likely in a PCAM, but

 9   it's entirely appropriate that if, leading up to the

10   compliance filing, whenever that is -- let's say it's

11   in December -- if in November they put on -- they

12   actually go out and put on actual hedges by a power for

13   delivery in 2026, absolutely that should go in.  But

14   those are different.  Those are -- those are hedges

15   that they've actually put on.

16        So I still think that because these are hedges

17   that -- that appear in the -- in the model, that

18   they're not -- they're not according to any policy.

19   They're not really real.  I don't think they should be

20   muddled, because by including them, what they do is

21   they increase the NPC.

22                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank

23   you.

24        And I had a question about over-collections, but I

25   think you may have addressed that in your response to
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 1   your counsel's question about any corrections, and I

 2   think that all had to do with over-collection, so I'm

 3   going to stop here.

 4                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any further

 5   questions?

 6                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 7                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I have just

 8   a couple of clarifying questions for you, Mr. Earle,

 9   just to clear up the update to your recommendation.

10   And as I understand it, it would be an update, but I

11   want to ensure that I've got clarity on that issue.

12        And so would the allocation of resources to

13   Washington remain the same as in your original

14   recommendation for public counsel's alternative,

15   removing --

16                      THE WITNESS:  Yes.

17                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is your

18   proposal that the resource adequacy and ancillary

19   services costs would be recovered through a charge that

20   would be, for lack of a better term, baked into the

21   power costs, or would it be trued up via the PCAM

22   through a compliance filing?

23                      THE WITNESS:  That's a -- that's an

24   interesting question that, in terms of where you --

25   where you collect it, that I did not -- I had not
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 1   thought through.  I think either -- either is -- it

 2   seems to me to be -- to be a possibility.  I -- since

 3   resource adequacy is a prospective issue, you could

 4   collect -- largely you could collect that ahead of

 5   time.  Ancillary services may be a little -- a little

 6   trickier thinking about, well, what if there's a

 7   massive plant -- plant outage?  Does that change the --

 8   the calculation?  And, again, on that I'm not sure.

 9        So I guess there may be a need for some true-up.

10   I don't necessarily recommend that it be run through

11   the PCAM mechanism, though it could happen in the PCAM

12   proceeding.

13                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I think

14   just one final question.

15        Would the result of this -- it's different from

16   the WIJAM, but would the result potentially be similar

17   to the WIJAM where, because of resource adequacy

18   concerns, Washington would be in a prevailing short

19   position, as it's been called in previous filings, and

20   we would then expect PCAM filings to be continuing to

21   be -- to be large to true up for the shortfall?

22                      THE WITNESS:  Not necessarily.  And

23   the reason is, is there is a difference between

24   Washington having a market shortfall -- that is the

25   resource -- the resources that it subscribed to
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 1   generate fewer megawatt-hours than Washington's load.

 2   In that case, there's a market shortfall.  There's a

 3   shortfall with respect to the market.  And Washington,

 4   according to WIJAM, gets charged the market price for

 5   that shortfall.

 6        With resource adequacy, you might have resources

 7   that -- as in the case of my recommendation, resources

 8   provide sufficient energy, but when they're counted as

 9   resource adequacy resources, because they're variable,

10   how much they get counted in terms of providing

11   resource adequacy is much less.

12        So -- so Washington might have a surplus of energy

13   and be long with respect to the market.  However, its

14   resource adequacy position could be -- could be short,

15   and so it would have to make a payment for the other

16   resources to the other jurisdictions that have an

17   excess of resource adequacy to make up their shortfall.

18                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you

19   for those clarifications.

20        Any further questions?

21        Okay.  I believe that concludes our questions for

22   you.  You may be excused.  Thank you for being

23   available this morning.

24                      THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

25                             (Witness excused.)
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 1                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this

 2   point in time, we will recall witness Wilding to the

 3   stand.

 4                      MR. LOWNEY:  Your Honor, it just

 5   struck me that we were using a laptop yesterday so that

 6   the witness could appear on Zoom.  We can set that up

 7   again.  It will just obviously take a few moments to do

 8   that.  Or if we prefer to just proceed without the

 9   camera, we could certainly do that.

10                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's go

11   ahead and take a minute to set up the laptop, if that's

12   okay.

13                      MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  The computer is

14   in someone's trunk, so it will actually take a little

15   longer than I had anticipated.

16                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.

17                      MR. LOWNEY:  Apologies.  I just

18   realized that was an issue.

19                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  That's okay.  We

20   can go ahead and be off the record for a moment while

21   we get that set up.

22                             (Pause in proceedings from

23                              10:55 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.)

24

25                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's please
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 1   be back on the record.

 2        Okay.  Mr. Wilding, if you could please raise your

 3   right hand, and I'll re-swear you in.

 4        Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will

 5   give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and

 6   nothing but the truth?

 7                      THE WITNESS:  Yes.

 8

 9

10   MICHAEL G. WILDING,         having been first duly sworn

11                               by Administrative Law Judge

12                               Thompson, was examined and

13                               testified as follows:

14

15                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

16        And at this point in time, I will go ahead and

17   turn -- well, I'll turn to the parties and ask if you

18   have any additional questions for Mr. Wilding given the

19   change in Mr. Earle's recommendation, but I presume the

20   questions might be -- do you want to start with

21   additional direct?

22                      MR. LOWNEY:  I think, from my

23   perspective, that makes the most sense.

24                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.

25   Let's go ahead and start with additional questions from
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 1     the company.

 2                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 3

 4                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

 5     BY MR. LOWNEY:

 6  Q  Witness Wilding, were you in the room a few minutes ago

 7     when Dr. Earle made a new recommendation related to

 8     resource adequacy and ancillary services?

 9  A  Yes, I was.

10  Q  And based on your understanding of Dr. Earle's

11     recommendation, do you have any response to that

12     proposal?

13  A  Yes, I do.  So, first, my understanding is that their

14     allocation of the increased percentage of wind

15     allocated to Washington, the no natural gas and no

16     coal, no thermal resources, that -- that underlying

17     part of the proposal doesn't change, so our, you know,

18     main critique of their proposal also does not change.

19          It results in Washington leaning on the rest of

20     PacifiCorp's system.  And it also means that the other

21     states that are currently participating in those wind

22     resources would have to give up a piece of that wind

23     resource that's allocated to them already, or we would

24     have a situation where those wind plants were allocated

25     at a percentage greater than a hundred percent.  So
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 1   that -- that piece just doesn't change.

 2        My understanding of what new is now is a payment

 3   for that leaning from Washington to the other states.

 4   And, you know, I've been around the company for, you

 5   know, 12 years now or so and been through a lot of

 6   these filings, a lot of MSP discussions with

 7   stakeholders and with the states, and so the first part

 8   of that is getting the states to agree adds significant

 9   complexity to the allocations at that point.

10        And I really doubt that we would be able to come

11   to an agreement between all six states on what this

12   resource adequacy payment would look like.  And that

13   also, you know, assumes that that will be available,

14   that as the other -- you know, as we allocate resources

15   away from Washington, put them in that resource

16   adequacy deficit, you know, reallocate those resources

17   to the other states, that, you know, given the load

18   growth in other parts of our system, that they will

19   have length to be able to give to Washington at a

20   price.

21        And then what that price will be, also I have

22   significant doubts and concerns that we would even be

23   able to agree to what that price is with the other

24   states.  And then add in the further complication of

25   just the logistics of how we would do that.  I think we
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 1   hit on that a little bit.  You know, does it happen in

 2   net power cost?  Is it a true-up every year?  Timing of

 3   rate cases.  Timing of power cost cases.  It just --

 4   very complex, if you could even get to an agreement,

 5   which, again, I have significant concerns and doubts

 6   that we would be able to do that.

 7        And then when we add in the coal in -- on our

 8   system and the CETA compliance, I think that is a

 9   significant piece of that.  Mr. Earle said he didn't

10   know how that would work.  Well, the definition of coal

11   in CETA is anything unspecified with a duration of

12   longer than three months, or if it's for a resource

13   adequacy contract, duration of longer than six months.

14   So you add that exception for six months or less for

15   resource adequacy contract.  Again, just adding

16   complexity to this.  We still have coal in our system.

17   How do you -- how do you do this?

18        I -- you know, in short, I don't think this is

19   workable.

20                      MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you, witness

21   Wilding.

22        Company has no further questions.

23                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

24        At this point in time, I will turn to the parties

25   to ask if they have additional questions of witness
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 1     Wilding.

 2          Staff, do you have any additional questions?

 3                        MS. STRAUSS:  Staff does not have

 4     any additional questions at this time.

 5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

 6          Public counsel?

 7                        MR. SYKES:  No additional questions.

 8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  AWEC?

 9                        MR. PEPPLE:  I do have one question,

10     Your Honor.

11

12                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

13     BY MR. PEPPLE:

14  Q  Mr. Wilding, if somehow we were able to figure out this

15     proposal and how it would work and there was a resource

16     adequacy payment made from Washington to other states

17     in whatever form it would happen to be, would that

18     result in emissions being assigned to Washington as a

19     consequence of that payment?

20  A  Yes.  Most likely the resource adequacy would be a -- a

21     capacity payment, right?  But the reason why you need

22     capacity is to deliver energy during those times of

23     capacity need, so there would be also energy that would

24     need to flow to Washington that would be an unspecified

25     purchase that I believe would include emissions.  I
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 1     mean, I would maybe need to think about that a little

 2     bit more, but that's my initial thought on this

 3     proposal in this hypothetical where we could figure

 4     something out.

 5                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

 6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any questions from

 7     The Energy Project?

 8                        MR. ZAKAI:  Good morning, Your

 9     Honor.  Good morning, witness Wilding.  Yes, just one

10     or two.

11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Go ahead and

12     proceed.

13

14                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

15     BY MR. ZAKAI:

16  Q  Mr. Wilding, is it common for entities to purchase

17     capacity from one another for the purposes of resource

18     adequacy?

19  A  In the Western United States, there's a capacity market

20     in the California ISO.  There is not a liquid capacity

21     market outside of the California ISO.  In what WRAP

22     contemplates having some ability to transfer resource

23     adequacy obligation at a price, there is no market

24     monitor for that.  And so I would say right now, no.

25     Not -- not in a liquid market in bilateral market that
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 1     we have today.

 2  Q  As in there is no -- has PacifiCorp made any

 3     transactions for capacity in the past year from another

 4     entity?

 5  A  We -- my only hesitation here is trying to not provide

 6     confidential information.

 7  Q  Respectfully, I'm not asking for confidential

 8     information.  I'm asking if there was one transaction

 9     in the past year or not.

10  A  I will say this.  What is available on the market has a

11     capacity component.  Obviously, as energy is provided,

12     fixed-price energy, there's a capacity component of

13     that.  As we acquire -- we've acquired batteries that

14     are capacity.  Have we acquired capacity from another

15     entity to transfer that resource adequacy obligation?

16     No.

17  Q  Okay.  And your FERC tariff provides a price for

18     ancillary services, should another entity need to

19     purchase that from PacifiCorp?

20  A  Another entity, again, is -- is loose.  That is not a

21     product that any -- just anyone can buy.  For

22     transmission customers, that takes service under our

23     transmission service provider.  In our BA, that product

24     is available.  And it is a cost-based product set by

25     FERC.
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 1          Again, that is not a -- an assumption that should

 2     be made that the states would agree to that, because

 3     there is an opportunity cost with that as well, that --

 4     you know, and I foresee that if we tried to go down

 5     this road, that there would be many conversations and

 6     many folks that would maybe want to pursue that

 7     opportunity cost of holding reserves as opposed to a

 8     FERC-approved cost-based right.  Again, which is making

 9     it complicated and messy.

10  Q  Thank you.  I'd ask one last question.

11          Do you agree that Washington has had an allocation

12     methodology over the past several years which other

13     states have not agreed to?

14  A  Yes.  Absolutely.  One of the fundamental principles of

15     the allocation methodology that we're putting in front

16     of the Commission now is -- is essentially fixing that,

17     getting everything to sum to one, or a hundred percent

18     as we've test- -- multiple witnesses have testified in

19     this hearing already.

20                        MR. ZAKAI:  Thank you.  No further

21     questions.

22                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

23          Any redirect from the company?

24                        MR. LOWNEY:  No, Your Honor.

25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.
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 1        Any questions from the bench?

 2        Okay.  I believe that concludes our questions for

 3   you, Mr. Wilding.  Thank you.  You may be excused.

 4                             (Witness excused.)

 5

 6                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this

 7   point in time, if -- I think, PacifiCorp, if somebody

 8   would like to come up and reclaim your laptop.  I don't

 9   know if we have any further use for it.  Or hopefully

10   not.

11        Okay.  And we can move to witness Mullins.

12                             (Witness appearing remotely.)

13

14                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Hello.  When you

15   are ready, please raise your right hand, and I will

16   swear you in.

17        Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will

18   give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and

19   nothing but the truth?

20                      THE WITNESS:  I do.

21   ////

22   ////

23   ////

24   ////

25   ////
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 1     BRADLEY G. MULLINS,         appearing remotely and

 2                                 having been first duly sworn

 3                                 by Administrative Law Judge

 4                                 Thompson, was examined and

 5                                 testified as follows:

 6

 7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

 8          Counsel, you can proceed with introducing the

 9     witness.

10                        MR. PEPPLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

11

12                        DIRECT EXAMINATION

13     BY MR. PEPPLE:

14  Q  I guess, good evening for you, Mr. Mullins.

15  A  Hello.

16  Q  Could you please state and spell your full name.

17  A  My name is Bradley Mullins.  Spelled B-r-a-d-l-e-y,

18     last name M-u-l-l-i-n-s.

19  Q  And did you file testimony and exhibits marked BGM-1CT

20     through BGM-8T on behalf of the Alliance of Western

21     Energy Consumers in this docket?

22  A  I did.

23  Q  Do you have any changes to your testimony or exhibits

24     today?

25  A  I have no changes.
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 1                        MR. PEPPLE:  The witness is

 2     available for cross-examination.

 3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very

 4     much.

 5          PacifiCorp, you can go ahead and proceed with

 6     cross.

 7                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you.

 8

 9                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

10     BY MR. LOWNEY:

11  Q  Good morning, Mr. Mullins.

12  A  Good morning.

13  Q  Let's begin with your response testimony in this

14     docket.

15                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Do you mind

16     bringing your mike a little closer.  I think it might

17     help the witnesses as well as anybody else online.

18     Thanks.

19  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  And that's BGM-1CT.

20          Do you have that?

21  A  I do.

22  Q  Okay.  If we could turn to Page 3.  And I'd like to

23     direct your attention to Table 1 at the top of that

24     page.

25  A  Okay.
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 1  Q  And just for context, this table is entitled "Summary

 2     of Recommendations," and it lists each of the specific

 3     recommendations that you've made in this case, correct?

 4  A  Correct.

 5  Q  And down on Line 6 is an adjustment referred to as the

 6     nodal pricing model.

 7          Do you see that?

 8  A  I do.

 9  Q  And I'm going to ask you some questions about that.

10     And so before we get started, I just want to make sure

11     we're using the same nomenclature.

12          Would you agree that sometimes the nodal pricing

13     model is abbreviated "NPM"?

14  A  I would.

15  Q  Okay.  And so if I refer to the NPM, you and I will

16     agree that that's the nodal pricing model, right?

17  A  As used in this context.  Correct.

18  Q  Okay.  Thank you.

19          Okay.  With that in mind, could you please turn to

20     Page 46 of the testimony.

21          And beginning on Line 9 is the testimony where

22     you're addressing the nodal pricing model.

23          Do you see that?

24  A  Okay.

25  Q  And I'd like you to keep that testimony in front of
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 1     you, and I'm going to refer you to a cross exhibit, and

 2     I'd like to compare the two.  So if you could just have

 3     them both ready.

 4          That cross exhibit has been labeled BGM-10X.  If

 5     you could pull that up.  And just for context, that's

 6     testimony that you filed in Docket UE-450.

 7  A  So to clarify, is that the opening testimony or

 8     cross-answering testimony?

 9  Q  The opening testimony.

10  A  Okay.

11  Q  All right.  And just to provide some broader context,

12     this testimony is referred to as your opening testimony

13     filed on behalf of the Alliance of Western Energy

14     Consumers in a case before the public utility

15     commission of Oregon that is called Docket UE-450,

16     correct?

17  A  Correct.

18  Q  And that docket is the PacifiCorp's 2026 transition

19     adjustment mechanism case, correct?

20  A  Correct.

21  Q  All right.  And just to add another acronym, would you

22     agree that we sometimes refer to the transition

23     adjustment mechanism as the TAM?

24  A  We almost always refer to it as the TAM.  Yes.  That's

25     right.
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 1  Q  Okay.  And then just for additional context, at the

 2     bottom of Page 1, this testimony was filed on June 17th

 3     of 2025, correct?

 4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Mr. Lowney --

 5                        THE WITNESS:  Correct.

 6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  -- I think we

 7     may have a mix-up here.

 8          So the link in the exhibit list is to --

 9                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  It's 9X on our

10     exhibit list.

11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Rebuttal and

12     cross-answering testimony is 10X.  Maybe the link is

13     incorrect.

14                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  I -- let me see.

15                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  9X is the link.

16                        MR. LOWNEY:  On the exhibit list I

17     have, 9X was testimony filed in a Washington case.

18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Yeah, it's the link

19     is --

20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Our

21     links are wrong, but I found it, so all right.

22                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.

23                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Can you -- can you

24     remind us what page you're on?

25                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes.  I haven't
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 1     actually moved to a page yet.

 2                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  Great.

 3                        MR. LOWNEY:  So we'll get there.

 4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Perfect.

 5     Thank you.

 6                        MR. LOWNEY:  And I'll try to use

 7     names as well just to make sure we're all on the same

 8     page.

 9  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  Okay.  I think my last question -- and

10     I'm not sure if you answered it or not -- was:  Just

11     for context, this testimony was filed on June 17th of

12     2025, correct?

13  A  Correct.

14  Q  Okay.  And one purpose of the TAM is to forecast net

15     power costs for 2026, correct?

16  A  Correct.

17  Q  Okay.  And if you could turn to Page 5 of the exhibit,

18     which would be Page 3 of the original testimony.

19          And if you're there, I'd like to direct your

20     attention to Line 5 where you describe a recommendation

21     related to the nodal pricing model.

22          Do you see that?

23  A  I have the nonconfidential version, but I agree that

24     it's in that table.

25  Q  Actually, I think the table you're referring to is on
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 1     Page 4 of the exhibit, 2 of the original.

 2          But I think we all agree you propose an adjustment

 3     to the nodal pricing model in the TAM, correct?

 4                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Just let's make sure

 5     we're all on the literal same page here.

 6          In the upper right-hand corner, I see it says

 7     Page 5 of 70 for the exhibit, correct?

 8                        MR. LOWNEY:  That's correct.

 9                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Mr. Mullins, are you

10     there?

11                        THE WITNESS:  I'm there.  I am

12     there.  Correct.  And --

13                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  It's a bullet point

14     that we're referring to, correct?

15                        MR. LOWNEY:  Correct.

16                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.

17                        MR. LOWNEY:  And apologies.  Now

18     that we're all on the same page, I'm going to direct us

19     to another page.

20  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  So understanding you made a

21     recommendation related to the nodal pricing model, if

22     we could turn to Page 20 of 70.  And let me know when

23     you're there.

24  A  Okay.

25  Q  Just for context, at the very top of that page is a
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 1     heading that says "Nodal Pricing Model Fee," just so

 2     we're all on the same place.

 3          And, again, kind of referring to that exhibit from

 4     the TAM and your testimony in this page, we can walk

 5     through each of the questions and answers, but if

 6     you're willing to agree that this testimony is largely

 7     identical, we can forego that exercise.

 8  A  And is -- I would agree it's substantially the same

 9     information.

10  Q  Okay.  Thank you.

11          And if I could now direct your attention to a

12     cross-examination exhibit, BGM-11X.  And this was

13     rebuttal and cross-answering testimony from the TAM.

14  A  Okay.

15  Q  And for context, this was filed on August 14th of 2025.

16          Do you see that on the bottom of Page 1?

17  A  I do.

18  Q  And so just for context, this was filed six days before

19     you filed testimony in this case, correct?

20  A  Correct.

21  Q  All right.  And now if I could direct your attention to

22     Page 3 of 31, which is the exhibit number.  Exhibit

23     numbering.  Excuse me.  And at the top of that page, it

24     says "Introduction and Summary."

25          And if I could direct your attention to Line --
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 1     Line 14.  You testified that, PacifiCorp also partially

 2     accepted my recommendation regarding the nodal pricing

 3     model, and AWEC is generally comfortable with

 4     PacifiCorp's approach on that issue.

 5          Do you see that?

 6  A  I do.

 7  Q  And with that line of testimony, that's the sum total

 8     of your discussion of the nodal pricing model in your

 9     TAM testimony, correct?  You dropped your adjustment in

10     the TAM?

11  A  Well, for purposes and the circumstances of this case,

12     you know, at the time this was filed, we were -- we

13     were comfortable, you know, accepting PacifiCorp's

14     recommendation.  I still continue to maintain concerns

15     that a great deal of money was spent on the nodal

16     pricing model and that it has not been used to develop

17     a new allocation framework, and it was not used to

18     create operational efficiencies and, you know, to do

19     day-ahead setup and things like that as was represented

20     in the 2020 protocol.

21          So given the circumstances of where this -- where

22     this case was, and at the time, we were -- we were

23     comfortable accepting PacifiCorp's approach, but I

24     still maintain concerns about -- about the nodal

25     pricing model.
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 1  Q  And just to be clear, when you say "at the time," that

 2     was six days before you filed testimony in this case,

 3     you dropped your adjustment that you are now proposing

 4     in this case, correct?

 5  A  So the -- given the -- given the -- the circumstances

 6     of this case, we were comfortable with it.  And this

 7     case ultimately resulted in a settlement, you know,

 8     discussions that were kind of ongoing during this whole

 9     time frame, and which ended up having, you know, a

10     $10 million reduction to NPC.  So, you know, for

11     purposes of -- of narrowing the issues, we thought it

12     was a reasonable approach.

13          And also these TAM cases are, you know,

14     accelerated cases, so, you know, we thought -- we

15     thought it made sense to kind of narrow -- narrow the

16     issues in that case.  But that being said, you know, I

17     still maintain concerns about the nodal pricing model

18     and -- yeah.

19                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  Thank you,

20     Mr. Mullins.

21          I'd like to move on, and I indicated we would have

22     some confidential cross-examination.  And we've reached

23     that point where I believe the remainder of my

24     questions will be -- will require us to be referring to

25     and looking at confidential material, so I believe
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 1   we'll need to enter a closed session.

 2                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this

 3   point in time, let's establish a confidential breakout

 4   room on the Zoom.  And I'd ask the parties to look

 5   around the room just to ensure that nobody is in the

 6   room which cannot participate in that confidential

 7   session.

 8        We will take a brief recess and be off the record

 9   while we establish that Zoom room.  Thank you.

10                             (Pause in proceedings from

11                              11:25 a.m. to 11:26 a.m.)

12                             (Confidential session

13                              begins.)

14                             (Confidential portion

15                              redacted.)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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14

15

16

17

18

19

20                             (Confidential session

21                              concluded.)

22

23                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  We are back

24   on the record in the public Zoom room.  We'll give a

25   minute for Chair Rybarik to join.
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 1                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  All right.  I should

 2   be there.

 3                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we will

 4   continue with questions here in just a moment.  But,

 5   Commissioner Rendahl, do you want to take...?

 6                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  I just want

 7   to say I apologize, everyone.  I have to leave at 1.

 8   So I won't -- if I miss anything, I'll read the

 9   transcript for the last few pages.

10                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Why don't we do your

11   questions first.

12                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  But I

13   still -- if -- if we're still going.

14        So thank you, Mr. Mullins.  I'm sorry it's getting

15   pretty late for you.  So my apologies.

16        So were you listening to the questions I asked

17   other witnesses before you?

18                      THE WITNESS:  Yes.

19                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.

20                      THE WITNESS:  Yes.

21                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  So first

22   question is about the future hedging costs.

23        And in Mr. Mitchell's rebuttal -- and the

24   reference to his testimony is 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8,

25   through Page 36, Line 10 -- he argues that forward
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 1   market transaction costs and the volume are known and

 2   reasonable.

 3        So considering the additional information he

 4   provided in his rebuttal and during the testimony

 5   yesterday, does that change your testimony on this

 6   issue in this docket?

 7                      THE WITNESS:  It does not.  So I

 8   think the -- I guess there's a couple things that we

 9   have concerns with.

10        So, first of all, by modeling future hedges,

11   you're not modeling really any hedging costs at all.

12   Because the prices that we assume in the forecast

13   period are the monthly forward -- official forward

14   price curve prices.  And those are based on, you know,

15   broker quotes, and those are the prices that PacifiCorp

16   could go out today and execute a hedge at.

17        And so these -- these -- these future hedges, they

18   are priced at that same forward price curve.  So in

19   terms of hedging value, there's no additional costs or

20   benefit relative to the prices that we're assuming.  So

21   it's -- it's really not -- nothing to do with price

22   hedging, but by adding those into the model.

23        But what it does do when you add those blocks into

24   the model, it forces the model, requires the model to

25   make additional sales and additional purchases on an
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 1   hourly basis to balance out that -- that flat block.

 2   And so the -- the cost that's being added into the

 3   model is really not a hedging cost at all.  It's really

 4   a balancing cost by modeling, you know, more sales and

 5   purchases around those -- those products.

 6        And, you know, my principal concern with that is

 7   that we're already doing that within the context of the

 8   DART adjustment.  In the DART adjustment, PacifiCorp

 9   adds into the model monthly 25-megawatt blocks to

10   develop its sales and its purchases, and then it models

11   the cost of balancing around those costs of those

12   blocks.  And, granted, that it is a block in day-ahead

13   and real-time markets where that cost occurs, but

14   that's really the same cost that's being added to the

15   market through this -- this hedging approach.

16        And, you know, conceptually -- if we didn't have

17   these two different methods, I would actually think

18   that the -- you know, actually modeling specific hedges

19   rather than the DART adjustment, you know, to balance

20   around those, would be okay.  But the fact that we have

21   both of those I think is problematic, because it's

22   really, you know, doubling up on those -- those

23   balancing costs.

24        And then, you know, apart from that, you know, by

25   the time the compliance filing in this case is
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 1   submitted, we'll already have, you know, close to 70

 2   percent of the hedges for the -- for the test period

 3   anyway.  So, you know, not only does it sort of double

 4   up on the balancing costs, it's -- it's, you know, for

 5   the most part unnecessary.

 6                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank

 7   you.  That's actually a very helpful explanation of

 8   where you stand.

 9        And I think you also addressed my next question,

10   which is about the relationship between the DART

11   adjustment and the hedging costs.

12        So the last question I have for you has to do with

13   the industrial curtailment contracts.

14        The company claims on rebuttal -- this is through

15   Mr. Wilding's testimony and Mr. Mitchell's testimony,

16   and I can give you those cites if you want.  The

17   company claims on rebuttal that these contracts that

18   AWEC contests provide benefits to Washington

19   ratepayers.

20        Again, does that -- does the testimony in rebuttal

21   from the company change AWEC's position, or does AWEC

22   continue to maintain that the industrial curtailment

23   contracts do not provide benefits to Washington?  And

24   if you still maintain that position, why?  Why is that

25   so?
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 1                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah, so we continue

 2   to think that those should not be allocated to

 3   Washington.  In terms of, you know, net power costs

 4   that are allocated to Washington, it certainly

 5   doesn't -- they certainly don't provide a benefit that

 6   way.  So they -- they increase Washington net power

 7   costs and don't provide a net power cost benefit, you

 8   know, at least in the model.

 9        On a system basis, the -- the analysis is probably

10   a lot more complicated.  So there seems to be this, you

11   know, contention I think that, you know, Washington,

12   you know, with Chehalis, would be -- would still be

13   leaning on the other side of the system for ancillary

14   services and capacity and things, things like that.

15   But that really hasn't been established.  So Chehalis

16   will cover pretty major part of Washington's load, and

17   it's also, you know, one of the most flexible resources

18   on PacifiCorp's system.

19        So in terms of, you know, the reliability

20   benefits, the capacity benefits, as well as the

21   ancillary service benefits, you know, we really can't

22   say that, you know, Washington needs these other

23   curtailment contracts to -- to avoid leaning on the

24   rest of the system.

25        And I actually suspect it might be the opposite,
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 1   that, you know, the benefits of Chehalis are more than

 2   what Washington needs, but I think that deserves a

 3   bigger analysis.

 4        And then getting to the contracts, themselves, you

 5   know, Washington doesn't, you know, explicitly -- you

 6   know, other than through ratemaking, they don't approve

 7   the -- those contracts.  Those are -- those are -- and

 8   the prices in those contracts.  So those are set in

 9   Idaho and Utah.  And the methods that are used to set

10   those certainly haven't been, you know, fully vetted by

11   the Commission.

12        And so I think that if, you know, a method is

13   being provided to, you know, a customer -- you know, a

14   large industrial customer in another state, that that

15   should stay within the state.  But also the -- the --

16   the benefits of that contract should stay within that

17   state as well.  But, you know, for purposes of

18   Washington, those -- those customers aren't in

19   Washington's jurisdiction, so I continue to think it's

20   more appropriate for those to be dealt with at the

21   states that approve them.

22                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  And so I

23   assume that, given that you participate in matters in

24   other states, that when the '26 protocol for each of

25   those states is addressed in the states, that is
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 1   something you will be addressing?

 2                      THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure.  So I'm

 3   not entirely sure the extent that I'll get involved in

 4   those other states, particularly in Idaho.  But

 5   certainly I think it's something that -- that folks in

 6   other states will -- will get.

 7                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Maybe I

 8   should rephrase that.  Not necessarily you, but AWEC,

 9   in its cases, I assume would be addressing this in

10   other states.

11                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah, and, you know, I

12   can't speak to what AWEC's going to recommend in

13   Oregon, but it would be certainly something that would

14   be looked at there.  And, of course, AWEC doesn't

15   participate in Idaho, Utah, Wyoming, or California.

16                      COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank

17   you.  That's all I have.

18                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Just a few more

19   questions, and we'll see if we can't beat -- well,

20   we're probably not going to beat Commissioner Rendahl's

21   1:00 time frame here.

22        But we had a discussion about wind curtailments in

23   closed session.  We will not rehash that discussion,

24   but I did want to just follow up with what would be

25   some public questions, Mr. Mullins.
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 1        With respect to wind curtailments, nothing in the

 2   rebuttal testimony from Mr. Mitchell -- or my

 3   understanding is you were following the testimony

 4   yesterday live here in the hearing room.  Nothing in

 5   that changed your position, your testimony on wind

 6   curtailments in this case; is that correct?

 7                      THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  I

 8   will point out that one of the things that they

 9   mentioned in their testimony had to do with regulation

10   reserves and the fact that the model was -- was

11   relaxing those reserves, so I just want to be clear

12   that my modeling approach uses the same regulation

13   reserve requirements as PacifiCorp does.  However,

14   within the model, itself, some of those did get

15   relaxed.  And I think it was maybe post -- I think it

16   was about 10 percent reduction in the reserves that the

17   model actually -- that it simulated.

18        And the -- and the -- and I thought it was a good

19   thing for them to point out.  However, I think that

20   is -- is appropriate, because regulation reserves are

21   meant to cover uncertainty over the course of an hour

22   to where if, you know, wind picks up or drops down

23   quickly, they need to have resources online to be able

24   to respond to those.

25        And so the -- those are not held static over the
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 1   hour.  They actually will use those reserves over the

 2   hour.  And so in terms of that issue regarding

 3   regulation reserves, my model just allowed the --

 4   allowed some of those reserves to be used in order to

 5   respond to, you know, circumstances in the model.

 6        So I think that would be just the one thing that I

 7   think they pointed out that was a good thing to point

 8   out.  But I think that the way that my modeling has

 9   done it is appropriate because it allows those reserves

10   to actually be used in -- when the model has -- in the

11   circumstances when they would need to be used.

12                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  So just one last set

13   of questions, and it's really just two.

14        Modeling and real life are two different things,

15   right?  You're trying to mimic as best you can in the

16   modeling what you think is really going to happen, but

17   that isn't really what happens; is that right?

18                      THE WITNESS:  That is -- yep, that

19   is absolutely right, so -- and it -- it cuts -- it cuts

20   both ways.  So in, you know, actual operations, there

21   are -- you know, a company might have a lot more

22   flexibility in how they respond to -- to certain

23   events.  But at the same time, the model is -- is

24   static, and it may not be able to predict the scale and

25   scope of events that come along.  And the logic,
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 1   itself, is -- you know, it can never perfectly mimic

 2   the way that the system is -- is going to operate.

 3        So -- so, you know, at the end of the day, it's

 4   really, you know, coming up with, you know, values that

 5   you think are reasonable, but, of course, justified on,

 6   you know, economic principles and, you know, the

 7   reasonable assumptions.

 8                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  And so in this case,

 9   with respect to wind curtailments, if PacifiCorp has

10   modeled this incorrectly and curtailments are actually

11   less, what is the impact on customers?

12                      THE WITNESS:  If curtailments are

13   less, PacifiCorp will have -- and they model more

14   curtailments -- power costs will be -- base power costs

15   will be higher.  And so the -- the rate increase or

16   potentially reduction -- rates will be set higher than

17   they otherwise would be.  And those rates will go into

18   effect January 1.

19                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  And over time --

20                      THE WITNESS:  Yeah, if -- sorry?

21                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Over time, then,

22   what happens -- I'm suggesting --

23                      THE WITNESS:  Right.

24                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  -- like, what

25   happens at the PCAM adjustment in the future?
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 1                      THE WITNESS:  Right.  So those

 2   higher rates go in January 1.  But then if there are

 3   lower curtailments in actual operations, then

 4   PacifiCorp's power costs would be -- would be lower,

 5   and so then there would be a -- potentially in -- I

 6   guess now we'd be dealing with in 2027, there would be

 7   a PCAM filing where potentially there would be a

 8   refund, or -- and so in the context of that, that PCAM

 9   filing, if there is a refund, that amount is subject to

10   the dead bands and earnings tests, and there's also an

11   amortization trigger built in, to where if the variance

12   is small enough, it just carries forward into a

13   future -- future period.

14        So the amount of benefit that comes back to

15   customers is -- not only is it going to be smaller than

16   the base rate that should have been passed through, but

17   it's not going to come back, you know, potentially

18   until 2027 or maybe even many years into the future.

19   And so, you know, in terms of the timing, getting the

20   base correct is -- is important -- it's important

21   not -- both in terms of timing and because there are

22   these mechanisms within the PCAM that would -- would

23   otherwise dilute that benefit for customers.

24                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  That's

25   all I have.  Thank you.
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 1                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any additional

 2   questions?

 3        Okay.  I believe that concludes the questioning

 4   for you, Mr. Mullins.  You may be excused.  And thank

 5   you for being available.

 6                             (Witness excused.)

 7

 8                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I believe

 9   that brings us to the end of cross-examination.  I have

10   a few other housekeeping items before we adjourn.

11        Mr. Sykes, do you have an anticipated date for a

12   public comment matrix in this docket?

13                      MR. SYKES:  I do not, as there is no

14   scheduled public comment hearing on this matter.

15                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  That's correct.

16   Okay.

17                             (Commissioner Rendahl exits.)

18

19                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  And for briefing,

20   we currently have two rounds of post-hearing briefs:

21   The first due October 29th and the second due November

22   12th.

23        First question there is:  Do the parties

24   anticipate still needing two rounds of briefing?  And I

25   can start with the company.
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 1                      MR. LOWNEY:  Yes -- excuse me.  Yes,

 2   the company does anticipate needing two rounds of

 3   briefing.

 4                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And staff?

 5                      MS. STRAUSS:  Staff will reply to

 6   briefing if the reply brief is available, but --

 7                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.

 8                      MS. STRAUSS:  -- if the parties

 9   don't need a reply brief, then staff doesn't need to

10   push for one either.

11                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Public

12   counsel?

13                      MR. SYKES:  Public counsel doesn't

14   think a reply brief is necessary.  However, if one is

15   ordered, we will obviously reply.

16                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for

17   AWEC?

18                      MR. PEPPLE:  AWEC would appreciate a

19   reply brief.  Yeah.

20                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for The

21   Energy Project?

22                      MR. ZAKAI:  Good afternoon.  No

23   preference.

24                      CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  And for brief

25   lengths, do the parties anticipate needing the full 60
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 1   pages for initial briefs?

 2                      MR. LOWNEY:  I would expect, given

 3   the scope of issues here, that we'll need the full 60

 4   pages, yes.

 5                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  We will go

 6   ahead and stick with 60, which is the limit under rule.

 7        And how about for reply briefs?  Does anybody have

 8   a recommendation as to a page limit on reply briefs?

 9                      MR. LOWNEY:  I will say, given my

10   experience where the company is replying to every party

11   as opposed to most other parties replying to only the

12   company, we need the full -- full length allotted.  So

13   60 pages would be appropriate from our perspective just

14   given, again, the scope of issues we're going to be

15   responding to, both in terms of the number of issues as

16   well as the number of parties.

17                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  I don't know if we

18   can do 60 on a reply.  I'm just thinking about timing

19   in November 12th getting those reply briefs, reviewing

20   those, and then getting an order out.

21        Why don't we go with -- I had 20 written down.  We

22   can go with 30 or 35, if that...

23                      MR. LOWNEY:  Understand your

24   concern.  Yeah, 30 would be great if that works,

25   understanding your workload and --
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 1                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.

 2                      MR. LOWNEY:  -- the time required.

 3                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Let's keep reply

 4   briefs to 30 pages.  And I think that the commissioners

 5   will appreciate that as well.

 6        Are there any final questions from the parties?

 7                      MR. LOWNEY:  I don't believe we have

 8   any additional questions.  Thank you.

 9                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Anything from

10   staff?

11                      MS. STRAUSS:  No additional

12   questions, Your Honor.

13                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

14        Anything from public counsel?

15                      MR. SYKES:  Nothing from public

16   counsel.

17                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Anything from the

18   Alliance of Western Energy Consumers?

19                      MR. PEPPLE:  No.  Thank you, Your

20   Honor.

21                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.

22        And anything from The Energy Project?

23                      MR. ZAKAI:  No.  Just thank you for

24   your attention to detail.

25                      JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very
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 1   much.

 2        Okay.  Well, thank you, everybody, for your

 3   participation.  We are adjourned.  And we are off the

 4   record.  Thank you.

 5                             (Proceedings adjourned at

 6                              1:10 p.m.)

 7                             (Company Cross-examination

 8                              Exhibit Nos. RJM-30X,

 9                              RJM-31X, and RJM-32X marked

10                              and admitted.)
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		116						LN		345		8		false		           8        Questions by Commission Chair Rybarik         360				false

		117						LN		345		8		false		                    Questions by Commissioner Rendahl             365				false

		118						LN		345		9		false		           9				false

		119						LN		345		9		false		                JACQUE HAWKINS-JONES				false

		120						LN		345		10		false		          10        Direct examination by Ms. Strauss             381				false

		121						LN		345		10		false		                    Cross-examination by Mr. McVee                382				false

		122						LN		345		11		false		          11        Redirect examination by Ms. Strauss           399				false

		123						LN		345		12		false		          12    ROBERT L. EARLE				false

		124						LN		345		12		false		                    Direct examination by Mr. Sykes               402				false

		125						LN		345		13		false		          13        Cross-examination by Mr. Pepple               408				false

		126						LN		345		13		false		                    Questions by Commissioner Chair Rybarik       412				false

		127						LN		345		14		false		          14        Questions by Commissioner Rendahl             415				false

		128						LN		345		14		false		                    Questions by Judge Thompson                   419				false

		129						LN		345		15		false		          15				false

		130						LN		345		15		false		                MICHAEL G. WILDING				false

		131						LN		345		16		false		          16        Direct examination by Mr. Lowney              424				false

		132						LN		345		16		false		                    Cross-examination by Mr. Pepple               427				false

		133						LN		345		17		false		          17        Cross-examination by Mr. Zakai                428				false

		134						LN		345		18		false		          18    BRADLEY G. MULLINS				false

		135						LN		345		18		false		                    Direct examination by Mr. Pepple              432				false

		136						LN		345		19		false		          19        Cross-examination by Mr. Lowney               433				false

		137						LN		345		20		false		          20    ** Confidential Session Begins **                 442				false

		138						LN		345		21		false		          21        Cross-examination by Mr. Lowney (Cont.)       492				false

		139						LN		345		21		false		                    Redirect examination by Mr. Pepple            492				false

		140						LN		345		22		false		          22        Questions by Commission Chair Rybarik         492				false

		141						LN		345		22		false		                    Questions by Judge Thompson                   492				false

		142						LN		345		23		false		          23        Questions by Commissioner Doumit              492				false

		143						LN		345		23		false		                    Questions by Commission Chair Rybarik         492				false

		144						LN		345		24		false		          24				false

		145						LN		345		24		false		                ** Confidential Session Concluded **              492				false

		146						LN		345		25		false		          25				false

		147						PG		346		0		false		page 346				false

		148						LN		346		1		false		           1                INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS (Continuing)				false

		149						LN		346		2		false		           2      PROCEEDINGS/WITNESSES:                        PAGE NO.				false

		150						LN		346		3		false		           3    BRADLEY G. MULLINS (Continuing)				false

		151						LN		346		3		false		                    Questions by Commissioner Rendahl             493				false

		152						LN		346		4		false		           4        Questions by Commission Chair Rybarik         499				false

		153						LN		346		5		false		           5    Discussion re public comment matrix               504				false

		154						LN		346		6		false		           6    Discussion re post-hearing briefs                 504				false

		155						LN		346		7		false		           7    Discussion re reply briefs                        506				false

		156						LN		346		8		false		           8    Adjournment                                       508				false

		157						LN		346		9		false		           9				false

		158						LN		346		10		false		          10				false

		159						LN		346		11		false		          11				false

		160						LN		346		12		false		          12				false

		161						LN		346		13		false		          13				false

		162						LN		346		14		false		          14				false

		163						LN		346		15		false		          15				false

		164						LN		346		16		false		          16				false

		165						LN		346		17		false		          17				false

		166						LN		346		18		false		          18				false

		167						LN		346		19		false		          19				false

		168						LN		346		20		false		          20				false

		169						LN		346		21		false		          21				false

		170						LN		346		22		false		          22				false

		171						LN		346		23		false		          23				false

		172						LN		346		24		false		          24				false

		173						LN		346		25		false		          25				false

		174						PG		347		0		false		page 347				false

		175						LN		347		1		false		           1                       BENCH EXHIBIT INDEX				false

		176						LN		347		2		false		           2      EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		177						LN		347		3		false		           3                      (No bench exhibits.)				false

		178						LN		347		4		false		           4				false

		179						LN		347		5		false		           5				false

		180						LN		347		6		false		           6                      COMPANY EXHIBIT INDEX				false

		181						LN		347		7		false		           7      EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		182						LN		347		8		false		           8   ** Ramon J. Mitchell **				false

		183						LN		347		9		false		           9   ** Cross-examination Exhibits **				false

		184						LN		347		10		false		          10   RJM-30X           NEW-PAC-RJM-TCDirect 4-1-2025    508				false

		185						LN		347		10		false		                                 (Confidential).				false

		186						LN		347		11		false		          11				false

		187						LN		347		11		false		               RJM-31X           NEW-PAC-RJM-WA                   508				false

		188						LN		347		12		false		          12                     Direct-4-1-2025				false

		189						LN		347		12		false		                                 (Confidential).				false

		190						LN		347		13		false		          13				false

		191						LN		347		13		false		               RJM-32X           NPC reports attached to          508				false

		192						LN		347		14		false		          14                     PacifiCorp's response to AWEC				false

		193						LN		347		14		false		                                 Data Request 50.				false

		194						LN		347		15		false		          15				false

		195						LN		347		16		false		          16				false

		196						LN		347		17		false		          17				false

		197						LN		347		17		false		                                   STAFF EXHIBIT INDEX				false

		198						LN		347		18		false		          18				false

		199						LN		347		18		false		                  EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		200						LN		347		19		false		          19				false

		201						LN		347		19		false		                           (No staff exhibits admitted in this				false

		202						LN		347		20		false		          20                       transcript volume.)				false

		203						LN		347		21		false		          21				false

		204						LN		347		22		false		          22				false

		205						LN		347		23		false		          23				false

		206						LN		347		24		false		          24				false

		207						LN		347		25		false		          25				false

		208						PG		348		0		false		page 348				false

		209						LN		348		1		false		           1                   PUBLIC COUNSEL EXHIBIT INDEX				false

		210						LN		348		2		false		           2      EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		211						LN		348		3		false		           3           (No public counsel exhibits admitted in this				false

		212						LN		348		3		false		                                   transcript volume.)				false

		213						LN		348		4		false		           4				false

		214						LN		348		5		false		           5				false

		215						LN		348		6		false		           6				false

		216						LN		348		6		false		                                    AWEC EXHIBIT INDEX				false

		217						LN		348		7		false		           7				false

		218						LN		348		7		false		                  EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		219						LN		348		8		false		           8				false

		220						LN		348		8		false		               ** Bradley G. Mullins **				false

		221						LN		348		9		false		           9				false

		222						LN		348		9		false		               ** Cross-examination Exhibits **				false

		223						LN		348		10		false		          10				false

		224						LN		348		10		false		               BGM-12XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		225						LN		348		11		false		          11                     AWEC-BGM-WP4C-WA Direct				false

		226						LN		348		11		false		                                 Aurora v16-8-20-2025 (C).				false

		227						LN		348		12		false		          12				false

		228						LN		348		12		false		               BGM-13XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		229						LN		348		13		false		          13                     AWEC-BGM-WP5C-TCDirect Aurora				false

		230						LN		348		13		false		                                 v16-8-20-2025 (C).				false

		231						LN		348		14		false		          14				false

		232						LN		348		14		false		               BGM-14XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		233						LN		348		15		false		          15                     AWEC-BGM-WP6C-				false

		234						LN		348		15		false		                                 WAWindMustRun-8-20-2025 (C).				false

		235						LN		348		16		false		          16				false

		236						LN		348		16		false		               BGM-15XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		237						LN		348		17		false		          17                     AWEC-BGM- WP7C-				false

		238						LN		348		17		false		                                 TCWindMustRun-8-20-2025 (C).				false

		239						LN		348		18		false		          18				false

		240						LN		348		18		false		               BGM-16XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		241						LN		348		19		false		          19                     AWEC-BGM-WP12C-				false

		242						LN		348		19		false		                                 WAxHypotheticalHedges-				false

		243						LN		348		20		false		          20                     8-20-2025 (C).				false

		244						LN		348		21		false		          21   BGM-17XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		245						LN		348		21		false		                                 AWEC-BGM-WP13C-				false

		246						LN		348		22		false		          22                     TCxHypotheticalHedges-				false

		247						LN		348		22		false		                                 8-20-2025 (C).				false

		248						LN		348		23		false		          23				false

		249						LN		348		23		false		               BGM-18XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		250						LN		348		24		false		          24                     AWEC-BGM-WP14C-				false

		251						LN		348		24		false		                                 WAxNonPrecedential-				false

		252						LN		348		25		false		          25                     8-20-2025 (C).				false

		253						PG		349		0		false		page 349				false

		254						LN		349		1		false		           1                 AWEC EXHIBIT INDEX (Continuing)				false

		255						LN		349		2		false		           2      EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		256						LN		349		3		false		           3   BGM-19XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		257						LN		349		3		false		                                 AWEC-BGM-WP15C-				false

		258						LN		349		4		false		           4                     TCxNonPrecedential-				false

		259						LN		349		4		false		                                 8-20-2025 (C).				false

		260						LN		349		5		false		           5				false

		261						LN		349		5		false		               BGM-20XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		262						LN		349		6		false		           6                     AWEC-BGM-WP17C-				false

		263						LN		349		6		false		                                 WAxCoalLDConstraints-				false

		264						LN		349		7		false		           7                     8-20-2025 (C).				false

		265						LN		349		8		false		           8   BGM-21XC          *Confidential* Workpaper:        351				false

		266						LN		349		8		false		                                 AWEC-BGM-WP18C-				false

		267						LN		349		9		false		           9                     TCxCoalLDConstraints-				false

		268						LN		349		9		false		                                 8-20-2025 (C).				false

		269						LN		349		9		false		          10				false

		270						LN		349		9		false		          11				false

		271						LN		349		9		false		          12				false

		272						LN		349		9		false		                             THE ENERGY PROJECT EXHIBIT INDEX				false

		273						LN		349		9		false		          13				false

		274						LN		349		9		false		                  EXHIBIT NO.     DESCRIPTION                   PAGE NO.				false

		275						LN		349		9		false		          14				false

		276						LN		349		9		false		                     (No The Energy Project exhibits admitted in this				false

		277						LN		349		9		false		          15                       transcript volume.)				false

		278						LN		349		9		false		          16				false

		279						LN		349		9		false		          17				false

		280						LN		349		9		false		          18				false

		281						LN		349		9		false		          19				false

		282						LN		349		9		false		          20				false

		283						LN		349		9		false		          21				false

		284						LN		349		9		false		          22				false

		285						LN		349		9		false		          23				false

		286						LN		349		9		false		          24				false

		287						LN		349		0		false		          25				false

		288						PG		350		0		false		page 350				false

		289						LN		350		1		false		           1                        BE IT REMEMBERED that on Wednesday,				false

		290						LN		350		2		false		           2      October 8, 2025, at 621 Woodland Square Loop				false

		291						LN		350		3		false		           3      Southeast, Lacey, Washington, at 9:00 a.m., the				false

		292						LN		350		4		false		           4      following proceedings were continued, to wit:				false

		293						LN		350		5		false		           5				false

		294						LN		350		6		false		           6                          <<<<<< >>>>>>				false

		295						LN		350		7		false		           7				false

		296						LN		350		8		false		           8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  It				false

		297						LN		350		9		false		           9      is October 8th.  Wednesday, October 8th.  The time is				false

		298						LN		350		9		false		          10      currently 9 a.m.  We are here today for our second				false

		299						LN		350		9		false		          11      day of hearing in Docket UE-250224.				false

		300						LN		350		9		false		          12          We will begin this morning first by -- let's				false

		301						LN		350		9		false		          13      revisit exhibits.				false

		302						LN		350		9		false		          14          Did AWEC have a chance to confer with the company				false

		303						LN		350		9		false		          15      on the potential objections to exhibits?				false

		304						LN		350		9		false		          16                        MR. PEPPLE:  Yes, Your Honor.  So				false

		305						LN		350		9		false		          17      we have worked out an agreement with the company that				false

		306						LN		350		9		false		          18      we would stipulate to the admission of those				false

		307						LN		350		9		false		          19      exhibits.				false

		308						LN		350		9		false		          20          And PacifiCorp can confirm.  My understanding is				false

		309						LN		350		9		false		          21      that PacifiCorp is willing to stipulate also to the				false

		310						LN		350		9		false		          22      admission of some additional exhibits that are two				false

		311						LN		350		9		false		          23      work papers from Mr. Mitchell and some attachments to				false

		312						LN		350		9		false		          24      PacifiCorp's response to AWEC Data Request 50.				false

		313						LN		350		0		false		          25          I would propose that maybe we can file a motion				false

		314						PG		351		0		false		page 351				false

		315						LN		351		1		false		            1     to admit those after the hearing.				false

		316						LN		351		2		false		            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  That will				false

		317						LN		351		3		false		            3     work.  And will those be filed by the company, or...?				false

		318						LN		351		4		false		            4                        MR. PEPPLE:  I think we can file				false

		319						LN		351		5		false		            5     them.				false

		320						LN		351		6		false		            6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Let's				false

		321						LN		351		7		false		            7     go ahead and admit under the stipulation between AWEC				false

		322						LN		351		8		false		            8     and PacifiCorp BGM -- and just to confirm, it's 12 --				false

		323						LN		351		9		false		            9     12X through 21X; is that correct?				false

		324						LN		351		10		false		           10                        MR. PEPPLE:  Yeah.  That's correct.				false

		325						LN		351		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we will				false

		326						LN		351		12		false		           12     at this time admit the prefiled Cross Exhibits BGM-12XC				false

		327						LN		351		13		false		           13     through BGM-21XC.				false

		328						LN		351		14		false		           14                               (AWEC Cross-examination				false

		329						LN		351		15		false		           15                                Exhibit Nos. BGM-12XC,				false

		330						LN		351		16		false		           16                                BGM-13XC, BGM-14XC,				false

		331						LN		351		17		false		           17                                BGM-15XC, BGM-16XC,				false

		332						LN		351		18		false		           18                                BGM-17XC, BGM-18XC,				false

		333						LN		351		19		false		           19                                BGM-19XC, BGM-20XC, and				false

		334						LN		351		20		false		           20                                BGM-21XC admitted.)				false

		335						LN		351		21		false		           21				false

		336						LN		351		22		false		           22                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And AWEC will file				false

		337						LN		351		23		false		           23     with the Commission an additional three exhibits after				false

		338						LN		351		24		false		           24     the conclusion of the hearing.				false

		339						LN		351		25		false		           25                        MR. PEPPLE:  Did you want me to just				false

		340						PG		352		0		false		page 352				false

		341						LN		352		1		false		            1     read those exhibits into the record for clarity, or...?				false

		342						LN		352		2		false		            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That would be				false

		343						LN		352		3		false		            3     helpful.  Thank you.				false

		344						LN		352		4		false		            4                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  So the -- the				false

		345						LN		352		5		false		            5     two work papers are NEW-PAC-RJM-TCDirect 4-1-2025.				false

		346						LN		352		6		false		            6     That's a confidential work paper.  And NEW-PAC-RJM-WA				false

		347						LN		352		7		false		            7     Direct 4-1-2025, also confidential.  And then the				false

		348						LN		352		8		false		            8     attachments to PacifiCorp's response to AWEC Data				false

		349						LN		352		9		false		            9     Request 50 are a series of NPC reports that we will				false

		350						LN		352		10		false		           10     file.				false

		351						LN		352		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very				false

		352						LN		352		12		false		           12     much.  And we will get to the other four exhibits				false

		353						LN		352		13		false		           13     during the cross-examination of Ms. Hawkins-Jones, I				false

		354						LN		352		14		false		           14     believe.				false

		355						LN		352		15		false		           15          Okay.  With that, we can go ahead and proceed with				false

		356						LN		352		16		false		           16     our next witness.				false

		357						LN		352		17		false		           17          Mr. Zakai, is TEP's witness available?  I'm just				false

		358						LN		352		18		false		           18     looking at --				false

		359						LN		352		19		false		           19                        MR. ZAKAI:  Yes.				false

		360						LN		352		20		false		           20                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  -- the				false

		361						LN		352		21		false		           21     participant --				false

		362						LN		352		22		false		           22                        MR. ZAKAI:  I believe witness Stokes				false

		363						LN		352		23		false		           23     is on the line, and I should be able to introduce her				false

		364						LN		352		24		false		           24     shortly.				false

		365						LN		352		25		false		           25          So good morning.				false

		366						PG		353		0		false		page 353				false

		367						LN		353		1		false		            1                               (Witness appearing remotely.)				false

		368						LN		353		2		false		            2				false

		369						LN		353		3		false		            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.				false

		370						LN		353		4		false		            4          Good morning.  If you could please raise your				false

		371						LN		353		5		false		            5     right hand and come off "mute," and I will swear you				false

		372						LN		353		6		false		            6     in.				false

		373						LN		353		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.				false

		374						LN		353		8		false		            8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  Do				false

		375						LN		353		9		false		            9     you swear or affirm that the testimony you will give				false

		376						LN		353		10		false		           10     today will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing				false

		377						LN		353		11		false		           11     but the truth?				false

		378						LN		353		12		false		           12                        THE WITNESS:  I do.				false

		379						LN		353		13		false		           13				false

		380						LN		353		14		false		           14     SHAYLEE STOKES,             appearing remotely and				false

		381						LN		353		15		false		           15                                 having been first duly sworn				false

		382						LN		353		16		false		           16                                 by Administrative Law Judge				false

		383						LN		353		17		false		           17                                 Thompson, was examined and				false

		384						LN		353		18		false		           18                                 testified as follows:				false

		385						LN		353		19		false		           19				false

		386						LN		353		20		false		           20                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Thank you.				false

		387						LN		353		21		false		           21          Mr. Zakai, you can proceed.				false

		388						LN		353		22		false		           22				false

		389						LN		353		23		false		           23                        DIRECT EXAMINATION				false

		390						LN		353		24		false		           24     BY MR. ZAKAI:				false

		391						LN		353		25		false		           25  Q  Good morning, witness Stokes.				false

		392						PG		354		0		false		page 354				false

		393						LN		354		1		false		            1          Could you please state and spell your name for the				false

		394						LN		354		2		false		            2     record.				false

		395						LN		354		3		false		            3  A  My name is Shaylee Stokes.  First name S-h-a-y-l-e-e.				false

		396						LN		354		4		false		            4     Last name S-t-o-k-e-s.				false

		397						LN		354		5		false		            5  Q  And did you prefile written testimony in this case?				false

		398						LN		354		6		false		            6  A  Yes, I did.				false

		399						LN		354		7		false		            7  Q  And do you have any changes or revisions to your				false

		400						LN		354		8		false		            8     testimony today?				false

		401						LN		354		9		false		            9  A  No, I do not.				false

		402						LN		354		10		false		           10                        MR. ZAKAI:  Thank you.				false

		403						LN		354		11		false		           11          Your Honor, the witness is available for				false

		404						LN		354		12		false		           12     questions.				false

		405						LN		354		13		false		           13                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very				false

		406						LN		354		14		false		           14     much.				false

		407						LN		354		15		false		           15          And I believe we just have one question for you,				false

		408						LN		354		16		false		           16     so thank you for joining us this morning.				false

		409						LN		354		17		false		           17                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  I think I've come up				false

		410						LN		354		18		false		           18     with a second question, so I think we have two				false

		411						LN		354		19		false		           19     questions for you, but thank you for being here.				false

		412						LN		354		20		false		           20          Were you able to listen to the hearing yesterday;				false

		413						LN		354		21		false		           21     more specifically, to the testimony of Mr. Mitchell for				false

		414						LN		354		22		false		           22     the company?				false

		415						LN		354		23		false		           23                        THE WITNESS:  I was not.				false

		416						LN		354		24		false		           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.				false

		417						LN		354		25		false		           25                        THE WITNESS:  I have been				false

		418						PG		355		0		false		page 355				false

		419						LN		355		1		false		            1     triple-booked yesterday and today, unfortunately.  I				false

		420						LN		355		2		false		            2     apologize.  Thank you so much for slating me in,				false

		421						LN		355		3		false		            3     Commissioners and Chair, at the beginning of the day				false

		422						LN		355		4		false		            4     here.				false

		423						LN		355		5		false		            5                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  No worries.				false

		424						LN		355		6		false		            6          So I'll sort of probably give a little bit of				false

		425						LN		355		7		false		            7     information around the questions.  But specifically,				false

		426						LN		355		8		false		            8     the first one is about wind curtailments.				false

		427						LN		355		9		false		            9          And in your cross-answering testimony, you				false

		428						LN		355		10		false		           10     effectively agree with the AWEC witness and AWEC's				false

		429						LN		355		11		false		           11     arguments that PacifiCorp's modeling implements wind				false

		430						LN		355		12		false		           12     curtailments while allowing dispatch from coal plants				false

		431						LN		355		13		false		           13     and their proposed model -- well, AWEC's proposed model				false

		432						LN		355		14		false		           14     would avoid those wind curtailments.				false

		433						LN		355		15		false		           15          Am I characterizing that fairly?				false

		434						LN		355		16		false		           16                        THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  We				false

		435						LN		355		17		false		           17     support AWEC's recommendation.				false

		436						LN		355		18		false		           18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Since that				false

		437						LN		355		19		false		           19     recommendation, PacifiCorp witness Mitchell -- in				false

		438						LN		355		20		false		           20     rebuttal testimony, then also during the hearing				false

		439						LN		355		21		false		           21     yesterday -- explained that these wind curtailments are				false

		440						LN		355		22		false		           22     a manage of measuring congestion on the -- on the				false

		441						LN		355		23		false		           23     system and indeed identified that PacifiCorp's				false

		442						LN		355		24		false		           24     strategies to curtail gas generation first, coal				false

		443						LN		355		25		false		           25     generation second, and wind generation third.				false

		444						PG		356		0		false		page 356				false

		445						LN		356		1		false		            1          Does any of that testimony change your view or				false

		446						LN		356		2		false		            2     change your testimony in this case?				false

		447						LN		356		3		false		            3                        THE WITNESS:  At first thought, my				false

		448						LN		356		4		false		            4     understanding of CETA is that no amount of coal in any				false

		449						LN		356		5		false		            5     way is allowed to be in customer rates, and wind				false

		450						LN		356		6		false		            6     curtailment with that purpose violates that -- that				false

		451						LN		356		7		false		            7     legal interpretation of CETA.  So that's my initial				false

		452						LN		356		8		false		            8     thought.  However, I'd be happy to think about it a				false

		453						LN		356		9		false		            9     little bit and respond in writing at a future date				false

		454						LN		356		10		false		           10     if -- if you'd like to issue a bench request on that				false

		455						LN		356		11		false		           11     and we can analyze it deeper.				false

		456						LN		356		12		false		           12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  I appreciate				false

		457						LN		356		13		false		           13     that.				false

		458						LN		356		14		false		           14          And I will say that then I think the second piece				false

		459						LN		356		15		false		           15     of that from your testimony is the rate impact that				false

		460						LN		356		16		false		           16     that has, right?  That if indeed wind curtailments are				false

		461						LN		356		17		false		           17     greater, costs are higher, and production tax credits				false

		462						LN		356		18		false		           18     are less.				false

		463						LN		356		19		false		           19          I had a conversation with witness Mitchell				false

		464						LN		356		20		false		           20     yesterday during the hearing which I think ended up in				false

		465						LN		356		21		false		           21     the conclusion that, if they're modeling curtailments				false

		466						LN		356		22		false		           22     too high, then the costs in rates now would be too				false

		467						LN		356		23		false		           23     high, but if indeed in operations wind was higher --				false

		468						LN		356		24		false		           24     i.e., curtailed less -- then that would be made up for				false

		469						LN		356		25		false		           25     in the PCAM with effectively lower rates and more PTCs				false

		470						PG		357		0		false		page 357				false

		471						LN		357		1		false		            1     flowing to customers.				false

		472						LN		357		2		false		            2          Any reaction to that or any reason to disagree				false

		473						LN		357		3		false		            3     with that conclusion or any thoughts from The Energy				false

		474						LN		357		4		false		            4     Project on whether or not that outcome is just and				false

		475						LN		357		5		false		            5     reasonable?				false

		476						LN		357		6		false		            6                        THE WITNESS:  I think that is in the				false

		477						LN		357		7		false		            7     weeds to a degree that I'm not a hundred percent				false

		478						LN		357		8		false		            8     feeling like an expert on the topic.  So I would --				false

		479						LN		357		9		false		            9     respectfully, I really appreciate the question, but --				false

		480						LN		357		10		false		           10     I mean, there's sharing bands and dead bands that are				false

		481						LN		357		11		false		           11     supposed to kind of help us guide through this process.				false

		482						LN		357		12		false		           12     And I -- I'm looking at sort of the big picture and the				false

		483						LN		357		13		false		           13     cumulative impact on rates.				false

		484						LN		357		14		false		           14          And The Energy Project is willing to support				false

		485						LN		357		15		false		           15     troubleshooting and problem-solving that ultimately				false

		486						LN		357		16		false		           16     reduces rates and does not increase the burden on				false

		487						LN		357		17		false		           17     customers.  Burden on customers is too much at this				false

		488						LN		357		18		false		           18     point.				false

		489						LN		357		19		false		           19          So in terms of individual methods, I leave that to				false

		490						LN		357		20		false		           20     our expert witnesses.  And, again, I'm happy to kind of				false

		491						LN		357		21		false		           21     expound on this subject more in writing if -- if				false

		492						LN		357		22		false		           22     necessary.				false

		493						LN		357		23		false		           23          I apologize if I didn't answer your question a				false

		494						LN		357		24		false		           24     hundred percent, Chair Rybarik.				false

		495						LN		357		25		false		           25                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  I understand -- I				false

		496						PG		358		0		false		page 358				false

		497						LN		358		1		false		            1     appreciate the -- the thoughts there and the reaction.				false

		498						LN		358		2		false		            2     It sounds like we can also ask -- I mean, in large				false

		499						LN		358		3		false		            3     part, you're identifying that you're adopting and				false

		500						LN		358		4		false		            4     agreeing with Mr. Mullins, so we will ask Mr. Mullins				false

		501						LN		358		5		false		            5     these same questions, and then we'll take it under				false

		502						LN		358		6		false		            6     advisement of whether we need to issue a bench request.				false

		503						LN		358		7		false		            7     But appreciate your availability and thoughts on these				false

		504						LN		358		8		false		            8     issues.				false

		505						LN		358		9		false		            9                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you very much.				false

		506						LN		358		10		false		           10                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I believe				false

		507						LN		358		11		false		           11     that concludes our questions for you, Ms. Stokes.  You				false

		508						LN		358		12		false		           12     may be excused at this point in time.  Thank you for				false

		509						LN		358		13		false		           13     being available this morning.				false

		510						LN		358		14		false		           14                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Chair and				false

		511						LN		358		15		false		           15     Commissioners.				false

		512						LN		358		16		false		           16                               (Witness excused.)				false

		513						LN		358		17		false		           17				false

		514						LN		358		18		false		           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  That will				false

		515						LN		358		19		false		           19     bring us to our next witness, who will be John D.				false

		516						LN		358		20		false		           20     Wilson for staff.				false

		517						LN		358		21		false		           21                               (Witness appearing remotely.)				false

		518						LN		358		22		false		           22				false

		519						LN		358		23		false		           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  If				false

		520						LN		358		24		false		           24     you could --				false

		521						LN		358		25		false		           25                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.				false

		522						PG		359		0		false		page 359				false

		523						LN		359		1		false		            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  -- please raise				false

		524						LN		359		2		false		            2     your right hand, and I'll swear you in.				false

		525						LN		359		3		false		            3          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will				false

		526						LN		359		4		false		            4     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and				false

		527						LN		359		5		false		            5     nothing but the truth?				false

		528						LN		359		6		false		            6                        THE WITNESS:  I do.				false

		529						LN		359		7		false		            7				false

		530						LN		359		8		false		            8     JOHN D. WILSON,             appearing remotely and				false

		531						LN		359		9		false		            9                                 having been first duly sworn				false

		532						LN		359		10		false		           10                                 by Administrative Law Judge				false

		533						LN		359		11		false		           11                                 Thompson, was examined and				false

		534						LN		359		12		false		           12                                 testified as follows:				false

		535						LN		359		13		false		           13				false

		536						LN		359		14		false		           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very				false

		537						LN		359		15		false		           15     much.				false

		538						LN		359		16		false		           16          Counsel for staff, you may proceed.				false

		539						LN		359		17		false		           17				false

		540						LN		359		18		false		           18                        DIRECT EXAMINATION				false

		541						LN		359		19		false		           19     BY MS. STRAUSS:				false

		542						LN		359		20		false		           20  Q  Good morning, Mr. Wilson.				false

		543						LN		359		21		false		           21          Could you please state your name and spell it for				false

		544						LN		359		22		false		           22     the record.				false

		545						LN		359		23		false		           23  A  I'm John D. Wilson.  J-o-h-n D. W-i-l-s-o-n.				false

		546						LN		359		24		false		           24  Q  And, Mr. Wilson, did you sponsor testimony in this				false

		547						LN		359		25		false		           25     matter?				false

		548						PG		360		0		false		page 360				false

		549						LN		360		1		false		            1  A  Yes.				false

		550						LN		360		2		false		            2  Q  And do you have any changes, amendments, or corrections				false

		551						LN		360		3		false		            3     to that testimony at this time?				false

		552						LN		360		4		false		            4  A  No.				false

		553						LN		360		5		false		            5                        MS. STRAUSS:  I tender the witness				false

		554						LN		360		6		false		            6     for questions.				false

		555						LN		360		7		false		            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very				false

		556						LN		360		8		false		            8     much.				false

		557						LN		360		9		false		            9          And I believe we just have questions from the				false

		558						LN		360		10		false		           10     bench this morning, so I will let the commissioners				false

		559						LN		360		11		false		           11     proceed.				false

		560						LN		360		12		false		           12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Good morning,				false

		561						LN		360		13		false		           13     Mr. Wilson.  I'm presuming you just heard my questions				false

		562						LN		360		14		false		           14     to Ms. Stokes for The Energy Project.				false

		563						LN		360		15		false		           15                        THE WITNESS:  I did.				false

		564						LN		360		16		false		           16                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So we'll start				false

		565						LN		360		17		false		           17     with -- I effectively have the same questions for you				false

		566						LN		360		18		false		           18     as well.				false

		567						LN		360		19		false		           19          Respective of AWEC's responsive testimony, witness				false

		568						LN		360		20		false		           20     Mullins argues that PacifiCorp's modeling implements				false

		569						LN		360		21		false		           21     wind curtailments while allowing coal to dispatch, and				false

		570						LN		360		22		false		           22     AWEC would like to avoid those wind curtailments.				false

		571						LN		360		23		false		           23          Given witness Mitchell's response to that and the				false

		572						LN		360		24		false		           24     strategies that PacifiCorp applies, does staff have any				false

		573						LN		360		25		false		           25     opinion regarding AWEC's proposal to minimize wind				false

		574						PG		361		0		false		page 361				false

		575						LN		361		1		false		            1     curtailments in the modeling?				false

		576						LN		361		2		false		            2                        THE WITNESS:  I have reviewed the				false

		577						LN		361		3		false		            3     rebuttal testimony from witness Mitchell on that point.				false

		578						LN		361		4		false		            4     I'm not an expert in modeling in Aurora.  And I think				false

		579						LN		361		5		false		            5     that this question really goes to the heart of model				false

		580						LN		361		6		false		            6     settings and that review.  I think -- I think I would				false

		581						LN		361		7		false		            7     give you sort of a "both and" type answer as opposed to				false

		582						LN		361		8		false		            8     a, you know, I favor one position or the other.				false

		583						LN		361		9		false		            9          So I'll start with witness Mullins.  So I --				false

		584						LN		361		10		false		           10     generally in reviewing modeling practices across the				false

		585						LN		361		11		false		           11     country, I and other colleagues of Grid Strategies have				false

		586						LN		361		12		false		           12     found that there tends to be -- both in regulatory				false

		587						LN		361		13		false		           13     filings and even in modeling that's done to support				false

		588						LN		361		14		false		           14     operations, there tends to be a bias towards running				false

		589						LN		361		15		false		           15     coal and natural gas units to the point where they're				false

		590						LN		361		16		false		           16     not cost-effective in the market regions that they				false

		591						LN		361		17		false		           17     operate.				false

		592						LN		361		18		false		           18          That is a pretty broad finding.  It is not in				false

		593						LN		361		19		false		           19     every utility.  So, you know, you can't sort of take				false

		594						LN		361		20		false		           20     that and say, well, it must absolutely be happening in				false

		595						LN		361		21		false		           21     PacifiCorp.				false

		596						LN		361		22		false		           22          But I think that the industry, through				false

		597						LN		361		23		false		           23     long-standing practices and sort of embedded operating				false

		598						LN		361		24		false		           24     techniques, has tended to favor running those units				false

		599						LN		361		25		false		           25     when they're not necessarily economical and has not				false

		600						PG		362		0		false		page 362				false

		601						LN		362		1		false		            1     adapted their technologies as much to -- to minimize				false

		602						LN		362		2		false		            2     things like wind curtailments and so forth.				false

		603						LN		362		3		false		            3          On the other hand, I think I generally agree with				false

		604						LN		362		4		false		            4     witness Mitchell's description of the proper logic that				false

		605						LN		362		5		false		            5     should be applied.  So I didn't hear anything from him				false

		606						LN		362		6		false		            6     yesterday in the portion that I heard.  I missed a				false

		607						LN		362		7		false		            7     little bit of that testimony.				false

		608						LN		362		8		false		            8          But also in what I read in his written testimony,				false

		609						LN		362		9		false		            9     Mr. Mitchell, I think, described correctly the factors				false

		610						LN		362		10		false		           10     that one would want to see modeled and considered in				false

		611						LN		362		11		false		           11     setting up the proper price baseline for, you know,				false

		612						LN		362		12		false		           12     future power costs.				false

		613						LN		362		13		false		           13          I think, you know, I do have broader concerns				false

		614						LN		362		14		false		           14     about, you know, the dispatch or the -- the cost				false

		615						LN		362		15		false		           15     allocation related to the dispatch of Rolling Hills				false

		616						LN		362		16		false		           16     Wind.  But setting that -- that accounting issue aside,				false

		617						LN		362		17		false		           17     you know, I think I sort of see both sides, because I				false

		618						LN		362		18		false		           18     know that witness Mullins did do a lot of looking at				false

		619						LN		362		19		false		           19     the Aurora model in a very limited amount of time and				false

		620						LN		362		20		false		           20     did seem to identify some very specific concerns that				false

		621						LN		362		21		false		           21     he had.  But I just don't -- it was not within the				false

		622						LN		362		22		false		           22     scope of the contract from the staff to engage someone				false

		623						LN		362		23		false		           23     to partner with me on doing that detailed modeling				false

		624						LN		362		24		false		           24     dive.				false

		625						LN		362		25		false		           25                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Got it.  Appreciate				false

		626						PG		363		0		false		page 363				false

		627						LN		363		1		false		            1     that.				false

		628						LN		363		2		false		            2          And then follow-up to that is:  If indeed				false

		629						LN		363		3		false		            3     curtailments are set too high, is it your view that				false

		630						LN		363		4		false		            4     then the power costs are potentially higher than they				false

		631						LN		363		5		false		            5     would otherwise be if curtailments were lower and wind				false

		632						LN		363		6		false		            6     was blowing more and PTCs flowing to customers?				false

		633						LN		363		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  Yes, absolutely.  I				false

		634						LN		363		8		false		            8     mean, I think that's -- that's a hundred percent				false

		635						LN		363		9		false		            9     certain, that if the curtailments in the modeling are				false

		636						LN		363		10		false		           10     excessive, then that would lead to higher costs for				false

		637						LN		363		11		false		           11     customers.  I don't think there's -- I would be				false

		638						LN		363		12		false		           12     surprised if there's any dispute on that point.  It's				false

		639						LN		363		13		false		           13     just that, you know, you've got to know whether that is				false

		640						LN		363		14		false		           14     the case.				false

		641						LN		363		15		false		           15          Of course, there is a difference between the, you				false

		642						LN		363		16		false		           16     know, Aurora modeling that's done for this and what the				false

		643						LN		363		17		false		           17     company uses to help set up, you know, the decisions to				false

		644						LN		363		18		false		           18     run or not run coal and gas plants.  And then of course				false

		645						LN		363		19		false		           19     there's the dispatch decisions made through the EIM				false

		646						LN		363		20		false		           20     mechanism, you know, in terms of real-time dispatch and				false

		647						LN		363		21		false		           21     curtailment.				false

		648						LN		363		22		false		           22          And, you know, you would want to look at those.				false

		649						LN		363		23		false		           23     The company is responsible for the inputs to the EIM,				false

		650						LN		363		24		false		           24     so it is not, in my opinion, a valid sort of not our				false

		651						LN		363		25		false		           25     problem if the wind plants are not curtailed properly.				false

		652						PG		364		0		false		page 364				false

		653						LN		364		1		false		            1     If they've given incorrect input information to the				false

		654						LN		364		2		false		            2     CAISO for running the EIM, then you're going to get				false

		655						LN		364		3		false		            3     incorrect dispatch decisions out of it.  So there is a				false

		656						LN		364		4		false		            4     review process that should happen during the PCAM				false

		657						LN		364		5		false		            5     proceeding to make sure that -- that the company's				false

		658						LN		364		6		false		            6     inputs were correct and resulted in the right dispatch				false

		659						LN		364		7		false		            7     decisions.				false

		660						LN		364		8		false		            8                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So it'd be a review,				false

		661						LN		364		9		false		            9     in your mind, of the real-time actual operations				false

		662						LN		364		10		false		           10     decisions sent to CAISO for the EIM?				false

		663						LN		364		11		false		           11                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I think that				false

		664						LN		364		12		false		           12     should -- that's the kind of thing that, you know, one				false

		665						LN		364		13		false		           13     would want to look at in the PCAM proceeding, yes.				false

		666						LN		364		14		false		           14                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  And then				false

		667						LN		364		15		false		           15     relative to PCAM, if indeed operations are that wind is				false

		668						LN		364		16		false		           16     curtailed less than what the modeling shows, is it your				false

		669						LN		364		17		false		           17     view that the benefits of that should flow to				false

		670						LN		364		18		false		           18     customers?				false

		671						LN		364		19		false		           19                        THE WITNESS:  Well, yeah, of course				false

		672						LN		364		20		false		           20     the PCAM has the -- the mechanism for determining how				false

		673						LN		364		21		false		           21     those benefits and costs flow to customers and the				false

		674						LN		364		22		false		           22     company.  Obviously the Commission could make a				false

		675						LN		364		23		false		           23     decision that if, you know, there was something				false

		676						LN		364		24		false		           24     imprudent about the way that the whole process worked				false

		677						LN		364		25		false		           25     and it wanted to make a special determination on a				false

		678						PG		365		0		false		page 365				false

		679						LN		365		1		false		            1     specific cost effect, I suppose it might be within the				false

		680						LN		365		2		false		            2     Commission's prerogative to do so, but normally that				false

		681						LN		365		3		false		            3     would just be handled as part of the overall cost				false

		682						LN		365		4		false		            4     recovery.				false

		683						LN		365		5		false		            5                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  That's				false

		684						LN		365		6		false		            6     all I have.  Thank you, sir.				false

		685						LN		365		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		686						LN		365		8		false		            8                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning,				false

		687						LN		365		9		false		            9     Mr. Mitchell.  How are you?  I mean, Mr. -- sorry --				false

		688						LN		365		10		false		           10     Mr. Wilson.  It's been a few days.				false

		689						LN		365		11		false		           11                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you,				false

		690						LN		365		12		false		           12     Commissioner Rendahl.  Nice to talk to you again.				false

		691						LN		365		13		false		           13                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yes.  If I				false

		692						LN		365		14		false		           14     can get my camera to work here.				false

		693						LN		365		15		false		           15          But at any rate, I have a few questions for you:				false

		694						LN		365		16		false		           16     One about the hedge book, and one about -- and another				false

		695						LN		365		17		false		           17     one about future hedging costs.				false

		696						LN		365		18		false		           18          So on rebuttal, PacifiCorp's witness Mitchell				false

		697						LN		365		19		false		           19     explains that they filed documentation and work papers				false

		698						LN		365		20		false		           20     that reflect how PacifiCorp calculates the costs and				false

		699						LN		365		21		false		           21     energy volumes associated with the non-Washington-				false

		700						LN		365		22		false		           22     specific book separately from the Washington net power				false

		701						LN		365		23		false		           23     cost forecasts.  And I'm happy to give you the				false

		702						LN		365		24		false		           24     reference that I'm talking about in his testimony if				false

		703						LN		365		25		false		           25     you'd like.				false

		704						PG		366		0		false		page 366				false

		705						LN		366		1		false		            1                        THE WITNESS:  That would be very				false

		706						LN		366		2		false		            2     helpful.  Thank you.				false

		707						LN		366		3		false		            3                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  That's				false

		708						LN		366		4		false		            4     at RJM-13CT, at Page 31, Lines 1 through 17.				false

		709						LN		366		5		false		            5                        THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Getting there.				false

		710						LN		366		6		false		            6          Okay.  Yes.  Go ahead, please.  Thank you.				false

		711						LN		366		7		false		            7                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  So				false

		712						LN		366		8		false		            8     considering this information -- and I'm sure you've				false

		713						LN		366		9		false		            9     read his rebuttal -- Mitchell's rebuttal testimony.				false

		714						LN		366		10		false		           10          Considering this information provided by the				false

		715						LN		366		11		false		           11     company, does staff maintain its position on the				false

		716						LN		366		12		false		           12     Washington-specific hedge book?				false

		717						LN		366		13		false		           13                        THE WITNESS:  Yes, so first I'd like				false

		718						LN		366		14		false		           14     to comment that a lot of this critique from witness				false

		719						LN		366		15		false		           15     Mitchell is kind of misdirected.  It suggests that I				false

		720						LN		366		16		false		           16     failed to review their filing.  In fact, my concern				false

		721						LN		366		17		false		           17     about the Washington book was raised by PacifiCorp's				false

		722						LN		366		18		false		           18     response to a discovery request, and that's quoted in				false

		723						LN		366		19		false		           19     my testimony.				false

		724						LN		366		20		false		           20          And it just wasn't clear to me that the term				false

		725						LN		366		21		false		           21     "prehedging transactions Washington" was meant to refer				false

		726						LN		366		22		false		           22     to the Washington book and not simply to the Washington				false

		727						LN		366		23		false		           23     allocated portion of the prehedging transactions.  So				false

		728						LN		366		24		false		           24     there's just some language issues in witness Mitchell's				false

		729						LN		366		25		false		           25     testimony and the discovery responses that created				false

		730						PG		367		0		false		page 367				false

		731						LN		367		1		false		            1     probably some level of unnecessary confusion.				false

		732						LN		367		2		false		            2          Another example of that is witness Mitchell				false

		733						LN		367		3		false		            3     yesterday talked a lot about spot market pricing, which				false

		734						LN		367		4		false		            4     to me, I would understand that in most contexts to				false

		735						LN		367		5		false		            5     refer to either actual or forecast spot market prices.				false

		736						LN		367		6		false		            6     And what he said is he was referring to the fact that				false

		737						LN		367		7		false		            7     it's hourly pricing, which, you know, I would just				false

		738						LN		367		8		false		            8     simply call it hourly pricing rather than spot market				false

		739						LN		367		9		false		            9     pricing.				false

		740						LN		367		10		false		           10          So there's some -- some challenges in sort of				false

		741						LN		367		11		false		           11     understanding exactly what's going on.  And we did file				false

		742						LN		367		12		false		           12     as much discovery as we could to get clarification on				false

		743						LN		367		13		false		           13     that, but that was difficult to sort of resolve.				false

		744						LN		367		14		false		           14          So I think the -- the bottom line here is, after				false

		745						LN		367		15		false		           15     reviewing the rebuttal testimony, ideally I would have				false

		746						LN		367		16		false		           16     re-reviewed all the material that he referred to to				false

		747						LN		367		17		false		           17     verify his claim that the modeling process did indeed				false

		748						LN		367		18		false		           18     create two separate sets of hedging transactions, one				false

		749						LN		367		19		false		           19     for Washington and one for the rest of the system.				false

		750						LN		367		20		false		           20          I have not had time to do so due to other				false

		751						LN		367		21		false		           21     responsibilities.  And that would be a pretty				false

		752						LN		367		22		false		           22     time-consuming investigation, you know, with the				false

		753						LN		367		23		false		           23     test- -- the rebuttal testimony being filed so				false

		754						LN		367		24		false		           24     recently.				false

		755						LN		367		25		false		           25          Assuming for the -- you know, and the Commission				false

		756						PG		368		0		false		page 368				false

		757						LN		368		1		false		            1     should judge the evidence as it has before it.  If the				false

		758						LN		368		2		false		            2     Commission was to determine that there were two				false

		759						LN		368		3		false		            3     separate sets of hedging transactions created by				false

		760						LN		368		4		false		            4     PacifiCorp, then I think I would have -- that would				false

		761						LN		368		5		false		            5     resolve my concern here about the -- the Washington				false

		762						LN		368		6		false		            6     book.  So that's a pretty long answer to your question,				false

		763						LN		368		7		false		            7     but I wanted to kind of provide that context as to why				false

		764						LN		368		8		false		            8     there's a dispute here and what kind of work it would				false

		765						LN		368		9		false		            9     take to resolve it and why I wasn't able to do that				false

		766						LN		368		10		false		           10     before this hearing.				false

		767						LN		368		11		false		           11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  All right.				false

		768						LN		368		12		false		           12     And in that vein, does -- do you have supplemental				false

		769						LN		368		13		false		           13     information requests pending with the company on this				false

		770						LN		368		14		false		           14     that were not -- did not come back before the hearing?				false

		771						LN		368		15		false		           15     Were you trying to get more information?  I realize				false

		772						LN		368		16		false		           16     this was on a pretty fast time frame.				false

		773						LN		368		17		false		           17                        THE WITNESS:  On this specific				false

		774						LN		368		18		false		           18     topic -- I'd have to go back and look through the				false

		775						LN		368		19		false		           19     requests.  I think it's just more a matter of we filed				false

		776						LN		368		20		false		           20     initial requests, we filed follow-up requests, and even				false

		777						LN		368		21		false		           21     those follow-up requests in some cases were just not				false

		778						LN		368		22		false		           22     very specific in their responses.				false

		779						LN		368		23		false		           23          You know, I had a -- I was -- for example, I was				false

		780						LN		368		24		false		           24     pretty sure I knew which model file reflected the				false

		781						LN		368		25		false		           25     company's actual proposal case, and we had to ask two				false

		782						PG		369		0		false		page 369				false

		783						LN		369		1		false		            1     different data requests to get that absolutely verified				false

		784						LN		369		2		false		            2     for certain.  And just kind of, like, seems like a				false

		785						LN		369		3		false		            3     pretty basic question to me.  Like, what's your case				false

		786						LN		369		4		false		            4     here?  What's your work paper for your case?  And				false

		787						LN		369		5		false		            5     instead, we got these kind of long, convoluted answers.				false

		788						LN		369		6		false		            6          And, you know, so that's my recollection of it,				false

		789						LN		369		7		false		            7     you know, just sitting here.  But I don't think we have				false

		790						LN		369		8		false		            8     any specific pending requests out right now.  I think				false

		791						LN		369		9		false		            9     it's more a matter of, after asking a couple of times,				false

		792						LN		369		10		false		           10     I was in some cases left either uncertain, or in the				false

		793						LN		369		11		false		           11     case of this language issue that was discussed				false

		794						LN		369		12		false		           12     yesterday about what he meant by "spot market," you				false

		795						LN		369		13		false		           13     know, wasn't until there was solid cross-examination				false

		796						LN		369		14		false		           14     that I understood what he was actually -- what he				false

		797						LN		369		15		false		           15     actually meant by those words.				false

		798						LN		369		16		false		           16                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  All right.				false

		799						LN		369		17		false		           17     And considering that, did it help, you know, help your				false

		800						LN		369		18		false		           18     thoughts on this as to whether -- you said --				false

		801						LN		369		19		false		           19                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah.				false

		802						LN		369		20		false		           20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  -- we				false

		803						LN		369		21		false		           21     should -- we should determine whether there are two				false

		804						LN		369		22		false		           22     sets of hedging transactions, but did it help you in				false

		805						LN		369		23		false		           23     your analysis of whether you think there are two				false

		806						LN		369		24		false		           24     separate sets here or not?				false

		807						LN		369		25		false		           25                        THE WITNESS:  I think I can go to				false

		808						PG		370		0		false		page 370				false

		809						LN		370		1		false		            1     the broader question, which is whether this -- this				false

		810						LN		370		2		false		            2     hedging cost for these 25-megawatt blocks should be				false

		811						LN		370		3		false		            3     included in rates.  That's kind of where you're going.				false

		812						LN		370		4		false		            4     Have I got that right, Commissioner Rendahl?				false

		813						LN		370		5		false		            5                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yes.				false

		814						LN		370		6		false		            6          So do you still maintain your position here?				false

		815						LN		370		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  I think I am mostly				false

		816						LN		370		8		false		            8     convinced -- but not entirely, for a couple of reasons				false

		817						LN		370		9		false		            9     that I'll identify -- that the company's proposal is				false

		818						LN		370		10		false		           10     reasonable.				false

		819						LN		370		11		false		           11          And the two things that I think are still really				false

		820						LN		370		12		false		           12     outstanding is, one, with a change like this -- this is				false

		821						LN		370		13		false		           13     a new method -- I would expect to see the company				false

		822						LN		370		14		false		           14     provide some sort of verification analysis that is				false

		823						LN		370		15		false		           15     specific to the -- the hedging process that they've				false

		824						LN		370		16		false		           16     done.  And instead they pointed to witness Mitchell's				false

		825						LN		370		17		false		           17     Exhibit 5, which was discussed, I think, in the				false

		826						LN		370		18		false		           18     confidential session yesterday.				false

		827						LN		370		19		false		           19          And without getting in any details of that, I				false

		828						LN		370		20		false		           20     think it was established that there was not a				false

		829						LN		370		21		false		           21     specific -- you know, even though they pointed to that				false

		830						LN		370		22		false		           22     as verification of this hedging.  There wasn't a				false

		831						LN		370		23		false		           23     specific analysis of the hedging practices in -- you				false

		832						LN		370		24		false		           24     know, supported by that exhibit.				false

		833						LN		370		25		false		           25          And I think that's a concern I have.  I think it's				false

		834						PG		371		0		false		page 371				false

		835						LN		371		1		false		            1     a best practice that when you introduce a new method,				false

		836						LN		371		2		false		            2     it should provide some sort of analytic test to show				false

		837						LN		371		3		false		            3     that, you know, all of your assumptions -- and witness				false

		838						LN		371		4		false		            4     Mitchell sort of outlined a chain of assumptions, each				false

		839						LN		371		5		false		            5     of which on its own sounded reasonable.  But in				false

		840						LN		371		6		false		            6     modeling exercises, there's sometimes interactions				false

		841						LN		371		7		false		            7     between these assumptions that are unanticipated, and				false

		842						LN		371		8		false		            8     the best way to check that and make sure that there's				false

		843						LN		371		9		false		            9     not a mistake there that is a fundamental problem for				false

		844						LN		371		10		false		           10     customers is to do some sort of, you know, test				false

		845						LN		371		11		false		           11     analysis and provide that in support.				false

		846						LN		371		12		false		           12          So that's my main remaining concern.  I think my				false

		847						LN		371		13		false		           13     second one is the one that we just went over, which is				false

		848						LN		371		14		false		           14     whether in fact the Washington and system hedges are				false

		849						LN		371		15		false		           15     actually maintained as separate transactions in the				false

		850						LN		371		16		false		           16     analysis or whether it's a allocation of system hedges				false

		851						LN		371		17		false		           17     into the Washington book that is -- that is occurring.				false

		852						LN		371		18		false		           18     And that was not a hundred percent clear to me from his				false

		853						LN		371		19		false		           19     testimony, either prefiled or on the stand.				false

		854						LN		371		20		false		           20          So those are my two points.  But I do think he				false

		855						LN		371		21		false		           21     walked through the logic and explained his terms a lot				false

		856						LN		371		22		false		           22     better, and that addressed a lot of the concerns that I				false

		857						LN		371		23		false		           23     raised in my testimony.  Certainly narrowed them down				false

		858						LN		371		24		false		           24     to just some quantitative work.				false

		859						LN		371		25		false		           25                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  And				false

		860						PG		372		0		false		page 372				false

		861						LN		372		1		false		            1     thank you for that clarification.				false

		862						LN		372		2		false		            2          On the --				false

		863						LN		372		3		false		            3                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, absolutely.				false

		864						LN		372		4		false		            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  On the future				false

		865						LN		372		5		false		            5     hedging costs, again in rebuttal -- and this is witness				false

		866						LN		372		6		false		            6     Mitchell's rebuttal testimony, at Page 20, starting at				false

		867						LN		372		7		false		            7     Line 8 and then going to Page 36, Line 10.  So there's				false

		868						LN		372		8		false		            8     a significant amount there.				false

		869						LN		372		9		false		            9                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah.				false

		870						LN		372		10		false		           10                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  He argues				false

		871						LN		372		11		false		           11     that forward market transaction costs and volumes are				false

		872						LN		372		12		false		           12     known and reasonable.  And considering the information				false

		873						LN		372		13		false		           13     that the company provided or that witness Mitchell				false

		874						LN		372		14		false		           14     provided, does staff still maintain its position on the				false

		875						LN		372		15		false		           15     future hedging costs, or is this similar to your answer				false

		876						LN		372		16		false		           16     you just gave?				false

		877						LN		372		17		false		           17                        THE WITNESS:  It's similar to the				false

		878						LN		372		18		false		           18     answer that I just gave.  I think I can give you a				false

		879						LN		372		19		false		           19     little bit of quick color on that.				false

		880						LN		372		20		false		           20          So on the known piece, I'm not sure if witness				false

		881						LN		372		21		false		           21     Mitchell acknowledged it, but I pretty much anticipated				false

		882						LN		372		22		false		           22     his answer, which was that the need to executions --				false

		883						LN		372		23		false		           23     excuse me -- the need to execute transactions is what				false

		884						LN		372		24		false		           24     makes this known.  And so I agree with that.  So I				false

		885						LN		372		25		false		           25     think -- I think they have established the known				false

		886						PG		373		0		false		page 373				false

		887						LN		373		1		false		            1     portion of the test.				false

		888						LN		373		2		false		            2          The measurable portion of the test is -- is the				false

		889						LN		373		3		false		            3     more complicated one.  And, you know, I sort of look at				false

		890						LN		373		4		false		            4     it as a two-part test:  Are the hedging transactions				false

		891						LN		373		5		false		            5     calculated from a model based on a Washington-specific				false

		892						LN		373		6		false		            6     basis as opposed to a system basis?  And that was the				false

		893						LN		373		7		false		            7     point we just discussed, is that I haven't been able to				false

		894						LN		373		8		false		            8     fully verify that it's Washington-specific.				false

		895						LN		373		9		false		            9          And, secondly, the issue was kind of how the				false

		896						LN		373		10		false		           10     dollars flew, you know, kind of where the price signals				false

		897						LN		373		11		false		           11     were generated.  And there, I think I got more				false

		898						LN		373		12		false		           12     clarification from his testimony yesterday that				false

		899						LN		373		13		false		           13     resolved some of those concerns.				false

		900						LN		373		14		false		           14          So the issue that we had there was that we had the				false

		901						LN		373		15		false		           15     OFPC prices, which -- I mean, one thing that's				false

		902						LN		373		16		false		           16     important, I guess, to say for this issue is that				false

		903						LN		373		17		false		           17     there's no perfect way for the company to model this.				false

		904						LN		373		18		false		           18     And so I think that would be helpful for the company to				false

		905						LN		373		19		false		           19     also acknowledge in its testimony, is that, you know,				false

		906						LN		373		20		false		           20     there's not a -- there's not an ideal way to get at				false

		907						LN		373		21		false		           21     this issue.				false

		908						LN		373		22		false		           22          I acknowledged in my testimony, my -- my direct				false

		909						LN		373		23		false		           23     testimony, that this was a legitimate issue that				false

		910						LN		373		24		false		           24     they've identified, and I agree that there needs to be				false

		911						LN		373		25		false		           25     a solution.  And I bring that attitude still very much				false

		912						PG		374		0		false		page 374				false

		913						LN		374		1		false		            1     to this conversation we're having right now.				false

		914						LN		374		2		false		            2          So the -- the problem is that you're talking about				false

		915						LN		374		3		false		            3     forecasting a transaction that's going to happen some				false

		916						LN		374		4		false		            4     months in the future and then a second transaction				false

		917						LN		374		5		false		            5     that's going to happen at or near the power delivery				false

		918						LN		374		6		false		            6     date.  And witness Mitchell described it as generally				false

		919						LN		374		7		false		            7     happening within 72 hours of the power delivery date.				false

		920						LN		374		8		false		            8     I had seen other utilities that will unwind portion of				false

		921						LN		374		9		false		            9     their block hedges further in advance of that, using				false

		922						LN		374		10		false		           10     other kinds of transactions, other kinds of bilateral				false

		923						LN		374		11		false		           11     contracts.				false

		924						LN		374		12		false		           12          So, you know, that's certainly a question for me				false

		925						LN		374		13		false		           13     as to the company's power management practices.  But,				false

		926						LN		374		14		false		           14     you know, that may be something he was just sort of				false

		927						LN		374		15		false		           15     simplifying and tried to keep it kind of simple for				false

		928						LN		374		16		false		           16     purposes of explaining the issue.				false

		929						LN		374		17		false		           17          So -- and the way that this -- the fact that you				false

		930						LN		374		18		false		           18     can't sort of actually predict those two price				false

		931						LN		374		19		false		           19     transactions kind of separately and they're both				false

		932						LN		374		20		false		           20     relying on the -- the OFPC costs, or prices.  Excuse				false

		933						LN		374		21		false		           21     me.				false

		934						LN		374		22		false		           22          So you've got these OFPC prices that are the input				false

		935						LN		374		23		false		           23     to the first transaction and the input to the second				false

		936						LN		374		24		false		           24     transaction when they're occurring in different markets				false

		937						LN		374		25		false		           25     and in different time scales.  And that creates a				false

		938						PG		375		0		false		page 375				false

		939						LN		375		1		false		            1     little bit of a challenge.				false

		940						LN		375		2		false		            2          And, you know, exactly how to resolve this, you				false

		941						LN		375		3		false		            3     know, I don't have a better approach to propose and				false

		942						LN		375		4		false		            4     acknowledge that in the testimony.  I think it was				false

		943						LN		375		5		false		            5     really just a matter of, if you test it and you see				false

		944						LN		375		6		false		            6     that it's working, then, yeah, this is a great				false

		945						LN		375		7		false		            7     improvement.  If you test it and it's not working, then				false

		946						LN		375		8		false		            8     you need to figure out why it's not working and go back				false

		947						LN		375		9		false		            9     and come up with a different approach.				false

		948						LN		375		10		false		           10          Just to kind of conclude this, the concern, I				false

		949						LN		375		11		false		           11     think, arises because you end up with a very large cost				false

		950						LN		375		12		false		           12     added to the -- to the net power costs.  This is a --				false

		951						LN		375		13		false		           13     and witness Mitchell explained the reason for this,				false

		952						LN		375		14		false		           14     which is that the price to buy the power is the OFPC,				false

		953						LN		375		15		false		           15     and the price to then sell the power is the OFPC minus				false

		954						LN		375		16		false		           16     the transaction cost.				false

		955						LN		375		17		false		           17          And so you end up with a -- no matter how				false

		956						LN		375		18		false		           18     brilliant a hedging is, in the modeling, the actual				false

		957						LN		375		19		false		           19     cost effect is always going to be a negative cost to				false

		958						LN		375		20		false		           20     consumers.  In reality, the cost will sometimes be a				false

		959						LN		375		21		false		           21     negative cost to consumers.  And sometimes the company,				false

		960						LN		375		22		false		           22     because it's got -- I presume and have no reason to				false

		961						LN		375		23		false		           23     disbelieve -- pretty smart people running these				false

		962						LN		375		24		false		           24     programs, will be making smart moves on these hedges				false

		963						LN		375		25		false		           25     and will do better than average.				false

		964						PG		376		0		false		page 376				false

		965						LN		376		1		false		            1          And, you know, you don't know whether that will				false

		966						LN		376		2		false		            2     happen.  You can't -- you can't guarantee that outcome.				false

		967						LN		376		3		false		            3     But there's no aspect of this modeling that reflects				false

		968						LN		376		4		false		            4     historical tendency there.  And I'll give you an				false

		969						LN		376		5		false		            5     example.				false

		970						LN		376		6		false		            6          The modeling, as I understand it -- and this was a				false

		971						LN		376		7		false		            7     reassurance to me -- is that they're taking the bare				false

		972						LN		376		8		false		            8     minimum hedges that are required by their risk				false

		973						LN		376		9		false		            9     management policy -- so they've got, you know, 75				false

		974						LN		376		10		false		           10     percent or whatever the requirement is at a particular				false

		975						LN		376		11		false		           11     time, and they're putting in hedges right up to 75				false

		976						LN		376		12		false		           12     percent, but that's a minimum.				false

		977						LN		376		13		false		           13          And I think if the company sees that prices are				false

		978						LN		376		14		false		           14     low right now, they're not going to do 75 percent.				false

		979						LN		376		15		false		           15     They might hedge 90 percent or 95 percent.  They might				false

		980						LN		376		16		false		           16     do a much larger hedge, because they know that they're				false

		981						LN		376		17		false		           17     very unlikely to take a substantial loss if they				false

		982						LN		376		18		false		           18     overhedge and they have protected customers on the				false

		983						LN		376		19		false		           19     upside from any kind of unexpected price spikes.				false

		984						LN		376		20		false		           20          So good hedging would involve a degree of judgment				false

		985						LN		376		21		false		           21     that isn't reflected in this model, and therefore you				false

		986						LN		376		22		false		           22     could end up with, you know, costs that are not				false

		987						LN		376		23		false		           23     reflective of the modeling.  So that's kind of where				false

		988						LN		376		24		false		           24     this concern comes from.  The scale of this cost is				false

		989						LN		376		25		false		           25     pretty large compared to what good hedging practice				false

		990						PG		377		0		false		page 377				false

		991						LN		377		1		false		            1     might actually result in.				false

		992						LN		377		2		false		            2                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  But				false

		993						LN		377		3		false		            3     your primary concern -- just one moment.				false

		994						LN		377		4		false		            4          Your primary concern, though, was about				false

		995						LN		377		5		false		            5     measurability, the known --				false

		996						LN		377		6		false		            6                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah.				false

		997						LN		377		7		false		            7                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  --				false

		998						LN		377		8		false		            8     measurable.  So that's where you still have the				false

		999						LN		377		9		false		            9     question.  And I know you went on and talked about the				false

		1000						LN		377		10		false		           10     concern about the scale.  But just -- that's the				false

		1001						LN		377		11		false		           11     primary concern there.				false

		1002						LN		377		12		false		           12                        THE WITNESS:  Right.  And it relates				false

		1003						LN		377		13		false		           13     to kind of the broader point I just made, which is the				false

		1004						LN		377		14		false		           14     reason that you want it to be measurable is that you				false

		1005						LN		377		15		false		           15     want it to relate to something that's really going to				false

		1006						LN		377		16		false		           16     happen in the future.				false

		1007						LN		377		17		false		           17                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Got it.				false

		1008						LN		377		18		false		           18     Okay.				false

		1009						LN		377		19		false		           19                        THE WITNESS:  And so if you -- if				false

		1010						LN		377		20		false		           20     what you're measuring is just part of the effect, which				false

		1011						LN		377		21		false		           21     is the case here, it's hopefully a big part of it, and,				false

		1012						LN		377		22		false		           22     you know, we can't expect you to be perfect.  But the				false

		1013						LN		377		23		false		           23     question is if they missed a big part.  And that would				false

		1014						LN		377		24		false		           24     be the proactive benefit of the hedging policy, which				false

		1015						LN		377		25		false		           25     is the reason that the Commission and some other				false

		1016						PG		378		0		false		page 378				false

		1017						LN		378		1		false		            1     regulators across North America encourage hedging.				false

		1018						LN		378		2		false		            2     They encourage it because they want it to have				false

		1019						LN		378		3		false		            3     benefits.  It looks like, in this modeling, all it has				false

		1020						LN		378		4		false		            4     is costs.				false

		1021						LN		378		5		false		            5                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank				false

		1022						LN		378		6		false		            6     you.				false

		1023						LN		378		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  And that's -- that's				false

		1024						LN		378		8		false		            8     kind of a challenge.				false

		1025						LN		378		9		false		            9                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank				false

		1026						LN		378		10		false		           10     you.  Sorry.  Mr. Lowney.				false

		1027						LN		378		11		false		           11                        MR. LOWNEY:  Apologies.  I was -- I				false

		1028						LN		378		12		false		           12     was concerned that we were potentially divulging a				false

		1029						LN		378		13		false		           13     confidential figure related to the risk management				false

		1030						LN		378		14		false		           14     policy.				false

		1031						LN		378		15		false		           15                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Ah.  Did we				false

		1032						LN		378		16		false		           16     do that?				false

		1033						LN		378		17		false		           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  But it is not --				false

		1034						LN		378		18		false		           18                        THE WITNESS:  I'm looking at --				false

		1035						LN		378		19		false		           19                        MR. LOWNEY:  It's not identified as				false

		1036						LN		378		20		false		           20     confidential in the company's rebuttal testimony, so I				false

		1037						LN		378		21		false		           21     think we're okay.  But I guess I would just say, to the				false

		1038						LN		378		22		false		           22     extent there's more questions, maybe we could use --				false

		1039						LN		378		23		false		           23     not divulge specific figures, just so we're not on the				false

		1040						LN		378		24		false		           24     edge of that confidentiality related to the risk				false

		1041						LN		378		25		false		           25     management policy specifically.				false

		1042						PG		379		0		false		page 379				false

		1043						LN		379		1		false		            1                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  I appreciate				false

		1044						LN		379		2		false		            2     that guidance.  Thank you.  And I don't have any				false

		1045						LN		379		3		false		            3     further questions for this witness.				false

		1046						LN		379		4		false		            4          So --				false

		1047						LN		379		5		false		            5                        THE WITNESS:  I'll just --				false

		1048						LN		379		6		false		            6     Commissioner, if I can just provide the citation for				false

		1049						LN		379		7		false		            7     that.  That figure was from Page 20 of witness				false

		1050						LN		379		8		false		            8     Mitchell's rebuttal testimony, at Line 3.				false

		1051						LN		379		9		false		            9                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  And it was				false

		1052						LN		379		10		false		           10     not confidential?				false

		1053						LN		379		11		false		           11                        THE WITNESS:  That's correct.				false

		1054						LN		379		12		false		           12                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  For				false

		1055						LN		379		13		false		           13     the record.				false

		1056						LN		379		14		false		           14                        MR. LOWNEY:  And that's what we were				false

		1057						LN		379		15		false		           15     looking at as well to confirm that it was -- that				false

		1058						LN		379		16		false		           16     particular number was not confidential.				false

		1059						LN		379		17		false		           17                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Well,				false

		1060						LN		379		18		false		           18     thank you for making sure that we keep the record				false

		1061						LN		379		19		false		           19     clean.				false

		1062						LN		379		20		false		           20          And I have no further questions for the witness.				false

		1063						LN		379		21		false		           21                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		1064						LN		379		22		false		           22          Commissioner Doumit?  All right.				false

		1065						LN		379		23		false		           23          I believe that concludes all of the commissioner				false

		1066						LN		379		24		false		           24     questions for you, Mr. Wilson.  Thank you for being				false

		1067						LN		379		25		false		           25     available this morning.  You may be excused at this				false

		1068						PG		380		0		false		page 380				false

		1069						LN		380		1		false		            1     time.				false

		1070						LN		380		2		false		            2                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		1071						LN		380		3		false		            3                               (Witness excused.)				false

		1072						LN		380		4		false		            4				false

		1073						LN		380		5		false		            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And that brings us				false

		1074						LN		380		6		false		            6     to Jacque Hawkins-Jones.				false

		1075						LN		380		7		false		            7          Good morning.  Are you ready?				false

		1076						LN		380		8		false		            8                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.				false

		1077						LN		380		9		false		            9                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you could				false

		1078						LN		380		10		false		           10     please raise your right hand.				false

		1079						LN		380		11		false		           11          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will				false

		1080						LN		380		12		false		           12     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and				false

		1081						LN		380		13		false		           13     nothing but the truth?				false

		1082						LN		380		14		false		           14                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		1083						LN		380		15		false		           15				false

		1084						LN		380		16		false		           16     JACQUE HAWKINS-JONES,       having been first duly sworn				false

		1085						LN		380		17		false		           17                                 by Administrative Law Judge				false

		1086						LN		380		18		false		           18                                 Thompson, was examined and				false

		1087						LN		380		19		false		           19                                 testified as follows:				false

		1088						LN		380		20		false		           20				false

		1089						LN		380		21		false		           21                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank				false

		1090						LN		380		22		false		           22     you.  You may be seated.				false

		1091						LN		380		23		false		           23          And, Counsel, you may proceed.				false

		1092						LN		380		24		false		           24     ////				false

		1093						LN		380		25		false		           25     ////				false

		1094						PG		381		0		false		page 381				false

		1095						LN		381		1		false		            1                        DIRECT EXAMINATION				false

		1096						LN		381		2		false		            2     BY MS. STRAUSS:				false

		1097						LN		381		3		false		            3  Q  Good morning, Ms. Hawkins-Jones.				false

		1098						LN		381		4		false		            4          Could you please state your name and spell it for				false

		1099						LN		381		5		false		            5     the record.				false

		1100						LN		381		6		false		            6  A  Good morning.				false

		1101						LN		381		7		false		            7          My name is Jacque Hawkins Jones.  J-a-c-q-u-e.				false

		1102						LN		381		8		false		            8     Last name is H-a-w-k-i-n-s, hyphen, J-o-n-e-s.				false

		1103						LN		381		9		false		            9  Q  Thank you.				false

		1104						LN		381		10		false		           10          And did you sponsor testimony in this matter?				false

		1105						LN		381		11		false		           11  A  Yes, I did.				false

		1106						LN		381		12		false		           12  Q  And do you have any corrections, amendments, or changes				false

		1107						LN		381		13		false		           13     you would like to make to that testimony at this time?				false

		1108						LN		381		14		false		           14  A  No, I do not.				false

		1109						LN		381		15		false		           15                        MS. STRAUSS:  Thank you.				false

		1110						LN		381		16		false		           16          I tender the question for cross -- or the witness				false

		1111						LN		381		17		false		           17     for cross.  Apologies.				false

		1112						LN		381		18		false		           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That is okay.				false

		1113						LN		381		19		false		           19     Thank you.				false

		1114						LN		381		20		false		           20          I believe the company has indicated cross for this				false

		1115						LN		381		21		false		           21     witness.  You may proceed when you're ready.				false

		1116						LN		381		22		false		           22          And just a reminder to counsel.  When you're				false

		1117						LN		381		23		false		           23     talking, if you could turn on your cameras.  I think				false

		1118						LN		381		24		false		           24     you've got it, but I did get a message earlier.  So				false

		1119						LN		381		25		false		           25     thank you.				false

		1120						PG		382		0		false		page 382				false

		1121						LN		382		1		false		            1                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.				false

		1122						LN		382		2		false		            2				false

		1123						LN		382		3		false		            3                        CROSS-EXAMINATION				false

		1124						LN		382		4		false		            4     BY MR. McVEE:				false

		1125						LN		382		5		false		            5  Q  Good morning.				false

		1126						LN		382		6		false		            6  A  Good morning.				false

		1127						LN		382		7		false		            7  Q  So I just have a few questions this morning.				false

		1128						LN		382		8		false		            8          So your cross-answering testimony, Exhibit JHJ-1T,				false

		1129						LN		382		9		false		            9     is the first testimony you submitted in this				false

		1130						LN		382		10		false		           10     proceeding, correct?				false

		1131						LN		382		11		false		           11  A  Correct.				false

		1132						LN		382		12		false		           12  Q  And you concur with PacifiCorp's findings that the				false

		1133						LN		382		13		false		           13     Washington 2026 protocol is better aligned with				false

		1134						LN		382		14		false		           14     Washington's benefits, Washington benefits, than the				false

		1135						LN		382		15		false		           15     WIJAM, correct?				false

		1136						LN		382		16		false		           16  A  Can you point me to where I say that?				false

		1137						LN		382		17		false		           17  Q  Yes.				false

		1138						LN		382		18		false		           18          If you could refer to Exhibit JHJ-5X.  On Page 11				false

		1139						LN		382		19		false		           19     of 13, it's staff response to DR 23.				false

		1140						LN		382		20		false		           20  A  Give me just one minute to get there.				false

		1141						LN		382		21		false		           21          You said that was Response -- what again?  I'm				false

		1142						LN		382		22		false		           22     sorry?				false

		1143						LN		382		23		false		           23  Q  It's Page 11 of 13 of Exhibit JHJ-5X.  And it's staff				false

		1144						LN		382		24		false		           24     response to DR 23.				false

		1145						LN		382		25		false		           25  A  Okay.  I'm there.				false

		1146						PG		383		0		false		page 383				false

		1147						LN		383		1		false		            1  Q  And on the very last line, you say, In general, I				false

		1148						LN		383		2		false		            2     concur PacifiCorp's findings are better aligned with				false

		1149						LN		383		3		false		            3     Washington benefits.				false

		1150						LN		383		4		false		            4          Do you still agree with that statement?				false

		1151						LN		383		5		false		            5  A  Let me read the whole thing in its entirety.				false

		1152						LN		383		6		false		            6          Yes.  And I believe that's -- also correlates with				false

		1153						LN		383		7		false		            7     staff Wilson's testimony.				false

		1154						LN		383		8		false		            8  Q  Great.  Thank you.				false

		1155						LN		383		9		false		            9          Did you review the 2020 protocol and the WIJAM in				false

		1156						LN		383		10		false		           10     the development of your testimony of this case?				false

		1157						LN		383		11		false		           11                        MS. STRAUSS:  I'm going to object on				false

		1158						LN		383		12		false		           12     this line of questioning.  This is outside the scope of				false

		1159						LN		383		13		false		           13     her testimony that was offered in this matter.  She				false

		1160						LN		383		14		false		           14     only spoke to the 2026 protocol and its effects going				false

		1161						LN		383		15		false		           15     downstream, not looking back at any prior methodology				false

		1162						LN		383		16		false		           16     that was offered in a previous proceeding.				false

		1163						LN		383		17		false		           17                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor, her				false

		1164						LN		383		18		false		           18     testimony refers to over-collection of costs, which				false

		1165						LN		383		19		false		           19     kind of necessarily relates to the rates that were set				false

		1166						LN		383		20		false		           20     in the past.  Plus this is a foundational issue for				false

		1167						LN		383		21		false		           21     allocations in the discussion that we're having today				false

		1168						LN		383		22		false		           22     about the Washington 2026 protocol.				false

		1169						LN		383		23		false		           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any further				false

		1170						LN		383		24		false		           24     response?				false

		1171						LN		383		25		false		           25                        MS. STRAUSS:  Yes.  Her testimony				false

		1172						PG		384		0		false		page 384				false

		1173						LN		384		1		false		            1     about over-collection relates to a forward-looking				false

		1174						LN		384		2		false		            2     analysis of how the 2026 protocol is going to be				false

		1175						LN		384		3		false		            3     implemented and if those concerns that have been				false

		1176						LN		384		4		false		            4     brought up by other parties are founded and need to be				false

		1177						LN		384		5		false		            5     investigated more.				false

		1178						LN		384		6		false		            6          It's staff's position that the evidence in the				false

		1179						LN		384		7		false		            7     record is unclear how the collection's going to happen				false

		1180						LN		384		8		false		            8     in terms of if there are going to be over-collection				false

		1181						LN		384		9		false		            9     issues with the 2026 protocol, and there's just not				false

		1182						LN		384		10		false		           10     enough evidence in the record that has dissuaded staff				false

		1183						LN		384		11		false		           11     that there won't be.				false

		1184						LN		384		12		false		           12                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm going to				false

		1185						LN		384		13		false		           13     overrule the objection at this time.				false

		1186						LN		384		14		false		           14          The statement in Data Request No. 23 does				false

		1187						LN		384		15		false		           15     implicate the WIJAM.  And I do agree that the question				false

		1188						LN		384		16		false		           16     is getting at foundational knowledge of comparing the				false

		1189						LN		384		17		false		           17     2026 protocol and the WIJAM.  But should the				false

		1190						LN		384		18		false		           18     questioning exceed the witness's ability to answer her				false

		1191						LN		384		19		false		           19     knowledge, feel free to object again.				false

		1192						LN		384		20		false		           20  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  Would you like me to repeat the				false

		1193						LN		384		21		false		           21     question?				false

		1194						LN		384		22		false		           22  A  You'll need to repeat, yes.				false

		1195						LN		384		23		false		           23  Q  Did you review the 2020 protocol and WIJAM in the				false

		1196						LN		384		24		false		           24     development of your testimony in this case?				false

		1197						LN		384		25		false		           25  A  I did not.				false

		1198						PG		385		0		false		page 385				false

		1199						LN		385		1		false		            1  Q  You did not.  All right.  Thank you.				false

		1200						LN		385		2		false		            2          Did you review any of the past decisions on				false

		1201						LN		385		3		false		            3     PacifiCorp's allocations?  2005, 2013, any of those				false

		1202						LN		385		4		false		            4     past decisions?				false

		1203						LN		385		5		false		            5  A  I did not.				false

		1204						LN		385		6		false		            6  Q  Can you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-4X.  That is the				false

		1205						LN		385		7		false		            7     joint testimony in support of the stipulation in				false

		1206						LN		385		8		false		            8     Docket UE-191024.				false

		1207						LN		385		9		false		            9  A  I'm there.				false

		1208						LN		385		10		false		           10                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, staff				false

		1209						LN		385		11		false		           11     again objected to this exhibit.  This is prefiled				false

		1210						LN		385		12		false		           12     testimony that has to do with an agreement staff				false

		1211						LN		385		13		false		           13     reached in the settlement in a prior docket.  Again,				false

		1212						LN		385		14		false		           14     outside the scope of her testimony.  Not relevant to				false

		1213						LN		385		15		false		           15     the 2026 protocol and staff's opinion on the 2026				false

		1214						LN		385		16		false		           16     protocol.				false

		1215						LN		385		17		false		           17                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor -- sorry.				false

		1216						LN		385		18		false		           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Go ahead.  Proceed.				false

		1217						LN		385		19		false		           19                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor, this is the				false

		1218						LN		385		20		false		           20     testimony -- joint testimony supporting the stipulation				false

		1219						LN		385		21		false		           21     adopting -- or it's recommending the adoption of the				false

		1220						LN		385		22		false		           22     2020 protocol and the WIJAM, to which staff was a				false

		1221						LN		385		23		false		           23     participant.				false

		1222						LN		385		24		false		           24                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, if I -- if				false

		1223						LN		385		25		false		           25     I may respond.				false

		1224						PG		386		0		false		page 386				false

		1225						LN		386		1		false		            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Please do.				false

		1226						LN		386		2		false		            2                        MS. STRAUSS:  Again, that was				false

		1227						LN		386		3		false		            3     testimony offered in a settlement approving that				false

		1228						LN		386		4		false		            4     protocol.  Staff's not looking to relitigate those				false

		1229						LN		386		5		false		            5     issues or question the approval of that protocol.				false

		1230						LN		386		6		false		            6     Staff is looking at the 2026 protocol.  The 2020				false

		1231						LN		386		7		false		            7     protocol and why staff accepted it or agreed to it at				false

		1232						LN		386		8		false		            8     that time is not the question of this proceeding.				false

		1233						LN		386		9		false		            9                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  What is the				false

		1234						LN		386		10		false		           10     company's intention for use of this exhibit?				false

		1235						LN		386		11		false		           11                        MR. McVEE:  I just have one question				false

		1236						LN		386		12		false		           12     about this exhibit.  It's just to set the stage				false

		1237						LN		386		13		false		           13     regarding how the 2026 protocol is -- or the Washington				false

		1238						LN		386		14		false		           14     2026 protocol follows on the attempt that was				false

		1239						LN		386		15		false		           15     articulated by the parties to that stipulation, which				false

		1240						LN		386		16		false		           16     then result -- or -- and that reflected the 2020				false

		1241						LN		386		17		false		           17     protocol and the WIJAM.				false

		1242						LN		386		18		false		           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  This exhibit				false

		1243						LN		386		19		false		           19     is a prior filing with the Commission.  I don't see any				false

		1244						LN		386		20		false		           20     reason to exclude the exhibit, itself.  However, I note				false

		1245						LN		386		21		false		           21     that witness Hawkins-Jones is not one of the				false

		1246						LN		386		22		false		           22     individuals providing testimony in this filing, and so				false

		1247						LN		386		23		false		           23     the witness's knowledge of the testimony or the				false

		1248						LN		386		24		false		           24     contents therein may be limited.				false

		1249						LN		386		25		false		           25          So I'll overrule the objection to the exhibit,				false

		1250						PG		387		0		false		page 387				false

		1251						LN		387		1		false		            1     itself, on the basis that this is a document filed with				false

		1252						LN		387		2		false		            2     the Commission in another docket.  But I do note for				false

		1253						LN		387		3		false		            3     counsel that Ms. Hawkins-Jones was not a witness or				false

		1254						LN		387		4		false		            4     somebody providing testimony in this filing, and so the				false

		1255						LN		387		5		false		            5     witness's knowledge may be limited.				false

		1256						LN		387		6		false		            6                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.				false

		1257						LN		387		7		false		            7  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  So could you turn to page -- to				false

		1258						LN		387		8		false		            8     Exhibit JHJ-4X, Page 17 of 55.  That will be Page 15 of				false

		1259						LN		387		9		false		            9     the testimony.				false

		1260						LN		387		10		false		           10  A  All right.  I think I'm there.				false

		1261						LN		387		11		false		           11          The first line of there -- that page is "prudent				false

		1262						LN		387		12		false		           12     by the Commission"?				false

		1263						LN		387		13		false		           13  Q  It should -- the first line of the page should be WIJAM				false

		1264						LN		387		14		false		           14     MOU 2020 protocol.				false

		1265						LN		387		15		false		           15          So the exhibit, it should be Page --				false

		1266						LN		387		16		false		           16  A  Got it.  I'm there.				false

		1267						LN		387		17		false		           17  Q  Thank you.				false

		1268						LN		387		18		false		           18          So in that second question, "Please describe the				false

		1269						LN		387		19		false		           19     2020 protocol," Lines -- the response in Lines 8				false

		1270						LN		387		20		false		           20     through 13, it describes the 2020 protocol represents a				false

		1271						LN		387		21		false		           21     fundamental shift in how the company proposes to				false

		1272						LN		387		22		false		           22     address allocations, with the ultimate goal of moving				false

		1273						LN		387		23		false		           23     away from dynamic allocations and a common generation				false

		1274						LN		387		24		false		           24     resource portfolio to a fixed allocation factors for				false

		1275						LN		387		25		false		           25     generation resources.				false

		1276						PG		388		0		false		page 388				false

		1277						LN		388		1		false		            1          Do you agree that that transition to fixed factors				false

		1278						LN		388		2		false		            2     and a state-specific resource portfolio is appropriate?				false

		1279						LN		388		3		false		            3  A  I don't have kno- -- that's not something that's -- I				false

		1280						LN		388		4		false		            4     would have knowledge about.  I would defer to our				false

		1281						LN		388		5		false		            5     expert witness Wilson on those questions.				false

		1282						LN		388		6		false		            6  Q  All right.  Thank you.				false

		1283						LN		388		7		false		            7          So turning to your testimony, I'd like to ask a				false

		1284						LN		388		8		false		            8     few questions about some of the recommendations that				false

		1285						LN		388		9		false		            9     you make.				false

		1286						LN		388		10		false		           10          Recommendation 3, if you turn to Page 6 of your				false

		1287						LN		388		11		false		           11     testimony.				false

		1288						LN		388		12		false		           12  A  One second while I go back there.				false

		1289						LN		388		13		false		           13          Sorry.  I've lost my --				false

		1290						LN		388		14		false		           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Did you say Page 6?				false

		1291						LN		388		15		false		           15                        MR. McVEE:  Oh.  I'm sorry.  Page 7				false

		1292						LN		388		16		false		           16     of your testimony.				false

		1293						LN		388		17		false		           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  7.  Thank you.				false

		1294						LN		388		18		false		           18                        MR. McVEE:  Lines 4 through 8.				false

		1295						LN		388		19		false		           19                        THE WITNESS:  4 through 8.  Okay.				false

		1296						LN		388		20		false		           20     I'm there.				false

		1297						LN		388		21		false		           21  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  All right.  In that recommendation, you				false

		1298						LN		388		22		false		           22     recommend that PacifiCorp include workbooks and other				false

		1299						LN		388		23		false		           23     information -- similar to that indicated in testimony				false

		1300						LN		388		24		false		           24     of witnesses Earle, Mullins, and Wilson -- to be				false

		1301						LN		388		25		false		           25     significant value in interpreting the protocol,				false

		1302						PG		389		0		false		page 389				false

		1303						LN		389		1		false		            1     correct?				false

		1304						LN		389		2		false		            2          And we're talking about the Phase 2 filing.				false

		1305						LN		389		3		false		            3  A  Yes, I agree with those expert witnesses.				false

		1306						LN		389		4		false		            4  Q  Okay.  And what specific workbooks and other				false

		1307						LN		389		5		false		            5     information are you referring to?				false

		1308						LN		389		6		false		            6  A  I believe those are further detailed down in testimony.				false

		1309						LN		389		7		false		            7  Q  In your testimony?				false

		1310						LN		389		8		false		            8  A  I believe the information that we're seeking is				false

		1311						LN		389		9		false		            9     outlined in the last question as well as whatever				false

		1312						LN		389		10		false		           10     expert witness testimony they -- they've described in				false

		1313						LN		389		11		false		           11     their testimony as needing additional information to				false

		1314						LN		389		12		false		           12     review.				false

		1315						LN		389		13		false		           13  Q  So when you say your testimony, do you mean staff				false

		1316						LN		389		14		false		           14     witness Wilson's testimony or later in your testimony?				false

		1317						LN		389		15		false		           15  A  I guess, can you rephrase your question so that way I				false

		1318						LN		389		16		false		           16     understand it completely?				false

		1319						LN		389		17		false		           17  Q  So in the -- in your Recommendation 3, you state that				false

		1320						LN		389		18		false		           18     in the company's Phase 2 filing, it should include				false

		1321						LN		389		19		false		           19     workbooks and other information similar to that				false

		1322						LN		389		20		false		           20     indicated in the testimony of witnesses Earle, Mullins,				false

		1323						LN		389		21		false		           21     and Wilson to be of significant value in interpreting				false

		1324						LN		389		22		false		           22     the protocol.				false

		1325						LN		389		23		false		           23          Are you asking for all information that was				false

		1326						LN		389		24		false		           24     addressed by those witnesses to be included in the				false

		1327						LN		389		25		false		           25     Phase 2 filing?				false

		1328						PG		390		0		false		page 390				false

		1329						LN		390		1		false		            1  A  I think, for a complete analysis, what I'm recommending				false

		1330						LN		390		2		false		            2     is for workbooks and other information that are -- that				false

		1331						LN		390		3		false		            3     were similarly requested and for discovery in this case				false

		1332						LN		390		4		false		            4     be included in that filing, yes.  And that's to create				false

		1333						LN		390		5		false		            5     a complete file for our staff and other parties to				false

		1334						LN		390		6		false		            6     review and not have to do additional discovery to				false

		1335						LN		390		7		false		            7     review that information.				false

		1336						LN		390		8		false		            8  Q  Thank you.				false

		1337						LN		390		9		false		            9          Would that include issues that may be rejected by				false

		1338						LN		390		10		false		           10     the Commission in its order?				false

		1339						LN		390		11		false		           11  A  Can you clarify what you mean by that?				false

		1340						LN		390		12		false		           12  Q  So if certain issues raised by the parties are rejected				false

		1341						LN		390		13		false		           13     by the Commission in its order or maybe there's changed				false

		1342						LN		390		14		false		           14     circumstances, would that recommendation hold, that we				false

		1343						LN		390		15		false		           15     would still -- the company should still be required to				false

		1344						LN		390		16		false		           16     provide information articulated by parties in this				false

		1345						LN		390		17		false		           17     case?				false

		1346						LN		390		18		false		           18  A  I think that the company should file, you know, what				false

		1347						LN		390		19		false		           19     the Commission orders and maybe have the Commission				false

		1348						LN		390		20		false		           20     clarify what would be best to file in their next case.				false

		1349						LN		390		21		false		           21     So I leave that up to the Commission to decide and for				false

		1350						LN		390		22		false		           22     the company to then respond appropriately to that				false

		1351						LN		390		23		false		           23     decision.				false

		1352						LN		390		24		false		           24  Q  Moving to your Recommendation 6, this is at Page 8,				false

		1353						LN		390		25		false		           25     Lines 1 through 5.				false

		1354						PG		391		0		false		page 391				false

		1355						LN		391		1		false		            1  A  I'm there.				false

		1356						LN		391		2		false		            2  Q  And it actually starts on Page 7 -- I'm sorry --				false

		1357						LN		391		3		false		            3     Lines 22 to 23.  But the recommendation is for, if				false

		1358						LN		391		4		false		            4     discussions across multiple jurisdictions, which				false

		1359						LN		391		5		false		            5     relates to your first recommendation, do not result in				false

		1360						LN		391		6		false		            6     a consensus, then it calls for specific discussions.				false

		1361						LN		391		7		false		            7          So your recommendation is for PacifiCorp to be				false

		1362						LN		391		8		false		            8     directed to consult with AWEC staff and public counsel				false

		1363						LN		391		9		false		            9     at a minimum to obtain consensus alternative and				false

		1364						LN		391		10		false		           10     include a full analysis in a Phase 2 filing, correct?				false

		1365						LN		391		11		false		           11  A  That's what my testimony says.				false

		1366						LN		391		12		false		           12  Q  Do you agree that PacifiCorp, as a utility, has the				false

		1367						LN		391		13		false		           13     ultimate responsibility to maintain safe, reliable, and				false

		1368						LN		391		14		false		           14     affordable electric service in compliance with all				false

		1369						LN		391		15		false		           15     legal requirements?				false

		1370						LN		391		16		false		           16  A  Yes.				false

		1371						LN		391		17		false		           17  Q  Did staff or any other parties analyze reliability of				false

		1372						LN		391		18		false		           18     the system or resource adequacy in their testimony in				false

		1373						LN		391		19		false		           19     this proceeding?				false

		1374						LN		391		20		false		           20  A  That does not relate to my testimony.  I wouldn't know.				false

		1375						LN		391		21		false		           21     I wouldn't be able to speak to that.  You'd have to ask				false

		1376						LN		391		22		false		           22     them.				false

		1377						LN		391		23		false		           23  Q  Do you know, did you review any of the testimony of the				false

		1378						LN		391		24		false		           24     other parties in this proceeding?				false

		1379						LN		391		25		false		           25  A  I remember reviewing them, but I don't memorize them.				false

		1380						PG		392		0		false		page 392				false

		1381						LN		392		1		false		            1  Q  Do you know if -- did you or do you know of any other				false

		1382						LN		392		2		false		            2     party that analyzed compliance with the NERC -- that's				false

		1383						LN		392		3		false		            3     the North Electric Reliabil- -- American Electric				false

		1384						LN		392		4		false		            4     Reliability Council's reliability standards in their				false

		1385						LN		392		5		false		            5     testimony?				false

		1386						LN		392		6		false		            6  A  I would defer you to our expert witness Wilson on that.				false

		1387						LN		392		7		false		            7  Q  Did you analyze any compliance with the NERC standards				false

		1388						LN		392		8		false		            8     or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission				false

		1389						LN		392		9		false		            9     requirements --				false

		1390						LN		392		10		false		           10  A  No.				false

		1391						LN		392		11		false		           11  Q  -- in your testimony?				false

		1392						LN		392		12		false		           12  A  We consulted with an expert witness who we sought				false

		1393						LN		392		13		false		           13     consultation with in this case, so I would defer you to				false

		1394						LN		392		14		false		           14     him on those.				false

		1395						LN		392		15		false		           15  Q  And that -- you're referring to staff witness Wilson?				false

		1396						LN		392		16		false		           16  A  Correct.				false

		1397						LN		392		17		false		           17  Q  Okay.  And so staff witness Wilson, in their testimony,				false

		1398						LN		392		18		false		           18     did not address the Federal Energy Regulatory				false

		1399						LN		392		19		false		           19     Commission requirements or North American Electric				false

		1400						LN		392		20		false		           20     Reliability Council requirements, and that was not an				false

		1401						LN		392		21		false		           21     issue for staff?				false

		1402						LN		392		22		false		           22  A  You would have to ask him on that.				false

		1403						LN		392		23		false		           23  Q  Thank you.				false

		1404						LN		392		24		false		           24          Turning to your Recommendation 4, which is on				false

		1405						LN		392		25		false		           25     Page 7, Lines 1 through 13 -- I'm sorry -- 9 through				false

		1406						PG		393		0		false		page 393				false

		1407						LN		393		1		false		            1     13.				false

		1408						LN		393		2		false		            2  A  Okay.				false

		1409						LN		393		3		false		            3  Q  I'm sorry.  Let me correct that.  9 through 12.				false

		1410						LN		393		4		false		            4  A  Yes.				false

		1411						LN		393		5		false		            5  Q  You raise an issue of over-collection of costs by				false

		1412						LN		393		6		false		            6     PacifiCorp across the jurisdictions, correct?				false

		1413						LN		393		7		false		            7  A  I believe this is talking about demonstrating how the				false

		1414						LN		393		8		false		            8     NPCs and non-NPCs are recovered across each				false

		1415						LN		393		9		false		            9     jurisdiction.				false

		1416						LN		393		10		false		           10  Q  And if that recovery across all jurisdictions varies				false

		1417						LN		393		11		false		           11     significantly from a hundred percent, you recommend				false

		1418						LN		393		12		false		           12     that PacifiCorp be directed to include an explanation				false

		1419						LN		393		13		false		           13     as to why it's reasonable, correct?				false

		1420						LN		393		14		false		           14  A  That's what my testimony says.				false

		1421						LN		393		15		false		           15  Q  Would you agree that allocations are an input in each				false

		1422						LN		393		16		false		           16     rate filing before each state commission and used to				false

		1423						LN		393		17		false		           17     determine the cost of service to customers in each				false

		1424						LN		393		18		false		           18     state?				false

		1425						LN		393		19		false		           19  A  I would agree with that statement.				false

		1426						LN		393		20		false		           20  Q  All right.  And rates approved by each jurisdiction				false

		1427						LN		393		21		false		           21     determined to be -- determined to be fair, just,				false

		1428						LN		393		22		false		           22     reasonable, and sufficient, or the applicable standard				false

		1429						LN		393		23		false		           23     for each state, would be the rates set for that				false

		1430						LN		393		24		false		           24     jurisdiction?				false

		1431						LN		393		25		false		           25  A  Yes.  Whatever the Commission orders, yes.				false

		1432						PG		394		0		false		page 394				false

		1433						LN		394		1		false		            1  Q  So -- and your Recommendation 4 would require				false

		1434						LN		394		2		false		            2     demonstration in Phase 2 filing of total recovery of				false

		1435						LN		394		3		false		            3     the company's costs across all jurisdictions and an				false

		1436						LN		394		4		false		            4     explanation as to why any cost varies from a hundred				false

		1437						LN		394		5		false		            5     percent, correct?				false

		1438						LN		394		6		false		            6  A  That's what my testimony says.				false

		1439						LN		394		7		false		            7  Q  All right.  How does staff propose to use that				false

		1440						LN		394		8		false		            8     information in that Phase 2 filing?				false

		1441						LN		394		9		false		            9  A  I don't know if I would be able to speak to that.  We				false

		1442						LN		394		10		false		           10     would probably consult with our expert witness for				false

		1443						LN		394		11		false		           11     that.  Additionally, just having the information in				false

		1444						LN		394		12		false		           12     file for staff to do a complete analysis is helpful for				false

		1445						LN		394		13		false		           13     us to come to a full determination, a recommendation				false

		1446						LN		394		14		false		           14     for the Commission.				false

		1447						LN		394		15		false		           15  Q  But that information would relate to collection during				false

		1448						LN		394		16		false		           16     a -- sorry.  Let me rephrase that.				false

		1449						LN		394		17		false		           17          Is that information intended to be forward-looking				false

		1450						LN		394		18		false		           18     for the Phase 2 filing or backward-looking for the,				false

		1451						LN		394		19		false		           19     what would be the current allocation methodology?				false

		1452						LN		394		20		false		           20  A  So I think when we're talking about backward-looking				false

		1453						LN		394		21		false		           21     for staff, it is to learn, not necessarily punish or				false

		1454						LN		394		22		false		           22     re-evaluate.  It is so that way staff can make good				false

		1455						LN		394		23		false		           23     recommendations for the Commission's consideration in				false

		1456						LN		394		24		false		           24     its cases going forward.				false

		1457						LN		394		25		false		           25          So I don't think that -- I do think that all				false

		1458						PG		395		0		false		page 395				false

		1459						LN		395		1		false		            1     information is valuable in these types of filings for				false

		1460						LN		395		2		false		            2     us to make a good recommendation for the Commission to				false

		1461						LN		395		3		false		            3     consider.				false

		1462						LN		395		4		false		            4  Q  So would you agree that that could not be used for any				false

		1463						LN		395		5		false		            5     of the identification of any potential refunds to				false

		1464						LN		395		6		false		            6     customers?				false

		1465						LN		395		7		false		            7  A  I mean, I don't know if I could speak to that now,				false

		1466						LN		395		8		false		            8     'cause I do think that there are some avenues available				false

		1467						LN		395		9		false		            9     that the Commission has -- I believe it's an RCW --				false

		1468						LN		395		10		false		           10     investigative rules.  If there is a complaint filed,				false

		1469						LN		395		11		false		           11     the Commission can make a determination on if they				false

		1470						LN		395		12		false		           12     would like to.  That's not something that staff is				false

		1471						LN		395		13		false		           13     looking for right now.				false

		1472						LN		395		14		false		           14          We are looking to learn so that way we can make				false

		1473						LN		395		15		false		           15     better reasonable decisions going forward so that way				false

		1474						LN		395		16		false		           16     customer impact is not -- customers are not impacted,				false

		1475						LN		395		17		false		           17     you know, negatively.				false

		1476						LN		395		18		false		           18  Q  So are you saying that the Commission could issue				false

		1477						LN		395		19		false		           19     refunds based on rates that were approved as fair,				false

		1478						LN		395		20		false		           20     just, reasonable, and sufficient in Washington because				false

		1479						LN		395		21		false		           21     of rates that were recovered in other states that were				false

		1480						LN		395		22		false		           22     also determined to be fair, just, reasonable, and				false

		1481						LN		395		23		false		           23     sufficient?				false

		1482						LN		395		24		false		           24  A  No, I don't think I'd say that.				false

		1483						LN		395		25		false		           25  Q  Could you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-5X, Page 12 of 13.				false

		1484						PG		396		0		false		page 396				false

		1485						LN		396		1		false		            1                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, staff also				false

		1486						LN		396		2		false		            2     objected to this DR as outside the scope of				false

		1487						LN		396		3		false		            3     Ms. Hawkins-Jones' testimony and not relevant to this				false

		1488						LN		396		4		false		            4     matter.				false

		1489						LN		396		5		false		            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any response?				false

		1490						LN		396		6		false		            6                        MR. McVEE:  Yes.  This is actually				false

		1491						LN		396		7		false		            7     just in line with the same questions I've been having.				false

		1492						LN		396		8		false		            8     It was just a data request response that -- where staff				false

		1493						LN		396		9		false		            9     makes a similar statement to what the witness just				false

		1494						LN		396		10		false		           10     made.				false

		1495						LN		396		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Please give me just				false

		1496						LN		396		12		false		           12     one moment to review the exhibit.				false

		1497						LN		396		13		false		           13          And, Ms. Strauss, your argument is that this is				false

		1498						LN		396		14		false		           14     not relevant to Ms. Hawkins-Jones' testimony?				false

		1499						LN		396		15		false		           15                        MS. STRAUSS:  I would argue that				false

		1500						LN		396		16		false		           16     Ms. Hawkins-Jones is testifying about the 2026				false

		1501						LN		396		17		false		           17     protocol.  This line of questioning about past				false

		1502						LN		396		18		false		           18     allocation methodologies and how they were applied is				false

		1503						LN		396		19		false		           19     not relevant to staff's position on the 2026 protocol.				false

		1504						LN		396		20		false		           20          Arguably, this line of questioning about potential				false

		1505						LN		396		21		false		           21     overpayment in the staff, which staff is interested				false

		1506						LN		396		22		false		           22     about from a learning perspective, is not on point with				false

		1507						LN		396		23		false		           23     the issue before the Commission of whether the 2026				false

		1508						LN		396		24		false		           24     protocol should be approved in this proceeding.				false

		1509						LN		396		25		false		           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  In reviewing				false

		1510						PG		397		0		false		page 397				false

		1511						LN		397		1		false		            1     the contents of the data request, it seems to go				false

		1512						LN		397		2		false		            2     directly to what is contained in witness Hawkins-Jones'				false

		1513						LN		397		3		false		            3     testimony and Recommendation 4, I believe on Page 7.				false

		1514						LN		397		4		false		            4          And so for that reason, I do believe it's within				false

		1515						LN		397		5		false		            5     the scope on a narrow basis as to how that				false

		1516						LN		397		6		false		            6     recommendation may apply to the 2026 protocol.  I will				false

		1517						LN		397		7		false		            7     overrule the objection at this point in time.				false

		1518						LN		397		8		false		            8          And, Counsel, you may proceed.				false

		1519						LN		397		9		false		            9                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.				false

		1520						LN		397		10		false		           10  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  So are you on that page?				false

		1521						LN		397		11		false		           11  A  I am.				false

		1522						LN		397		12		false		           12  Q  Okay.  And this is staff's request to PacifiCorp Data				false

		1523						LN		397		13		false		           13     Request No. 27, correct?				false

		1524						LN		397		14		false		           14  A  Yes, it is.				false

		1525						LN		397		15		false		           15  Q  And you were the witness that responded to this?				false

		1526						LN		397		16		false		           16     You're the witness and responder?				false

		1527						LN		397		17		false		           17  A  Yes, that's what it says.				false

		1528						LN		397		18		false		           18  Q  Could you read the last sentence of your response,				false

		1529						LN		397		19		false		           19     please.				false

		1530						LN		397		20		false		           20  A  "Staff's recommendation is to develop information and				false

		1531						LN		397		21		false		           21     is not related to any process for recovery of				false

		1532						LN		397		22		false		           22     historical under- or over-recovery."				false

		1533						LN		397		23		false		           23  Q  So this is really meant -- your recommendation is --				false

		1534						LN		397		24		false		           24     would you agree that your recommendation is meant to				false

		1535						LN		397		25		false		           25     provide information looking backwards from rather than				false

		1536						PG		398		0		false		page 398				false

		1537						LN		398		1		false		            1     analyzing a Phase 2 implementation, Phase 2 allocation				false

		1538						LN		398		2		false		            2     implementation?				false

		1539						LN		398		3		false		            3  A  Can you restate it?				false

		1540						LN		398		4		false		            4  Q  So in your Request that -- in your Request -- or				false

		1541						LN		398		5		false		            5     Recommendation 4, you recommend that the total recovery				false

		1542						LN		398		6		false		            6     of any cost varies from a hundred percent.				false

		1543						LN		398		7		false		            7          That's looking backwards, correct?				false

		1544						LN		398		8		false		            8  A  Correct.  A demonstration of how.				false

		1545						LN		398		9		false		            9  Q  And that would be for several years, correct?				false

		1546						LN		398		10		false		           10  A  I'm sure in consultation with other parties or however				false

		1547						LN		398		11		false		           11     the company wants to interpret this recommendation or				false

		1548						LN		398		12		false		           12     if the Commission wants to provide clarification in				false

		1549						LN		398		13		false		           13     their determination.  I have no preference on years.  I				false

		1550						LN		398		14		false		           14     think what staff is looking for is historical				false

		1551						LN		398		15		false		           15     information so that way we can learn and apply it				false

		1552						LN		398		16		false		           16     forward-looking.				false

		1553						LN		398		17		false		           17  Q  Okay.  Could you turn to Page 9 of 13 of that same				false

		1554						LN		398		18		false		           18     exhibit.  That's JHJ-5X.				false

		1555						LN		398		19		false		           19  A  Data Request No. 20?				false

		1556						LN		398		20		false		           20  Q  That's correct.				false

		1557						LN		398		21		false		           21          And on the last -- on the first page of that				false

		1558						LN		398		22		false		           22     response -- sorry.  It is a one-page response.				false

		1559						LN		398		23		false		           23          The very last paragraph, you clarify that, for the				false

		1560						LN		398		24		false		           24     Phase 2 analysis, that that test- -- that analysis				false

		1561						LN		398		25		false		           25     should be limited to test-year cost data, correct?				false

		1562						PG		399		0		false		page 399				false

		1563						LN		399		1		false		            1  A  That's what it says.				false

		1564						LN		399		2		false		            2  Q  So the analysis of any potential over-collection is for				false

		1565						LN		399		3		false		            3     informational purposes only?				false

		1566						LN		399		4		false		            4  A  Yes.				false

		1567						LN		399		5		false		            5  Q  So it would not assist in the analysis of any Phase 2				false

		1568						LN		399		6		false		            6     allocation filing.				false

		1569						LN		399		7		false		            7          That would be based on test-year data, correct?				false

		1570						LN		399		8		false		            8  A  Yes, for this regarding Phase 2, we -- I state that it				false

		1571						LN		399		9		false		            9     should be limited to the test-year cost data.				false

		1572						LN		399		10		false		           10                        MR. McVEE:  All right.  Thank you.				false

		1573						LN		399		11		false		           11          No further questions, Your Honor.				false

		1574						LN		399		12		false		           12                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any redirect from				false

		1575						LN		399		13		false		           13     staff?				false

		1576						LN		399		14		false		           14                        MS. STRAUSS:  Just briefly, Your				false

		1577						LN		399		15		false		           15     Honor.				false

		1578						LN		399		16		false		           16				false

		1579						LN		399		17		false		           17                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION				false

		1580						LN		399		18		false		           18     BY MS. STRAUSS:				false

		1581						LN		399		19		false		           19  Q  Ms. Hawkins-Jones, you were asked a few questions about				false

		1582						LN		399		20		false		           20     the various information staff has suggested the				false

		1583						LN		399		21		false		           21     Commission order the -- order PacifiCorp to provide in				false

		1584						LN		399		22		false		           22     a Phase 2 filing.				false

		1585						LN		399		23		false		           23          Why does staff want this additional information?				false

		1586						LN		399		24		false		           24  A  I think that way it creates a complete initial filing				false

		1587						LN		399		25		false		           25     so that way staff has a full case in their first				false

		1588						PG		400		0		false		page 400				false

		1589						LN		400		1		false		            1     review.  I think the burden is on the company to make				false

		1590						LN		400		2		false		            2     that initial filing complete and accurate, and a case				false

		1591						LN		400		3		false		            3     should not be made through discovery.				false

		1592						LN		400		4		false		            4  Q  And, Ms. Hawkins-Jones, PacifiCorp has asked quite a				false

		1593						LN		400		5		false		            5     few questions about over-collection information, and				false

		1594						LN		400		6		false		            6     your testimony talks about various variances from a				false

		1595						LN		400		7		false		            7     hundred percent of collection.				false

		1596						LN		400		8		false		            8          Is staff concerned about the 2026 protocol and the				false

		1597						LN		400		9		false		            9     issue of variances from a hundred percent collection?				false

		1598						LN		400		10		false		           10  A  Yes, I don't think that there's enough information in				false

		1599						LN		400		11		false		           11     the file for us to make a determination at this point,				false

		1600						LN		400		12		false		           12     and we seem to have more questions than answers at this				false

		1601						LN		400		13		false		           13     point.				false

		1602						LN		400		14		false		           14  Q  And so during a Phase 2 assessment, you'll be hoping to				false

		1603						LN		400		15		false		           15     look at whether the 2026 protocol, whether actual				false

		1604						LN		400		16		false		           16     collection is deviating from a hundred percent?				false

		1605						LN		400		17		false		           17  A  Correct.				false

		1606						LN		400		18		false		           18  Q  Okay.  And the Commission does not practice retroactive				false

		1607						LN		400		19		false		           19     ratemaking, correct?				false

		1608						LN		400		20		false		           20  A  Correct.				false

		1609						LN		400		21		false		           21                        MS. STRAUSS:  Okay.  No further				false

		1610						LN		400		22		false		           22     questions, Your Honor.				false

		1611						LN		400		23		false		           23                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Thank you.				false

		1612						LN		400		24		false		           24          Any questions from the bench?				false

		1613						LN		400		25		false		           25          Okay.  Thank you.  I believe that concludes the				false

		1614						PG		401		0		false		page 401				false

		1615						LN		401		1		false		            1     questions for you.  You may be excused at this time.				false

		1616						LN		401		2		false		            2                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		1617						LN		401		3		false		            3                               (Witness excused.)				false

		1618						LN		401		4		false		            4				false

		1619						LN		401		5		false		            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And I believe that				false

		1620						LN		401		6		false		            6     brings us to witness Earle.				false

		1621						LN		401		7		false		            7                               (Witness appearing remotely.)				false

		1622						LN		401		8		false		            8				false

		1623						LN		401		9		false		            9                        THE WITNESS:  I'm here.  I'm having				false

		1624						LN		401		10		false		           10     a little bit of a problem with Zoom.				false

		1625						LN		401		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That is okay.  We				false

		1626						LN		401		12		false		           12     can hear you.				false

		1627						LN		401		13		false		           13                        THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Great.				false
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		1869						LN		410		21		false		           21          Let's go ahead and -- okay.  Let's go ahead and do				false

		1870						LN		410		22		false		           22     a 10 -minute break.  We will be off the record, and				false

		1871						LN		410		23		false		           23     we'll return at 10:35.				false

		1872						LN		410		24		false		           24                               (Pause in proceedings from				false

		1873						LN		410		25		false		           25                                10:23 a.m. to 10:36 a.m.)				false

		1874						PG		411		0		false		page 411				false

		1875						LN		411		1		false		            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  It is now				false

		1876						LN		411		2		false		            2     10:36 a.m.  let's be back on the record.				false

		1877						LN		411		3		false		            3          Thank you.				false

		1878						LN		411		4		false		            4          And witness Earle is still sworn in.				false

		1879						LN		411		5		false		            5          I'll just turn to the company really quick.  Have				false

		1880						LN		411		6		false		            6     you decided on a best course of action?				false

		1881						LN		411		7		false		            7                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes, Your Honor.  The				false

		1882						LN		411		8		false		            8     company would recall Mike Wilding to the stand to				false

		1883						LN		411		9		false		            9     provide what I think will be relatively brief response				false

		1884						LN		411		10		false		           10     testimony.				false

		1885						LN		411		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.				false

		1886						LN		411		12		false		           12                        MR. LOWNEY:  And then we will be				false

		1887						LN		411		13		false		           13     available to commissioner questions to the extent there				false

		1888						LN		411		14		false		           14     are any.				false

		1889						LN		411		15		false		           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so forgo				false

		1890						LN		411		16		false		           16     cross-examination of witness Earle.				false

		1891						LN		411		17		false		           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  That's correct.				false

		1892						LN		411		18		false		           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank				false

		1893						LN		411		19		false		           19     you.				false

		1894						LN		411		20		false		           20          At this point in time, we can proceed.  I'll just				false

		1895						LN		411		21		false		           21     turn to staff and give you an opportunity.				false

		1896						LN		411		22		false		           22          Did you have any cross questions for witness				false

		1897						LN		411		23		false		           23     Earle?				false

		1898						LN		411		24		false		           24                        MS. STRAUSS:  We don't have any				false

		1899						LN		411		25		false		           25     cross questions at this time, but we may address any				false

		1900						PG		412		0		false		page 412				false

		1901						LN		412		1		false		            1     issues on brief.				false

		1902						LN		412		2		false		            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you				false

		1903						LN		412		3		false		            3     very much.				false

		1904						LN		412		4		false		            4          Then we will turn to questions from the bench.				false

		1905						LN		412		5		false		            5                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Mr. Earle, I think				false

		1906						LN		412		6		false		            6     you've sort of answered this question, but you've				false

		1907						LN		412		7		false		            7     probably heard some of the questions on wind				false

		1908						LN		412		8		false		            8     curtailments, and you have a agreement effectively with				false

		1909						LN		412		9		false		            9     AWEC's proposal in this case on wind curtailments.				false

		1910						LN		412		10		false		           10          Given that you did not change any of your				false

		1911						LN		412		11		false		           11     testimony on this issue, I assume you stand by your				false

		1912						LN		412		12		false		           12     effective adoption of the AWEC position in this case on				false

		1913						LN		412		13		false		           13     wind curtailments, how they're modeled?				false

		1914						LN		412		14		false		           14                        THE WITNESS:  I think that AWEC				false

		1915						LN		412		15		false		           15     basically has it right in this.  Yesterday's --				false

		1916						LN		412		16		false		           16     yesterday's testimony was -- by Mr. Mitchell was				false

		1917						LN		412		17		false		           17     interesting.  The two things that are missing for me				false

		1918						LN		412		18		false		           18     from -- from what he said is there still seems to be a				false

		1919						LN		412		19		false		           19     disconnect between the historical and what the model				false

		1920						LN		412		20		false		           20     outcomes are.				false

		1921						LN		412		21		false		           21          And the second -- the second thing is, while he				false

		1922						LN		412		22		false		           22     did go through this thing of, well, the curtailment				false

		1923						LN		412		23		false		           23     order is gas, coal, wind, my question about coal, which				false

		1924						LN		412		24		false		           24     I don't believe he really answered, has to do with				false

		1925						LN		412		25		false		           25     minimum-take contracts and if the minimum-take				false

		1926						PG		413		0		false		page 413				false

		1927						LN		413		1		false		            1     contracts are driving part of the reasons why coal is				false

		1928						LN		413		2		false		            2     maybe not curtailed as much as it could have been and				false

		1929						LN		413		3		false		            3     what the -- what the relative cost of those coal				false

		1930						LN		413		4		false		            4     contracts are versus the cost for the wind curtailment.				false

		1931						LN		413		5		false		            5          And then there's -- there's -- there's the				false

		1932						LN		413		6		false		            6     sticky -- the sticky issue of, well, not curtailing the				false

		1933						LN		413		7		false		            7     coal benefits some jurisdictions, whereas curtailing				false

		1934						LN		413		8		false		            8     the wind hurts other jurisdictions, and whether				false

		1935						LN		413		9		false		            9     there -- there are issues there.				false

		1936						LN		413		10		false		           10          So I didn't -- I didn't find Mitchell's				false

		1937						LN		413		11		false		           11     explanation compelling so that I would think, Oh, wait				false

		1938						LN		413		12		false		           12     a minute.  He's really explained the problem.				false

		1939						LN		413		13		false		           13                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  With respect to the				false

		1940						LN		413		14		false		           14     coal contracts that you just referenced, did you hear				false

		1941						LN		413		15		false		           15     Mr. Wilson's testimony earlier today?				false

		1942						LN		413		16		false		           16                        THE WITNESS:  I did.				false

		1943						LN		413		17		false		           17                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  What I heard there				false

		1944						LN		413		18		false		           18     was that effectively you'd want -- the Commission				false

		1945						LN		413		19		false		           19     should review the EIM data and what I would think of as				false

		1946						LN		413		20		false		           20     the set points for the minimum runs of those plants				false

		1947						LN		413		21		false		           21     would be one way of addressing to ensure that they are				false

		1948						LN		413		22		false		           22     indeed curtailed to the lowest level.				false

		1949						LN		413		23		false		           23          Is that your understanding of what that testimony				false

		1950						LN		413		24		false		           24     was?				false

		1951						LN		413		25		false		           25                        THE WITNESS:  That sounds right.				false

		1952						PG		414		0		false		page 414				false

		1953						LN		414		1		false		            1     And I think that would be a good thing to do certainly.				false

		1954						LN		414		2		false		            2                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  And then just one				false

		1955						LN		414		3		false		            3     last set of questions on the curtailments.				false

		1956						LN		414		4		false		            4          Mr. Mitchell, we had an exchange yesterday about				false

		1957						LN		414		5		false		            5     what the impacts of setting curtailments too high in				false

		1958						LN		414		6		false		            6     the model to set the cost relative to the PCAM impacts				false

		1959						LN		414		7		false		            7     of that potentially in the future if indeed wind is				false

		1960						LN		414		8		false		            8     curtailed less.				false

		1961						LN		414		9		false		            9          Any response to that from public counsel on what				false

		1962						LN		414		10		false		           10     those impacts would be?				false

		1963						LN		414		11		false		           11                        THE WITNESS:  Sure.				false

		1964						LN		414		12		false		           12          So if -- if the PCAM process were a complete				false

		1965						LN		414		13		false		           13     pass-through dollar for dollar, I would not -- you				false

		1966						LN		414		14		false		           14     know, I would -- I -- assuming that, you know, the --				false

		1967						LN		414		15		false		           15     the amounts weren't large -- they seem to be large --				false

		1968						LN		414		16		false		           16     but if the amounts weren't large, you'd think, well,				false

		1969						LN		414		17		false		           17     okay, we're off -- we're off by 1 percent of -- of MPC.				false

		1970						LN		414		18		false		           18     Ratepayers will get it back later.				false

		1971						LN		414		19		false		           19          The issue -- the issue is, is -- is because of the				false

		1972						LN		414		20		false		           20     dead band and the sharing bands and the PCAM, if you're				false

		1973						LN		414		21		false		           21     off -- assuming everything else is spot-on, if you're				false

		1974						LN		414		22		false		           22     off 1 percent, well, that 1 percent accrues to the				false

		1975						LN		414		23		false		           23     company's benefit.  If you're off by other amounts,				false

		1976						LN		414		24		false		           24     then the amount that accrues to the company's benefit				false

		1977						LN		414		25		false		           25     is less, depending on which sharing band you're in.				false

		1978						PG		415		0		false		page 415				false

		1979						LN		415		1		false		            1          But I don't -- I guess I would -- I would prefer				false

		1980						LN		415		2		false		            2     to see a more accurate forecast for all things rather				false

		1981						LN		415		3		false		            3     than -- rather than have it, you know, say, okay, the				false

		1982						LN		415		4		false		            4     PCAM will take care of it.  Because the PCAM doesn't				false

		1983						LN		415		5		false		            5     quite take care of it.  You know, the PCAM is there to				false

		1984						LN		415		6		false		            6     incentivize the company to do the best it can in its --				false

		1985						LN		415		7		false		            7     in its operations.				false

		1986						LN		415		8		false		            8          And so -- so, I guess, in my opinion, just relying				false

		1987						LN		415		9		false		            9     on the PCAM isn't -- isn't a good solution.				false

		1988						LN		415		10		false		           10                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  Thank				false

		1989						LN		415		11		false		           11     you.  I have no further questions.				false

		1990						LN		415		12		false		           12                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		1991						LN		415		13		false		           13                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning,				false

		1992						LN		415		14		false		           14     Mr. Earle.				false

		1993						LN		415		15		false		           15                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.				false

		1994						LN		415		16		false		           16                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning.				false

		1995						LN		415		17		false		           17          So I'm assuming you heard the questions I asked to				false

		1996						LN		415		18		false		           18     witness Wilson?				false

		1997						LN		415		19		false		           19                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		1998						LN		415		20		false		           20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  So one				false

		1999						LN		415		21		false		           21     of those questions is similar, on the future hedging				false

		2000						LN		415		22		false		           22     costs.  And my question referred to witness Mitchell's				false

		2001						LN		415		23		false		           23     rebuttal testimony, 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8, through				false

		2002						LN		415		24		false		           24     Page 36, Line 10.				false

		2003						LN		415		25		false		           25          He argues that the forward market transaction				false

		2004						PG		416		0		false		page 416				false

		2005						LN		416		1		false		            1     costs and volume are known and reasonable, and				false

		2006						LN		416		2		false		            2     considering the information that the company provided				false

		2007						LN		416		3		false		            3     and the testimony yesterday, does that change your				false

		2008						LN		416		4		false		            4     testimony in this docket on this issue?				false

		2009						LN		416		5		false		            5                        THE WITNESS:  No.  And while I				false

		2010						LN		416		6		false		            6     appreciate his testimony yesterday, I am still				false

		2011						LN		416		7		false		            7     concerned about the fact that we don't have any				false

		2012						LN		416		8		false		            8     documentation in terms of how they're going to hedge				false

		2013						LN		416		9		false		            9     for Washington.  And, in fact, what they have said				false

		2014						LN		416		10		false		           10     is -- they said this in the -- in the data request				false

		2015						LN		416		11		false		           11     response.  They said, Well, you know, we're not going				false

		2016						LN		416		12		false		           12     to do any hedging for Washington specifically until				false

		2017						LN		416		13		false		           13     2026.  Until that calendar year, not for that calendar				false

		2018						LN		416		14		false		           14     year.				false

		2019						LN		416		15		false		           15          And so saying that, Well, we're going to do these				false

		2020						LN		416		16		false		           16     hedges for Washington based on a policy that doesn't				false

		2021						LN		416		17		false		           17     exist, I find -- I find concerning.  And when asked				false

		2022						LN		416		18		false		           18     again in a data request, Are you going to allocate --				false

		2023						LN		416		19		false		           19                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Before you				false

		2024						LN		416		20		false		           20     go -- before you go farther, so this is the second data				false

		2025						LN		416		21		false		           21     request you've mentioned.  I just want to make sure				false

		2026						LN		416		22		false		           22     these are in the record.				false

		2027						LN		416		23		false		           23          So the first data request you mentioned, if you				false

		2028						LN		416		24		false		           24     can give the cite to it, and then for the second one,				false

		2029						LN		416		25		false		           25     that would be helpful too.				false

		2030						PG		417		0		false		page 417				false

		2031						LN		417		1		false		            1                        THE WITNESS:  I don't have it in my				false

		2032						LN		417		2		false		            2     head right now, but I can certainly respond to a bench				false

		2033						LN		417		3		false		            3     request or whatever method is appropriate.				false

		2034						LN		417		4		false		            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yeah, we can				false

		2035						LN		417		5		false		            5     send a bench request.  I just want to make sure that				false

		2036						LN		417		6		false		            6     what you're citing to in your testimony here is				false

		2037						LN		417		7		false		            7     actually in the record and not something that we don't				false

		2038						LN		417		8		false		            8     have access to.  That's my concern.				false

		2039						LN		417		9		false		            9                        THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.				false

		2040						LN		417		10		false		           10     Absolutely.				false

		2041						LN		417		11		false		           11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.				false

		2042						LN		417		12		false		           12                        THE WITNESS:  And I -- and I				false

		2043						LN		417		13		false		           13     don't -- thank you.  I don't remember at this time				false

		2044						LN		417		14		false		           14     whether I cited them in my test- -- testimony or not.				false

		2045						LN		417		15		false		           15     But so I'm concerned that -- that these are				false

		2046						LN		417		16		false		           16     transactions which don't have any -- don't have any				false

		2047						LN		417		17		false		           17     basis in their policy, and then when -- when they --				false

		2048						LN		417		18		false		           18     when they were asked, Well, did you -- are you going to				false

		2049						LN		417		19		false		           19     allocate some of the hedges to -- that you're going to				false

		2050						LN		417		20		false		           20     make in 2025 to Washington? the answer was very				false

		2051						LN		417		21		false		           21     nonspecific.  You know, it was, like, How are you going				false

		2052						LN		417		22		false		           22     to do this?  It was very non- -- nonspecific.				false

		2053						LN		417		23		false		           23          So they haven't actually made these.  As				false

		2054						LN		417		24		false		           24     Mr. Mitchell made clear yesterday, it isn't clear when				false

		2055						LN		417		25		false		           25     they are going to make these.  And I think that the				false

		2056						PG		418		0		false		page 418				false

		2057						LN		418		1		false		            1     final thing that he said -- not that -- you know, he				false

		2058						LN		418		2		false		            2     said finally, but -- but he said that, Well, there will				false

		2059						LN		418		3		false		            3     be hedges included in our compliance filing.  And, you				false

		2060						LN		418		4		false		            4     know, those will be the -- as I understood him -- those				false

		2061						LN		418		5		false		            5     will be the hedges we'd actually made.				false

		2062						LN		418		6		false		            6          And that's entirely appropriate, you know.				false

		2063						LN		418		7		false		            7     Whether they're prudent or not and all of that is -- is				false

		2064						LN		418		8		false		            8     another issue that gets addressed likely in a PCAM, but				false

		2065						LN		418		9		false		            9     it's entirely appropriate that if, leading up to the				false

		2066						LN		418		10		false		           10     compliance filing, whenever that is -- let's say it's				false

		2067						LN		418		11		false		           11     in December -- if in November they put on -- they				false

		2068						LN		418		12		false		           12     actually go out and put on actual hedges by a power for				false

		2069						LN		418		13		false		           13     delivery in 2026, absolutely that should go in.  But				false

		2070						LN		418		14		false		           14     those are different.  Those are -- those are hedges				false

		2071						LN		418		15		false		           15     that they've actually put on.				false

		2072						LN		418		16		false		           16          So I still think that because these are hedges				false

		2073						LN		418		17		false		           17     that -- that appear in the -- in the model, that				false

		2074						LN		418		18		false		           18     they're not -- they're not according to any policy.				false

		2075						LN		418		19		false		           19     They're not really real.  I don't think they should be				false

		2076						LN		418		20		false		           20     muddled, because by including them, what they do is				false

		2077						LN		418		21		false		           21     they increase the NPC.				false

		2078						LN		418		22		false		           22                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank				false

		2079						LN		418		23		false		           23     you.				false

		2080						LN		418		24		false		           24          And I had a question about over-collections, but I				false

		2081						LN		418		25		false		           25     think you may have addressed that in your response to				false

		2082						PG		419		0		false		page 419				false

		2083						LN		419		1		false		            1     your counsel's question about any corrections, and I				false

		2084						LN		419		2		false		            2     think that all had to do with over-collection, so I'm				false

		2085						LN		419		3		false		            3     going to stop here.				false

		2086						LN		419		4		false		            4                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any further				false

		2087						LN		419		5		false		            5     questions?				false

		2088						LN		419		6		false		            6                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		2089						LN		419		7		false		            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I have just				false

		2090						LN		419		8		false		            8     a couple of clarifying questions for you, Mr. Earle,				false

		2091						LN		419		9		false		            9     just to clear up the update to your recommendation.				false

		2092						LN		419		10		false		           10     And as I understand it, it would be an update, but I				false

		2093						LN		419		11		false		           11     want to ensure that I've got clarity on that issue.				false

		2094						LN		419		12		false		           12          And so would the allocation of resources to				false

		2095						LN		419		13		false		           13     Washington remain the same as in your original				false

		2096						LN		419		14		false		           14     recommendation for public counsel's alternative,				false

		2097						LN		419		15		false		           15     removing --				false

		2098						LN		419		16		false		           16                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		2099						LN		419		17		false		           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is your				false

		2100						LN		419		18		false		           18     proposal that the resource adequacy and ancillary				false

		2101						LN		419		19		false		           19     services costs would be recovered through a charge that				false

		2102						LN		419		20		false		           20     would be, for lack of a better term, baked into the				false

		2103						LN		419		21		false		           21     power costs, or would it be trued up via the PCAM				false

		2104						LN		419		22		false		           22     through a compliance filing?				false

		2105						LN		419		23		false		           23                        THE WITNESS:  That's a -- that's an				false

		2106						LN		419		24		false		           24     interesting question that, in terms of where you --				false

		2107						LN		419		25		false		           25     where you collect it, that I did not -- I had not				false

		2108						PG		420		0		false		page 420				false

		2109						LN		420		1		false		            1     thought through.  I think either -- either is -- it				false

		2110						LN		420		2		false		            2     seems to me to be -- to be a possibility.  I -- since				false

		2111						LN		420		3		false		            3     resource adequacy is a prospective issue, you could				false

		2112						LN		420		4		false		            4     collect -- largely you could collect that ahead of				false

		2113						LN		420		5		false		            5     time.  Ancillary services may be a little -- a little				false

		2114						LN		420		6		false		            6     trickier thinking about, well, what if there's a				false

		2115						LN		420		7		false		            7     massive plant -- plant outage?  Does that change the --				false

		2116						LN		420		8		false		            8     the calculation?  And, again, on that I'm not sure.				false

		2117						LN		420		9		false		            9          So I guess there may be a need for some true-up.				false

		2118						LN		420		10		false		           10     I don't necessarily recommend that it be run through				false

		2119						LN		420		11		false		           11     the PCAM mechanism, though it could happen in the PCAM				false

		2120						LN		420		12		false		           12     proceeding.				false

		2121						LN		420		13		false		           13                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I think				false

		2122						LN		420		14		false		           14     just one final question.				false

		2123						LN		420		15		false		           15          Would the result of this -- it's different from				false

		2124						LN		420		16		false		           16     the WIJAM, but would the result potentially be similar				false

		2125						LN		420		17		false		           17     to the WIJAM where, because of resource adequacy				false

		2126						LN		420		18		false		           18     concerns, Washington would be in a prevailing short				false

		2127						LN		420		19		false		           19     position, as it's been called in previous filings, and				false

		2128						LN		420		20		false		           20     we would then expect PCAM filings to be continuing to				false

		2129						LN		420		21		false		           21     be -- to be large to true up for the shortfall?				false

		2130						LN		420		22		false		           22                        THE WITNESS:  Not necessarily.  And				false

		2131						LN		420		23		false		           23     the reason is, is there is a difference between				false

		2132						LN		420		24		false		           24     Washington having a market shortfall -- that is the				false

		2133						LN		420		25		false		           25     resource -- the resources that it subscribed to				false

		2134						PG		421		0		false		page 421				false

		2135						LN		421		1		false		            1     generate fewer megawatt-hours than Washington's load.				false

		2136						LN		421		2		false		            2     In that case, there's a market shortfall.  There's a				false

		2137						LN		421		3		false		            3     shortfall with respect to the market.  And Washington,				false

		2138						LN		421		4		false		            4     according to WIJAM, gets charged the market price for				false

		2139						LN		421		5		false		            5     that shortfall.				false

		2140						LN		421		6		false		            6          With resource adequacy, you might have resources				false

		2141						LN		421		7		false		            7     that -- as in the case of my recommendation, resources				false

		2142						LN		421		8		false		            8     provide sufficient energy, but when they're counted as				false

		2143						LN		421		9		false		            9     resource adequacy resources, because they're variable,				false

		2144						LN		421		10		false		           10     how much they get counted in terms of providing				false

		2145						LN		421		11		false		           11     resource adequacy is much less.				false

		2146						LN		421		12		false		           12          So -- so Washington might have a surplus of energy				false

		2147						LN		421		13		false		           13     and be long with respect to the market.  However, its				false

		2148						LN		421		14		false		           14     resource adequacy position could be -- could be short,				false

		2149						LN		421		15		false		           15     and so it would have to make a payment for the other				false

		2150						LN		421		16		false		           16     resources to the other jurisdictions that have an				false

		2151						LN		421		17		false		           17     excess of resource adequacy to make up their shortfall.				false

		2152						LN		421		18		false		           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you				false

		2153						LN		421		19		false		           19     for those clarifications.				false

		2154						LN		421		20		false		           20          Any further questions?				false

		2155						LN		421		21		false		           21          Okay.  I believe that concludes our questions for				false

		2156						LN		421		22		false		           22     you.  You may be excused.  Thank you for being				false

		2157						LN		421		23		false		           23     available this morning.				false

		2158						LN		421		24		false		           24                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		2159						LN		421		25		false		           25                               (Witness excused.)				false

		2160						PG		422		0		false		page 422				false

		2161						LN		422		1		false		            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this				false

		2162						LN		422		2		false		            2     point in time, we will recall witness Wilding to the				false

		2163						LN		422		3		false		            3     stand.				false

		2164						LN		422		4		false		            4                        MR. LOWNEY:  Your Honor, it just				false

		2165						LN		422		5		false		            5     struck me that we were using a laptop yesterday so that				false

		2166						LN		422		6		false		            6     the witness could appear on Zoom.  We can set that up				false

		2167						LN		422		7		false		            7     again.  It will just obviously take a few moments to do				false

		2168						LN		422		8		false		            8     that.  Or if we prefer to just proceed without the				false

		2169						LN		422		9		false		            9     camera, we could certainly do that.				false

		2170						LN		422		10		false		           10                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's go				false

		2171						LN		422		11		false		           11     ahead and take a minute to set up the laptop, if that's				false

		2172						LN		422		12		false		           12     okay.				false

		2173						LN		422		13		false		           13                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  The computer is				false

		2174						LN		422		14		false		           14     in someone's trunk, so it will actually take a little				false

		2175						LN		422		15		false		           15     longer than I had anticipated.				false

		2176						LN		422		16		false		           16                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.				false

		2177						LN		422		17		false		           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  Apologies.  I just				false

		2178						LN		422		18		false		           18     realized that was an issue.				false

		2179						LN		422		19		false		           19                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That's okay.  We				false

		2180						LN		422		20		false		           20     can go ahead and be off the record for a moment while				false

		2181						LN		422		21		false		           21     we get that set up.				false

		2182						LN		422		22		false		           22                               (Pause in proceedings from				false

		2183						LN		422		23		false		           23                                10:55 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.)				false

		2184						LN		422		24		false		           24				false

		2185						LN		422		25		false		           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's please				false

		2186						PG		423		0		false		page 423				false

		2187						LN		423		1		false		            1     be back on the record.				false

		2188						LN		423		2		false		            2          Okay.  Mr. Wilding, if you could please raise your				false

		2189						LN		423		3		false		            3     right hand, and I'll re-swear you in.				false

		2190						LN		423		4		false		            4          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will				false

		2191						LN		423		5		false		            5     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and				false

		2192						LN		423		6		false		            6     nothing but the truth?				false

		2193						LN		423		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		2194						LN		423		8		false		            8				false

		2195						LN		423		9		false		            9				false

		2196						LN		423		10		false		           10     MICHAEL G. WILDING,         having been first duly sworn				false

		2197						LN		423		11		false		           11                                 by Administrative Law Judge				false

		2198						LN		423		12		false		           12                                 Thompson, was examined and				false

		2199						LN		423		13		false		           13                                 testified as follows:				false

		2200						LN		423		14		false		           14				false

		2201						LN		423		15		false		           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		2202						LN		423		16		false		           16          And at this point in time, I will go ahead and				false

		2203						LN		423		17		false		           17     turn -- well, I'll turn to the parties and ask if you				false

		2204						LN		423		18		false		           18     have any additional questions for Mr. Wilding given the				false

		2205						LN		423		19		false		           19     change in Mr. Earle's recommendation, but I presume the				false

		2206						LN		423		20		false		           20     questions might be -- do you want to start with				false

		2207						LN		423		21		false		           21     additional direct?				false

		2208						LN		423		22		false		           22                        MR. LOWNEY:  I think, from my				false

		2209						LN		423		23		false		           23     perspective, that makes the most sense.				false

		2210						LN		423		24		false		           24                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.				false

		2211						LN		423		25		false		           25     Let's go ahead and start with additional questions from				false

		2212						PG		424		0		false		page 424				false

		2213						LN		424		1		false		            1     the company.				false

		2214						LN		424		2		false		            2                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.				false

		2215						LN		424		3		false		            3				false

		2216						LN		424		4		false		            4                        DIRECT EXAMINATION				false

		2217						LN		424		5		false		            5     BY MR. LOWNEY:				false

		2218						LN		424		6		false		            6  Q  Witness Wilding, were you in the room a few minutes ago				false

		2219						LN		424		7		false		            7     when Dr. Earle made a new recommendation related to				false

		2220						LN		424		8		false		            8     resource adequacy and ancillary services?				false

		2221						LN		424		9		false		            9  A  Yes, I was.				false

		2222						LN		424		10		false		           10  Q  And based on your understanding of Dr. Earle's				false

		2223						LN		424		11		false		           11     recommendation, do you have any response to that				false

		2224						LN		424		12		false		           12     proposal?				false

		2225						LN		424		13		false		           13  A  Yes, I do.  So, first, my understanding is that their				false

		2226						LN		424		14		false		           14     allocation of the increased percentage of wind				false

		2227						LN		424		15		false		           15     allocated to Washington, the no natural gas and no				false

		2228						LN		424		16		false		           16     coal, no thermal resources, that -- that underlying				false

		2229						LN		424		17		false		           17     part of the proposal doesn't change, so our, you know,				false

		2230						LN		424		18		false		           18     main critique of their proposal also does not change.				false

		2231						LN		424		19		false		           19          It results in Washington leaning on the rest of				false

		2232						LN		424		20		false		           20     PacifiCorp's system.  And it also means that the other				false

		2233						LN		424		21		false		           21     states that are currently participating in those wind				false

		2234						LN		424		22		false		           22     resources would have to give up a piece of that wind				false

		2235						LN		424		23		false		           23     resource that's allocated to them already, or we would				false

		2236						LN		424		24		false		           24     have a situation where those wind plants were allocated				false

		2237						LN		424		25		false		           25     at a percentage greater than a hundred percent.  So				false

		2238						PG		425		0		false		page 425				false

		2239						LN		425		1		false		            1     that -- that piece just doesn't change.				false

		2240						LN		425		2		false		            2          My understanding of what new is now is a payment				false

		2241						LN		425		3		false		            3     for that leaning from Washington to the other states.				false

		2242						LN		425		4		false		            4     And, you know, I've been around the company for, you				false

		2243						LN		425		5		false		            5     know, 12 years now or so and been through a lot of				false

		2244						LN		425		6		false		            6     these filings, a lot of MSP discussions with				false

		2245						LN		425		7		false		            7     stakeholders and with the states, and so the first part				false

		2246						LN		425		8		false		            8     of that is getting the states to agree adds significant				false

		2247						LN		425		9		false		            9     complexity to the allocations at that point.				false

		2248						LN		425		10		false		           10          And I really doubt that we would be able to come				false

		2249						LN		425		11		false		           11     to an agreement between all six states on what this				false

		2250						LN		425		12		false		           12     resource adequacy payment would look like.  And that				false

		2251						LN		425		13		false		           13     also, you know, assumes that that will be available,				false

		2252						LN		425		14		false		           14     that as the other -- you know, as we allocate resources				false

		2253						LN		425		15		false		           15     away from Washington, put them in that resource				false

		2254						LN		425		16		false		           16     adequacy deficit, you know, reallocate those resources				false

		2255						LN		425		17		false		           17     to the other states, that, you know, given the load				false

		2256						LN		425		18		false		           18     growth in other parts of our system, that they will				false

		2257						LN		425		19		false		           19     have length to be able to give to Washington at a				false

		2258						LN		425		20		false		           20     price.				false

		2259						LN		425		21		false		           21          And then what that price will be, also I have				false

		2260						LN		425		22		false		           22     significant doubts and concerns that we would even be				false

		2261						LN		425		23		false		           23     able to agree to what that price is with the other				false

		2262						LN		425		24		false		           24     states.  And then add in the further complication of				false

		2263						LN		425		25		false		           25     just the logistics of how we would do that.  I think we				false

		2264						PG		426		0		false		page 426				false

		2265						LN		426		1		false		            1     hit on that a little bit.  You know, does it happen in				false

		2266						LN		426		2		false		            2     net power cost?  Is it a true-up every year?  Timing of				false

		2267						LN		426		3		false		            3     rate cases.  Timing of power cost cases.  It just --				false

		2268						LN		426		4		false		            4     very complex, if you could even get to an agreement,				false

		2269						LN		426		5		false		            5     which, again, I have significant concerns and doubts				false

		2270						LN		426		6		false		            6     that we would be able to do that.				false

		2271						LN		426		7		false		            7          And then when we add in the coal in -- on our				false

		2272						LN		426		8		false		            8     system and the CETA compliance, I think that is a				false

		2273						LN		426		9		false		            9     significant piece of that.  Mr. Earle said he didn't				false

		2274						LN		426		10		false		           10     know how that would work.  Well, the definition of coal				false

		2275						LN		426		11		false		           11     in CETA is anything unspecified with a duration of				false

		2276						LN		426		12		false		           12     longer than three months, or if it's for a resource				false

		2277						LN		426		13		false		           13     adequacy contract, duration of longer than six months.				false

		2278						LN		426		14		false		           14     So you add that exception for six months or less for				false

		2279						LN		426		15		false		           15     resource adequacy contract.  Again, just adding				false

		2280						LN		426		16		false		           16     complexity to this.  We still have coal in our system.				false

		2281						LN		426		17		false		           17     How do you -- how do you do this?				false

		2282						LN		426		18		false		           18          I -- you know, in short, I don't think this is				false

		2283						LN		426		19		false		           19     workable.				false

		2284						LN		426		20		false		           20                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you, witness				false

		2285						LN		426		21		false		           21     Wilding.				false

		2286						LN		426		22		false		           22          Company has no further questions.				false

		2287						LN		426		23		false		           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		2288						LN		426		24		false		           24          At this point in time, I will turn to the parties				false

		2289						LN		426		25		false		           25     to ask if they have additional questions of witness				false

		2290						PG		427		0		false		page 427				false

		2291						LN		427		1		false		            1     Wilding.				false

		2292						LN		427		2		false		            2          Staff, do you have any additional questions?				false

		2293						LN		427		3		false		            3                        MS. STRAUSS:  Staff does not have				false

		2294						LN		427		4		false		            4     any additional questions at this time.				false

		2295						LN		427		5		false		            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		2296						LN		427		6		false		            6          Public counsel?				false

		2297						LN		427		7		false		            7                        MR. SYKES:  No additional questions.				false

		2298						LN		427		8		false		            8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  AWEC?				false

		2299						LN		427		9		false		            9                        MR. PEPPLE:  I do have one question,				false

		2300						LN		427		10		false		           10     Your Honor.				false

		2301						LN		427		11		false		           11				false

		2302						LN		427		12		false		           12                        CROSS-EXAMINATION				false

		2303						LN		427		13		false		           13     BY MR. PEPPLE:				false

		2304						LN		427		14		false		           14  Q  Mr. Wilding, if somehow we were able to figure out this				false

		2305						LN		427		15		false		           15     proposal and how it would work and there was a resource				false

		2306						LN		427		16		false		           16     adequacy payment made from Washington to other states				false

		2307						LN		427		17		false		           17     in whatever form it would happen to be, would that				false

		2308						LN		427		18		false		           18     result in emissions being assigned to Washington as a				false

		2309						LN		427		19		false		           19     consequence of that payment?				false

		2310						LN		427		20		false		           20  A  Yes.  Most likely the resource adequacy would be a -- a				false

		2311						LN		427		21		false		           21     capacity payment, right?  But the reason why you need				false

		2312						LN		427		22		false		           22     capacity is to deliver energy during those times of				false

		2313						LN		427		23		false		           23     capacity need, so there would be also energy that would				false

		2314						LN		427		24		false		           24     need to flow to Washington that would be an unspecified				false

		2315						LN		427		25		false		           25     purchase that I believe would include emissions.  I				false

		2316						PG		428		0		false		page 428				false

		2317						LN		428		1		false		            1     mean, I would maybe need to think about that a little				false

		2318						LN		428		2		false		            2     bit more, but that's my initial thought on this				false

		2319						LN		428		3		false		            3     proposal in this hypothetical where we could figure				false

		2320						LN		428		4		false		            4     something out.				false

		2321						LN		428		5		false		            5                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		2322						LN		428		6		false		            6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any questions from				false

		2323						LN		428		7		false		            7     The Energy Project?				false

		2324						LN		428		8		false		            8                        MR. ZAKAI:  Good morning, Your				false

		2325						LN		428		9		false		            9     Honor.  Good morning, witness Wilding.  Yes, just one				false

		2326						LN		428		10		false		           10     or two.				false

		2327						LN		428		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Go ahead and				false

		2328						LN		428		12		false		           12     proceed.				false

		2329						LN		428		13		false		           13				false

		2330						LN		428		14		false		           14                        CROSS-EXAMINATION				false

		2331						LN		428		15		false		           15     BY MR. ZAKAI:				false

		2332						LN		428		16		false		           16  Q  Mr. Wilding, is it common for entities to purchase				false

		2333						LN		428		17		false		           17     capacity from one another for the purposes of resource				false

		2334						LN		428		18		false		           18     adequacy?				false

		2335						LN		428		19		false		           19  A  In the Western United States, there's a capacity market				false

		2336						LN		428		20		false		           20     in the California ISO.  There is not a liquid capacity				false

		2337						LN		428		21		false		           21     market outside of the California ISO.  In what WRAP				false

		2338						LN		428		22		false		           22     contemplates having some ability to transfer resource				false

		2339						LN		428		23		false		           23     adequacy obligation at a price, there is no market				false

		2340						LN		428		24		false		           24     monitor for that.  And so I would say right now, no.				false

		2341						LN		428		25		false		           25     Not -- not in a liquid market in bilateral market that				false

		2342						PG		429		0		false		page 429				false

		2343						LN		429		1		false		            1     we have today.				false

		2344						LN		429		2		false		            2  Q  As in there is no -- has PacifiCorp made any				false

		2345						LN		429		3		false		            3     transactions for capacity in the past year from another				false

		2346						LN		429		4		false		            4     entity?				false

		2347						LN		429		5		false		            5  A  We -- my only hesitation here is trying to not provide				false

		2348						LN		429		6		false		            6     confidential information.				false

		2349						LN		429		7		false		            7  Q  Respectfully, I'm not asking for confidential				false

		2350						LN		429		8		false		            8     information.  I'm asking if there was one transaction				false

		2351						LN		429		9		false		            9     in the past year or not.				false

		2352						LN		429		10		false		           10  A  I will say this.  What is available on the market has a				false

		2353						LN		429		11		false		           11     capacity component.  Obviously, as energy is provided,				false

		2354						LN		429		12		false		           12     fixed-price energy, there's a capacity component of				false

		2355						LN		429		13		false		           13     that.  As we acquire -- we've acquired batteries that				false

		2356						LN		429		14		false		           14     are capacity.  Have we acquired capacity from another				false

		2357						LN		429		15		false		           15     entity to transfer that resource adequacy obligation?				false

		2358						LN		429		16		false		           16     No.				false

		2359						LN		429		17		false		           17  Q  Okay.  And your FERC tariff provides a price for				false

		2360						LN		429		18		false		           18     ancillary services, should another entity need to				false

		2361						LN		429		19		false		           19     purchase that from PacifiCorp?				false

		2362						LN		429		20		false		           20  A  Another entity, again, is -- is loose.  That is not a				false

		2363						LN		429		21		false		           21     product that any -- just anyone can buy.  For				false

		2364						LN		429		22		false		           22     transmission customers, that takes service under our				false

		2365						LN		429		23		false		           23     transmission service provider.  In our BA, that product				false

		2366						LN		429		24		false		           24     is available.  And it is a cost-based product set by				false

		2367						LN		429		25		false		           25     FERC.				false

		2368						PG		430		0		false		page 430				false

		2369						LN		430		1		false		            1          Again, that is not a -- an assumption that should				false

		2370						LN		430		2		false		            2     be made that the states would agree to that, because				false

		2371						LN		430		3		false		            3     there is an opportunity cost with that as well, that --				false

		2372						LN		430		4		false		            4     you know, and I foresee that if we tried to go down				false

		2373						LN		430		5		false		            5     this road, that there would be many conversations and				false

		2374						LN		430		6		false		            6     many folks that would maybe want to pursue that				false

		2375						LN		430		7		false		            7     opportunity cost of holding reserves as opposed to a				false

		2376						LN		430		8		false		            8     FERC-approved cost-based right.  Again, which is making				false

		2377						LN		430		9		false		            9     it complicated and messy.				false

		2378						LN		430		10		false		           10  Q  Thank you.  I'd ask one last question.				false

		2379						LN		430		11		false		           11          Do you agree that Washington has had an allocation				false

		2380						LN		430		12		false		           12     methodology over the past several years which other				false

		2381						LN		430		13		false		           13     states have not agreed to?				false

		2382						LN		430		14		false		           14  A  Yes.  Absolutely.  One of the fundamental principles of				false

		2383						LN		430		15		false		           15     the allocation methodology that we're putting in front				false

		2384						LN		430		16		false		           16     of the Commission now is -- is essentially fixing that,				false

		2385						LN		430		17		false		           17     getting everything to sum to one, or a hundred percent				false

		2386						LN		430		18		false		           18     as we've test- -- multiple witnesses have testified in				false

		2387						LN		430		19		false		           19     this hearing already.				false

		2388						LN		430		20		false		           20                        MR. ZAKAI:  Thank you.  No further				false

		2389						LN		430		21		false		           21     questions.				false

		2390						LN		430		22		false		           22                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		2391						LN		430		23		false		           23          Any redirect from the company?				false

		2392						LN		430		24		false		           24                        MR. LOWNEY:  No, Your Honor.				false

		2393						LN		430		25		false		           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		2394						PG		431		0		false		page 431				false

		2395						LN		431		1		false		            1          Any questions from the bench?				false

		2396						LN		431		2		false		            2          Okay.  I believe that concludes our questions for				false

		2397						LN		431		3		false		            3     you, Mr. Wilding.  Thank you.  You may be excused.				false

		2398						LN		431		4		false		            4                               (Witness excused.)				false

		2399						LN		431		5		false		            5				false

		2400						LN		431		6		false		            6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this				false

		2401						LN		431		7		false		            7     point in time, if -- I think, PacifiCorp, if somebody				false

		2402						LN		431		8		false		            8     would like to come up and reclaim your laptop.  I don't				false

		2403						LN		431		9		false		            9     know if we have any further use for it.  Or hopefully				false

		2404						LN		431		10		false		           10     not.				false

		2405						LN		431		11		false		           11          Okay.  And we can move to witness Mullins.				false

		2406						LN		431		12		false		           12                               (Witness appearing remotely.)				false

		2407						LN		431		13		false		           13				false

		2408						LN		431		14		false		           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Hello.  When you				false

		2409						LN		431		15		false		           15     are ready, please raise your right hand, and I will				false

		2410						LN		431		16		false		           16     swear you in.				false

		2411						LN		431		17		false		           17          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will				false

		2412						LN		431		18		false		           18     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and				false

		2413						LN		431		19		false		           19     nothing but the truth?				false

		2414						LN		431		20		false		           20                        THE WITNESS:  I do.				false

		2415						LN		431		21		false		           21     ////				false

		2416						LN		431		22		false		           22     ////				false

		2417						LN		431		23		false		           23     ////				false

		2418						LN		431		24		false		           24     ////				false

		2419						LN		431		25		false		           25     ////				false

		2420						PG		432		0		false		page 432				false

		2421						LN		432		1		false		            1     BRADLEY G. MULLINS,         appearing remotely and				false

		2422						LN		432		2		false		            2                                 having been first duly sworn				false

		2423						LN		432		3		false		            3                                 by Administrative Law Judge				false

		2424						LN		432		4		false		            4                                 Thompson, was examined and				false

		2425						LN		432		5		false		            5                                 testified as follows:				false

		2426						LN		432		6		false		            6				false

		2427						LN		432		7		false		            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.				false

		2428						LN		432		8		false		            8          Counsel, you can proceed with introducing the				false

		2429						LN		432		9		false		            9     witness.				false

		2430						LN		432		10		false		           10                        MR. PEPPLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.				false

		2431						LN		432		11		false		           11				false

		2432						LN		432		12		false		           12                        DIRECT EXAMINATION				false

		2433						LN		432		13		false		           13     BY MR. PEPPLE:				false

		2434						LN		432		14		false		           14  Q  I guess, good evening for you, Mr. Mullins.				false

		2435						LN		432		15		false		           15  A  Hello.				false

		2436						LN		432		16		false		           16  Q  Could you please state and spell your full name.				false

		2437						LN		432		17		false		           17  A  My name is Bradley Mullins.  Spelled B-r-a-d-l-e-y,				false

		2438						LN		432		18		false		           18     last name M-u-l-l-i-n-s.				false

		2439						LN		432		19		false		           19  Q  And did you file testimony and exhibits marked BGM-1CT				false

		2440						LN		432		20		false		           20     through BGM-8T on behalf of the Alliance of Western				false

		2441						LN		432		21		false		           21     Energy Consumers in this docket?				false

		2442						LN		432		22		false		           22  A  I did.				false

		2443						LN		432		23		false		           23  Q  Do you have any changes to your testimony or exhibits				false

		2444						LN		432		24		false		           24     today?				false

		2445						LN		432		25		false		           25  A  I have no changes.				false

		2446						PG		433		0		false		page 433				false

		2447						LN		433		1		false		            1                        MR. PEPPLE:  The witness is				false

		2448						LN		433		2		false		            2     available for cross-examination.				false

		2449						LN		433		3		false		            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very				false

		2450						LN		433		4		false		            4     much.				false

		2451						LN		433		5		false		            5          PacifiCorp, you can go ahead and proceed with				false

		2452						LN		433		6		false		            6     cross.				false

		2453						LN		433		7		false		            7                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you.				false

		2454						LN		433		8		false		            8				false

		2455						LN		433		9		false		            9                        CROSS-EXAMINATION				false

		2456						LN		433		10		false		           10     BY MR. LOWNEY:				false

		2457						LN		433		11		false		           11  Q  Good morning, Mr. Mullins.				false

		2458						LN		433		12		false		           12  A  Good morning.				false

		2459						LN		433		13		false		           13  Q  Let's begin with your response testimony in this				false

		2460						LN		433		14		false		           14     docket.				false

		2461						LN		433		15		false		           15                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Do you mind				false

		2462						LN		433		16		false		           16     bringing your mike a little closer.  I think it might				false

		2463						LN		433		17		false		           17     help the witnesses as well as anybody else online.				false

		2464						LN		433		18		false		           18     Thanks.				false

		2465						LN		433		19		false		           19  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  And that's BGM-1CT.				false

		2466						LN		433		20		false		           20          Do you have that?				false

		2467						LN		433		21		false		           21  A  I do.				false

		2468						LN		433		22		false		           22  Q  Okay.  If we could turn to Page 3.  And I'd like to				false

		2469						LN		433		23		false		           23     direct your attention to Table 1 at the top of that				false

		2470						LN		433		24		false		           24     page.				false

		2471						LN		433		25		false		           25  A  Okay.				false

		2472						PG		434		0		false		page 434				false

		2473						LN		434		1		false		            1  Q  And just for context, this table is entitled "Summary				false

		2474						LN		434		2		false		            2     of Recommendations," and it lists each of the specific				false

		2475						LN		434		3		false		            3     recommendations that you've made in this case, correct?				false

		2476						LN		434		4		false		            4  A  Correct.				false

		2477						LN		434		5		false		            5  Q  And down on Line 6 is an adjustment referred to as the				false

		2478						LN		434		6		false		            6     nodal pricing model.				false

		2479						LN		434		7		false		            7          Do you see that?				false

		2480						LN		434		8		false		            8  A  I do.				false

		2481						LN		434		9		false		            9  Q  And I'm going to ask you some questions about that.				false

		2482						LN		434		10		false		           10     And so before we get started, I just want to make sure				false

		2483						LN		434		11		false		           11     we're using the same nomenclature.				false

		2484						LN		434		12		false		           12          Would you agree that sometimes the nodal pricing				false

		2485						LN		434		13		false		           13     model is abbreviated "NPM"?				false

		2486						LN		434		14		false		           14  A  I would.				false

		2487						LN		434		15		false		           15  Q  Okay.  And so if I refer to the NPM, you and I will				false

		2488						LN		434		16		false		           16     agree that that's the nodal pricing model, right?				false

		2489						LN		434		17		false		           17  A  As used in this context.  Correct.				false

		2490						LN		434		18		false		           18  Q  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		2491						LN		434		19		false		           19          Okay.  With that in mind, could you please turn to				false

		2492						LN		434		20		false		           20     Page 46 of the testimony.				false

		2493						LN		434		21		false		           21          And beginning on Line 9 is the testimony where				false

		2494						LN		434		22		false		           22     you're addressing the nodal pricing model.				false

		2495						LN		434		23		false		           23          Do you see that?				false

		2496						LN		434		24		false		           24  A  Okay.				false

		2497						LN		434		25		false		           25  Q  And I'd like you to keep that testimony in front of				false

		2498						PG		435		0		false		page 435				false

		2499						LN		435		1		false		            1     you, and I'm going to refer you to a cross exhibit, and				false

		2500						LN		435		2		false		            2     I'd like to compare the two.  So if you could just have				false

		2501						LN		435		3		false		            3     them both ready.				false

		2502						LN		435		4		false		            4          That cross exhibit has been labeled BGM-10X.  If				false

		2503						LN		435		5		false		            5     you could pull that up.  And just for context, that's				false

		2504						LN		435		6		false		            6     testimony that you filed in Docket UE-450.				false

		2505						LN		435		7		false		            7  A  So to clarify, is that the opening testimony or				false

		2506						LN		435		8		false		            8     cross-answering testimony?				false

		2507						LN		435		9		false		            9  Q  The opening testimony.				false

		2508						LN		435		10		false		           10  A  Okay.				false

		2509						LN		435		11		false		           11  Q  All right.  And just to provide some broader context,				false

		2510						LN		435		12		false		           12     this testimony is referred to as your opening testimony				false

		2511						LN		435		13		false		           13     filed on behalf of the Alliance of Western Energy				false

		2512						LN		435		14		false		           14     Consumers in a case before the public utility				false

		2513						LN		435		15		false		           15     commission of Oregon that is called Docket UE-450,				false

		2514						LN		435		16		false		           16     correct?				false

		2515						LN		435		17		false		           17  A  Correct.				false

		2516						LN		435		18		false		           18  Q  And that docket is the PacifiCorp's 2026 transition				false

		2517						LN		435		19		false		           19     adjustment mechanism case, correct?				false

		2518						LN		435		20		false		           20  A  Correct.				false

		2519						LN		435		21		false		           21  Q  All right.  And just to add another acronym, would you				false

		2520						LN		435		22		false		           22     agree that we sometimes refer to the transition				false

		2521						LN		435		23		false		           23     adjustment mechanism as the TAM?				false

		2522						LN		435		24		false		           24  A  We almost always refer to it as the TAM.  Yes.  That's				false

		2523						LN		435		25		false		           25     right.				false

		2524						PG		436		0		false		page 436				false

		2525						LN		436		1		false		            1  Q  Okay.  And then just for additional context, at the				false

		2526						LN		436		2		false		            2     bottom of Page 1, this testimony was filed on June 17th				false

		2527						LN		436		3		false		            3     of 2025, correct?				false

		2528						LN		436		4		false		            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Mr. Lowney --				false

		2529						LN		436		5		false		            5                        THE WITNESS:  Correct.				false

		2530						LN		436		6		false		            6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  -- I think we				false

		2531						LN		436		7		false		            7     may have a mix-up here.				false

		2532						LN		436		8		false		            8          So the link in the exhibit list is to --				false

		2533						LN		436		9		false		            9                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  It's 9X on our				false

		2534						LN		436		10		false		           10     exhibit list.				false

		2535						LN		436		11		false		           11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Rebuttal and				false

		2536						LN		436		12		false		           12     cross-answering testimony is 10X.  Maybe the link is				false

		2537						LN		436		13		false		           13     incorrect.				false

		2538						LN		436		14		false		           14                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  I -- let me see.				false

		2539						LN		436		15		false		           15                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  9X is the link.				false

		2540						LN		436		16		false		           16                        MR. LOWNEY:  On the exhibit list I				false

		2541						LN		436		17		false		           17     have, 9X was testimony filed in a Washington case.				false

		2542						LN		436		18		false		           18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Yeah, it's the link				false

		2543						LN		436		19		false		           19     is --				false

		2544						LN		436		20		false		           20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Our				false

		2545						LN		436		21		false		           21     links are wrong, but I found it, so all right.				false

		2546						LN		436		22		false		           22                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.				false

		2547						LN		436		23		false		           23                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Can you -- can you				false

		2548						LN		436		24		false		           24     remind us what page you're on?				false

		2549						LN		436		25		false		           25                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes.  I haven't				false

		2550						PG		437		0		false		page 437				false

		2551						LN		437		1		false		            1     actually moved to a page yet.				false

		2552						LN		437		2		false		            2                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  Great.				false

		2553						LN		437		3		false		            3                        MR. LOWNEY:  So we'll get there.				false

		2554						LN		437		4		false		            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Perfect.				false

		2555						LN		437		5		false		            5     Thank you.				false

		2556						LN		437		6		false		            6                        MR. LOWNEY:  And I'll try to use				false

		2557						LN		437		7		false		            7     names as well just to make sure we're all on the same				false

		2558						LN		437		8		false		            8     page.				false

		2559						LN		437		9		false		            9  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  Okay.  I think my last question -- and				false

		2560						LN		437		10		false		           10     I'm not sure if you answered it or not -- was:  Just				false

		2561						LN		437		11		false		           11     for context, this testimony was filed on June 17th of				false

		2562						LN		437		12		false		           12     2025, correct?				false

		2563						LN		437		13		false		           13  A  Correct.				false

		2564						LN		437		14		false		           14  Q  Okay.  And one purpose of the TAM is to forecast net				false

		2565						LN		437		15		false		           15     power costs for 2026, correct?				false

		2566						LN		437		16		false		           16  A  Correct.				false

		2567						LN		437		17		false		           17  Q  Okay.  And if you could turn to Page 5 of the exhibit,				false

		2568						LN		437		18		false		           18     which would be Page 3 of the original testimony.				false

		2569						LN		437		19		false		           19          And if you're there, I'd like to direct your				false

		2570						LN		437		20		false		           20     attention to Line 5 where you describe a recommendation				false

		2571						LN		437		21		false		           21     related to the nodal pricing model.				false

		2572						LN		437		22		false		           22          Do you see that?				false

		2573						LN		437		23		false		           23  A  I have the nonconfidential version, but I agree that				false

		2574						LN		437		24		false		           24     it's in that table.				false

		2575						LN		437		25		false		           25  Q  Actually, I think the table you're referring to is on				false

		2576						PG		438		0		false		page 438				false

		2577						LN		438		1		false		            1     Page 4 of the exhibit, 2 of the original.				false

		2578						LN		438		2		false		            2          But I think we all agree you propose an adjustment				false

		2579						LN		438		3		false		            3     to the nodal pricing model in the TAM, correct?				false

		2580						LN		438		4		false		            4                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Just let's make sure				false

		2581						LN		438		5		false		            5     we're all on the literal same page here.				false

		2582						LN		438		6		false		            6          In the upper right-hand corner, I see it says				false

		2583						LN		438		7		false		            7     Page 5 of 70 for the exhibit, correct?				false

		2584						LN		438		8		false		            8                        MR. LOWNEY:  That's correct.				false

		2585						LN		438		9		false		            9                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Mr. Mullins, are you				false

		2586						LN		438		10		false		           10     there?				false

		2587						LN		438		11		false		           11                        THE WITNESS:  I'm there.  I am				false

		2588						LN		438		12		false		           12     there.  Correct.  And --				false

		2589						LN		438		13		false		           13                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  It's a bullet point				false

		2590						LN		438		14		false		           14     that we're referring to, correct?				false

		2591						LN		438		15		false		           15                        MR. LOWNEY:  Correct.				false

		2592						LN		438		16		false		           16                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		2593						LN		438		17		false		           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  And apologies.  Now				false

		2594						LN		438		18		false		           18     that we're all on the same page, I'm going to direct us				false

		2595						LN		438		19		false		           19     to another page.				false

		2596						LN		438		20		false		           20  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  So understanding you made a				false

		2597						LN		438		21		false		           21     recommendation related to the nodal pricing model, if				false

		2598						LN		438		22		false		           22     we could turn to Page 20 of 70.  And let me know when				false

		2599						LN		438		23		false		           23     you're there.				false

		2600						LN		438		24		false		           24  A  Okay.				false

		2601						LN		438		25		false		           25  Q  Just for context, at the very top of that page is a				false

		2602						PG		439		0		false		page 439				false

		2603						LN		439		1		false		            1     heading that says "Nodal Pricing Model Fee," just so				false

		2604						LN		439		2		false		            2     we're all on the same place.				false

		2605						LN		439		3		false		            3          And, again, kind of referring to that exhibit from				false

		2606						LN		439		4		false		            4     the TAM and your testimony in this page, we can walk				false

		2607						LN		439		5		false		            5     through each of the questions and answers, but if				false

		2608						LN		439		6		false		            6     you're willing to agree that this testimony is largely				false

		2609						LN		439		7		false		            7     identical, we can forego that exercise.				false

		2610						LN		439		8		false		            8  A  And is -- I would agree it's substantially the same				false

		2611						LN		439		9		false		            9     information.				false

		2612						LN		439		10		false		           10  Q  Okay.  Thank you.				false

		2613						LN		439		11		false		           11          And if I could now direct your attention to a				false

		2614						LN		439		12		false		           12     cross-examination exhibit, BGM-11X.  And this was				false

		2615						LN		439		13		false		           13     rebuttal and cross-answering testimony from the TAM.				false

		2616						LN		439		14		false		           14  A  Okay.				false

		2617						LN		439		15		false		           15  Q  And for context, this was filed on August 14th of 2025.				false

		2618						LN		439		16		false		           16          Do you see that on the bottom of Page 1?				false

		2619						LN		439		17		false		           17  A  I do.				false

		2620						LN		439		18		false		           18  Q  And so just for context, this was filed six days before				false

		2621						LN		439		19		false		           19     you filed testimony in this case, correct?				false

		2622						LN		439		20		false		           20  A  Correct.				false

		2623						LN		439		21		false		           21  Q  All right.  And now if I could direct your attention to				false

		2624						LN		439		22		false		           22     Page 3 of 31, which is the exhibit number.  Exhibit				false

		2625						LN		439		23		false		           23     numbering.  Excuse me.  And at the top of that page, it				false

		2626						LN		439		24		false		           24     says "Introduction and Summary."				false

		2627						LN		439		25		false		           25          And if I could direct your attention to Line --				false

		2628						PG		440		0		false		page 440				false

		2629						LN		440		1		false		            1     Line 14.  You testified that, PacifiCorp also partially				false

		2630						LN		440		2		false		            2     accepted my recommendation regarding the nodal pricing				false

		2631						LN		440		3		false		            3     model, and AWEC is generally comfortable with				false

		2632						LN		440		4		false		            4     PacifiCorp's approach on that issue.				false

		2633						LN		440		5		false		            5          Do you see that?				false

		2634						LN		440		6		false		            6  A  I do.				false

		2635						LN		440		7		false		            7  Q  And with that line of testimony, that's the sum total				false

		2636						LN		440		8		false		            8     of your discussion of the nodal pricing model in your				false

		2637						LN		440		9		false		            9     TAM testimony, correct?  You dropped your adjustment in				false

		2638						LN		440		10		false		           10     the TAM?				false

		2639						LN		440		11		false		           11  A  Well, for purposes and the circumstances of this case,				false

		2640						LN		440		12		false		           12     you know, at the time this was filed, we were -- we				false

		2641						LN		440		13		false		           13     were comfortable, you know, accepting PacifiCorp's				false

		2642						LN		440		14		false		           14     recommendation.  I still continue to maintain concerns				false

		2643						LN		440		15		false		           15     that a great deal of money was spent on the nodal				false

		2644						LN		440		16		false		           16     pricing model and that it has not been used to develop				false

		2645						LN		440		17		false		           17     a new allocation framework, and it was not used to				false

		2646						LN		440		18		false		           18     create operational efficiencies and, you know, to do				false

		2647						LN		440		19		false		           19     day-ahead setup and things like that as was represented				false

		2648						LN		440		20		false		           20     in the 2020 protocol.				false

		2649						LN		440		21		false		           21          So given the circumstances of where this -- where				false

		2650						LN		440		22		false		           22     this case was, and at the time, we were -- we were				false

		2651						LN		440		23		false		           23     comfortable accepting PacifiCorp's approach, but I				false

		2652						LN		440		24		false		           24     still maintain concerns about -- about the nodal				false

		2653						LN		440		25		false		           25     pricing model.				false

		2654						PG		441		0		false		page 441				false

		2655						LN		441		1		false		            1  Q  And just to be clear, when you say "at the time," that				false

		2656						LN		441		2		false		            2     was six days before you filed testimony in this case,				false

		2657						LN		441		3		false		            3     you dropped your adjustment that you are now proposing				false

		2658						LN		441		4		false		            4     in this case, correct?				false

		2659						LN		441		5		false		            5  A  So the -- given the -- given the -- the circumstances				false

		2660						LN		441		6		false		            6     of this case, we were comfortable with it.  And this				false

		2661						LN		441		7		false		            7     case ultimately resulted in a settlement, you know,				false

		2662						LN		441		8		false		            8     discussions that were kind of ongoing during this whole				false

		2663						LN		441		9		false		            9     time frame, and which ended up having, you know, a				false

		2664						LN		441		10		false		           10     $10 million reduction to NPC.  So, you know, for				false

		2665						LN		441		11		false		           11     purposes of -- of narrowing the issues, we thought it				false

		2666						LN		441		12		false		           12     was a reasonable approach.				false

		2667						LN		441		13		false		           13          And also these TAM cases are, you know,				false

		2668						LN		441		14		false		           14     accelerated cases, so, you know, we thought -- we				false

		2669						LN		441		15		false		           15     thought it made sense to kind of narrow -- narrow the				false

		2670						LN		441		16		false		           16     issues in that case.  But that being said, you know, I				false

		2671						LN		441		17		false		           17     still maintain concerns about the nodal pricing model				false

		2672						LN		441		18		false		           18     and -- yeah.				false

		2673						LN		441		19		false		           19                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  Thank you,				false

		2674						LN		441		20		false		           20     Mr. Mullins.				false

		2675						LN		441		21		false		           21          I'd like to move on, and I indicated we would have				false

		2676						LN		441		22		false		           22     some confidential cross-examination.  And we've reached				false

		2677						LN		441		23		false		           23     that point where I believe the remainder of my				false

		2678						LN		441		24		false		           24     questions will be -- will require us to be referring to				false

		2679						LN		441		25		false		           25     and looking at confidential material, so I believe				false

		2680						PG		442		0		false		page 442				false

		2681						LN		442		1		false		            1     we'll need to enter a closed session.				false

		2682						LN		442		2		false		            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this				false

		2683						LN		442		3		false		            3     point in time, let's establish a confidential breakout				false

		2684						LN		442		4		false		            4     room on the Zoom.  And I'd ask the parties to look				false

		2685						LN		442		5		false		            5     around the room just to ensure that nobody is in the				false

		2686						LN		442		6		false		            6     room which cannot participate in that confidential				false

		2687						LN		442		7		false		            7     session.				false

		2688						LN		442		8		false		            8          We will take a brief recess and be off the record				false

		2689						LN		442		9		false		            9     while we establish that Zoom room.  Thank you.				false

		2690						LN		442		10		false		           10                               (Pause in proceedings from				false

		2691						LN		442		11		false		           11                                11:25 a.m. to 11:26 a.m.)				false

		2692						LN		442		12		false		           12                               (Confidential session				false

		2693						LN		442		13		false		           13                                begins.)				false

		2694						LN		442		14		false		           14                               (Confidential portion				false

		2695						LN		442		15		false		           15                                redacted.)				false

		2696						LN		442		16		false		           16				false

		2697						LN		442		17		false		           17				false

		2698						LN		442		18		false		           18				false

		2699						LN		442		19		false		           19				false

		2700						LN		442		20		false		           20				false

		2701						LN		442		21		false		           21				false

		2702						LN		442		22		false		           22				false

		2703						LN		442		23		false		           23				false

		2704						LN		442		24		false		           24				false

		2705						LN		442		25		false		           25				false

		2706						PG		492		0		false		page 492				false

		2707						LN		492		1		false		            1				false

		2708						LN		492		2		false		            2				false

		2709						LN		492		3		false		            3				false

		2710						LN		492		4		false		            4				false

		2711						LN		492		5		false		            5				false

		2712						LN		492		6		false		            6				false

		2713						LN		492		7		false		            7				false

		2714						LN		492		8		false		            8				false

		2715						LN		492		9		false		            9				false

		2716						LN		492		10		false		           10				false

		2717						LN		492		11		false		           11				false

		2718						LN		492		12		false		           12				false

		2719						LN		492		13		false		           13				false

		2720						LN		492		14		false		           14				false

		2721						LN		492		15		false		           15				false

		2722						LN		492		16		false		           16				false

		2723						LN		492		17		false		           17				false

		2724						LN		492		18		false		           18				false

		2725						LN		492		19		false		           19				false

		2726						LN		492		20		false		           20                               (Confidential session				false

		2727						LN		492		21		false		           21                                concluded.)				false

		2728						LN		492		22		false		           22				false

		2729						LN		492		23		false		           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  We are back				false

		2730						LN		492		24		false		           24     on the record in the public Zoom room.  We'll give a				false

		2731						LN		492		25		false		           25     minute for Chair Rybarik to join.				false

		2732						PG		493		0		false		page 493				false

		2733						LN		493		1		false		            1                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  All right.  I should				false

		2734						LN		493		2		false		            2     be there.				false

		2735						LN		493		3		false		            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we will				false

		2736						LN		493		4		false		            4     continue with questions here in just a moment.  But,				false

		2737						LN		493		5		false		            5     Commissioner Rendahl, do you want to take...?				false

		2738						LN		493		6		false		            6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  I just want				false

		2739						LN		493		7		false		            7     to say I apologize, everyone.  I have to leave at 1.				false

		2740						LN		493		8		false		            8     So I won't -- if I miss anything, I'll read the				false

		2741						LN		493		9		false		            9     transcript for the last few pages.				false

		2742						LN		493		10		false		           10                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Why don't we do your				false

		2743						LN		493		11		false		           11     questions first.				false

		2744						LN		493		12		false		           12                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  But I				false

		2745						LN		493		13		false		           13     still -- if -- if we're still going.				false

		2746						LN		493		14		false		           14          So thank you, Mr. Mullins.  I'm sorry it's getting				false

		2747						LN		493		15		false		           15     pretty late for you.  So my apologies.				false

		2748						LN		493		16		false		           16          So were you listening to the questions I asked				false

		2749						LN		493		17		false		           17     other witnesses before you?				false

		2750						LN		493		18		false		           18                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		2751						LN		493		19		false		           19                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.				false

		2752						LN		493		20		false		           20                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		2753						LN		493		21		false		           21                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  So first				false

		2754						LN		493		22		false		           22     question is about the future hedging costs.				false

		2755						LN		493		23		false		           23          And in Mr. Mitchell's rebuttal -- and the				false

		2756						LN		493		24		false		           24     reference to his testimony is 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8,				false

		2757						LN		493		25		false		           25     through Page 36, Line 10 -- he argues that forward				false

		2758						PG		494		0		false		page 494				false

		2759						LN		494		1		false		            1     market transaction costs and the volume are known and				false

		2760						LN		494		2		false		            2     reasonable.				false

		2761						LN		494		3		false		            3          So considering the additional information he				false

		2762						LN		494		4		false		            4     provided in his rebuttal and during the testimony				false

		2763						LN		494		5		false		            5     yesterday, does that change your testimony on this				false

		2764						LN		494		6		false		            6     issue in this docket?				false

		2765						LN		494		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  It does not.  So I				false

		2766						LN		494		8		false		            8     think the -- I guess there's a couple things that we				false

		2767						LN		494		9		false		            9     have concerns with.				false

		2768						LN		494		10		false		           10          So, first of all, by modeling future hedges,				false

		2769						LN		494		11		false		           11     you're not modeling really any hedging costs at all.				false

		2770						LN		494		12		false		           12     Because the prices that we assume in the forecast				false

		2771						LN		494		13		false		           13     period are the monthly forward -- official forward				false

		2772						LN		494		14		false		           14     price curve prices.  And those are based on, you know,				false

		2773						LN		494		15		false		           15     broker quotes, and those are the prices that PacifiCorp				false

		2774						LN		494		16		false		           16     could go out today and execute a hedge at.				false

		2775						LN		494		17		false		           17          And so these -- these -- these future hedges, they				false

		2776						LN		494		18		false		           18     are priced at that same forward price curve.  So in				false

		2777						LN		494		19		false		           19     terms of hedging value, there's no additional costs or				false

		2778						LN		494		20		false		           20     benefit relative to the prices that we're assuming.  So				false

		2779						LN		494		21		false		           21     it's -- it's really not -- nothing to do with price				false

		2780						LN		494		22		false		           22     hedging, but by adding those into the model.				false

		2781						LN		494		23		false		           23          But what it does do when you add those blocks into				false

		2782						LN		494		24		false		           24     the model, it forces the model, requires the model to				false

		2783						LN		494		25		false		           25     make additional sales and additional purchases on an				false

		2784						PG		495		0		false		page 495				false

		2785						LN		495		1		false		            1     hourly basis to balance out that -- that flat block.				false

		2786						LN		495		2		false		            2     And so the -- the cost that's being added into the				false

		2787						LN		495		3		false		            3     model is really not a hedging cost at all.  It's really				false

		2788						LN		495		4		false		            4     a balancing cost by modeling, you know, more sales and				false

		2789						LN		495		5		false		            5     purchases around those -- those products.				false

		2790						LN		495		6		false		            6          And, you know, my principal concern with that is				false

		2791						LN		495		7		false		            7     that we're already doing that within the context of the				false

		2792						LN		495		8		false		            8     DART adjustment.  In the DART adjustment, PacifiCorp				false

		2793						LN		495		9		false		            9     adds into the model monthly 25-megawatt blocks to				false

		2794						LN		495		10		false		           10     develop its sales and its purchases, and then it models				false

		2795						LN		495		11		false		           11     the cost of balancing around those costs of those				false

		2796						LN		495		12		false		           12     blocks.  And, granted, that it is a block in day-ahead				false

		2797						LN		495		13		false		           13     and real-time markets where that cost occurs, but				false

		2798						LN		495		14		false		           14     that's really the same cost that's being added to the				false

		2799						LN		495		15		false		           15     market through this -- this hedging approach.				false

		2800						LN		495		16		false		           16          And, you know, conceptually -- if we didn't have				false

		2801						LN		495		17		false		           17     these two different methods, I would actually think				false

		2802						LN		495		18		false		           18     that the -- you know, actually modeling specific hedges				false

		2803						LN		495		19		false		           19     rather than the DART adjustment, you know, to balance				false

		2804						LN		495		20		false		           20     around those, would be okay.  But the fact that we have				false

		2805						LN		495		21		false		           21     both of those I think is problematic, because it's				false

		2806						LN		495		22		false		           22     really, you know, doubling up on those -- those				false

		2807						LN		495		23		false		           23     balancing costs.				false

		2808						LN		495		24		false		           24          And then, you know, apart from that, you know, by				false

		2809						LN		495		25		false		           25     the time the compliance filing in this case is				false

		2810						PG		496		0		false		page 496				false

		2811						LN		496		1		false		            1     submitted, we'll already have, you know, close to 70				false

		2812						LN		496		2		false		            2     percent of the hedges for the -- for the test period				false

		2813						LN		496		3		false		            3     anyway.  So, you know, not only does it sort of double				false

		2814						LN		496		4		false		            4     up on the balancing costs, it's -- it's, you know, for				false

		2815						LN		496		5		false		            5     the most part unnecessary.				false

		2816						LN		496		6		false		            6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank				false

		2817						LN		496		7		false		            7     you.  That's actually a very helpful explanation of				false

		2818						LN		496		8		false		            8     where you stand.				false

		2819						LN		496		9		false		            9          And I think you also addressed my next question,				false

		2820						LN		496		10		false		           10     which is about the relationship between the DART				false

		2821						LN		496		11		false		           11     adjustment and the hedging costs.				false

		2822						LN		496		12		false		           12          So the last question I have for you has to do with				false

		2823						LN		496		13		false		           13     the industrial curtailment contracts.				false

		2824						LN		496		14		false		           14          The company claims on rebuttal -- this is through				false

		2825						LN		496		15		false		           15     Mr. Wilding's testimony and Mr. Mitchell's testimony,				false

		2826						LN		496		16		false		           16     and I can give you those cites if you want.  The				false

		2827						LN		496		17		false		           17     company claims on rebuttal that these contracts that				false

		2828						LN		496		18		false		           18     AWEC contests provide benefits to Washington				false

		2829						LN		496		19		false		           19     ratepayers.				false

		2830						LN		496		20		false		           20          Again, does that -- does the testimony in rebuttal				false

		2831						LN		496		21		false		           21     from the company change AWEC's position, or does AWEC				false

		2832						LN		496		22		false		           22     continue to maintain that the industrial curtailment				false

		2833						LN		496		23		false		           23     contracts do not provide benefits to Washington?  And				false

		2834						LN		496		24		false		           24     if you still maintain that position, why?  Why is that				false

		2835						LN		496		25		false		           25     so?				false

		2836						PG		497		0		false		page 497				false

		2837						LN		497		1		false		            1                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, so we continue				false

		2838						LN		497		2		false		            2     to think that those should not be allocated to				false

		2839						LN		497		3		false		            3     Washington.  In terms of, you know, net power costs				false

		2840						LN		497		4		false		            4     that are allocated to Washington, it certainly				false

		2841						LN		497		5		false		            5     doesn't -- they certainly don't provide a benefit that				false

		2842						LN		497		6		false		            6     way.  So they -- they increase Washington net power				false

		2843						LN		497		7		false		            7     costs and don't provide a net power cost benefit, you				false

		2844						LN		497		8		false		            8     know, at least in the model.				false

		2845						LN		497		9		false		            9          On a system basis, the -- the analysis is probably				false

		2846						LN		497		10		false		           10     a lot more complicated.  So there seems to be this, you				false

		2847						LN		497		11		false		           11     know, contention I think that, you know, Washington,				false

		2848						LN		497		12		false		           12     you know, with Chehalis, would be -- would still be				false

		2849						LN		497		13		false		           13     leaning on the other side of the system for ancillary				false

		2850						LN		497		14		false		           14     services and capacity and things, things like that.				false

		2851						LN		497		15		false		           15     But that really hasn't been established.  So Chehalis				false

		2852						LN		497		16		false		           16     will cover pretty major part of Washington's load, and				false

		2853						LN		497		17		false		           17     it's also, you know, one of the most flexible resources				false

		2854						LN		497		18		false		           18     on PacifiCorp's system.				false

		2855						LN		497		19		false		           19          So in terms of, you know, the reliability				false

		2856						LN		497		20		false		           20     benefits, the capacity benefits, as well as the				false

		2857						LN		497		21		false		           21     ancillary service benefits, you know, we really can't				false

		2858						LN		497		22		false		           22     say that, you know, Washington needs these other				false

		2859						LN		497		23		false		           23     curtailment contracts to -- to avoid leaning on the				false

		2860						LN		497		24		false		           24     rest of the system.				false

		2861						LN		497		25		false		           25          And I actually suspect it might be the opposite,				false

		2862						PG		498		0		false		page 498				false

		2863						LN		498		1		false		            1     that, you know, the benefits of Chehalis are more than				false

		2864						LN		498		2		false		            2     what Washington needs, but I think that deserves a				false

		2865						LN		498		3		false		            3     bigger analysis.				false

		2866						LN		498		4		false		            4          And then getting to the contracts, themselves, you				false

		2867						LN		498		5		false		            5     know, Washington doesn't, you know, explicitly -- you				false

		2868						LN		498		6		false		            6     know, other than through ratemaking, they don't approve				false

		2869						LN		498		7		false		            7     the -- those contracts.  Those are -- those are -- and				false

		2870						LN		498		8		false		            8     the prices in those contracts.  So those are set in				false

		2871						LN		498		9		false		            9     Idaho and Utah.  And the methods that are used to set				false

		2872						LN		498		10		false		           10     those certainly haven't been, you know, fully vetted by				false

		2873						LN		498		11		false		           11     the Commission.				false

		2874						LN		498		12		false		           12          And so I think that if, you know, a method is				false

		2875						LN		498		13		false		           13     being provided to, you know, a customer -- you know, a				false

		2876						LN		498		14		false		           14     large industrial customer in another state, that that				false

		2877						LN		498		15		false		           15     should stay within the state.  But also the -- the --				false

		2878						LN		498		16		false		           16     the benefits of that contract should stay within that				false

		2879						LN		498		17		false		           17     state as well.  But, you know, for purposes of				false

		2880						LN		498		18		false		           18     Washington, those -- those customers aren't in				false

		2881						LN		498		19		false		           19     Washington's jurisdiction, so I continue to think it's				false

		2882						LN		498		20		false		           20     more appropriate for those to be dealt with at the				false

		2883						LN		498		21		false		           21     states that approve them.				false

		2884						LN		498		22		false		           22                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  And so I				false

		2885						LN		498		23		false		           23     assume that, given that you participate in matters in				false

		2886						LN		498		24		false		           24     other states, that when the '26 protocol for each of				false

		2887						LN		498		25		false		           25     those states is addressed in the states, that is				false

		2888						PG		499		0		false		page 499				false

		2889						LN		499		1		false		            1     something you will be addressing?				false

		2890						LN		499		2		false		            2                        THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure.  So I'm				false

		2891						LN		499		3		false		            3     not entirely sure the extent that I'll get involved in				false

		2892						LN		499		4		false		            4     those other states, particularly in Idaho.  But				false

		2893						LN		499		5		false		            5     certainly I think it's something that -- that folks in				false

		2894						LN		499		6		false		            6     other states will -- will get.				false

		2895						LN		499		7		false		            7                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Maybe I				false

		2896						LN		499		8		false		            8     should rephrase that.  Not necessarily you, but AWEC,				false

		2897						LN		499		9		false		            9     in its cases, I assume would be addressing this in				false

		2898						LN		499		10		false		           10     other states.				false

		2899						LN		499		11		false		           11                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, and, you know, I				false

		2900						LN		499		12		false		           12     can't speak to what AWEC's going to recommend in				false

		2901						LN		499		13		false		           13     Oregon, but it would be certainly something that would				false

		2902						LN		499		14		false		           14     be looked at there.  And, of course, AWEC doesn't				false

		2903						LN		499		15		false		           15     participate in Idaho, Utah, Wyoming, or California.				false

		2904						LN		499		16		false		           16                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank				false

		2905						LN		499		17		false		           17     you.  That's all I have.				false

		2906						LN		499		18		false		           18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Just a few more				false

		2907						LN		499		19		false		           19     questions, and we'll see if we can't beat -- well,				false

		2908						LN		499		20		false		           20     we're probably not going to beat Commissioner Rendahl's				false

		2909						LN		499		21		false		           21     1:00 time frame here.				false

		2910						LN		499		22		false		           22          But we had a discussion about wind curtailments in				false

		2911						LN		499		23		false		           23     closed session.  We will not rehash that discussion,				false

		2912						LN		499		24		false		           24     but I did want to just follow up with what would be				false

		2913						LN		499		25		false		           25     some public questions, Mr. Mullins.				false

		2914						PG		500		0		false		page 500				false

		2915						LN		500		1		false		            1          With respect to wind curtailments, nothing in the				false

		2916						LN		500		2		false		            2     rebuttal testimony from Mr. Mitchell -- or my				false

		2917						LN		500		3		false		            3     understanding is you were following the testimony				false

		2918						LN		500		4		false		            4     yesterday live here in the hearing room.  Nothing in				false

		2919						LN		500		5		false		            5     that changed your position, your testimony on wind				false

		2920						LN		500		6		false		            6     curtailments in this case; is that correct?				false

		2921						LN		500		7		false		            7                        THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  I				false

		2922						LN		500		8		false		            8     will point out that one of the things that they				false

		2923						LN		500		9		false		            9     mentioned in their testimony had to do with regulation				false

		2924						LN		500		10		false		           10     reserves and the fact that the model was -- was				false

		2925						LN		500		11		false		           11     relaxing those reserves, so I just want to be clear				false

		2926						LN		500		12		false		           12     that my modeling approach uses the same regulation				false

		2927						LN		500		13		false		           13     reserve requirements as PacifiCorp does.  However,				false

		2928						LN		500		14		false		           14     within the model, itself, some of those did get				false

		2929						LN		500		15		false		           15     relaxed.  And I think it was maybe post -- I think it				false

		2930						LN		500		16		false		           16     was about 10 percent reduction in the reserves that the				false

		2931						LN		500		17		false		           17     model actually -- that it simulated.				false

		2932						LN		500		18		false		           18          And the -- and the -- and I thought it was a good				false

		2933						LN		500		19		false		           19     thing for them to point out.  However, I think that				false

		2934						LN		500		20		false		           20     is -- is appropriate, because regulation reserves are				false

		2935						LN		500		21		false		           21     meant to cover uncertainty over the course of an hour				false

		2936						LN		500		22		false		           22     to where if, you know, wind picks up or drops down				false

		2937						LN		500		23		false		           23     quickly, they need to have resources online to be able				false

		2938						LN		500		24		false		           24     to respond to those.				false

		2939						LN		500		25		false		           25          And so the -- those are not held static over the				false

		2940						PG		501		0		false		page 501				false

		2941						LN		501		1		false		            1     hour.  They actually will use those reserves over the				false

		2942						LN		501		2		false		            2     hour.  And so in terms of that issue regarding				false

		2943						LN		501		3		false		            3     regulation reserves, my model just allowed the --				false

		2944						LN		501		4		false		            4     allowed some of those reserves to be used in order to				false

		2945						LN		501		5		false		            5     respond to, you know, circumstances in the model.				false

		2946						LN		501		6		false		            6          So I think that would be just the one thing that I				false

		2947						LN		501		7		false		            7     think they pointed out that was a good thing to point				false

		2948						LN		501		8		false		            8     out.  But I think that the way that my modeling has				false

		2949						LN		501		9		false		            9     done it is appropriate because it allows those reserves				false

		2950						LN		501		10		false		           10     to actually be used in -- when the model has -- in the				false

		2951						LN		501		11		false		           11     circumstances when they would need to be used.				false

		2952						LN		501		12		false		           12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So just one last set				false

		2953						LN		501		13		false		           13     of questions, and it's really just two.				false

		2954						LN		501		14		false		           14          Modeling and real life are two different things,				false

		2955						LN		501		15		false		           15     right?  You're trying to mimic as best you can in the				false

		2956						LN		501		16		false		           16     modeling what you think is really going to happen, but				false

		2957						LN		501		17		false		           17     that isn't really what happens; is that right?				false

		2958						LN		501		18		false		           18                        THE WITNESS:  That is -- yep, that				false

		2959						LN		501		19		false		           19     is absolutely right, so -- and it -- it cuts -- it cuts				false

		2960						LN		501		20		false		           20     both ways.  So in, you know, actual operations, there				false

		2961						LN		501		21		false		           21     are -- you know, a company might have a lot more				false

		2962						LN		501		22		false		           22     flexibility in how they respond to -- to certain				false

		2963						LN		501		23		false		           23     events.  But at the same time, the model is -- is				false

		2964						LN		501		24		false		           24     static, and it may not be able to predict the scale and				false

		2965						LN		501		25		false		           25     scope of events that come along.  And the logic,				false

		2966						PG		502		0		false		page 502				false

		2967						LN		502		1		false		            1     itself, is -- you know, it can never perfectly mimic				false

		2968						LN		502		2		false		            2     the way that the system is -- is going to operate.				false

		2969						LN		502		3		false		            3          So -- so, you know, at the end of the day, it's				false

		2970						LN		502		4		false		            4     really, you know, coming up with, you know, values that				false

		2971						LN		502		5		false		            5     you think are reasonable, but, of course, justified on,				false

		2972						LN		502		6		false		            6     you know, economic principles and, you know, the				false

		2973						LN		502		7		false		            7     reasonable assumptions.				false

		2974						LN		502		8		false		            8                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  And so in this case,				false

		2975						LN		502		9		false		            9     with respect to wind curtailments, if PacifiCorp has				false

		2976						LN		502		10		false		           10     modeled this incorrectly and curtailments are actually				false

		2977						LN		502		11		false		           11     less, what is the impact on customers?				false

		2978						LN		502		12		false		           12                        THE WITNESS:  If curtailments are				false

		2979						LN		502		13		false		           13     less, PacifiCorp will have -- and they model more				false

		2980						LN		502		14		false		           14     curtailments -- power costs will be -- base power costs				false

		2981						LN		502		15		false		           15     will be higher.  And so the -- the rate increase or				false

		2982						LN		502		16		false		           16     potentially reduction -- rates will be set higher than				false

		2983						LN		502		17		false		           17     they otherwise would be.  And those rates will go into				false

		2984						LN		502		18		false		           18     effect January 1.				false

		2985						LN		502		19		false		           19                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  And over time --				false

		2986						LN		502		20		false		           20                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, if -- sorry?				false

		2987						LN		502		21		false		           21                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Over time, then,				false

		2988						LN		502		22		false		           22     what happens -- I'm suggesting --				false

		2989						LN		502		23		false		           23                        THE WITNESS:  Right.				false

		2990						LN		502		24		false		           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  -- like, what				false

		2991						LN		502		25		false		           25     happens at the PCAM adjustment in the future?				false

		2992						PG		503		0		false		page 503				false

		2993						LN		503		1		false		            1                        THE WITNESS:  Right.  So those				false

		2994						LN		503		2		false		            2     higher rates go in January 1.  But then if there are				false

		2995						LN		503		3		false		            3     lower curtailments in actual operations, then				false

		2996						LN		503		4		false		            4     PacifiCorp's power costs would be -- would be lower,				false

		2997						LN		503		5		false		            5     and so then there would be a -- potentially in -- I				false

		2998						LN		503		6		false		            6     guess now we'd be dealing with in 2027, there would be				false

		2999						LN		503		7		false		            7     a PCAM filing where potentially there would be a				false

		3000						LN		503		8		false		            8     refund, or -- and so in the context of that, that PCAM				false

		3001						LN		503		9		false		            9     filing, if there is a refund, that amount is subject to				false

		3002						LN		503		10		false		           10     the dead bands and earnings tests, and there's also an				false

		3003						LN		503		11		false		           11     amortization trigger built in, to where if the variance				false

		3004						LN		503		12		false		           12     is small enough, it just carries forward into a				false

		3005						LN		503		13		false		           13     future -- future period.				false

		3006						LN		503		14		false		           14          So the amount of benefit that comes back to				false

		3007						LN		503		15		false		           15     customers is -- not only is it going to be smaller than				false

		3008						LN		503		16		false		           16     the base rate that should have been passed through, but				false

		3009						LN		503		17		false		           17     it's not going to come back, you know, potentially				false

		3010						LN		503		18		false		           18     until 2027 or maybe even many years into the future.				false

		3011						LN		503		19		false		           19     And so, you know, in terms of the timing, getting the				false

		3012						LN		503		20		false		           20     base correct is -- is important -- it's important				false

		3013						LN		503		21		false		           21     not -- both in terms of timing and because there are				false

		3014						LN		503		22		false		           22     these mechanisms within the PCAM that would -- would				false

		3015						LN		503		23		false		           23     otherwise dilute that benefit for customers.				false

		3016						LN		503		24		false		           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  That's				false

		3017						LN		503		25		false		           25     all I have.  Thank you.				false

		3018						PG		504		0		false		page 504				false

		3019						LN		504		1		false		            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any additional				false

		3020						LN		504		2		false		            2     questions?				false

		3021						LN		504		3		false		            3          Okay.  I believe that concludes the questioning				false

		3022						LN		504		4		false		            4     for you, Mr. Mullins.  You may be excused.  And thank				false

		3023						LN		504		5		false		            5     you for being available.				false

		3024						LN		504		6		false		            6                               (Witness excused.)				false

		3025						LN		504		7		false		            7				false

		3026						LN		504		8		false		            8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I believe				false

		3027						LN		504		9		false		            9     that brings us to the end of cross-examination.  I have				false

		3028						LN		504		10		false		           10     a few other housekeeping items before we adjourn.				false

		3029						LN		504		11		false		           11          Mr. Sykes, do you have an anticipated date for a				false

		3030						LN		504		12		false		           12     public comment matrix in this docket?				false

		3031						LN		504		13		false		           13                        MR. SYKES:  I do not, as there is no				false

		3032						LN		504		14		false		           14     scheduled public comment hearing on this matter.				false

		3033						LN		504		15		false		           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That's correct.				false

		3034						LN		504		16		false		           16     Okay.				false

		3035						LN		504		17		false		           17                               (Commissioner Rendahl exits.)				false

		3036						LN		504		18		false		           18				false

		3037						LN		504		19		false		           19                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And for briefing,				false

		3038						LN		504		20		false		           20     we currently have two rounds of post-hearing briefs:				false

		3039						LN		504		21		false		           21     The first due October 29th and the second due November				false

		3040						LN		504		22		false		           22     12th.				false

		3041						LN		504		23		false		           23          First question there is:  Do the parties				false

		3042						LN		504		24		false		           24     anticipate still needing two rounds of briefing?  And I				false

		3043						LN		504		25		false		           25     can start with the company.				false

		3044						PG		505		0		false		page 505				false

		3045						LN		505		1		false		            1                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes -- excuse me.  Yes,				false

		3046						LN		505		2		false		            2     the company does anticipate needing two rounds of				false

		3047						LN		505		3		false		            3     briefing.				false

		3048						LN		505		4		false		            4                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And staff?				false

		3049						LN		505		5		false		            5                        MS. STRAUSS:  Staff will reply to				false

		3050						LN		505		6		false		            6     briefing if the reply brief is available, but --				false

		3051						LN		505		7		false		            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.				false

		3052						LN		505		8		false		            8                        MS. STRAUSS:  -- if the parties				false

		3053						LN		505		9		false		            9     don't need a reply brief, then staff doesn't need to				false

		3054						LN		505		10		false		           10     push for one either.				false

		3055						LN		505		11		false		           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Public				false

		3056						LN		505		12		false		           12     counsel?				false

		3057						LN		505		13		false		           13                        MR. SYKES:  Public counsel doesn't				false

		3058						LN		505		14		false		           14     think a reply brief is necessary.  However, if one is				false

		3059						LN		505		15		false		           15     ordered, we will obviously reply.				false

		3060						LN		505		16		false		           16                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for				false

		3061						LN		505		17		false		           17     AWEC?				false

		3062						LN		505		18		false		           18                        MR. PEPPLE:  AWEC would appreciate a				false

		3063						LN		505		19		false		           19     reply brief.  Yeah.				false

		3064						LN		505		20		false		           20                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for The				false

		3065						LN		505		21		false		           21     Energy Project?				false

		3066						LN		505		22		false		           22                        MR. ZAKAI:  Good afternoon.  No				false

		3067						LN		505		23		false		           23     preference.				false

		3068						LN		505		24		false		           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  And for brief				false

		3069						LN		505		25		false		           25     lengths, do the parties anticipate needing the full 60				false

		3070						PG		506		0		false		page 506				false

		3071						LN		506		1		false		            1     pages for initial briefs?				false

		3072						LN		506		2		false		            2                        MR. LOWNEY:  I would expect, given				false

		3073						LN		506		3		false		            3     the scope of issues here, that we'll need the full 60				false

		3074						LN		506		4		false		            4     pages, yes.				false

		3075						LN		506		5		false		            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  We will go				false

		3076						LN		506		6		false		            6     ahead and stick with 60, which is the limit under rule.				false

		3077						LN		506		7		false		            7          And how about for reply briefs?  Does anybody have				false

		3078						LN		506		8		false		            8     a recommendation as to a page limit on reply briefs?				false

		3079						LN		506		9		false		            9                        MR. LOWNEY:  I will say, given my				false

		3080						LN		506		10		false		           10     experience where the company is replying to every party				false

		3081						LN		506		11		false		           11     as opposed to most other parties replying to only the				false

		3082						LN		506		12		false		           12     company, we need the full -- full length allotted.  So				false

		3083						LN		506		13		false		           13     60 pages would be appropriate from our perspective just				false

		3084						LN		506		14		false		           14     given, again, the scope of issues we're going to be				false

		3085						LN		506		15		false		           15     responding to, both in terms of the number of issues as				false

		3086						LN		506		16		false		           16     well as the number of parties.				false

		3087						LN		506		17		false		           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  I don't know if we				false

		3088						LN		506		18		false		           18     can do 60 on a reply.  I'm just thinking about timing				false

		3089						LN		506		19		false		           19     in November 12th getting those reply briefs, reviewing				false
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           1                        BE IT REMEMBERED that on Wednesday,



           2      October 8, 2025, at 621 Woodland Square Loop



           3      Southeast, Lacey, Washington, at 9:00 a.m., the



           4      following proceedings were continued, to wit:



           5



           6                          <<<<<< >>>>>>



           7



           8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  It



           9      is October 8th.  Wednesday, October 8th.  The time is



          10      currently 9 a.m.  We are here today for our second



          11      day of hearing in Docket UE-250224.



          12          We will begin this morning first by -- let's



          13      revisit exhibits.



          14          Did AWEC have a chance to confer with the company



          15      on the potential objections to exhibits?



          16                        MR. PEPPLE:  Yes, Your Honor.  So



          17      we have worked out an agreement with the company that



          18      we would stipulate to the admission of those



          19      exhibits.



          20          And PacifiCorp can confirm.  My understanding is



          21      that PacifiCorp is willing to stipulate also to the



          22      admission of some additional exhibits that are two



          23      work papers from Mr. Mitchell and some attachments to



          24      PacifiCorp's response to AWEC Data Request 50.



          25          I would propose that maybe we can file a motion
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            1     to admit those after the hearing.



            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  That will



            3     work.  And will those be filed by the company, or...?



            4                        MR. PEPPLE:  I think we can file



            5     them.



            6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Let's



            7     go ahead and admit under the stipulation between AWEC



            8     and PacifiCorp BGM -- and just to confirm, it's 12 --



            9     12X through 21X; is that correct?



           10                        MR. PEPPLE:  Yeah.  That's correct.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  So we will



           12     at this time admit the prefiled Cross Exhibits BGM-12XC



           13     through BGM-21XC.



           14                               (AWEC Cross-examination



           15                                Exhibit Nos. BGM-12XC,



           16                                BGM-13XC, BGM-14XC,



           17                                BGM-15XC, BGM-16XC,



           18                                BGM-17XC, BGM-18XC,



           19                                BGM-19XC, BGM-20XC, and



           20                                BGM-21XC admitted.)



           21



           22                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And AWEC will file



           23     with the Commission an additional three exhibits after



           24     the conclusion of the hearing.



           25                        MR. PEPPLE:  Did you want me to just
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            1     read those exhibits into the record for clarity, or...?



            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That would be



            3     helpful.  Thank you.



            4                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  So the -- the



            5     two work papers are NEW-PAC-RJM-TCDirect 4-1-2025.



            6     That's a confidential work paper.  And NEW-PAC-RJM-WA



            7     Direct 4-1-2025, also confidential.  And then the



            8     attachments to PacifiCorp's response to AWEC Data



            9     Request 50 are a series of NPC reports that we will



           10     file.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very



           12     much.  And we will get to the other four exhibits



           13     during the cross-examination of Ms. Hawkins-Jones, I



           14     believe.



           15          Okay.  With that, we can go ahead and proceed with



           16     our next witness.



           17          Mr. Zakai, is TEP's witness available?  I'm just



           18     looking at --



           19                        MR. ZAKAI:  Yes.



           20                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  -- the



           21     participant --



           22                        MR. ZAKAI:  I believe witness Stokes



           23     is on the line, and I should be able to introduce her



           24     shortly.



           25          So good morning.
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            1                               (Witness appearing remotely.)



            2



            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.



            4          Good morning.  If you could please raise your



            5     right hand and come off "mute," and I will swear you



            6     in.



            7                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



            8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  Do



            9     you swear or affirm that the testimony you will give



           10     today will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing



           11     but the truth?



           12                        THE WITNESS:  I do.



           13



           14     SHAYLEE STOKES,             appearing remotely and



           15                                 having been first duly sworn



           16                                 by Administrative Law Judge



           17                                 Thompson, was examined and



           18                                 testified as follows:



           19



           20                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Thank you.



           21          Mr. Zakai, you can proceed.



           22



           23                        DIRECT EXAMINATION



           24     BY MR. ZAKAI:



           25  Q  Good morning, witness Stokes.
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            1          Could you please state and spell your name for the



            2     record.



            3  A  My name is Shaylee Stokes.  First name S-h-a-y-l-e-e.



            4     Last name S-t-o-k-e-s.



            5  Q  And did you prefile written testimony in this case?



            6  A  Yes, I did.



            7  Q  And do you have any changes or revisions to your



            8     testimony today?



            9  A  No, I do not.



           10                        MR. ZAKAI:  Thank you.



           11          Your Honor, the witness is available for



           12     questions.



           13                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very



           14     much.



           15          And I believe we just have one question for you,



           16     so thank you for joining us this morning.



           17                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  I think I've come up



           18     with a second question, so I think we have two



           19     questions for you, but thank you for being here.



           20          Were you able to listen to the hearing yesterday;



           21     more specifically, to the testimony of Mr. Mitchell for



           22     the company?



           23                        THE WITNESS:  I was not.



           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.



           25                        THE WITNESS:  I have been
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            1     triple-booked yesterday and today, unfortunately.  I



            2     apologize.  Thank you so much for slating me in,



            3     Commissioners and Chair, at the beginning of the day



            4     here.



            5                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  No worries.



            6          So I'll sort of probably give a little bit of



            7     information around the questions.  But specifically,



            8     the first one is about wind curtailments.



            9          And in your cross-answering testimony, you



           10     effectively agree with the AWEC witness and AWEC's



           11     arguments that PacifiCorp's modeling implements wind



           12     curtailments while allowing dispatch from coal plants



           13     and their proposed model -- well, AWEC's proposed model



           14     would avoid those wind curtailments.



           15          Am I characterizing that fairly?



           16                        THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  We



           17     support AWEC's recommendation.



           18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Since that



           19     recommendation, PacifiCorp witness Mitchell -- in



           20     rebuttal testimony, then also during the hearing



           21     yesterday -- explained that these wind curtailments are



           22     a manage of measuring congestion on the -- on the



           23     system and indeed identified that PacifiCorp's



           24     strategies to curtail gas generation first, coal



           25     generation second, and wind generation third.





                                                                      355

�







            1          Does any of that testimony change your view or



            2     change your testimony in this case?



            3                        THE WITNESS:  At first thought, my



            4     understanding of CETA is that no amount of coal in any



            5     way is allowed to be in customer rates, and wind



            6     curtailment with that purpose violates that -- that



            7     legal interpretation of CETA.  So that's my initial



            8     thought.  However, I'd be happy to think about it a



            9     little bit and respond in writing at a future date



           10     if -- if you'd like to issue a bench request on that



           11     and we can analyze it deeper.



           12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  I appreciate



           13     that.



           14          And I will say that then I think the second piece



           15     of that from your testimony is the rate impact that



           16     that has, right?  That if indeed wind curtailments are



           17     greater, costs are higher, and production tax credits



           18     are less.



           19          I had a conversation with witness Mitchell



           20     yesterday during the hearing which I think ended up in



           21     the conclusion that, if they're modeling curtailments



           22     too high, then the costs in rates now would be too



           23     high, but if indeed in operations wind was higher --



           24     i.e., curtailed less -- then that would be made up for



           25     in the PCAM with effectively lower rates and more PTCs
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            1     flowing to customers.



            2          Any reaction to that or any reason to disagree



            3     with that conclusion or any thoughts from The Energy



            4     Project on whether or not that outcome is just and



            5     reasonable?



            6                        THE WITNESS:  I think that is in the



            7     weeds to a degree that I'm not a hundred percent



            8     feeling like an expert on the topic.  So I would --



            9     respectfully, I really appreciate the question, but --



           10     I mean, there's sharing bands and dead bands that are



           11     supposed to kind of help us guide through this process.



           12     And I -- I'm looking at sort of the big picture and the



           13     cumulative impact on rates.



           14          And The Energy Project is willing to support



           15     troubleshooting and problem-solving that ultimately



           16     reduces rates and does not increase the burden on



           17     customers.  Burden on customers is too much at this



           18     point.



           19          So in terms of individual methods, I leave that to



           20     our expert witnesses.  And, again, I'm happy to kind of



           21     expound on this subject more in writing if -- if



           22     necessary.



           23          I apologize if I didn't answer your question a



           24     hundred percent, Chair Rybarik.



           25                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  I understand -- I
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            1     appreciate the -- the thoughts there and the reaction.



            2     It sounds like we can also ask -- I mean, in large



            3     part, you're identifying that you're adopting and



            4     agreeing with Mr. Mullins, so we will ask Mr. Mullins



            5     these same questions, and then we'll take it under



            6     advisement of whether we need to issue a bench request.



            7     But appreciate your availability and thoughts on these



            8     issues.



            9                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you very much.



           10                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I believe



           11     that concludes our questions for you, Ms. Stokes.  You



           12     may be excused at this point in time.  Thank you for



           13     being available this morning.



           14                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Chair and



           15     Commissioners.



           16                               (Witness excused.)



           17



           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  That will



           19     bring us to our next witness, who will be John D.



           20     Wilson for staff.



           21                               (Witness appearing remotely.)



           22



           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Good morning.  If



           24     you could --



           25                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.





                                                                      358

�







            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  -- please raise



            2     your right hand, and I'll swear you in.



            3          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will



            4     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and



            5     nothing but the truth?



            6                        THE WITNESS:  I do.



            7



            8     JOHN D. WILSON,             appearing remotely and



            9                                 having been first duly sworn



           10                                 by Administrative Law Judge



           11                                 Thompson, was examined and



           12                                 testified as follows:



           13



           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very



           15     much.



           16          Counsel for staff, you may proceed.



           17



           18                        DIRECT EXAMINATION



           19     BY MS. STRAUSS:



           20  Q  Good morning, Mr. Wilson.



           21          Could you please state your name and spell it for



           22     the record.



           23  A  I'm John D. Wilson.  J-o-h-n D. W-i-l-s-o-n.



           24  Q  And, Mr. Wilson, did you sponsor testimony in this



           25     matter?
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            1  A  Yes.



            2  Q  And do you have any changes, amendments, or corrections



            3     to that testimony at this time?



            4  A  No.



            5                        MS. STRAUSS:  I tender the witness



            6     for questions.



            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very



            8     much.



            9          And I believe we just have questions from the



           10     bench this morning, so I will let the commissioners



           11     proceed.



           12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Good morning,



           13     Mr. Wilson.  I'm presuming you just heard my questions



           14     to Ms. Stokes for The Energy Project.



           15                        THE WITNESS:  I did.



           16                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So we'll start



           17     with -- I effectively have the same questions for you



           18     as well.



           19          Respective of AWEC's responsive testimony, witness



           20     Mullins argues that PacifiCorp's modeling implements



           21     wind curtailments while allowing coal to dispatch, and



           22     AWEC would like to avoid those wind curtailments.



           23          Given witness Mitchell's response to that and the



           24     strategies that PacifiCorp applies, does staff have any



           25     opinion regarding AWEC's proposal to minimize wind





                                                                      360

�







            1     curtailments in the modeling?



            2                        THE WITNESS:  I have reviewed the



            3     rebuttal testimony from witness Mitchell on that point.



            4     I'm not an expert in modeling in Aurora.  And I think



            5     that this question really goes to the heart of model



            6     settings and that review.  I think -- I think I would



            7     give you sort of a "both and" type answer as opposed to



            8     a, you know, I favor one position or the other.



            9          So I'll start with witness Mullins.  So I --



           10     generally in reviewing modeling practices across the



           11     country, I and other colleagues of Grid Strategies have



           12     found that there tends to be -- both in regulatory



           13     filings and even in modeling that's done to support



           14     operations, there tends to be a bias towards running



           15     coal and natural gas units to the point where they're



           16     not cost-effective in the market regions that they



           17     operate.



           18          That is a pretty broad finding.  It is not in



           19     every utility.  So, you know, you can't sort of take



           20     that and say, well, it must absolutely be happening in



           21     PacifiCorp.



           22          But I think that the industry, through



           23     long-standing practices and sort of embedded operating



           24     techniques, has tended to favor running those units



           25     when they're not necessarily economical and has not
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            1     adapted their technologies as much to -- to minimize



            2     things like wind curtailments and so forth.



            3          On the other hand, I think I generally agree with



            4     witness Mitchell's description of the proper logic that



            5     should be applied.  So I didn't hear anything from him



            6     yesterday in the portion that I heard.  I missed a



            7     little bit of that testimony.



            8          But also in what I read in his written testimony,



            9     Mr. Mitchell, I think, described correctly the factors



           10     that one would want to see modeled and considered in



           11     setting up the proper price baseline for, you know,



           12     future power costs.



           13          I think, you know, I do have broader concerns



           14     about, you know, the dispatch or the -- the cost



           15     allocation related to the dispatch of Rolling Hills



           16     Wind.  But setting that -- that accounting issue aside,



           17     you know, I think I sort of see both sides, because I



           18     know that witness Mullins did do a lot of looking at



           19     the Aurora model in a very limited amount of time and



           20     did seem to identify some very specific concerns that



           21     he had.  But I just don't -- it was not within the



           22     scope of the contract from the staff to engage someone



           23     to partner with me on doing that detailed modeling



           24     dive.



           25                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Got it.  Appreciate
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            1     that.



            2          And then follow-up to that is:  If indeed



            3     curtailments are set too high, is it your view that



            4     then the power costs are potentially higher than they



            5     would otherwise be if curtailments were lower and wind



            6     was blowing more and PTCs flowing to customers?



            7                        THE WITNESS:  Yes, absolutely.  I



            8     mean, I think that's -- that's a hundred percent



            9     certain, that if the curtailments in the modeling are



           10     excessive, then that would lead to higher costs for



           11     customers.  I don't think there's -- I would be



           12     surprised if there's any dispute on that point.  It's



           13     just that, you know, you've got to know whether that is



           14     the case.



           15          Of course, there is a difference between the, you



           16     know, Aurora modeling that's done for this and what the



           17     company uses to help set up, you know, the decisions to



           18     run or not run coal and gas plants.  And then of course



           19     there's the dispatch decisions made through the EIM



           20     mechanism, you know, in terms of real-time dispatch and



           21     curtailment.



           22          And, you know, you would want to look at those.



           23     The company is responsible for the inputs to the EIM,



           24     so it is not, in my opinion, a valid sort of not our



           25     problem if the wind plants are not curtailed properly.
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            1     If they've given incorrect input information to the



            2     CAISO for running the EIM, then you're going to get



            3     incorrect dispatch decisions out of it.  So there is a



            4     review process that should happen during the PCAM



            5     proceeding to make sure that -- that the company's



            6     inputs were correct and resulted in the right dispatch



            7     decisions.



            8                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So it'd be a review,



            9     in your mind, of the real-time actual operations



           10     decisions sent to CAISO for the EIM?



           11                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I think that



           12     should -- that's the kind of thing that, you know, one



           13     would want to look at in the PCAM proceeding, yes.



           14                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  And then



           15     relative to PCAM, if indeed operations are that wind is



           16     curtailed less than what the modeling shows, is it your



           17     view that the benefits of that should flow to



           18     customers?



           19                        THE WITNESS:  Well, yeah, of course



           20     the PCAM has the -- the mechanism for determining how



           21     those benefits and costs flow to customers and the



           22     company.  Obviously the Commission could make a



           23     decision that if, you know, there was something



           24     imprudent about the way that the whole process worked



           25     and it wanted to make a special determination on a
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            1     specific cost effect, I suppose it might be within the



            2     Commission's prerogative to do so, but normally that



            3     would just be handled as part of the overall cost



            4     recovery.



            5                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  That's



            6     all I have.  Thank you, sir.



            7                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



            8                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning,



            9     Mr. Mitchell.  How are you?  I mean, Mr. -- sorry --



           10     Mr. Wilson.  It's been a few days.



           11                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you,



           12     Commissioner Rendahl.  Nice to talk to you again.



           13                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yes.  If I



           14     can get my camera to work here.



           15          But at any rate, I have a few questions for you:



           16     One about the hedge book, and one about -- and another



           17     one about future hedging costs.



           18          So on rebuttal, PacifiCorp's witness Mitchell



           19     explains that they filed documentation and work papers



           20     that reflect how PacifiCorp calculates the costs and



           21     energy volumes associated with the non-Washington-



           22     specific book separately from the Washington net power



           23     cost forecasts.  And I'm happy to give you the



           24     reference that I'm talking about in his testimony if



           25     you'd like.
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            1                        THE WITNESS:  That would be very



            2     helpful.  Thank you.



            3                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  That's



            4     at RJM-13CT, at Page 31, Lines 1 through 17.



            5                        THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Getting there.



            6          Okay.  Yes.  Go ahead, please.  Thank you.



            7                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  So



            8     considering this information -- and I'm sure you've



            9     read his rebuttal -- Mitchell's rebuttal testimony.



           10          Considering this information provided by the



           11     company, does staff maintain its position on the



           12     Washington-specific hedge book?



           13                        THE WITNESS:  Yes, so first I'd like



           14     to comment that a lot of this critique from witness



           15     Mitchell is kind of misdirected.  It suggests that I



           16     failed to review their filing.  In fact, my concern



           17     about the Washington book was raised by PacifiCorp's



           18     response to a discovery request, and that's quoted in



           19     my testimony.



           20          And it just wasn't clear to me that the term



           21     "prehedging transactions Washington" was meant to refer



           22     to the Washington book and not simply to the Washington



           23     allocated portion of the prehedging transactions.  So



           24     there's just some language issues in witness Mitchell's



           25     testimony and the discovery responses that created
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            1     probably some level of unnecessary confusion.



            2          Another example of that is witness Mitchell



            3     yesterday talked a lot about spot market pricing, which



            4     to me, I would understand that in most contexts to



            5     refer to either actual or forecast spot market prices.



            6     And what he said is he was referring to the fact that



            7     it's hourly pricing, which, you know, I would just



            8     simply call it hourly pricing rather than spot market



            9     pricing.



           10          So there's some -- some challenges in sort of



           11     understanding exactly what's going on.  And we did file



           12     as much discovery as we could to get clarification on



           13     that, but that was difficult to sort of resolve.



           14          So I think the -- the bottom line here is, after



           15     reviewing the rebuttal testimony, ideally I would have



           16     re-reviewed all the material that he referred to to



           17     verify his claim that the modeling process did indeed



           18     create two separate sets of hedging transactions, one



           19     for Washington and one for the rest of the system.



           20          I have not had time to do so due to other



           21     responsibilities.  And that would be a pretty



           22     time-consuming investigation, you know, with the



           23     test- -- the rebuttal testimony being filed so



           24     recently.



           25          Assuming for the -- you know, and the Commission
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            1     should judge the evidence as it has before it.  If the



            2     Commission was to determine that there were two



            3     separate sets of hedging transactions created by



            4     PacifiCorp, then I think I would have -- that would



            5     resolve my concern here about the -- the Washington



            6     book.  So that's a pretty long answer to your question,



            7     but I wanted to kind of provide that context as to why



            8     there's a dispute here and what kind of work it would



            9     take to resolve it and why I wasn't able to do that



           10     before this hearing.



           11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  All right.



           12     And in that vein, does -- do you have supplemental



           13     information requests pending with the company on this



           14     that were not -- did not come back before the hearing?



           15     Were you trying to get more information?  I realize



           16     this was on a pretty fast time frame.



           17                        THE WITNESS:  On this specific



           18     topic -- I'd have to go back and look through the



           19     requests.  I think it's just more a matter of we filed



           20     initial requests, we filed follow-up requests, and even



           21     those follow-up requests in some cases were just not



           22     very specific in their responses.



           23          You know, I had a -- I was -- for example, I was



           24     pretty sure I knew which model file reflected the



           25     company's actual proposal case, and we had to ask two
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            1     different data requests to get that absolutely verified



            2     for certain.  And just kind of, like, seems like a



            3     pretty basic question to me.  Like, what's your case



            4     here?  What's your work paper for your case?  And



            5     instead, we got these kind of long, convoluted answers.



            6          And, you know, so that's my recollection of it,



            7     you know, just sitting here.  But I don't think we have



            8     any specific pending requests out right now.  I think



            9     it's more a matter of, after asking a couple of times,



           10     I was in some cases left either uncertain, or in the



           11     case of this language issue that was discussed



           12     yesterday about what he meant by "spot market," you



           13     know, wasn't until there was solid cross-examination



           14     that I understood what he was actually -- what he



           15     actually meant by those words.



           16                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  All right.



           17     And considering that, did it help, you know, help your



           18     thoughts on this as to whether -- you said --



           19                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah.



           20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  -- we



           21     should -- we should determine whether there are two



           22     sets of hedging transactions, but did it help you in



           23     your analysis of whether you think there are two



           24     separate sets here or not?



           25                        THE WITNESS:  I think I can go to
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            1     the broader question, which is whether this -- this



            2     hedging cost for these 25-megawatt blocks should be



            3     included in rates.  That's kind of where you're going.



            4     Have I got that right, Commissioner Rendahl?



            5                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yes.



            6          So do you still maintain your position here?



            7                        THE WITNESS:  I think I am mostly



            8     convinced -- but not entirely, for a couple of reasons



            9     that I'll identify -- that the company's proposal is



           10     reasonable.



           11          And the two things that I think are still really



           12     outstanding is, one, with a change like this -- this is



           13     a new method -- I would expect to see the company



           14     provide some sort of verification analysis that is



           15     specific to the -- the hedging process that they've



           16     done.  And instead they pointed to witness Mitchell's



           17     Exhibit 5, which was discussed, I think, in the



           18     confidential session yesterday.



           19          And without getting in any details of that, I



           20     think it was established that there was not a



           21     specific -- you know, even though they pointed to that



           22     as verification of this hedging.  There wasn't a



           23     specific analysis of the hedging practices in -- you



           24     know, supported by that exhibit.



           25          And I think that's a concern I have.  I think it's
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            1     a best practice that when you introduce a new method,



            2     it should provide some sort of analytic test to show



            3     that, you know, all of your assumptions -- and witness



            4     Mitchell sort of outlined a chain of assumptions, each



            5     of which on its own sounded reasonable.  But in



            6     modeling exercises, there's sometimes interactions



            7     between these assumptions that are unanticipated, and



            8     the best way to check that and make sure that there's



            9     not a mistake there that is a fundamental problem for



           10     customers is to do some sort of, you know, test



           11     analysis and provide that in support.



           12          So that's my main remaining concern.  I think my



           13     second one is the one that we just went over, which is



           14     whether in fact the Washington and system hedges are



           15     actually maintained as separate transactions in the



           16     analysis or whether it's a allocation of system hedges



           17     into the Washington book that is -- that is occurring.



           18     And that was not a hundred percent clear to me from his



           19     testimony, either prefiled or on the stand.



           20          So those are my two points.  But I do think he



           21     walked through the logic and explained his terms a lot



           22     better, and that addressed a lot of the concerns that I



           23     raised in my testimony.  Certainly narrowed them down



           24     to just some quantitative work.



           25                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  And
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            1     thank you for that clarification.



            2          On the --



            3                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, absolutely.



            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  On the future



            5     hedging costs, again in rebuttal -- and this is witness



            6     Mitchell's rebuttal testimony, at Page 20, starting at



            7     Line 8 and then going to Page 36, Line 10.  So there's



            8     a significant amount there.



            9                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah.



           10                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  He argues



           11     that forward market transaction costs and volumes are



           12     known and reasonable.  And considering the information



           13     that the company provided or that witness Mitchell



           14     provided, does staff still maintain its position on the



           15     future hedging costs, or is this similar to your answer



           16     you just gave?



           17                        THE WITNESS:  It's similar to the



           18     answer that I just gave.  I think I can give you a



           19     little bit of quick color on that.



           20          So on the known piece, I'm not sure if witness



           21     Mitchell acknowledged it, but I pretty much anticipated



           22     his answer, which was that the need to executions --



           23     excuse me -- the need to execute transactions is what



           24     makes this known.  And so I agree with that.  So I



           25     think -- I think they have established the known
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            1     portion of the test.



            2          The measurable portion of the test is -- is the



            3     more complicated one.  And, you know, I sort of look at



            4     it as a two-part test:  Are the hedging transactions



            5     calculated from a model based on a Washington-specific



            6     basis as opposed to a system basis?  And that was the



            7     point we just discussed, is that I haven't been able to



            8     fully verify that it's Washington-specific.



            9          And, secondly, the issue was kind of how the



           10     dollars flew, you know, kind of where the price signals



           11     were generated.  And there, I think I got more



           12     clarification from his testimony yesterday that



           13     resolved some of those concerns.



           14          So the issue that we had there was that we had the



           15     OFPC prices, which -- I mean, one thing that's



           16     important, I guess, to say for this issue is that



           17     there's no perfect way for the company to model this.



           18     And so I think that would be helpful for the company to



           19     also acknowledge in its testimony, is that, you know,



           20     there's not a -- there's not an ideal way to get at



           21     this issue.



           22          I acknowledged in my testimony, my -- my direct



           23     testimony, that this was a legitimate issue that



           24     they've identified, and I agree that there needs to be



           25     a solution.  And I bring that attitude still very much
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            1     to this conversation we're having right now.



            2          So the -- the problem is that you're talking about



            3     forecasting a transaction that's going to happen some



            4     months in the future and then a second transaction



            5     that's going to happen at or near the power delivery



            6     date.  And witness Mitchell described it as generally



            7     happening within 72 hours of the power delivery date.



            8     I had seen other utilities that will unwind portion of



            9     their block hedges further in advance of that, using



           10     other kinds of transactions, other kinds of bilateral



           11     contracts.



           12          So, you know, that's certainly a question for me



           13     as to the company's power management practices.  But,



           14     you know, that may be something he was just sort of



           15     simplifying and tried to keep it kind of simple for



           16     purposes of explaining the issue.



           17          So -- and the way that this -- the fact that you



           18     can't sort of actually predict those two price



           19     transactions kind of separately and they're both



           20     relying on the -- the OFPC costs, or prices.  Excuse



           21     me.



           22          So you've got these OFPC prices that are the input



           23     to the first transaction and the input to the second



           24     transaction when they're occurring in different markets



           25     and in different time scales.  And that creates a
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            1     little bit of a challenge.



            2          And, you know, exactly how to resolve this, you



            3     know, I don't have a better approach to propose and



            4     acknowledge that in the testimony.  I think it was



            5     really just a matter of, if you test it and you see



            6     that it's working, then, yeah, this is a great



            7     improvement.  If you test it and it's not working, then



            8     you need to figure out why it's not working and go back



            9     and come up with a different approach.



           10          Just to kind of conclude this, the concern, I



           11     think, arises because you end up with a very large cost



           12     added to the -- to the net power costs.  This is a --



           13     and witness Mitchell explained the reason for this,



           14     which is that the price to buy the power is the OFPC,



           15     and the price to then sell the power is the OFPC minus



           16     the transaction cost.



           17          And so you end up with a -- no matter how



           18     brilliant a hedging is, in the modeling, the actual



           19     cost effect is always going to be a negative cost to



           20     consumers.  In reality, the cost will sometimes be a



           21     negative cost to consumers.  And sometimes the company,



           22     because it's got -- I presume and have no reason to



           23     disbelieve -- pretty smart people running these



           24     programs, will be making smart moves on these hedges



           25     and will do better than average.
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            1          And, you know, you don't know whether that will



            2     happen.  You can't -- you can't guarantee that outcome.



            3     But there's no aspect of this modeling that reflects



            4     historical tendency there.  And I'll give you an



            5     example.



            6          The modeling, as I understand it -- and this was a



            7     reassurance to me -- is that they're taking the bare



            8     minimum hedges that are required by their risk



            9     management policy -- so they've got, you know, 75



           10     percent or whatever the requirement is at a particular



           11     time, and they're putting in hedges right up to 75



           12     percent, but that's a minimum.



           13          And I think if the company sees that prices are



           14     low right now, they're not going to do 75 percent.



           15     They might hedge 90 percent or 95 percent.  They might



           16     do a much larger hedge, because they know that they're



           17     very unlikely to take a substantial loss if they



           18     overhedge and they have protected customers on the



           19     upside from any kind of unexpected price spikes.



           20          So good hedging would involve a degree of judgment



           21     that isn't reflected in this model, and therefore you



           22     could end up with, you know, costs that are not



           23     reflective of the modeling.  So that's kind of where



           24     this concern comes from.  The scale of this cost is



           25     pretty large compared to what good hedging practice
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            1     might actually result in.



            2                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  But



            3     your primary concern -- just one moment.



            4          Your primary concern, though, was about



            5     measurability, the known --



            6                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah.



            7                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  --



            8     measurable.  So that's where you still have the



            9     question.  And I know you went on and talked about the



           10     concern about the scale.  But just -- that's the



           11     primary concern there.



           12                        THE WITNESS:  Right.  And it relates



           13     to kind of the broader point I just made, which is the



           14     reason that you want it to be measurable is that you



           15     want it to relate to something that's really going to



           16     happen in the future.



           17                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Got it.



           18     Okay.



           19                        THE WITNESS:  And so if you -- if



           20     what you're measuring is just part of the effect, which



           21     is the case here, it's hopefully a big part of it, and,



           22     you know, we can't expect you to be perfect.  But the



           23     question is if they missed a big part.  And that would



           24     be the proactive benefit of the hedging policy, which



           25     is the reason that the Commission and some other
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            1     regulators across North America encourage hedging.



            2     They encourage it because they want it to have



            3     benefits.  It looks like, in this modeling, all it has



            4     is costs.



            5                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank



            6     you.



            7                        THE WITNESS:  And that's -- that's



            8     kind of a challenge.



            9                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank



           10     you.  Sorry.  Mr. Lowney.



           11                        MR. LOWNEY:  Apologies.  I was -- I



           12     was concerned that we were potentially divulging a



           13     confidential figure related to the risk management



           14     policy.



           15                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Ah.  Did we



           16     do that?



           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  But it is not --



           18                        THE WITNESS:  I'm looking at --



           19                        MR. LOWNEY:  It's not identified as



           20     confidential in the company's rebuttal testimony, so I



           21     think we're okay.  But I guess I would just say, to the



           22     extent there's more questions, maybe we could use --



           23     not divulge specific figures, just so we're not on the



           24     edge of that confidentiality related to the risk



           25     management policy specifically.





                                                                      378

�







            1                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  I appreciate



            2     that guidance.  Thank you.  And I don't have any



            3     further questions for this witness.



            4          So --



            5                        THE WITNESS:  I'll just --



            6     Commissioner, if I can just provide the citation for



            7     that.  That figure was from Page 20 of witness



            8     Mitchell's rebuttal testimony, at Line 3.



            9                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  And it was



           10     not confidential?



           11                        THE WITNESS:  That's correct.



           12                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  For



           13     the record.



           14                        MR. LOWNEY:  And that's what we were



           15     looking at as well to confirm that it was -- that



           16     particular number was not confidential.



           17                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Well,



           18     thank you for making sure that we keep the record



           19     clean.



           20          And I have no further questions for the witness.



           21                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



           22          Commissioner Doumit?  All right.



           23          I believe that concludes all of the commissioner



           24     questions for you, Mr. Wilson.  Thank you for being



           25     available this morning.  You may be excused at this
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            1     time.



            2                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



            3                               (Witness excused.)



            4



            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And that brings us



            6     to Jacque Hawkins-Jones.



            7          Good morning.  Are you ready?



            8                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



            9                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you could



           10     please raise your right hand.



           11          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will



           12     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and



           13     nothing but the truth?



           14                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           15



           16     JACQUE HAWKINS-JONES,       having been first duly sworn



           17                                 by Administrative Law Judge



           18                                 Thompson, was examined and



           19                                 testified as follows:



           20



           21                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank



           22     you.  You may be seated.



           23          And, Counsel, you may proceed.



           24     ////



           25     ////
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            1                        DIRECT EXAMINATION



            2     BY MS. STRAUSS:



            3  Q  Good morning, Ms. Hawkins-Jones.



            4          Could you please state your name and spell it for



            5     the record.



            6  A  Good morning.



            7          My name is Jacque Hawkins Jones.  J-a-c-q-u-e.



            8     Last name is H-a-w-k-i-n-s, hyphen, J-o-n-e-s.



            9  Q  Thank you.



           10          And did you sponsor testimony in this matter?



           11  A  Yes, I did.



           12  Q  And do you have any corrections, amendments, or changes



           13     you would like to make to that testimony at this time?



           14  A  No, I do not.



           15                        MS. STRAUSS:  Thank you.



           16          I tender the question for cross -- or the witness



           17     for cross.  Apologies.



           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That is okay.



           19     Thank you.



           20          I believe the company has indicated cross for this



           21     witness.  You may proceed when you're ready.



           22          And just a reminder to counsel.  When you're



           23     talking, if you could turn on your cameras.  I think



           24     you've got it, but I did get a message earlier.  So



           25     thank you.
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            1                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.



            2



            3                        CROSS-EXAMINATION



            4     BY MR. McVEE:



            5  Q  Good morning.



            6  A  Good morning.



            7  Q  So I just have a few questions this morning.



            8          So your cross-answering testimony, Exhibit JHJ-1T,



            9     is the first testimony you submitted in this



           10     proceeding, correct?



           11  A  Correct.



           12  Q  And you concur with PacifiCorp's findings that the



           13     Washington 2026 protocol is better aligned with



           14     Washington's benefits, Washington benefits, than the



           15     WIJAM, correct?



           16  A  Can you point me to where I say that?



           17  Q  Yes.



           18          If you could refer to Exhibit JHJ-5X.  On Page 11



           19     of 13, it's staff response to DR 23.



           20  A  Give me just one minute to get there.



           21          You said that was Response -- what again?  I'm



           22     sorry?



           23  Q  It's Page 11 of 13 of Exhibit JHJ-5X.  And it's staff



           24     response to DR 23.



           25  A  Okay.  I'm there.
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            1  Q  And on the very last line, you say, In general, I



            2     concur PacifiCorp's findings are better aligned with



            3     Washington benefits.



            4          Do you still agree with that statement?



            5  A  Let me read the whole thing in its entirety.



            6          Yes.  And I believe that's -- also correlates with



            7     staff Wilson's testimony.



            8  Q  Great.  Thank you.



            9          Did you review the 2020 protocol and the WIJAM in



           10     the development of your testimony of this case?



           11                        MS. STRAUSS:  I'm going to object on



           12     this line of questioning.  This is outside the scope of



           13     her testimony that was offered in this matter.  She



           14     only spoke to the 2026 protocol and its effects going



           15     downstream, not looking back at any prior methodology



           16     that was offered in a previous proceeding.



           17                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor, her



           18     testimony refers to over-collection of costs, which



           19     kind of necessarily relates to the rates that were set



           20     in the past.  Plus this is a foundational issue for



           21     allocations in the discussion that we're having today



           22     about the Washington 2026 protocol.



           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any further



           24     response?



           25                        MS. STRAUSS:  Yes.  Her testimony
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            1     about over-collection relates to a forward-looking



            2     analysis of how the 2026 protocol is going to be



            3     implemented and if those concerns that have been



            4     brought up by other parties are founded and need to be



            5     investigated more.



            6          It's staff's position that the evidence in the



            7     record is unclear how the collection's going to happen



            8     in terms of if there are going to be over-collection



            9     issues with the 2026 protocol, and there's just not



           10     enough evidence in the record that has dissuaded staff



           11     that there won't be.



           12                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I'm going to



           13     overrule the objection at this time.



           14          The statement in Data Request No. 23 does



           15     implicate the WIJAM.  And I do agree that the question



           16     is getting at foundational knowledge of comparing the



           17     2026 protocol and the WIJAM.  But should the



           18     questioning exceed the witness's ability to answer her



           19     knowledge, feel free to object again.



           20  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  Would you like me to repeat the



           21     question?



           22  A  You'll need to repeat, yes.



           23  Q  Did you review the 2020 protocol and WIJAM in the



           24     development of your testimony in this case?



           25  A  I did not.
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            1  Q  You did not.  All right.  Thank you.



            2          Did you review any of the past decisions on



            3     PacifiCorp's allocations?  2005, 2013, any of those



            4     past decisions?



            5  A  I did not.



            6  Q  Can you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-4X.  That is the



            7     joint testimony in support of the stipulation in



            8     Docket UE-191024.



            9  A  I'm there.



           10                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, staff



           11     again objected to this exhibit.  This is prefiled



           12     testimony that has to do with an agreement staff



           13     reached in the settlement in a prior docket.  Again,



           14     outside the scope of her testimony.  Not relevant to



           15     the 2026 protocol and staff's opinion on the 2026



           16     protocol.



           17                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor -- sorry.



           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Go ahead.  Proceed.



           19                        MR. McVEE:  Your Honor, this is the



           20     testimony -- joint testimony supporting the stipulation



           21     adopting -- or it's recommending the adoption of the



           22     2020 protocol and the WIJAM, to which staff was a



           23     participant.



           24                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, if I -- if



           25     I may respond.
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            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Please do.



            2                        MS. STRAUSS:  Again, that was



            3     testimony offered in a settlement approving that



            4     protocol.  Staff's not looking to relitigate those



            5     issues or question the approval of that protocol.



            6     Staff is looking at the 2026 protocol.  The 2020



            7     protocol and why staff accepted it or agreed to it at



            8     that time is not the question of this proceeding.



            9                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  What is the



           10     company's intention for use of this exhibit?



           11                        MR. McVEE:  I just have one question



           12     about this exhibit.  It's just to set the stage



           13     regarding how the 2026 protocol is -- or the Washington



           14     2026 protocol follows on the attempt that was



           15     articulated by the parties to that stipulation, which



           16     then result -- or -- and that reflected the 2020



           17     protocol and the WIJAM.



           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  This exhibit



           19     is a prior filing with the Commission.  I don't see any



           20     reason to exclude the exhibit, itself.  However, I note



           21     that witness Hawkins-Jones is not one of the



           22     individuals providing testimony in this filing, and so



           23     the witness's knowledge of the testimony or the



           24     contents therein may be limited.



           25          So I'll overrule the objection to the exhibit,
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            1     itself, on the basis that this is a document filed with



            2     the Commission in another docket.  But I do note for



            3     counsel that Ms. Hawkins-Jones was not a witness or



            4     somebody providing testimony in this filing, and so the



            5     witness's knowledge may be limited.



            6                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.



            7  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  So could you turn to page -- to



            8     Exhibit JHJ-4X, Page 17 of 55.  That will be Page 15 of



            9     the testimony.



           10  A  All right.  I think I'm there.



           11          The first line of there -- that page is "prudent



           12     by the Commission"?



           13  Q  It should -- the first line of the page should be WIJAM



           14     MOU 2020 protocol.



           15          So the exhibit, it should be Page --



           16  A  Got it.  I'm there.



           17  Q  Thank you.



           18          So in that second question, "Please describe the



           19     2020 protocol," Lines -- the response in Lines 8



           20     through 13, it describes the 2020 protocol represents a



           21     fundamental shift in how the company proposes to



           22     address allocations, with the ultimate goal of moving



           23     away from dynamic allocations and a common generation



           24     resource portfolio to a fixed allocation factors for



           25     generation resources.
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            1          Do you agree that that transition to fixed factors



            2     and a state-specific resource portfolio is appropriate?



            3  A  I don't have kno- -- that's not something that's -- I



            4     would have knowledge about.  I would defer to our



            5     expert witness Wilson on those questions.



            6  Q  All right.  Thank you.



            7          So turning to your testimony, I'd like to ask a



            8     few questions about some of the recommendations that



            9     you make.



           10          Recommendation 3, if you turn to Page 6 of your



           11     testimony.



           12  A  One second while I go back there.



           13          Sorry.  I've lost my --



           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Did you say Page 6?



           15                        MR. McVEE:  Oh.  I'm sorry.  Page 7



           16     of your testimony.



           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  7.  Thank you.



           18                        MR. McVEE:  Lines 4 through 8.



           19                        THE WITNESS:  4 through 8.  Okay.



           20     I'm there.



           21  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  All right.  In that recommendation, you



           22     recommend that PacifiCorp include workbooks and other



           23     information -- similar to that indicated in testimony



           24     of witnesses Earle, Mullins, and Wilson -- to be



           25     significant value in interpreting the protocol,
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            1     correct?



            2          And we're talking about the Phase 2 filing.



            3  A  Yes, I agree with those expert witnesses.



            4  Q  Okay.  And what specific workbooks and other



            5     information are you referring to?



            6  A  I believe those are further detailed down in testimony.



            7  Q  In your testimony?



            8  A  I believe the information that we're seeking is



            9     outlined in the last question as well as whatever



           10     expert witness testimony they -- they've described in



           11     their testimony as needing additional information to



           12     review.



           13  Q  So when you say your testimony, do you mean staff



           14     witness Wilson's testimony or later in your testimony?



           15  A  I guess, can you rephrase your question so that way I



           16     understand it completely?



           17  Q  So in the -- in your Recommendation 3, you state that



           18     in the company's Phase 2 filing, it should include



           19     workbooks and other information similar to that



           20     indicated in the testimony of witnesses Earle, Mullins,



           21     and Wilson to be of significant value in interpreting



           22     the protocol.



           23          Are you asking for all information that was



           24     addressed by those witnesses to be included in the



           25     Phase 2 filing?
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            1  A  I think, for a complete analysis, what I'm recommending



            2     is for workbooks and other information that are -- that



            3     were similarly requested and for discovery in this case



            4     be included in that filing, yes.  And that's to create



            5     a complete file for our staff and other parties to



            6     review and not have to do additional discovery to



            7     review that information.



            8  Q  Thank you.



            9          Would that include issues that may be rejected by



           10     the Commission in its order?



           11  A  Can you clarify what you mean by that?



           12  Q  So if certain issues raised by the parties are rejected



           13     by the Commission in its order or maybe there's changed



           14     circumstances, would that recommendation hold, that we



           15     would still -- the company should still be required to



           16     provide information articulated by parties in this



           17     case?



           18  A  I think that the company should file, you know, what



           19     the Commission orders and maybe have the Commission



           20     clarify what would be best to file in their next case.



           21     So I leave that up to the Commission to decide and for



           22     the company to then respond appropriately to that



           23     decision.



           24  Q  Moving to your Recommendation 6, this is at Page 8,



           25     Lines 1 through 5.
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            1  A  I'm there.



            2  Q  And it actually starts on Page 7 -- I'm sorry --



            3     Lines 22 to 23.  But the recommendation is for, if



            4     discussions across multiple jurisdictions, which



            5     relates to your first recommendation, do not result in



            6     a consensus, then it calls for specific discussions.



            7          So your recommendation is for PacifiCorp to be



            8     directed to consult with AWEC staff and public counsel



            9     at a minimum to obtain consensus alternative and



           10     include a full analysis in a Phase 2 filing, correct?



           11  A  That's what my testimony says.



           12  Q  Do you agree that PacifiCorp, as a utility, has the



           13     ultimate responsibility to maintain safe, reliable, and



           14     affordable electric service in compliance with all



           15     legal requirements?



           16  A  Yes.



           17  Q  Did staff or any other parties analyze reliability of



           18     the system or resource adequacy in their testimony in



           19     this proceeding?



           20  A  That does not relate to my testimony.  I wouldn't know.



           21     I wouldn't be able to speak to that.  You'd have to ask



           22     them.



           23  Q  Do you know, did you review any of the testimony of the



           24     other parties in this proceeding?



           25  A  I remember reviewing them, but I don't memorize them.
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            1  Q  Do you know if -- did you or do you know of any other



            2     party that analyzed compliance with the NERC -- that's



            3     the North Electric Reliabil- -- American Electric



            4     Reliability Council's reliability standards in their



            5     testimony?



            6  A  I would defer you to our expert witness Wilson on that.



            7  Q  Did you analyze any compliance with the NERC standards



            8     or the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission



            9     requirements --



           10  A  No.



           11  Q  -- in your testimony?



           12  A  We consulted with an expert witness who we sought



           13     consultation with in this case, so I would defer you to



           14     him on those.



           15  Q  And that -- you're referring to staff witness Wilson?



           16  A  Correct.



           17  Q  Okay.  And so staff witness Wilson, in their testimony,



           18     did not address the Federal Energy Regulatory



           19     Commission requirements or North American Electric



           20     Reliability Council requirements, and that was not an



           21     issue for staff?



           22  A  You would have to ask him on that.



           23  Q  Thank you.



           24          Turning to your Recommendation 4, which is on



           25     Page 7, Lines 1 through 13 -- I'm sorry -- 9 through
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            1     13.



            2  A  Okay.



            3  Q  I'm sorry.  Let me correct that.  9 through 12.



            4  A  Yes.



            5  Q  You raise an issue of over-collection of costs by



            6     PacifiCorp across the jurisdictions, correct?



            7  A  I believe this is talking about demonstrating how the



            8     NPCs and non-NPCs are recovered across each



            9     jurisdiction.



           10  Q  And if that recovery across all jurisdictions varies



           11     significantly from a hundred percent, you recommend



           12     that PacifiCorp be directed to include an explanation



           13     as to why it's reasonable, correct?



           14  A  That's what my testimony says.



           15  Q  Would you agree that allocations are an input in each



           16     rate filing before each state commission and used to



           17     determine the cost of service to customers in each



           18     state?



           19  A  I would agree with that statement.



           20  Q  All right.  And rates approved by each jurisdiction



           21     determined to be -- determined to be fair, just,



           22     reasonable, and sufficient, or the applicable standard



           23     for each state, would be the rates set for that



           24     jurisdiction?



           25  A  Yes.  Whatever the Commission orders, yes.
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            1  Q  So -- and your Recommendation 4 would require



            2     demonstration in Phase 2 filing of total recovery of



            3     the company's costs across all jurisdictions and an



            4     explanation as to why any cost varies from a hundred



            5     percent, correct?



            6  A  That's what my testimony says.



            7  Q  All right.  How does staff propose to use that



            8     information in that Phase 2 filing?



            9  A  I don't know if I would be able to speak to that.  We



           10     would probably consult with our expert witness for



           11     that.  Additionally, just having the information in



           12     file for staff to do a complete analysis is helpful for



           13     us to come to a full determination, a recommendation



           14     for the Commission.



           15  Q  But that information would relate to collection during



           16     a -- sorry.  Let me rephrase that.



           17          Is that information intended to be forward-looking



           18     for the Phase 2 filing or backward-looking for the,



           19     what would be the current allocation methodology?



           20  A  So I think when we're talking about backward-looking



           21     for staff, it is to learn, not necessarily punish or



           22     re-evaluate.  It is so that way staff can make good



           23     recommendations for the Commission's consideration in



           24     its cases going forward.



           25          So I don't think that -- I do think that all
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            1     information is valuable in these types of filings for



            2     us to make a good recommendation for the Commission to



            3     consider.



            4  Q  So would you agree that that could not be used for any



            5     of the identification of any potential refunds to



            6     customers?



            7  A  I mean, I don't know if I could speak to that now,



            8     'cause I do think that there are some avenues available



            9     that the Commission has -- I believe it's an RCW --



           10     investigative rules.  If there is a complaint filed,



           11     the Commission can make a determination on if they



           12     would like to.  That's not something that staff is



           13     looking for right now.



           14          We are looking to learn so that way we can make



           15     better reasonable decisions going forward so that way



           16     customer impact is not -- customers are not impacted,



           17     you know, negatively.



           18  Q  So are you saying that the Commission could issue



           19     refunds based on rates that were approved as fair,



           20     just, reasonable, and sufficient in Washington because



           21     of rates that were recovered in other states that were



           22     also determined to be fair, just, reasonable, and



           23     sufficient?



           24  A  No, I don't think I'd say that.



           25  Q  Could you turn to Cross Exhibit JHJ-5X, Page 12 of 13.
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            1                        MS. STRAUSS:  Your Honor, staff also



            2     objected to this DR as outside the scope of



            3     Ms. Hawkins-Jones' testimony and not relevant to this



            4     matter.



            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any response?



            6                        MR. McVEE:  Yes.  This is actually



            7     just in line with the same questions I've been having.



            8     It was just a data request response that -- where staff



            9     makes a similar statement to what the witness just



           10     made.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Please give me just



           12     one moment to review the exhibit.



           13          And, Ms. Strauss, your argument is that this is



           14     not relevant to Ms. Hawkins-Jones' testimony?



           15                        MS. STRAUSS:  I would argue that



           16     Ms. Hawkins-Jones is testifying about the 2026



           17     protocol.  This line of questioning about past



           18     allocation methodologies and how they were applied is



           19     not relevant to staff's position on the 2026 protocol.



           20          Arguably, this line of questioning about potential



           21     overpayment in the staff, which staff is interested



           22     about from a learning perspective, is not on point with



           23     the issue before the Commission of whether the 2026



           24     protocol should be approved in this proceeding.



           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  In reviewing
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            1     the contents of the data request, it seems to go



            2     directly to what is contained in witness Hawkins-Jones'



            3     testimony and Recommendation 4, I believe on Page 7.



            4          And so for that reason, I do believe it's within



            5     the scope on a narrow basis as to how that



            6     recommendation may apply to the 2026 protocol.  I will



            7     overrule the objection at this point in time.



            8          And, Counsel, you may proceed.



            9                        MR. McVEE:  Thank you, Your Honor.



           10  Q  (By Mr. McVee)  So are you on that page?



           11  A  I am.



           12  Q  Okay.  And this is staff's request to PacifiCorp Data



           13     Request No. 27, correct?



           14  A  Yes, it is.



           15  Q  And you were the witness that responded to this?



           16     You're the witness and responder?



           17  A  Yes, that's what it says.



           18  Q  Could you read the last sentence of your response,



           19     please.



           20  A  "Staff's recommendation is to develop information and



           21     is not related to any process for recovery of



           22     historical under- or over-recovery."



           23  Q  So this is really meant -- your recommendation is --



           24     would you agree that your recommendation is meant to



           25     provide information looking backwards from rather than
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            1     analyzing a Phase 2 implementation, Phase 2 allocation



            2     implementation?



            3  A  Can you restate it?



            4  Q  So in your Request that -- in your Request -- or



            5     Recommendation 4, you recommend that the total recovery



            6     of any cost varies from a hundred percent.



            7          That's looking backwards, correct?



            8  A  Correct.  A demonstration of how.



            9  Q  And that would be for several years, correct?



           10  A  I'm sure in consultation with other parties or however



           11     the company wants to interpret this recommendation or



           12     if the Commission wants to provide clarification in



           13     their determination.  I have no preference on years.  I



           14     think what staff is looking for is historical



           15     information so that way we can learn and apply it



           16     forward-looking.



           17  Q  Okay.  Could you turn to Page 9 of 13 of that same



           18     exhibit.  That's JHJ-5X.



           19  A  Data Request No. 20?



           20  Q  That's correct.



           21          And on the last -- on the first page of that



           22     response -- sorry.  It is a one-page response.



           23          The very last paragraph, you clarify that, for the



           24     Phase 2 analysis, that that test- -- that analysis



           25     should be limited to test-year cost data, correct?
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            1  A  That's what it says.



            2  Q  So the analysis of any potential over-collection is for



            3     informational purposes only?



            4  A  Yes.



            5  Q  So it would not assist in the analysis of any Phase 2



            6     allocation filing.



            7          That would be based on test-year data, correct?



            8  A  Yes, for this regarding Phase 2, we -- I state that it



            9     should be limited to the test-year cost data.



           10                        MR. McVEE:  All right.  Thank you.



           11          No further questions, Your Honor.



           12                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any redirect from



           13     staff?



           14                        MS. STRAUSS:  Just briefly, Your



           15     Honor.



           16



           17                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION



           18     BY MS. STRAUSS:



           19  Q  Ms. Hawkins-Jones, you were asked a few questions about



           20     the various information staff has suggested the



           21     Commission order the -- order PacifiCorp to provide in



           22     a Phase 2 filing.



           23          Why does staff want this additional information?



           24  A  I think that way it creates a complete initial filing



           25     so that way staff has a full case in their first
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            1     review.  I think the burden is on the company to make



            2     that initial filing complete and accurate, and a case



            3     should not be made through discovery.



            4  Q  And, Ms. Hawkins-Jones, PacifiCorp has asked quite a



            5     few questions about over-collection information, and



            6     your testimony talks about various variances from a



            7     hundred percent of collection.



            8          Is staff concerned about the 2026 protocol and the



            9     issue of variances from a hundred percent collection?



           10  A  Yes, I don't think that there's enough information in



           11     the file for us to make a determination at this point,



           12     and we seem to have more questions than answers at this



           13     point.



           14  Q  And so during a Phase 2 assessment, you'll be hoping to



           15     look at whether the 2026 protocol, whether actual



           16     collection is deviating from a hundred percent?



           17  A  Correct.



           18  Q  Okay.  And the Commission does not practice retroactive



           19     ratemaking, correct?



           20  A  Correct.



           21                        MS. STRAUSS:  Okay.  No further



           22     questions, Your Honor.



           23                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Thank you.



           24          Any questions from the bench?



           25          Okay.  Thank you.  I believe that concludes the
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            1     questions for you.  You may be excused at this time.



            2                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



            3                               (Witness excused.)



            4



            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And I believe that



            6     brings us to witness Earle.



            7                               (Witness appearing remotely.)



            8



            9                        THE WITNESS:  I'm here.  I'm having



           10     a little bit of a problem with Zoom.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That is okay.  We



           12     can hear you.



           13                        THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Great.



           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Wonderful.



           15     Thank you very much.



           16          If you could please raise your right hand, and



           17     I'll swear you in.



           18          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will



           19     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and



           20     nothing but the truth?



           21                        THE WITNESS:  I do.



           22     ////



           23     ////



           24     ////



           25     ////
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            1     ROBERT L. EARLE,            appearing remotely and



            2                                 having been first duly sworn



            3                                 by Administrative Law Judge



            4                                 Thompson, was examined and



            5                                 testified as follows:



            6



            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



            8          Counsel for public counsel, you may proceed.



            9



           10                        DIRECT EXAMINATION



           11     BY MR. SYKES:



           12  Q  Good morning, Dr. Earle.



           13  A  Good morning.



           14  Q  Could you please state and spell your name for the



           15     record.



           16  A  My name is Robert Earle.  R-o-b-e-r-t E-a-r-l-e.



           17  Q  And did you prefile a written direct and cross-



           18     answering testimony?



           19  A  Yes, I did.



           20  Q  Did you sponsor any exhibits?



           21  A  I did.



           22  Q  Okay.  Did you hear any of the testimony yesterday?



           23  A  I did.



           24  Q  If I asked you the same questions in your testimony



           25     today, would any of your answers change?
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            1  A  So based on what I knew at the time I wrote the



            2     testimony, the answer is the answers would not change.



            3          However, I did hear testimony yesterday that would



            4     make me have changes to my filed testimony.



            5  Q  Okay.  So I guess the answer is, if you were asked the



            6     same questions today, the answers would change?



            7  A  Correct.



            8  Q  Okay.  What answers would change?



            9  A  So specifically my recommendation concerning public



           10     counsel's alternative proposal would change.  And let's



           11     see.  Sorry.  I wrote that down, the section.



           12          It's principally in the response testimony,



           13     Page 14, beginning Line 15 through Page 15, 12.



           14          Would you like me to go through what the changes



           15     would be?



           16  Q  Yes, please.



           17  A  So what I learned yesterday was that PacifiCorp's



           18     intention in its proposed allocation, one of them, or I



           19     should say two of them, was that each jurisdiction pay



           20     its -- I'm paraphrasing now -- fair share of resource



           21     adequacy costs and ancillary services costs.  That was



           22     not apparent to me before based on -- based on their



           23     filing.



           24          And it seems that PacifiCorp's approach is to say,



           25     okay, well, let's do an allocation so that I would say
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            1     roughly each jurisdiction is responsible for a



            2     proportionate share of resource adequacy costs and also



            3     responsible for a proportionate share of ancillary



            4     service costs.  And I will disagree that Washington as



            5     a jurisdiction should not be responsible for its



            6     proportionate share.



            7          And witness Wilding makes a fair point by looking



            8     at my proposed allocation in showing in terms of the



            9     resource adequacy that the resource adequacy from my



           10     proposal falls under the -- the PRM by up to I think it



           11     is 300 megawatts, roughly, for some months.  So that



           12     shortfall, it's fair to say, it should be addressed.



           13          In terms of ancillary services, there --



           14     PacifiCorp says, well, removing Chehalis and Jim



           15     Bridger would make -- make Washington jurisdiction



           16     short on its paying for ancillary services, and -- but



           17     they don't provide any calculation.  And so given that



           18     Washington would still, under the alternative



           19     allocation, have hydropower, it isn't clear whether



           20     it's -- whether Washington would be supplying too much,



           21     just right, or not enough ancillary services.



           22          So PacifiCorp's approach is to say, well, let's



           23     make sure the allocations cover this.  And that's one



           24     way to do it, and I could have changed my



           25     recommendation to -- to accommodate that.  But I think
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            1     there's a better way.  And the reason why I think there



            2     is a better way is, as PacifiCorp likes to say, they



            3     have a big system, a diverse system.  They take



            4     advantage of the diversity of the system.



            5          So by -- by locking in each jurisdiction to



            6     allocation that may or may not fit its needs, it's a



            7     suboptimal allocation, I think particularly for



            8     Washington.  I haven't reviewed the other allocations.



            9     Don't have an opinion on them.  But at least in terms



           10     of Washington, Chehalis is not a good fit.  And -- and



           11     I discussed the reasons for that in my -- in my



           12     testimony.



           13          So a different approach in terms of resource



           14     adequacy would be to say, okay, well, here are the



           15     allocations for each jurisdiction.  Those that are



           16     short in terms of their support by the resources they



           17     subscribe to will have to make a payment to make that



           18     up.  And those that are contributing more by virtue of



           19     their subscription to resources will collect payments.



           20     This way, the allocations in terms of the



           21     jurisdictions' needs don't have to match.



           22          And similarly with ancillary services.  We can



           23     determine what jurisdictions are providing in terms of



           24     ancillary services from their resources, what they're



           25     consuming.  And ancillary services are a little bit
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            1     easier, because we don't -- we don't have to create a



            2     calculation in terms of cost.  That already exists or



            3     at least the basis for it exists in the -- in



            4     PacifiCorp's open access transmission tariff.



            5          So, again, we could use those to say, okay, well,



            6     gee, if you want this particular allocation, okay, but



            7     you're going to have to make up the shortfall in



            8     ancillary services you're providing, make up the



            9     shortfall in terms of resource adequacy you're



           10     providing.  So I think this is very doable.  And what



           11     it does is allows some flexibility in the allocation



           12     that allows for the diversity across jurisdictions to



           13     take good effect, whereas PacifiCorp's approach limits



           14     what you can do, and I think in the case of



           15     PacifiCorp's proposal, it's -- it's not a good fit.



           16     And it's certainly not a -- it's certainly not a good



           17     fit over the long run with CETA really taking effect in



           18     2030.



           19          So I guess my recommendation would be it would be



           20     preferable to have a pricing system for resource



           21     adequacy ancillary services that could make up for



           22     shortfall or pay those jurisdictions that are providing



           23     more, and that if it's not done now, that it be



           24     implemented for revisions that happen in -- in Phase 2.



           25          And I think it particularly fits well with the
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            1     move to nodal pricing whereby resources and load get



            2     priced at their -- at their nodal price as determined



            3     by the EDAM, and this would similarly price ancillary



            4     services and resource adequacy.



            5                        MR. SYKES:  Now, Your Honor, at your



            6     discretion, since this is a substantive change, I'd be



            7     willing to stipulate to cross on this issue.  But I



            8     leave that to your discretion, Your Honor.



            9                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



           10                        MR. LOWNEY:  Your Honor.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Yes.



           12                        MR. LOWNEY:  If I may, given that



           13     it's a substantive change, I think the most effective



           14     way to address it would be with the opportunity to



           15     present a testimonial witness to respond to the new



           16     recommendation from Dr. Earle.  And that would be our



           17     preference as opposed to cross-examination, because



           18     there's substantive matters that need to be resolved.



           19                        MR. SYKES:  I would so stipulate.



           20                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And which



           21     witness would you propose?



           22                        MR. LOWNEY:  I would need to confer



           23     with my client on two things:  Which witness, and also



           24     I need to understand how we would respond just to



           25     understand the -- the scope and length of that
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            1     response.



            2          So if we want to take a moment now, we can -- we



            3     can confer and -- or we could wait till the end of



            4     Dr. Earle's presentation.  Whatever your preference is.



            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Let's --



            6                        MR. PEPPLE:  Your Honor.



            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Yes.



            8                        MR. PEPPLE:  Sorry.  I guess I did



            9     have a couple of questions for Dr. Earle about his



           10     proposal that I think are mostly clarifying questions,



           11     and that might help PacifiCorp's witness respond as



           12     well.  So maybe while they're conferring, I could ask



           13     those, or...



           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Give me one moment.



           15          Okay.  We will go ahead and allow Mr. Pepple to



           16     proceed with some questions.  I think at that point in



           17     time, before we get to bench questions or another



           18     witness from PacifiCorp, perhaps we'll take a



           19     ten-minute morning break and then resume after that.



           20          So you may proceed.



           21                        MR. PEPPLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.



           22



           23                        CROSS-EXAMINATION



           24     BY MR. PEPPLE:



           25  Q  Good morning, Dr. Earle.
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            1  A  Good morning.



            2  Q  Sorry.  Let me turn my camera on.



            3          So I just want to make sure that I was clear about



            4     your recommendation.



            5          So your proposal is that at, if a state is short



            6     on resource adequacy, they would make a payment to



            7     other states in order to supply what is required.



            8          Is that your proposal?



            9  A  Correct.



           10  Q  And would that payment be a purchase of resource



           11     adequacy from specific resources, or would it just be



           12     sort of a generic payment?



           13  A  So that's -- that's an interesting question.  The way I



           14     was thinking of it was a generic payment.  But -- but



           15     the payment would be based on the resource subscription



           16     and the amount of resource adequacy that resource



           17     provided.  So if a resource provided a hundred



           18     megawatts of resource adequacy and an entity is



           19     subscribed say 8 percent of that, then that would be 8



           20     megawatts of resource adequacy that entity was



           21     providing through that resource.  And you'd add up



           22     across the resources, is the way -- it's the way I'm



           23     conceiving that right now.



           24  Q  Okay.  So, I mean, do you agree that PacifiCorp's coal



           25     resources provide resource adequacy?
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            1  A  I -- I think they do, and that would be -- that would



            2     certainly be a wrinkle to be worked out.  I don't know



            3     what the CETA implications are for this, because we



            4     also have the difficulty that PacifiCorp's coal



            5     resources, at least according to PacifiCorp -- and it



            6     seems reasonable to me -- provide ancillary services



            7     that support wind in the west.



            8          But I think -- I think that that's -- that's --



            9     that's a wrinkle that, one, you'd have to think about,



           10     well, does the payment or resource adequacy violate



           11     CETA -- and that I don't know -- and, two, if it does,



           12     to build a workaround to address that.



           13                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  Thank you.



           14     Those are all my questions.



           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



           16          At this point in time, I think perhaps it's a good



           17     time for us to take a 10- or 15-minute break just to



           18     allow everyone to stretch their legs before we conclude



           19     through the -- the last couple of witnesses this



           20     morning.



           21          Let's go ahead and -- okay.  Let's go ahead and do



           22     a 10 -minute break.  We will be off the record, and



           23     we'll return at 10:35.



           24                               (Pause in proceedings from



           25                                10:23 a.m. to 10:36 a.m.)
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            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  It is now



            2     10:36 a.m.  let's be back on the record.



            3          Thank you.



            4          And witness Earle is still sworn in.



            5          I'll just turn to the company really quick.  Have



            6     you decided on a best course of action?



            7                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes, Your Honor.  The



            8     company would recall Mike Wilding to the stand to



            9     provide what I think will be relatively brief response



           10     testimony.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.



           12                        MR. LOWNEY:  And then we will be



           13     available to commissioner questions to the extent there



           14     are any.



           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so forgo



           16     cross-examination of witness Earle.



           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  That's correct.



           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Okay.  Thank



           19     you.



           20          At this point in time, we can proceed.  I'll just



           21     turn to staff and give you an opportunity.



           22          Did you have any cross questions for witness



           23     Earle?



           24                        MS. STRAUSS:  We don't have any



           25     cross questions at this time, but we may address any
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            1     issues on brief.



            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you



            3     very much.



            4          Then we will turn to questions from the bench.



            5                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Mr. Earle, I think



            6     you've sort of answered this question, but you've



            7     probably heard some of the questions on wind



            8     curtailments, and you have a agreement effectively with



            9     AWEC's proposal in this case on wind curtailments.



           10          Given that you did not change any of your



           11     testimony on this issue, I assume you stand by your



           12     effective adoption of the AWEC position in this case on



           13     wind curtailments, how they're modeled?



           14                        THE WITNESS:  I think that AWEC



           15     basically has it right in this.  Yesterday's --



           16     yesterday's testimony was -- by Mr. Mitchell was



           17     interesting.  The two things that are missing for me



           18     from -- from what he said is there still seems to be a



           19     disconnect between the historical and what the model



           20     outcomes are.



           21          And the second -- the second thing is, while he



           22     did go through this thing of, well, the curtailment



           23     order is gas, coal, wind, my question about coal, which



           24     I don't believe he really answered, has to do with



           25     minimum-take contracts and if the minimum-take
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            1     contracts are driving part of the reasons why coal is



            2     maybe not curtailed as much as it could have been and



            3     what the -- what the relative cost of those coal



            4     contracts are versus the cost for the wind curtailment.



            5          And then there's -- there's -- there's the



            6     sticky -- the sticky issue of, well, not curtailing the



            7     coal benefits some jurisdictions, whereas curtailing



            8     the wind hurts other jurisdictions, and whether



            9     there -- there are issues there.



           10          So I didn't -- I didn't find Mitchell's



           11     explanation compelling so that I would think, Oh, wait



           12     a minute.  He's really explained the problem.



           13                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  With respect to the



           14     coal contracts that you just referenced, did you hear



           15     Mr. Wilson's testimony earlier today?



           16                        THE WITNESS:  I did.



           17                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  What I heard there



           18     was that effectively you'd want -- the Commission



           19     should review the EIM data and what I would think of as



           20     the set points for the minimum runs of those plants



           21     would be one way of addressing to ensure that they are



           22     indeed curtailed to the lowest level.



           23          Is that your understanding of what that testimony



           24     was?



           25                        THE WITNESS:  That sounds right.
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            1     And I think that would be a good thing to do certainly.



            2                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  And then just one



            3     last set of questions on the curtailments.



            4          Mr. Mitchell, we had an exchange yesterday about



            5     what the impacts of setting curtailments too high in



            6     the model to set the cost relative to the PCAM impacts



            7     of that potentially in the future if indeed wind is



            8     curtailed less.



            9          Any response to that from public counsel on what



           10     those impacts would be?



           11                        THE WITNESS:  Sure.



           12          So if -- if the PCAM process were a complete



           13     pass-through dollar for dollar, I would not -- you



           14     know, I would -- I -- assuming that, you know, the --



           15     the amounts weren't large -- they seem to be large --



           16     but if the amounts weren't large, you'd think, well,



           17     okay, we're off -- we're off by 1 percent of -- of MPC.



           18     Ratepayers will get it back later.



           19          The issue -- the issue is, is -- is because of the



           20     dead band and the sharing bands and the PCAM, if you're



           21     off -- assuming everything else is spot-on, if you're



           22     off 1 percent, well, that 1 percent accrues to the



           23     company's benefit.  If you're off by other amounts,



           24     then the amount that accrues to the company's benefit



           25     is less, depending on which sharing band you're in.
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            1          But I don't -- I guess I would -- I would prefer



            2     to see a more accurate forecast for all things rather



            3     than -- rather than have it, you know, say, okay, the



            4     PCAM will take care of it.  Because the PCAM doesn't



            5     quite take care of it.  You know, the PCAM is there to



            6     incentivize the company to do the best it can in its --



            7     in its operations.



            8          And so -- so, I guess, in my opinion, just relying



            9     on the PCAM isn't -- isn't a good solution.



           10                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  Thank



           11     you.  I have no further questions.



           12                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



           13                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning,



           14     Mr. Earle.



           15                        THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



           16                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Good morning.



           17          So I'm assuming you heard the questions I asked to



           18     witness Wilson?



           19                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  So one



           21     of those questions is similar, on the future hedging



           22     costs.  And my question referred to witness Mitchell's



           23     rebuttal testimony, 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8, through



           24     Page 36, Line 10.



           25          He argues that the forward market transaction
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            1     costs and volume are known and reasonable, and



            2     considering the information that the company provided



            3     and the testimony yesterday, does that change your



            4     testimony in this docket on this issue?



            5                        THE WITNESS:  No.  And while I



            6     appreciate his testimony yesterday, I am still



            7     concerned about the fact that we don't have any



            8     documentation in terms of how they're going to hedge



            9     for Washington.  And, in fact, what they have said



           10     is -- they said this in the -- in the data request



           11     response.  They said, Well, you know, we're not going



           12     to do any hedging for Washington specifically until



           13     2026.  Until that calendar year, not for that calendar



           14     year.



           15          And so saying that, Well, we're going to do these



           16     hedges for Washington based on a policy that doesn't



           17     exist, I find -- I find concerning.  And when asked



           18     again in a data request, Are you going to allocate --



           19                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Before you



           20     go -- before you go farther, so this is the second data



           21     request you've mentioned.  I just want to make sure



           22     these are in the record.



           23          So the first data request you mentioned, if you



           24     can give the cite to it, and then for the second one,



           25     that would be helpful too.
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            1                        THE WITNESS:  I don't have it in my



            2     head right now, but I can certainly respond to a bench



            3     request or whatever method is appropriate.



            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Yeah, we can



            5     send a bench request.  I just want to make sure that



            6     what you're citing to in your testimony here is



            7     actually in the record and not something that we don't



            8     have access to.  That's my concern.



            9                        THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.



           10     Absolutely.



           11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.



           12                        THE WITNESS:  And I -- and I



           13     don't -- thank you.  I don't remember at this time



           14     whether I cited them in my test- -- testimony or not.



           15     But so I'm concerned that -- that these are



           16     transactions which don't have any -- don't have any



           17     basis in their policy, and then when -- when they --



           18     when they were asked, Well, did you -- are you going to



           19     allocate some of the hedges to -- that you're going to



           20     make in 2025 to Washington? the answer was very



           21     nonspecific.  You know, it was, like, How are you going



           22     to do this?  It was very non- -- nonspecific.



           23          So they haven't actually made these.  As



           24     Mr. Mitchell made clear yesterday, it isn't clear when



           25     they are going to make these.  And I think that the
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            1     final thing that he said -- not that -- you know, he



            2     said finally, but -- but he said that, Well, there will



            3     be hedges included in our compliance filing.  And, you



            4     know, those will be the -- as I understood him -- those



            5     will be the hedges we'd actually made.



            6          And that's entirely appropriate, you know.



            7     Whether they're prudent or not and all of that is -- is



            8     another issue that gets addressed likely in a PCAM, but



            9     it's entirely appropriate that if, leading up to the



           10     compliance filing, whenever that is -- let's say it's



           11     in December -- if in November they put on -- they



           12     actually go out and put on actual hedges by a power for



           13     delivery in 2026, absolutely that should go in.  But



           14     those are different.  Those are -- those are hedges



           15     that they've actually put on.



           16          So I still think that because these are hedges



           17     that -- that appear in the -- in the model, that



           18     they're not -- they're not according to any policy.



           19     They're not really real.  I don't think they should be



           20     muddled, because by including them, what they do is



           21     they increase the NPC.



           22                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank



           23     you.



           24          And I had a question about over-collections, but I



           25     think you may have addressed that in your response to
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            1     your counsel's question about any corrections, and I



            2     think that all had to do with over-collection, so I'm



            3     going to stop here.



            4                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any further



            5     questions?



            6                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I have just



            8     a couple of clarifying questions for you, Mr. Earle,



            9     just to clear up the update to your recommendation.



           10     And as I understand it, it would be an update, but I



           11     want to ensure that I've got clarity on that issue.



           12          And so would the allocation of resources to



           13     Washington remain the same as in your original



           14     recommendation for public counsel's alternative,



           15     removing --



           16                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is your



           18     proposal that the resource adequacy and ancillary



           19     services costs would be recovered through a charge that



           20     would be, for lack of a better term, baked into the



           21     power costs, or would it be trued up via the PCAM



           22     through a compliance filing?



           23                        THE WITNESS:  That's a -- that's an



           24     interesting question that, in terms of where you --



           25     where you collect it, that I did not -- I had not
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            1     thought through.  I think either -- either is -- it



            2     seems to me to be -- to be a possibility.  I -- since



            3     resource adequacy is a prospective issue, you could



            4     collect -- largely you could collect that ahead of



            5     time.  Ancillary services may be a little -- a little



            6     trickier thinking about, well, what if there's a



            7     massive plant -- plant outage?  Does that change the --



            8     the calculation?  And, again, on that I'm not sure.



            9          So I guess there may be a need for some true-up.



           10     I don't necessarily recommend that it be run through



           11     the PCAM mechanism, though it could happen in the PCAM



           12     proceeding.



           13                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And I think



           14     just one final question.



           15          Would the result of this -- it's different from



           16     the WIJAM, but would the result potentially be similar



           17     to the WIJAM where, because of resource adequacy



           18     concerns, Washington would be in a prevailing short



           19     position, as it's been called in previous filings, and



           20     we would then expect PCAM filings to be continuing to



           21     be -- to be large to true up for the shortfall?



           22                        THE WITNESS:  Not necessarily.  And



           23     the reason is, is there is a difference between



           24     Washington having a market shortfall -- that is the



           25     resource -- the resources that it subscribed to
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            1     generate fewer megawatt-hours than Washington's load.



            2     In that case, there's a market shortfall.  There's a



            3     shortfall with respect to the market.  And Washington,



            4     according to WIJAM, gets charged the market price for



            5     that shortfall.



            6          With resource adequacy, you might have resources



            7     that -- as in the case of my recommendation, resources



            8     provide sufficient energy, but when they're counted as



            9     resource adequacy resources, because they're variable,



           10     how much they get counted in terms of providing



           11     resource adequacy is much less.



           12          So -- so Washington might have a surplus of energy



           13     and be long with respect to the market.  However, its



           14     resource adequacy position could be -- could be short,



           15     and so it would have to make a payment for the other



           16     resources to the other jurisdictions that have an



           17     excess of resource adequacy to make up their shortfall.



           18                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you



           19     for those clarifications.



           20          Any further questions?



           21          Okay.  I believe that concludes our questions for



           22     you.  You may be excused.  Thank you for being



           23     available this morning.



           24                        THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



           25                               (Witness excused.)
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            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this



            2     point in time, we will recall witness Wilding to the



            3     stand.



            4                        MR. LOWNEY:  Your Honor, it just



            5     struck me that we were using a laptop yesterday so that



            6     the witness could appear on Zoom.  We can set that up



            7     again.  It will just obviously take a few moments to do



            8     that.  Or if we prefer to just proceed without the



            9     camera, we could certainly do that.



           10                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's go



           11     ahead and take a minute to set up the laptop, if that's



           12     okay.



           13                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  The computer is



           14     in someone's trunk, so it will actually take a little



           15     longer than I had anticipated.



           16                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.



           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  Apologies.  I just



           18     realized that was an issue.



           19                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That's okay.  We



           20     can go ahead and be off the record for a moment while



           21     we get that set up.



           22                               (Pause in proceedings from



           23                                10:55 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.)



           24



           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's please
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            1     be back on the record.



            2          Okay.  Mr. Wilding, if you could please raise your



            3     right hand, and I'll re-swear you in.



            4          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will



            5     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and



            6     nothing but the truth?



            7                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



            8



            9



           10     MICHAEL G. WILDING,         having been first duly sworn



           11                                 by Administrative Law Judge



           12                                 Thompson, was examined and



           13                                 testified as follows:



           14



           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



           16          And at this point in time, I will go ahead and



           17     turn -- well, I'll turn to the parties and ask if you



           18     have any additional questions for Mr. Wilding given the



           19     change in Mr. Earle's recommendation, but I presume the



           20     questions might be -- do you want to start with



           21     additional direct?



           22                        MR. LOWNEY:  I think, from my



           23     perspective, that makes the most sense.



           24                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.



           25     Let's go ahead and start with additional questions from
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            1     the company.



            2                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.



            3



            4                        DIRECT EXAMINATION



            5     BY MR. LOWNEY:



            6  Q  Witness Wilding, were you in the room a few minutes ago



            7     when Dr. Earle made a new recommendation related to



            8     resource adequacy and ancillary services?



            9  A  Yes, I was.



           10  Q  And based on your understanding of Dr. Earle's



           11     recommendation, do you have any response to that



           12     proposal?



           13  A  Yes, I do.  So, first, my understanding is that their



           14     allocation of the increased percentage of wind



           15     allocated to Washington, the no natural gas and no



           16     coal, no thermal resources, that -- that underlying



           17     part of the proposal doesn't change, so our, you know,



           18     main critique of their proposal also does not change.



           19          It results in Washington leaning on the rest of



           20     PacifiCorp's system.  And it also means that the other



           21     states that are currently participating in those wind



           22     resources would have to give up a piece of that wind



           23     resource that's allocated to them already, or we would



           24     have a situation where those wind plants were allocated



           25     at a percentage greater than a hundred percent.  So
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            1     that -- that piece just doesn't change.



            2          My understanding of what new is now is a payment



            3     for that leaning from Washington to the other states.



            4     And, you know, I've been around the company for, you



            5     know, 12 years now or so and been through a lot of



            6     these filings, a lot of MSP discussions with



            7     stakeholders and with the states, and so the first part



            8     of that is getting the states to agree adds significant



            9     complexity to the allocations at that point.



           10          And I really doubt that we would be able to come



           11     to an agreement between all six states on what this



           12     resource adequacy payment would look like.  And that



           13     also, you know, assumes that that will be available,



           14     that as the other -- you know, as we allocate resources



           15     away from Washington, put them in that resource



           16     adequacy deficit, you know, reallocate those resources



           17     to the other states, that, you know, given the load



           18     growth in other parts of our system, that they will



           19     have length to be able to give to Washington at a



           20     price.



           21          And then what that price will be, also I have



           22     significant doubts and concerns that we would even be



           23     able to agree to what that price is with the other



           24     states.  And then add in the further complication of



           25     just the logistics of how we would do that.  I think we
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            1     hit on that a little bit.  You know, does it happen in



            2     net power cost?  Is it a true-up every year?  Timing of



            3     rate cases.  Timing of power cost cases.  It just --



            4     very complex, if you could even get to an agreement,



            5     which, again, I have significant concerns and doubts



            6     that we would be able to do that.



            7          And then when we add in the coal in -- on our



            8     system and the CETA compliance, I think that is a



            9     significant piece of that.  Mr. Earle said he didn't



           10     know how that would work.  Well, the definition of coal



           11     in CETA is anything unspecified with a duration of



           12     longer than three months, or if it's for a resource



           13     adequacy contract, duration of longer than six months.



           14     So you add that exception for six months or less for



           15     resource adequacy contract.  Again, just adding



           16     complexity to this.  We still have coal in our system.



           17     How do you -- how do you do this?



           18          I -- you know, in short, I don't think this is



           19     workable.



           20                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you, witness



           21     Wilding.



           22          Company has no further questions.



           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.



           24          At this point in time, I will turn to the parties



           25     to ask if they have additional questions of witness
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            1     Wilding.



            2          Staff, do you have any additional questions?



            3                        MS. STRAUSS:  Staff does not have



            4     any additional questions at this time.



            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



            6          Public counsel?



            7                        MR. SYKES:  No additional questions.



            8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  AWEC?



            9                        MR. PEPPLE:  I do have one question,



           10     Your Honor.



           11



           12                        CROSS-EXAMINATION



           13     BY MR. PEPPLE:



           14  Q  Mr. Wilding, if somehow we were able to figure out this



           15     proposal and how it would work and there was a resource



           16     adequacy payment made from Washington to other states



           17     in whatever form it would happen to be, would that



           18     result in emissions being assigned to Washington as a



           19     consequence of that payment?



           20  A  Yes.  Most likely the resource adequacy would be a -- a



           21     capacity payment, right?  But the reason why you need



           22     capacity is to deliver energy during those times of



           23     capacity need, so there would be also energy that would



           24     need to flow to Washington that would be an unspecified



           25     purchase that I believe would include emissions.  I
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            1     mean, I would maybe need to think about that a little



            2     bit more, but that's my initial thought on this



            3     proposal in this hypothetical where we could figure



            4     something out.



            5                        MR. PEPPLE:  Okay.  Thank you.



            6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any questions from



            7     The Energy Project?



            8                        MR. ZAKAI:  Good morning, Your



            9     Honor.  Good morning, witness Wilding.  Yes, just one



           10     or two.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Go ahead and



           12     proceed.



           13



           14                        CROSS-EXAMINATION



           15     BY MR. ZAKAI:



           16  Q  Mr. Wilding, is it common for entities to purchase



           17     capacity from one another for the purposes of resource



           18     adequacy?



           19  A  In the Western United States, there's a capacity market



           20     in the California ISO.  There is not a liquid capacity



           21     market outside of the California ISO.  In what WRAP



           22     contemplates having some ability to transfer resource



           23     adequacy obligation at a price, there is no market



           24     monitor for that.  And so I would say right now, no.



           25     Not -- not in a liquid market in bilateral market that
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            1     we have today.



            2  Q  As in there is no -- has PacifiCorp made any



            3     transactions for capacity in the past year from another



            4     entity?



            5  A  We -- my only hesitation here is trying to not provide



            6     confidential information.



            7  Q  Respectfully, I'm not asking for confidential



            8     information.  I'm asking if there was one transaction



            9     in the past year or not.



           10  A  I will say this.  What is available on the market has a



           11     capacity component.  Obviously, as energy is provided,



           12     fixed-price energy, there's a capacity component of



           13     that.  As we acquire -- we've acquired batteries that



           14     are capacity.  Have we acquired capacity from another



           15     entity to transfer that resource adequacy obligation?



           16     No.



           17  Q  Okay.  And your FERC tariff provides a price for



           18     ancillary services, should another entity need to



           19     purchase that from PacifiCorp?



           20  A  Another entity, again, is -- is loose.  That is not a



           21     product that any -- just anyone can buy.  For



           22     transmission customers, that takes service under our



           23     transmission service provider.  In our BA, that product



           24     is available.  And it is a cost-based product set by



           25     FERC.
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            1          Again, that is not a -- an assumption that should



            2     be made that the states would agree to that, because



            3     there is an opportunity cost with that as well, that --



            4     you know, and I foresee that if we tried to go down



            5     this road, that there would be many conversations and



            6     many folks that would maybe want to pursue that



            7     opportunity cost of holding reserves as opposed to a



            8     FERC-approved cost-based right.  Again, which is making



            9     it complicated and messy.



           10  Q  Thank you.  I'd ask one last question.



           11          Do you agree that Washington has had an allocation



           12     methodology over the past several years which other



           13     states have not agreed to?



           14  A  Yes.  Absolutely.  One of the fundamental principles of



           15     the allocation methodology that we're putting in front



           16     of the Commission now is -- is essentially fixing that,



           17     getting everything to sum to one, or a hundred percent



           18     as we've test- -- multiple witnesses have testified in



           19     this hearing already.



           20                        MR. ZAKAI:  Thank you.  No further



           21     questions.



           22                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



           23          Any redirect from the company?



           24                        MR. LOWNEY:  No, Your Honor.



           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.
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            1          Any questions from the bench?



            2          Okay.  I believe that concludes our questions for



            3     you, Mr. Wilding.  Thank you.  You may be excused.



            4                               (Witness excused.)



            5



            6                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this



            7     point in time, if -- I think, PacifiCorp, if somebody



            8     would like to come up and reclaim your laptop.  I don't



            9     know if we have any further use for it.  Or hopefully



           10     not.



           11          Okay.  And we can move to witness Mullins.



           12                               (Witness appearing remotely.)



           13



           14                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Hello.  When you



           15     are ready, please raise your right hand, and I will



           16     swear you in.



           17          Do you swear or affirm that the testimony you will



           18     give today will be the truth, the whole truth, and



           19     nothing but the truth?



           20                        THE WITNESS:  I do.



           21     ////



           22     ////



           23     ////



           24     ////



           25     ////
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            1     BRADLEY G. MULLINS,         appearing remotely and



            2                                 having been first duly sworn



            3                                 by Administrative Law Judge



            4                                 Thompson, was examined and



            5                                 testified as follows:



            6



            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



            8          Counsel, you can proceed with introducing the



            9     witness.



           10                        MR. PEPPLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.



           11



           12                        DIRECT EXAMINATION



           13     BY MR. PEPPLE:



           14  Q  I guess, good evening for you, Mr. Mullins.



           15  A  Hello.



           16  Q  Could you please state and spell your full name.



           17  A  My name is Bradley Mullins.  Spelled B-r-a-d-l-e-y,



           18     last name M-u-l-l-i-n-s.



           19  Q  And did you file testimony and exhibits marked BGM-1CT



           20     through BGM-8T on behalf of the Alliance of Western



           21     Energy Consumers in this docket?



           22  A  I did.



           23  Q  Do you have any changes to your testimony or exhibits



           24     today?



           25  A  I have no changes.
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            1                        MR. PEPPLE:  The witness is



            2     available for cross-examination.



            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very



            4     much.



            5          PacifiCorp, you can go ahead and proceed with



            6     cross.



            7                        MR. LOWNEY:  Thank you.



            8



            9                        CROSS-EXAMINATION



           10     BY MR. LOWNEY:



           11  Q  Good morning, Mr. Mullins.



           12  A  Good morning.



           13  Q  Let's begin with your response testimony in this



           14     docket.



           15                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Do you mind



           16     bringing your mike a little closer.  I think it might



           17     help the witnesses as well as anybody else online.



           18     Thanks.



           19  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  And that's BGM-1CT.



           20          Do you have that?



           21  A  I do.



           22  Q  Okay.  If we could turn to Page 3.  And I'd like to



           23     direct your attention to Table 1 at the top of that



           24     page.



           25  A  Okay.
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            1  Q  And just for context, this table is entitled "Summary



            2     of Recommendations," and it lists each of the specific



            3     recommendations that you've made in this case, correct?



            4  A  Correct.



            5  Q  And down on Line 6 is an adjustment referred to as the



            6     nodal pricing model.



            7          Do you see that?



            8  A  I do.



            9  Q  And I'm going to ask you some questions about that.



           10     And so before we get started, I just want to make sure



           11     we're using the same nomenclature.



           12          Would you agree that sometimes the nodal pricing



           13     model is abbreviated "NPM"?



           14  A  I would.



           15  Q  Okay.  And so if I refer to the NPM, you and I will



           16     agree that that's the nodal pricing model, right?



           17  A  As used in this context.  Correct.



           18  Q  Okay.  Thank you.



           19          Okay.  With that in mind, could you please turn to



           20     Page 46 of the testimony.



           21          And beginning on Line 9 is the testimony where



           22     you're addressing the nodal pricing model.



           23          Do you see that?



           24  A  Okay.



           25  Q  And I'd like you to keep that testimony in front of
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            1     you, and I'm going to refer you to a cross exhibit, and



            2     I'd like to compare the two.  So if you could just have



            3     them both ready.



            4          That cross exhibit has been labeled BGM-10X.  If



            5     you could pull that up.  And just for context, that's



            6     testimony that you filed in Docket UE-450.



            7  A  So to clarify, is that the opening testimony or



            8     cross-answering testimony?



            9  Q  The opening testimony.



           10  A  Okay.



           11  Q  All right.  And just to provide some broader context,



           12     this testimony is referred to as your opening testimony



           13     filed on behalf of the Alliance of Western Energy



           14     Consumers in a case before the public utility



           15     commission of Oregon that is called Docket UE-450,



           16     correct?



           17  A  Correct.



           18  Q  And that docket is the PacifiCorp's 2026 transition



           19     adjustment mechanism case, correct?



           20  A  Correct.



           21  Q  All right.  And just to add another acronym, would you



           22     agree that we sometimes refer to the transition



           23     adjustment mechanism as the TAM?



           24  A  We almost always refer to it as the TAM.  Yes.  That's



           25     right.
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            1  Q  Okay.  And then just for additional context, at the



            2     bottom of Page 1, this testimony was filed on June 17th



            3     of 2025, correct?



            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Mr. Lowney --



            5                        THE WITNESS:  Correct.



            6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  -- I think we



            7     may have a mix-up here.



            8          So the link in the exhibit list is to --



            9                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  It's 9X on our



           10     exhibit list.



           11                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Rebuttal and



           12     cross-answering testimony is 10X.  Maybe the link is



           13     incorrect.



           14                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  I -- let me see.



           15                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  9X is the link.



           16                        MR. LOWNEY:  On the exhibit list I



           17     have, 9X was testimony filed in a Washington case.



           18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Yeah, it's the link



           19     is --



           20                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Our



           21     links are wrong, but I found it, so all right.



           22                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.



           23                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Can you -- can you



           24     remind us what page you're on?



           25                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes.  I haven't
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            1     actually moved to a page yet.



            2                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  Great.



            3                        MR. LOWNEY:  So we'll get there.



            4                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Perfect.



            5     Thank you.



            6                        MR. LOWNEY:  And I'll try to use



            7     names as well just to make sure we're all on the same



            8     page.



            9  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  Okay.  I think my last question -- and



           10     I'm not sure if you answered it or not -- was:  Just



           11     for context, this testimony was filed on June 17th of



           12     2025, correct?



           13  A  Correct.



           14  Q  Okay.  And one purpose of the TAM is to forecast net



           15     power costs for 2026, correct?



           16  A  Correct.



           17  Q  Okay.  And if you could turn to Page 5 of the exhibit,



           18     which would be Page 3 of the original testimony.



           19          And if you're there, I'd like to direct your



           20     attention to Line 5 where you describe a recommendation



           21     related to the nodal pricing model.



           22          Do you see that?



           23  A  I have the nonconfidential version, but I agree that



           24     it's in that table.



           25  Q  Actually, I think the table you're referring to is on
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            1     Page 4 of the exhibit, 2 of the original.



            2          But I think we all agree you propose an adjustment



            3     to the nodal pricing model in the TAM, correct?



            4                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Just let's make sure



            5     we're all on the literal same page here.



            6          In the upper right-hand corner, I see it says



            7     Page 5 of 70 for the exhibit, correct?



            8                        MR. LOWNEY:  That's correct.



            9                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Mr. Mullins, are you



           10     there?



           11                        THE WITNESS:  I'm there.  I am



           12     there.  Correct.  And --



           13                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  It's a bullet point



           14     that we're referring to, correct?



           15                        MR. LOWNEY:  Correct.



           16                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           17                        MR. LOWNEY:  And apologies.  Now



           18     that we're all on the same page, I'm going to direct us



           19     to another page.



           20  Q  (By Mr. Lowney)  So understanding you made a



           21     recommendation related to the nodal pricing model, if



           22     we could turn to Page 20 of 70.  And let me know when



           23     you're there.



           24  A  Okay.



           25  Q  Just for context, at the very top of that page is a
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            1     heading that says "Nodal Pricing Model Fee," just so



            2     we're all on the same place.



            3          And, again, kind of referring to that exhibit from



            4     the TAM and your testimony in this page, we can walk



            5     through each of the questions and answers, but if



            6     you're willing to agree that this testimony is largely



            7     identical, we can forego that exercise.



            8  A  And is -- I would agree it's substantially the same



            9     information.



           10  Q  Okay.  Thank you.



           11          And if I could now direct your attention to a



           12     cross-examination exhibit, BGM-11X.  And this was



           13     rebuttal and cross-answering testimony from the TAM.



           14  A  Okay.



           15  Q  And for context, this was filed on August 14th of 2025.



           16          Do you see that on the bottom of Page 1?



           17  A  I do.



           18  Q  And so just for context, this was filed six days before



           19     you filed testimony in this case, correct?



           20  A  Correct.



           21  Q  All right.  And now if I could direct your attention to



           22     Page 3 of 31, which is the exhibit number.  Exhibit



           23     numbering.  Excuse me.  And at the top of that page, it



           24     says "Introduction and Summary."



           25          And if I could direct your attention to Line --
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            1     Line 14.  You testified that, PacifiCorp also partially



            2     accepted my recommendation regarding the nodal pricing



            3     model, and AWEC is generally comfortable with



            4     PacifiCorp's approach on that issue.



            5          Do you see that?



            6  A  I do.



            7  Q  And with that line of testimony, that's the sum total



            8     of your discussion of the nodal pricing model in your



            9     TAM testimony, correct?  You dropped your adjustment in



           10     the TAM?



           11  A  Well, for purposes and the circumstances of this case,



           12     you know, at the time this was filed, we were -- we



           13     were comfortable, you know, accepting PacifiCorp's



           14     recommendation.  I still continue to maintain concerns



           15     that a great deal of money was spent on the nodal



           16     pricing model and that it has not been used to develop



           17     a new allocation framework, and it was not used to



           18     create operational efficiencies and, you know, to do



           19     day-ahead setup and things like that as was represented



           20     in the 2020 protocol.



           21          So given the circumstances of where this -- where



           22     this case was, and at the time, we were -- we were



           23     comfortable accepting PacifiCorp's approach, but I



           24     still maintain concerns about -- about the nodal



           25     pricing model.
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            1  Q  And just to be clear, when you say "at the time," that



            2     was six days before you filed testimony in this case,



            3     you dropped your adjustment that you are now proposing



            4     in this case, correct?



            5  A  So the -- given the -- given the -- the circumstances



            6     of this case, we were comfortable with it.  And this



            7     case ultimately resulted in a settlement, you know,



            8     discussions that were kind of ongoing during this whole



            9     time frame, and which ended up having, you know, a



           10     $10 million reduction to NPC.  So, you know, for



           11     purposes of -- of narrowing the issues, we thought it



           12     was a reasonable approach.



           13          And also these TAM cases are, you know,



           14     accelerated cases, so, you know, we thought -- we



           15     thought it made sense to kind of narrow -- narrow the



           16     issues in that case.  But that being said, you know, I



           17     still maintain concerns about the nodal pricing model



           18     and -- yeah.



           19                        MR. LOWNEY:  Okay.  Thank you,



           20     Mr. Mullins.



           21          I'd like to move on, and I indicated we would have



           22     some confidential cross-examination.  And we've reached



           23     that point where I believe the remainder of my



           24     questions will be -- will require us to be referring to



           25     and looking at confidential material, so I believe
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            1     we'll need to enter a closed session.



            2                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  At this



            3     point in time, let's establish a confidential breakout



            4     room on the Zoom.  And I'd ask the parties to look



            5     around the room just to ensure that nobody is in the



            6     room which cannot participate in that confidential



            7     session.



            8          We will take a brief recess and be off the record



            9     while we establish that Zoom room.  Thank you.



           10                               (Pause in proceedings from



           11                                11:25 a.m. to 11:26 a.m.)



           12                               (Confidential session



           13                                begins.)



           14                               (Confidential portion



           15                                redacted.)



           16



           17



           18



           19



           20



           21



           22



           23



           24



           25
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            1



            2



            3



            4



            5



            6



            7



            8



            9



           10



           11



           12



           13



           14



           15



           16



           17



           18



           19



           20                               (Confidential session



           21                                concluded.)



           22



           23                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  We are back



           24     on the record in the public Zoom room.  We'll give a



           25     minute for Chair Rybarik to join.
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            1                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  All right.  I should



            2     be there.



            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And we will



            4     continue with questions here in just a moment.  But,



            5     Commissioner Rendahl, do you want to take...?



            6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  I just want



            7     to say I apologize, everyone.  I have to leave at 1.



            8     So I won't -- if I miss anything, I'll read the



            9     transcript for the last few pages.



           10                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Why don't we do your



           11     questions first.



           12                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  But I



           13     still -- if -- if we're still going.



           14          So thank you, Mr. Mullins.  I'm sorry it's getting



           15     pretty late for you.  So my apologies.



           16          So were you listening to the questions I asked



           17     other witnesses before you?



           18                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           19                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.



           20                        THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           21                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  So first



           22     question is about the future hedging costs.



           23          And in Mr. Mitchell's rebuttal -- and the



           24     reference to his testimony is 13CT, at Page 20, Line 8,



           25     through Page 36, Line 10 -- he argues that forward
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            1     market transaction costs and the volume are known and



            2     reasonable.



            3          So considering the additional information he



            4     provided in his rebuttal and during the testimony



            5     yesterday, does that change your testimony on this



            6     issue in this docket?



            7                        THE WITNESS:  It does not.  So I



            8     think the -- I guess there's a couple things that we



            9     have concerns with.



           10          So, first of all, by modeling future hedges,



           11     you're not modeling really any hedging costs at all.



           12     Because the prices that we assume in the forecast



           13     period are the monthly forward -- official forward



           14     price curve prices.  And those are based on, you know,



           15     broker quotes, and those are the prices that PacifiCorp



           16     could go out today and execute a hedge at.



           17          And so these -- these -- these future hedges, they



           18     are priced at that same forward price curve.  So in



           19     terms of hedging value, there's no additional costs or



           20     benefit relative to the prices that we're assuming.  So



           21     it's -- it's really not -- nothing to do with price



           22     hedging, but by adding those into the model.



           23          But what it does do when you add those blocks into



           24     the model, it forces the model, requires the model to



           25     make additional sales and additional purchases on an





                                                                      494

�







            1     hourly basis to balance out that -- that flat block.



            2     And so the -- the cost that's being added into the



            3     model is really not a hedging cost at all.  It's really



            4     a balancing cost by modeling, you know, more sales and



            5     purchases around those -- those products.



            6          And, you know, my principal concern with that is



            7     that we're already doing that within the context of the



            8     DART adjustment.  In the DART adjustment, PacifiCorp



            9     adds into the model monthly 25-megawatt blocks to



           10     develop its sales and its purchases, and then it models



           11     the cost of balancing around those costs of those



           12     blocks.  And, granted, that it is a block in day-ahead



           13     and real-time markets where that cost occurs, but



           14     that's really the same cost that's being added to the



           15     market through this -- this hedging approach.



           16          And, you know, conceptually -- if we didn't have



           17     these two different methods, I would actually think



           18     that the -- you know, actually modeling specific hedges



           19     rather than the DART adjustment, you know, to balance



           20     around those, would be okay.  But the fact that we have



           21     both of those I think is problematic, because it's



           22     really, you know, doubling up on those -- those



           23     balancing costs.



           24          And then, you know, apart from that, you know, by



           25     the time the compliance filing in this case is
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            1     submitted, we'll already have, you know, close to 70



            2     percent of the hedges for the -- for the test period



            3     anyway.  So, you know, not only does it sort of double



            4     up on the balancing costs, it's -- it's, you know, for



            5     the most part unnecessary.



            6                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank



            7     you.  That's actually a very helpful explanation of



            8     where you stand.



            9          And I think you also addressed my next question,



           10     which is about the relationship between the DART



           11     adjustment and the hedging costs.



           12          So the last question I have for you has to do with



           13     the industrial curtailment contracts.



           14          The company claims on rebuttal -- this is through



           15     Mr. Wilding's testimony and Mr. Mitchell's testimony,



           16     and I can give you those cites if you want.  The



           17     company claims on rebuttal that these contracts that



           18     AWEC contests provide benefits to Washington



           19     ratepayers.



           20          Again, does that -- does the testimony in rebuttal



           21     from the company change AWEC's position, or does AWEC



           22     continue to maintain that the industrial curtailment



           23     contracts do not provide benefits to Washington?  And



           24     if you still maintain that position, why?  Why is that



           25     so?
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            1                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, so we continue



            2     to think that those should not be allocated to



            3     Washington.  In terms of, you know, net power costs



            4     that are allocated to Washington, it certainly



            5     doesn't -- they certainly don't provide a benefit that



            6     way.  So they -- they increase Washington net power



            7     costs and don't provide a net power cost benefit, you



            8     know, at least in the model.



            9          On a system basis, the -- the analysis is probably



           10     a lot more complicated.  So there seems to be this, you



           11     know, contention I think that, you know, Washington,



           12     you know, with Chehalis, would be -- would still be



           13     leaning on the other side of the system for ancillary



           14     services and capacity and things, things like that.



           15     But that really hasn't been established.  So Chehalis



           16     will cover pretty major part of Washington's load, and



           17     it's also, you know, one of the most flexible resources



           18     on PacifiCorp's system.



           19          So in terms of, you know, the reliability



           20     benefits, the capacity benefits, as well as the



           21     ancillary service benefits, you know, we really can't



           22     say that, you know, Washington needs these other



           23     curtailment contracts to -- to avoid leaning on the



           24     rest of the system.



           25          And I actually suspect it might be the opposite,
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            1     that, you know, the benefits of Chehalis are more than



            2     what Washington needs, but I think that deserves a



            3     bigger analysis.



            4          And then getting to the contracts, themselves, you



            5     know, Washington doesn't, you know, explicitly -- you



            6     know, other than through ratemaking, they don't approve



            7     the -- those contracts.  Those are -- those are -- and



            8     the prices in those contracts.  So those are set in



            9     Idaho and Utah.  And the methods that are used to set



           10     those certainly haven't been, you know, fully vetted by



           11     the Commission.



           12          And so I think that if, you know, a method is



           13     being provided to, you know, a customer -- you know, a



           14     large industrial customer in another state, that that



           15     should stay within the state.  But also the -- the --



           16     the benefits of that contract should stay within that



           17     state as well.  But, you know, for purposes of



           18     Washington, those -- those customers aren't in



           19     Washington's jurisdiction, so I continue to think it's



           20     more appropriate for those to be dealt with at the



           21     states that approve them.



           22                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  And so I



           23     assume that, given that you participate in matters in



           24     other states, that when the '26 protocol for each of



           25     those states is addressed in the states, that is
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            1     something you will be addressing?



            2                        THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure.  So I'm



            3     not entirely sure the extent that I'll get involved in



            4     those other states, particularly in Idaho.  But



            5     certainly I think it's something that -- that folks in



            6     other states will -- will get.



            7                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Maybe I



            8     should rephrase that.  Not necessarily you, but AWEC,



            9     in its cases, I assume would be addressing this in



           10     other states.



           11                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, and, you know, I



           12     can't speak to what AWEC's going to recommend in



           13     Oregon, but it would be certainly something that would



           14     be looked at there.  And, of course, AWEC doesn't



           15     participate in Idaho, Utah, Wyoming, or California.



           16                        COMMISSIONER RENDAHL:  Okay.  Thank



           17     you.  That's all I have.



           18                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Just a few more



           19     questions, and we'll see if we can't beat -- well,



           20     we're probably not going to beat Commissioner Rendahl's



           21     1:00 time frame here.



           22          But we had a discussion about wind curtailments in



           23     closed session.  We will not rehash that discussion,



           24     but I did want to just follow up with what would be



           25     some public questions, Mr. Mullins.
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            1          With respect to wind curtailments, nothing in the



            2     rebuttal testimony from Mr. Mitchell -- or my



            3     understanding is you were following the testimony



            4     yesterday live here in the hearing room.  Nothing in



            5     that changed your position, your testimony on wind



            6     curtailments in this case; is that correct?



            7                        THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  I



            8     will point out that one of the things that they



            9     mentioned in their testimony had to do with regulation



           10     reserves and the fact that the model was -- was



           11     relaxing those reserves, so I just want to be clear



           12     that my modeling approach uses the same regulation



           13     reserve requirements as PacifiCorp does.  However,



           14     within the model, itself, some of those did get



           15     relaxed.  And I think it was maybe post -- I think it



           16     was about 10 percent reduction in the reserves that the



           17     model actually -- that it simulated.



           18          And the -- and the -- and I thought it was a good



           19     thing for them to point out.  However, I think that



           20     is -- is appropriate, because regulation reserves are



           21     meant to cover uncertainty over the course of an hour



           22     to where if, you know, wind picks up or drops down



           23     quickly, they need to have resources online to be able



           24     to respond to those.



           25          And so the -- those are not held static over the
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            1     hour.  They actually will use those reserves over the



            2     hour.  And so in terms of that issue regarding



            3     regulation reserves, my model just allowed the --



            4     allowed some of those reserves to be used in order to



            5     respond to, you know, circumstances in the model.



            6          So I think that would be just the one thing that I



            7     think they pointed out that was a good thing to point



            8     out.  But I think that the way that my modeling has



            9     done it is appropriate because it allows those reserves



           10     to actually be used in -- when the model has -- in the



           11     circumstances when they would need to be used.



           12                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  So just one last set



           13     of questions, and it's really just two.



           14          Modeling and real life are two different things,



           15     right?  You're trying to mimic as best you can in the



           16     modeling what you think is really going to happen, but



           17     that isn't really what happens; is that right?



           18                        THE WITNESS:  That is -- yep, that



           19     is absolutely right, so -- and it -- it cuts -- it cuts



           20     both ways.  So in, you know, actual operations, there



           21     are -- you know, a company might have a lot more



           22     flexibility in how they respond to -- to certain



           23     events.  But at the same time, the model is -- is



           24     static, and it may not be able to predict the scale and



           25     scope of events that come along.  And the logic,
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            1     itself, is -- you know, it can never perfectly mimic



            2     the way that the system is -- is going to operate.



            3          So -- so, you know, at the end of the day, it's



            4     really, you know, coming up with, you know, values that



            5     you think are reasonable, but, of course, justified on,



            6     you know, economic principles and, you know, the



            7     reasonable assumptions.



            8                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  And so in this case,



            9     with respect to wind curtailments, if PacifiCorp has



           10     modeled this incorrectly and curtailments are actually



           11     less, what is the impact on customers?



           12                        THE WITNESS:  If curtailments are



           13     less, PacifiCorp will have -- and they model more



           14     curtailments -- power costs will be -- base power costs



           15     will be higher.  And so the -- the rate increase or



           16     potentially reduction -- rates will be set higher than



           17     they otherwise would be.  And those rates will go into



           18     effect January 1.



           19                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  And over time --



           20                        THE WITNESS:  Yeah, if -- sorry?



           21                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Over time, then,



           22     what happens -- I'm suggesting --



           23                        THE WITNESS:  Right.



           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  -- like, what



           25     happens at the PCAM adjustment in the future?
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            1                        THE WITNESS:  Right.  So those



            2     higher rates go in January 1.  But then if there are



            3     lower curtailments in actual operations, then



            4     PacifiCorp's power costs would be -- would be lower,



            5     and so then there would be a -- potentially in -- I



            6     guess now we'd be dealing with in 2027, there would be



            7     a PCAM filing where potentially there would be a



            8     refund, or -- and so in the context of that, that PCAM



            9     filing, if there is a refund, that amount is subject to



           10     the dead bands and earnings tests, and there's also an



           11     amortization trigger built in, to where if the variance



           12     is small enough, it just carries forward into a



           13     future -- future period.



           14          So the amount of benefit that comes back to



           15     customers is -- not only is it going to be smaller than



           16     the base rate that should have been passed through, but



           17     it's not going to come back, you know, potentially



           18     until 2027 or maybe even many years into the future.



           19     And so, you know, in terms of the timing, getting the



           20     base correct is -- is important -- it's important



           21     not -- both in terms of timing and because there are



           22     these mechanisms within the PCAM that would -- would



           23     otherwise dilute that benefit for customers.



           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Very good.  That's



           25     all I have.  Thank you.
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            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Any additional



            2     questions?



            3          Okay.  I believe that concludes the questioning



            4     for you, Mr. Mullins.  You may be excused.  And thank



            5     you for being available.



            6                               (Witness excused.)



            7



            8                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  I believe



            9     that brings us to the end of cross-examination.  I have



           10     a few other housekeeping items before we adjourn.



           11          Mr. Sykes, do you have an anticipated date for a



           12     public comment matrix in this docket?



           13                        MR. SYKES:  I do not, as there is no



           14     scheduled public comment hearing on this matter.



           15                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  That's correct.



           16     Okay.



           17                               (Commissioner Rendahl exits.)



           18



           19                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  And for briefing,



           20     we currently have two rounds of post-hearing briefs:



           21     The first due October 29th and the second due November



           22     12th.



           23          First question there is:  Do the parties



           24     anticipate still needing two rounds of briefing?  And I



           25     can start with the company.
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            1                        MR. LOWNEY:  Yes -- excuse me.  Yes,



            2     the company does anticipate needing two rounds of



            3     briefing.



            4                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And staff?



            5                        MS. STRAUSS:  Staff will reply to



            6     briefing if the reply brief is available, but --



            7                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.



            8                        MS. STRAUSS:  -- if the parties



            9     don't need a reply brief, then staff doesn't need to



           10     push for one either.



           11                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  Public



           12     counsel?



           13                        MR. SYKES:  Public counsel doesn't



           14     think a reply brief is necessary.  However, if one is



           15     ordered, we will obviously reply.



           16                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for



           17     AWEC?



           18                        MR. PEPPLE:  AWEC would appreciate a



           19     reply brief.  Yeah.



           20                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  And for The



           21     Energy Project?



           22                        MR. ZAKAI:  Good afternoon.  No



           23     preference.



           24                        CHAIR RYBARIK:  Okay.  And for brief



           25     lengths, do the parties anticipate needing the full 60
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            1     pages for initial briefs?



            2                        MR. LOWNEY:  I would expect, given



            3     the scope of issues here, that we'll need the full 60



            4     pages, yes.



            5                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.  We will go



            6     ahead and stick with 60, which is the limit under rule.



            7          And how about for reply briefs?  Does anybody have



            8     a recommendation as to a page limit on reply briefs?



            9                        MR. LOWNEY:  I will say, given my



           10     experience where the company is replying to every party



           11     as opposed to most other parties replying to only the



           12     company, we need the full -- full length allotted.  So



           13     60 pages would be appropriate from our perspective just



           14     given, again, the scope of issues we're going to be



           15     responding to, both in terms of the number of issues as



           16     well as the number of parties.



           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  I don't know if we



           18     can do 60 on a reply.  I'm just thinking about timing



           19     in November 12th getting those reply briefs, reviewing



           20     those, and then getting an order out.



           21          Why don't we go with -- I had 20 written down.  We



           22     can go with 30 or 35, if that...



           23                        MR. LOWNEY:  Understand your



           24     concern.  Yeah, 30 would be great if that works,



           25     understanding your workload and --
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            1                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Okay.



            2                        MR. LOWNEY:  -- the time required.



            3                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Let's keep reply



            4     briefs to 30 pages.  And I think that the commissioners



            5     will appreciate that as well.



            6          Are there any final questions from the parties?



            7                        MR. LOWNEY:  I don't believe we have



            8     any additional questions.  Thank you.



            9                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Anything from



           10     staff?



           11                        MS. STRAUSS:  No additional



           12     questions, Your Honor.



           13                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



           14          Anything from public counsel?



           15                        MR. SYKES:  Nothing from public



           16     counsel.



           17                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Anything from the



           18     Alliance of Western Energy Consumers?



           19                        MR. PEPPLE:  No.  Thank you, Your



           20     Honor.



           21                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you.



           22          And anything from The Energy Project?



           23                        MR. ZAKAI:  No.  Just thank you for



           24     your attention to detail.



           25                        JUDGE THOMPSON:  Thank you very
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            1     much.



            2          Okay.  Well, thank you, everybody, for your



            3     participation.  We are adjourned.  And we are off the



            4     record.  Thank you.



            5                               (Proceedings adjourned at



            6                                1:10 p.m.)



            7                               (Company Cross-examination



            8                                Exhibit Nos. RJM-30X,



            9                                RJM-31X, and RJM-32X marked



           10                                and admitted.)
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